
 
 
 

 
Despatched: 05.10.15 

 

PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE  

13 October 2015 at 7.00 pm 

Conference Room, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks 
 

AGENDA 

 
Membership: 

 
Chairman: Cllr. Mrs. Hunter  Vice-Chairman: Cllr. Thornton 

Cllrs. Dr. Canet, Clark, Gaywood, Halford, Horwood, McGregor, Mrs. Morris, Parson, Piper 

and Scholey 

 

 
 

Apologies for Absence 

 

Pages Contact 

1. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4)  

 To agree the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 7 July 2015, as a correct record. 

 

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

 Any interest not already registered. 

 

  

3. Actions from Previous Meetings  (Pages 5 - 6) 

 
 

 
4. Update from Portfolio Holder   

 
 

 
5. Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit Committee  (Pages 7 - 8)  

 

 

 a) Response to Minute 8, 7 July 2015, from 

Economic & Community Development Advisory 

Committee 

 

  

6. Budget 2016/17: Review of Service Dashboards 

and service Change Impact assessments (SCIAs) 

  

(Pages 9 - 30) 

 
Adrian Rowbotham 

Tel: 01732 227153 

7. Street Naming & Property Numbering Policy  (Pages 31 - 46) 

 
Joe Brooks 

Tel: 01732227356 

8. Local Plan Work Programme  (Pages 47 - 54) 

 
Antony Lancaster 

Tel: 01732227326 

9. Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)  (Pages 55 - 244) 

 
Emma Boshell 

Tel: 01732227358 

10. Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan  (Pages 245 - 292) 

 
Simon Taylor 

Tel: 01732 227134 

11. Sevenoaks Settlement Hierarchy 2015 - Update  (Pages 293 - 306) 

 
Simon Taylor 

Tel: 01732 227134 

 



 

 

12. Otford Village Design Statement  (Pages 307 - 352) 

 
Claire Pamberi 

Tel: 01732 227178 

13. Work Plan  (Pages 353 - 354) 

 
 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public.) 

 

 

To assist in the speedy and efficient despatch of business, Members wishing to obtain 

factual information on items included on the Agenda are asked to enquire of the appropriate  

Contact Officer named on a report prior to the day of the meeting. 

 

Should you require a copy of this agenda or any of the reports listed on it in another format 

please do not hesitate to contact the Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

 

For any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact: 

 

The Democratic Services Team (01732 227241) 

 

 

 

 

 



1 
 

PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2015 commencing at 7.00 pm 

 

 

Present: Cllr. Mrs. Hunter (Chairman) 

 

Cllr. Thornton (Vice-Chairman) 

  

 Cllrs. Dr. Canet, Clark, Gaywood, Halford, Horwood, Parson, Piper, and 

Scholey  

 

 An apology for absence was received from Cllr. McGregor 

 

 

1. Appointment of Chairman  

 
Resolved: That Cllr. Mrs. Hunter be appointed as Chairman of the Committee for 

the ensuing municipal year. 

 

 (Cllr. Mrs. Hunter in the Chair) 

 

2. Appointment of Vice-Chairman  

 
Resolved: That Cllr. Thornton be appointed as Vice Chairman of the Committee for 

the ensuing municipal year. 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  

 
No additional declarations of interest were made. 

 

4. Update from Portfolio Holder  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Planning advised Members that:  

 

• a new 2 year fixed term contract Conservation Officer post was being advertised 

along with a replacement Planning Officer; 

• the Chief planning Officer apologised for not being present and had advised that 

his priority was ‘developing less experienced staff’; 

• planning application numbers were high and more than the previous year; 

• 75% of planning appeals were being won by the Council; 

• with regard to s.215 enforcement notices, one had recently been served in St 

Johns and he hoped to have a monthly campaign; 

• progress was being made on large applications such as Fort Halstead, which 

would possibly be going to the Development Control Committee meeting in 

September; 

• the Government’s response to the the Gypsy and Traveller consultation was still 

awaited; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Planning Advisory Committee - 7 July 2015 

2 

 

• with regards to Gatwick, he would be attending a meeting with Paul Carter at 

Edenbridge.  Transport for London (TfL) were keen to gain the south east 

franchise; 

• he would be attending the first meeting of the municipal year of the Kent Downs 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Forum the following week and he was hoping 

to try and secure some funding for Otford Palace Tower as they had recently 

secured some external funding for Darent Valley; 

• he was committed to improving the viability performance on affordable housing; 

and 

• with regards to regeneration there was the possible opportunity to form a working 

group with the Economic & Community Development Advisory Committee; 

 

Action 1: The Housing Policy Manager be asked to circulate a paper on affordable 

housing. 

 

Action 2: Cllr. Gaywood to raise his development control committee constitutional 

concerns with the Chief Officer Legal & Governance 

 

 

5. Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit Committee  

 
There were none. 

 

6. Role of the Advisory Committee and Key Challenges  

 
Members considered a report which provided details of the role of the Committee, its 

areas of responsibility and key issues and challenges facing those areas.  Members 

received a short presentation from the Head of Parking and Surveying, the Strategic 

Planning Manager and the Development Manager on the relevant service areas and had 

the opportunity to ask questions. 

 

Action 3:  Head of Parking and Surveying to keep the Portfolio Holder up to date 

on any Landcharges issues via briefing meetings and if necessary bring a report 

to Committee. 

 

Resolved:  That the report be noted. 

 

 

7. Reconstitution of Working Group (with Housing & Health Advisory Committee)  

 
Members noted that subject to the Planning Advisory Committee’s agreement, the 

Housing & Health Advisory Committee had agreed that the “Housing Needs” Working 

Group be reconstituted with 6 members to include Cllr Dr. Canet, Cllr Eyre, Cllr Gaywood, 

Cllr Horwood and Cllr Parkin (Councillors Dr. Canet, Gaywood and Horwood also being 

members of the Planning Advisory Committee).  The Planning Advisory Committee were 

therefore being asked to agree to the working group and appoint an additional member.  

The Committee discussed appointing Cllr McGregor but he had tended his apologies and 

in his absence Cllr Scholey agreed he would take up the position if Cllr McGregor did not 

wish to.  The Committee requested to see the presentation received by the Housing & 

Community Safety Advisory Committee by the previous working group. 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



Planning Advisory Committee - 7 July 2015 

3 

 

 

Resolved: That 

 

a) the setting up of the joint Working Group to consider Housing Need and using 

the planning system to provide more properties of the type needed within the 

District, be agreed; 

 

b) the Working Group consist of six Members; and 

 

c) either Cllr McGregor or Scholey be the additional member from the Planning 

Advisory Committee. 

 

8. Local Plan Work Programme  

 
The Strategic Planning Manager presented a report which provided a summary project 

plan for the work needed to achieve an adopted Local Plan.  Preparation of a Local Plan 

was required by Government. The current Core Strategy and Allocations and 

Development Management Plan were to be updated and combined in a new Local Plan 

for Sevenoaks District ensuring compliance of policy with any changes in national 

planning policy since their adoption.  It was requested that all key decisions be 

determined within years 2 and 3 of the current administration.  It was also requested 

that local Members be kept thoroughly apprised. 

 

Resolved:  That 

 

a) preparation of an Area Action Plan (AAP) for Swanley and Hextable be 

commenced;  

 

b) subject to the agreement of the  Economic & Community Development 

Advisory Committee’s , a joint working group of 6 be set up to include Cllrs. 

Clark, Halford and Hunter,  looking at the protection of employment land 

especially with regard to the Swanley and Hextable AAP; and 

 

c) the work programme summary for preparing a Local Plan be accepted and 

noted. 

 

9. Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan Update  

 
Members were advised that a Sevenoaks Infrastructure Delivery Plan was first prepared 

in 2010 for the Core Strategy (adopted 2011) and that this was a “live” document which 

illustrated the infrastructure that was required to support development across the 

District. Following the adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule in February 2014, the Council was currently updating its draft Infrastructure 

Plan which would be used as evidence for the new Local Plan and provide up to date 

information for elaborating the Council’s Regulation 123 List (adopted November 2014) 

which set out the infrastructure that could be funded through CIL receipts. 

 

An updated report would be considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 17 September 

2015. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Planning Advisory Committee - 7 July 2015 

4 

 

The Planning Officer (Policy) advised that Town and Parish Councils would be provided 

with a second chance to submit comments as the previous deadline had fallen over the 

run up to the elections, it would also give a further opportunity to reinforce that it was a 

‘live ‘ document. 

 

Resolved:  That the report on the progress of the Infrastructure Plan as an 

important element of the evidence base for the new Local Plan and CIL Regulation 

123 List, be noted. 

 

10. Work Plan  

 
The work plan was noted with the following additions agreed: 

 

13 October 2015 

 
• Draft CIL Infrastructure Plan 

• Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

• Local Plan update 

 

2 February 2016 • Viability 

• S215 notices – review 

• Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

(SHLAA) 

• Local Plan update 

 

19 April 2016 • Housing Needs joint working group report 

• Local Plan update 

 

It was noted that the Gypsy and Traveller Plan and a third development plan document 

would also be reported at some stage during the year, and it was hoped that the 

Squaring the Housing Circle working group from the previous municipal year would be 

able to show the presentation given to the previous Housing & Community Safety 

Advisory Committee. 

 

 

 

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 9.37 PM 

 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



  

ACTIONS FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 7 JULY 2015 

Action Description Status and last updated 29.09.15 Contact Officer 

ACTION 1 

The Housing Policy 

Manager be asked to 

circulate a paper on 

affordable housing. 

There have been several recent and radical changes to Government policy, all of 

which have far-reaching consequences for affordable housing.  All previous 

briefing reports are consequently outdated and do not reflect the current position, 

so should be discounted.  The Housing Policy Manager will be working with the 

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health in the next few months to completely 

review affordable housing and wider housing strategy.  All members have been 

sent an invite to participate in that process.  Once complete, a refreshed housing 

strategy will be produced.   

Gavin Missions 

ACTION 2 

Cllr. Gaywood to raise 

his development 

control committee 

constitutional 

concerns with the 

Chief Officer Legal & 

Governance 

- - Cllr. Gaywood 

ACTION 3 

Head of Parking and 

Surveying to keep the 

Portfolio Holder up to 

date on any 

landcharges issues 

via briefing meetings 

and if necessary bring 

a report to Committee. 

Ongoing Kevin Tomsett 

Ext. 7368 

 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Item 5 (a) – Response to Minute 8, 7 July 2015, from Economic & Community 

Development Advisory Committee 

 

 

Further to Minute 8 of the Planning Advisory Committee meeting held on 7 July 2015, a 

reference was sent to the Economic & Community Development Advisory Committee 

which met on 24 September 2015, relevant minute extract below: 

 

14.  Referrals from Cabinet, and Advisory Committees or the Audit Committee 

      

The Chairman referred Members to the referral from the Planning Advisory Committee, 

which asked the Committee to agree a joint working group of 6 Councillors, looking at the 

protection of employment land especially with regard to the Swanley and Hextable Area 

Action Plan (AAP). 

 

Resolved: That Councillors Hogarth, Maskell and Raikes be appointed to the joint 

working group. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BUDGET 2016/17: REVIEW OF SERVICE DASHBOARDS AND SERVICE CHANGE 

IMPACT ASSESSMENTS (SCIAS) 

Planning Advisory Committee – 13 October 2015 

 

Report of  Chief Finance Officer 

Status: For Decision 

Also considered by: Housing and Health Advisory Committee – 22 September 2015 

Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee – 

24 September 2015 

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee – 6 October 2015 

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee – 8 October 

2015 

Finance Advisory Committee – 17 November 2015 

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee – 26 November 

2015 

Key Decision: No  

Executive Summary: This report sets out updates to the 2016/17 budget within the 

existing framework of the 10-year budget and savings plan.  The report presents 

proposals that have been identified which need to be considered, together with further 

suggestions made by the Advisory Committees, before finalising the budget for 2016/17. 

Informed by the latest information from Government and discussions with Cabinet, it is 

proposed that from next year the Council sets a budget which assumes no funding from 

Government through the Revenue Support Grant. This is the first major step taken 

towards the Council’s ambition to be financially self-sufficient as set out in its Corporate 

Plan. 

To achieve this aim and to ensure a balanced budget position over the next 10 year 

period, whilst also increasing the Council’s ability to be sustainable beyond that time, a 

savings requirement of £500,000 in 2016/17 is required, along with additional income 

or savings of £100,000 in each of the following nine years. 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Searles 

Contact Officer(s) Adrian Rowbotham Ext. 7153 

Helen Martin Ext. 7483 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

Recommendation to each Advisory Committee:   

(a) Advise Cabinet with views on the growth and savings proposals identified in 
Appendix D applicable to this Advisory Committee. 

(b) Advise Cabinet with further suggestions for growth and savings. 

Reason for recommendation: It is important that the views of the Advisory Committees 

are taken into account in the budget process to ensure that the Council’s resources are 

used in the most suitable manner.  

Introduction and Background 

1 The Council’s financial strategy over the past eleven years has worked towards 

increasing financial sustainability and it has been successful through the use of a 

number of strategies including: 

• implementing efficiency initiatives; 

• significantly reducing the back office function; 

• improved value for money; 

• maximising external income; 

• the movement of resources away from low priority services; and 

• an emphasis on statutory rather than non-statutory services. 

2 Over this period the Council has focused on delivering high quality services based 

on Members’ priorities and consultation with residents and stakeholders.  In 

financial terms, the adoption of this strategy has to date allowed the Council to 

move away from its reliance on general fund reserves. 

3 Due to the level of funding and other potential changes and uncertainties, it is 

increasingly difficult to anticipate with sufficient accuracy what the level of 

Government settlement is likely to be. However, using the data sources available 

to the Council, this report sets out a budget over the 10-year period but recognises 

that it is likely that more accurate data will become available in future months and 

current assumptions may need to be updated.  

4 In setting its budget for 2011/12 onwards, the Council recognised the need to 

address both the short-term reduction in Government funding as well as the 

longer-term need to reduce its reliance on reserves. The outcome was a 10-year 

budget, together with a four-year savings plan, that ensured the Council’s finances 

were placed on a stable footing but that also allowed for flexibility between budget 

years.   

5 With the amount of Revenue Support Grant provided by Government continuing to 

reduce at a significant rate it is important that the council aims to become more 

financially self-sufficient by having a balanced economy and a financial strategy 

that is focused on local solutions.  These solutions include: 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



 

a) continuing to deliver financial savings and service efficiencies; 

b) growing the council tax base; and 

c) generating more income. 

6 The intention of this report is to provide Members of each Advisory Committee an 

opportunity to give their views on potential growth and savings items that could be 

included in the updated 10-year budget that will be presented to Council on 16 

February 2016.   

7 The ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2016/17 and Beyond’ report has 

been presented to Cabinet to start the budget setting process for 2016/17. 

8 This report presents members with the following documents relating to the budget 

for 2016/17: 

a) Service Dashboards relating to the Advisory Committee (Appendix A); 

b) 2015/16 Budget by Service relating to the Advisory Committee (Appendix B); 

c) Summary of the Council’s agreed savings plan and growth items (Appendix 

C); 

d) New growth and savings items proposed (Appendix D); 

e) Service Change Impact Assessment forms (SCIAs) for the new growth and 

savings items relating to the Advisory Committee – if applicable (Appendix E); 

f) 10-year budget (Appendix F); 

g) Budget timetable (Appendix G). 

Financial Self-Sufficiency 

9 The Council’s Corporate Plan, introduced in 2013, set out an ambition for the 

Council to become financially self-sufficient. This would mean the Council no 

longer required direct funding from Government, through Revenue Support Grant 

or New Homes Bonus, to deliver its services. 

10 This approach was adopted in response to the financial challenges the Country is 

faced with in bringing its public spending down to ensure it is able to live within its 

means. In practice this has seen Government funding to local authorities 

dramatically reduced since 2010/11 with Sevenoaks District Council seeing a 

32% reduction is its funding from government in 2015/16 alone. 

11 The decision to become financially self-sufficient is intended to give the Council 

greater control over their services, reducing the potential for decision making to be 

influenced by the level of funding provided by government to local authorities.  

12 The attached 10-year budget assumes no Revenue Support Grant from 2016/17 

and no New Homes Bonus from 2019/20.  If funding continues to be received 

from these sources, the intention is to put it into the Financial Plan Reserve which 

can be used to support the 10-year budget by funding invest to save initiatives and 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

support for the Property Investment Strategy.  One of the aims of the Property 

Investment Strategy is to achieve returns of 6%; therefore using funding for this 

purpose will result in additional year on year income that is not impacted by 

Government decisions. 

13 Cabinet are keen to become financially self-sufficient early to be ahead of the 

game and after reviewing the assumptions in the 10-year budget it is clear that it 

is an achievable aim to be free from Government control and be able to move 

ahead in the knowledge that this council has the financial resources to provide the 

services that the district’s residents want into the future. 

Service Dashboards 

14 This is a new document as it is the intention to provide Members with improved 

information during the budget setting process to provide context and inform any 

growth and savings ideas that Members may put forward. 

15 The Service Dashboards cover a summary of the services provided, objectives, 

challenges and risks, achievements and opportunities, priorities and performance. 

16 Appendix A contains the Service Dashboards for those services directly relevant to 

this Advisory Committee and Appendix B contains the budget for those services. 

Savings Plan 

17 Appendix C to this report sets out a summary of the savings and growth items 

approved by Council since the 10-year budget strategy was first used in 2011/12, 

which have allowed the Council to deliver a 10 year balanced budget.   

18 The savings plan requires a total of £5.3 million to be saved between 2011/12 

and 2016/17 which is an average saving of nearly £900,000 per annum.  In the 

twelve years from 2005/06, over £10m of savings will then have been made. 

19 Further savings are scheduled to be made in later years as previously agreed by 

Council. 

Proposed Growth Items 

20 Growth items are items that are in addition to non-service issues and risks, such 

as grant settlements, impacts of economic change and other pressures 

highlighted in the ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2016/17 and Beyond’ 

report considered by Cabinet on 17 September 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



 

21 A list of the growth items proposed can be found in Appendix D and a summary by 

Advisory Committee is shown in the following table: 

Advisory Committee Annual 

Impact 

 

£000 

10-year 

Budget 

Impact 

£000 

Direct and Trading 36 360 

Economic and Community Development 39 390 

Finance 55 550 

Housing and Health - - 

Legal and Democratic Services 40 400 

Planning - - 

Policy and Performance - - 

Total 170 1,700 

 

22 In addition, the growth item for making the staffing establishment levels 

permanent in the Economic Development and Property Team (SCIA1) is included 

in the ‘New Growth’ line on the 10-Year Budget. 

Proposed Savings Items 

23 A number of savings items are also being proposed which can also be found in 

Appendix D and a summary by Advisory Committee is shown in the following table: 

Advisory Committee Annual 

Impact 

£000 

10-year 

Budget 

Impact 

£000 

Direct and Trading (15) (75) 

Economic and Community Development (10) (100) 

Finance (233) (2,330) 

Housing and Health (40) (400) 

Legal and Democratic Services - - 

Planning (20) (200) 

Policy and Performance (300) (3,000) 

Total (618) (6,105) 

 

24 Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs) contain further details for all 

proposed growth and savings items.  SCIAs applicable to this Advisory Committee 

can be found in Appendix E. 

25 Members should note that even if all of the growth and savings proposals included 

in Appendix D are agreed, further savings will still need to be identified to reach 

the £500,000 target.  

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

Financial Summary 

26 It is increasingly difficult to produce an accurate forecast at this early stage due to 

the level of uncertainty, in particular for Government Support.  The assumptions 

currently included take into account the latest information available but a number 

of assumptions may change before the final budget meeting in February 2015. 

27 The 10-year budget attached at Appendix E includes the changes that were 

included in the ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2016/17 and Beyond’ 

report. 

Role of the Advisory Committees 

28 Views of the Advisory Committees on the growth and savings items proposed 

together with any additional suggestions will be considered by Cabinet at its 

meeting on 3 December 2015. 

29 To assist the Advisory Committees in making additional suggestions, a number of 

questions will be asked and Members will be requested to write their answers on 

post-it notes and put on the relevant board. 

30 The questions that Members will be asked at the Advisory Committees are: 

a) What services should the Council invest more in? 

b) What services should the Council disinvest from? 

c) What services work well? 

d) What services don’t work well? 

e) What issues would you like Cabinet to take into account? 

31 Officers will summarise the answers before the Committee decides on suggestions 

to be recommended to Cabinet.  The focus of the answers and recommendations 

should be on the services within the terms of reference of the Advisory Committee 

however, comments relating to other services will also be passed onto Cabinet. 

Process and Timetable 

32 This report is the second stage of the budget process as shown in the Budget 

Timetable (Appendix G). 

33 It is possible that Advisory Committees may have to re-address service budgets in 

January if significant changes have taken place leading to a large and 

unmanageable deficit. 

Key Implications 

Financial 

All financial implications are covered elsewhere in this report. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement. 

There are no legal implications. 

For the effective management of our resources and in order to achieve a sustainable 

budget it is essential that all service cost changes and risks are identified and 

considered. 

Challenges and risks are included in the Service Dashboards and each Service Change 

Impact Assessment (SCIA) includes the likely impacts including a risk analysis. 

Financial risks will be reviewed again when the Cabinet publishes its proposals for the 

annual budget. 

Equality Assessment 

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector Equality Duty (section 

149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010, (ii) 

advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups, and (iii) foster 

good relations between people from different groups.  The decisions recommended 

through this paper directly impact on end users.   The impact has been analysed and 

varies between groups of people. 

Individual equality impact assessments have been completed for all Service Change 

Impact Assessments (SCIAs) to ensure the decision making process is fair and 

transparent. 
 

Conclusions 

The Strategic Financial and Business Planning process has ensured that the Council 

follows a logical and well considered process and approach in dealing with the many 

difficult financial challenges which it has faced.  The 10-year budget has further improved 

this process and helped to ensure that the Council is well placed in dealing with more 

immediate and longer-term financial challenges. 

By becoming financially self-sufficient at an early stage, this Council will become much 

more in control of its own destiny as the Property Investment Strategy should provide a 

much more stable income stream than the reducing direct government funding streams. 

The attached 10-year budget shows that this Council can continue to be financially stable 

going into the future with a level of assurance that any council would aspire to. 

This budget process will once again be a major financial challenge for a Council that 

already provides value for money services to a high standard.  In making any budget 

proposals, Members will need to consider the impact on service quality and staff well-

being, to ensure that these proposals lead to an achievable 10-year budget that supports 

the Council’s aspirations for customer-focused services. 

Members’ consideration and scrutiny of the relevant services is an essential and key 

element in the business and financial planning process.  If the net total of growth and 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

savings proposals identified by the Advisory Committees and approved by Cabinet does 

not reach the £500,000 savings target, additional savings will be required that may result 

in service changes, to ensure a balanced budget position.   

Appendices Appendix A – Service Dashboards relating to this 

Advisory Committee. 

Appendix B – 2015/16 Budget by Service relating to 

this Advisory Committee. 

Appendix C – Summary of the Council’s agreed 

savings plan and growth items. 

Appendix D – New growth and savings items 

proposed. 

Appendix E - Service Change Impact Assessment 

forms (SCIAs) for the new growth and savings items 

relating to this Advisory Committee (if applicable). 

Appendix F – 10-year budget. 

Appendix G – Budget timetable. 

 

Background Papers: a) Report to Council 17 February 2015 – Budget 
and Council Tax Setting 2015/16 

b) Report to Cabinet 17 September 2015 – 
Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 

2016/17 and Beyond 

Adrian Rowbotham 

Chief Finance Officer 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Service Dashboard 

Chief Planning Officer, Richard Morris 

 

 

2

6

0

2

4

6

8

No. of LPI's

Performance
2,012

716

1,296

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

Gross Income Net

Planning Budget (£000)

Service contribution 

Statutory service ����� 

Income generating ����� 

Working in partnership  ����� 

Advisory Committee responsibilities 
Development Management including conservation, arboriculture and planning enforcement.  

Planning Policy including plan making, neighbourhood planning and transport policy 

Objectives 
• Prepare and update planning policy and guidance for 

the District through the Local Plan in line with the 
Local Development Scheme timetable 

• To work with Town and Parish Councils that wish to 
adopt Neighbourhood Plans 

• Oversee the implementation of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy and the spend of section 106 
contributions 

• To provide pre-application advice and determine 
planning applications in accordance with national and 
local planning policies 

• Investigate alleged breaches of planning control and 
take formal enforcement action when necessary 

Achievements & Opportunities 
• Consistently high performing development 

management function when measured for both 
speed and quality of decision making 

• Early implementation of CIL to deliver infrastructure 
for our communities 

• 2015 adoption of the ADMP puts up to date policies 
in place against which to determine planning 
applications 

• Commitment to produce a new local plan, ensuring 
we retain localised control of decision making 

• Recently adopted Local Enforcement Plan  

• Recently adopted Statement of Community 
Involvement to ensure comprehensive engagement 
with our communities and wider customers 

Corporate priorities 

Self sufficiency �  Value for Money � 

Safe district � Collect rubbish effectively � 

Protect Green Belt � Local Economy � 

Challenges & Risks 
• Ambitious work programme to deliver the Local 

Plan  

• Pace of change in national planning policy 

• The Duty to Co-operate (working with neighbouring 
authorities and key agencies) 

• Regeneration and growth (working with SDC 
economic development team) 

• Delivering Affordable Housing (working with SDC 
housing team) 

• The cost of decisions being challenged, either at 
appeal or through the Courts 

• As the busiest planning department in Kent, 
maintaining our high performance 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 6



Service Dashboard 

Chief Officer for Environmental & Operational Services, Richard Wilson 

 

 

1

3

0

1

2

3

No. of LPI's

Performance

447

694

(247)

0

200

400

600

800

Gross Income Net

Building Control Budget (£000)

Service contribution 

Statutory service ����� 

Income generating ����� 

Working in partnership  ����� 

Advisory Committee responsibilities 
Building Control including dangerous structures; street naming & numbering; land charges and event 

management – safety advisory groups 
 

Objectives 

• To successfully deliver and administer Building 
Regulation applications and provide a rapid 24/7 
service response to dangerous structures 

• Administer the local Land Charges service and deliver 
the street naming & numbering service 

• Deliver a successful shared working Building Control 
team with Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 

• Through Safety Advisory groups, ensure safety of the 
public at local events 

 

Achievements & Opportunities 
• Shared working arrangement with TMBC for Building 

Control commenced 1 October 2014, based mainly 
at SDC offices 

• 97% of Building Control plans checked within 15 
days and 5,000 site inspections completed annually 

• 100% response rate to dangerous structures within 2 
hours including out of hours 

• Approximately 2,000 land charge searches each 
year, processed in an average of 10 days 

• Opportunity to deliver shared IT integration for 
shared service including performance management 
system and shared public access 

• Opportunity to develop on line forms for Building 
Control applications 

Corporate priorities 

Self sufficiency �  Value for Money � 

Safe district � Collect rubbish effectively � 

Protect Green Belt � Local Economy � 

Challenges & Risks 

• Complete integration of IT systems for Building 
Control shared service, new system will be 
expandable for potential further joint working 

• Expand discretionary consultancy services for 
Building Control 

• Land Registry proposals for local land charges 

• Potential for further shared working in Building 
Control 

 

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 6



Appendix B

Planning Advisory Committee: 2015/16 Budget by Service

Revenue

2015/16 

Expenditure

2015/16 

Income

2015/16    

Net

Chief Officer Description £'000 £'000 £'000

Env & Op Svs Administrative Expenses - Building Control 9 0 9

Env & Op Svs Building Control 335 (494) (159)

Env & Op Svs Building Control Discretionary Work 0 (9) (9)

Env & Op Svs Building Control Partnership Hub (SDC Costs) 0 0 0

Env & Op Svs Dangerous Structures 10 0 10

Env & Op Svs Land Charges 93 (191) (98)

Planning Services Administrative Expenses - Planning Services 34 0 34

Planning Services Conservation 46 0 46

Planning Services Planning - Appeals 196 0 196

Planning Services Planning - Development Management 1,068 (716) 352

Planning Services Planning - Enforcement 279 0 279

Planning Services Planning Policy 389 0 389

2,459 (1,410) 1,049

Capital

2015/16 

Expenditure

Chief Officer Description £'000

0

0

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of the Council's Agreed Savings and Growth Items Appendix C

Description 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Later Years Total

Year No. £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee

No savings or growth agreed from 2016/17 onwards

Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee

2014/15 2 Economic Development & Property Team - SCIA originally called 'Broadband 

and business growth' (reversal of temporary growth item)

(50) (30)

Finance Advisory Committee

2011/12 62,63 Staff terms and conditions - savings agreed by Council 18/10/11 (143) (836)

2015/16 1 Staffing: Employers National Insurance increase from April 2016 - 

implications due to change in legislation

200

2015/16 10 External Audit fee reduction (reversal of temporary saving item) 30

2015/16 11 Dartford BC partnerships: revised split of costs (reversal of temporary 

saving item)

90

Housing and Health Advisory Committee

2015/16 17 Housing Advice: Bed and breakfast reduction (reversal of temporary saving 

item)

10

2015/16 18 Housing Advice: Private sector letting scheme (reversal of temporary saving 

item)

10

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee

No savings or growth agreed from 2016/17 onwards

Planning Advisory Committee

2014/15 15 Planning: Use CIL funds for monitoring (50)

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee

2014/15 18 Corporate Projects (reversal of temporary growth item) (60)

2014/15 21 Customer Services: Channel shift programme (20)

Total Savings (2,984) (841) (314) (479) (533) (103) (806) (6,060)

Total Growth 371 45 50 327 177 90 (30) 1,030

Net Savings (2,613) (796) (264) (152) (356) (13) (836) (5,030)

SCIA

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

New Growth and Savings Proposals

Proposal shown as 'New Growth' on the attached 10-year budget

Description Year Ongoing

Annual 

Impact

10-year Budget 

Impact

Year No. £000 £000

Growth

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee

2016/17 1 Economic Development & Property: Staffing establishment levels made permanent 2016/17 yes 88 1,342

Total 88 1,342

Proposals not included on the attached 10-year budget

Description Year Ongoing

Annual 

Impact

10-year Budget 

Impact

Year No. £000 £000

Growth

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee

2016/17 2 Street Cleaning: Fly-tipping clearance and enforcement action 2016/17 yes 36 360

Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee

2016/17 3 Tourism: Full-time Tourism Officer 2016/17 yes 39 390

Finance Advisory Committee

2016/17 4 Facilities Management: Loss of asset maintenance income 2016/17 yes 13 130

2016/17 5 Facilities Management: Asset maintenance at Hever Road Travellers Site 2016/17 yes 30 300

2016/17 6 Finance: Insurance Premium Tax increase 2016/17 yes 12 120

Housing and Health Advisory Committee

none

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee

2016/17 7 Register of Electors: Individual Electoral Registration 2016/17 yes 40 400

Planning Advisory Committee

none

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee

none

Sub Total 170 1,700

SCIA

SCIA

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6



Appendix D

Proposals not included on the attached 10-year budget

Description Year Ongoing

Annual 

Impact

10-year Budget 

Impact

Year No. £000 £000

Savings

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee

2016/17 8 Playgrounds: Reduction in asset maintenance 2016/17 5 yrs (7) (35)

2016/17 9 Public Conveniences: Reduction in asset maintenance 2016/17 5 yrs (8) (40)

Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee

2016/17 10 Youth: Reduction in contributions to projects 2016/17 yes (10) (100)

Finance Advisory Committee

2016/17 11 Facilities Management: Reduction in utility costs 2016/17 yes (15) (150)

2016/17 12 Facilities Management: Reduction in maintenance and consumables cost 2016/17 yes (66) (660)

2016/17 13 Facilities Management: Increased print income 2016/17 yes (10) (100)

2016/17 14 Various partnerships: Revised split of costs 2016/17 yes (70) (700)

2016/17 15 Finance: Partnership work covered within existing resources 2016/17 yes (72) (720)

Housing and Health Advisory Committee

2016/17 16 Housing Advice & Standards: Housing Register 2016/17 yes (15) (150)

2016/17 17 Disabled Facility Grants: Fee income 2016/17 yes (20) (200)

2016/17 18 Private Sector Lettings (PSL) scheme: reduced contribution 2016/17 yes (5) (50)

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee

none

Planning Advisory Committee

2016/17 19 Planning: Efficiency review 2016/17 yes (20) (200)

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee

2016/17 20 Pay costs saving 2016/17 yes (300) (3,000)

Sub Total (618) (6,105)

Net Savings Total (448) (4,405)

Net Savings required in 10-Year Budget (500)

Remaining shortfall IF all of the above SCIA's are agreed (52)

SCIA

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 6



Appendix E 
SERVICE CHANGE IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

SCIA 19 (16/17) 

Chief Officer: Chief Planning Officer Service: Planning 

Activity Planning  No. of Staff: 45.80 fte 

      

Activity Budget Change 2016/17 

Growth / 

(Saving) 

£000 

Later Years Comments (ongoing, one-

off, etc.) 

Efficiency Review (20) Ongoing  

  

Reasons for and explanation 

of proposed change in service 

The saving will be met from increased flexible working, 

an ongoing review of processes and procedures and a 

healthy demand for development and associated pre-

application advice. 

    

Key Stakeholders Affected None 

  

Likely impacts and 

implications of the change in 

service (include Risk Analysis) 

Service delivery is closely monitored so the likely impact 

can be minimised.  

 

Risk to Service Objectives (High / Medium / Low) Low 

 
 

2015/16 Budget  £’000 

 Operational Cost 2,012 

 Income (716) 

 Net Cost 1,296 

 

 
Equality Impacts 
 
The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 

to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F
Ten Year Budget - Revenue

Budget Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure

Net Service Expenditure c/f 14,136 14,253 13,676 14,248 14,499 14,659 15,210 15,564 15,925 16,293 16,666

Inflation 473 569 506 622 446 638 454 461 468 473 478

Superannuation Fund deficit: actuarial increase 0 (721) 300 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 0

Net savings (approved in previous years) (356) (13) (162) (271) (216) (187) 0 0 0 0 0

New growth 0 88 28 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 0

New savings/Income 0 (500) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100)

Net Service Expenditure b/f 14,253 13,676 14,248 14,499 14,659 15,210 15,564 15,925 16,293 16,666 17,044

Financing Sources

Government Support

: Revenue Support Grant (1,516) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus (1,818) (2,247) (1,348) (1,348) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax (9,298) (9,597) (9,905) (10,221) (10,546) (10,879) (11,222) (11,574) (11,935) (12,307) (12,688)

Locally Retained Business Rates (1,934) (1,973) (2,012) (2,052) (2,093) (2,135) (2,178) (2,222) (2,266) (2,311) (2,357)

Interest Receipts (301) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250)

Property Investment Strategy Income 0 (500) (500) (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) (800) (800) (800)

Contributions to/(from) Reserves (233) (233) (353) (353) (353) (353) (353) (179) (179) (635) 148

Total Financing (15,100) (14,800) (14,368) (14,924) (13,942) (14,317) (14,703) (14,925) (15,430) (16,303) (15,947)

Budget Gap (surplus)/deficit (847) (1,124) (120) (425) 717 893 861 1,000 863 363 1,097

Contribution to/(from) Stabilisation Reserve 847 1,124 120 425 (717) (893) (861) (1,000) (863) (363) (1,097)

Unfunded Budget Gap (surplus)/deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Assumptions

Council Tax:

Interest Receipts:

Property Inv. Strat.:

Pay award:

Other costs:

Income:

2.25% in all years

2.5% all years

Revenue Support 

Grant:

Locally Retained 

Business Rates:

 -100% in 16/17

2% all years

2% in all years

£250,000 16/17 onwards

£500,000 from 16/17, £700,000 from 18/19, £800,000 onwards

1% in 16/17 - 19/20, 2% later years

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 6



This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix G 

2016/17 Budget Setting Timetable 
 

 Date Committee 

Stage 1 

Financial Prospects and Budget 

Strategy 2016/17 and Beyond 

1 September Finance AC 

17 September Cabinet 

  � 
Stage 2 

Review of Service Dashboards and 

Service Change Impact Assessments 

(SCIAs) 

22 September Housing & Health AC 

24 September Economic & Comm. Dev. AC 

6 October Direct & Trading AC 

8 October Legal & Dem. Svs AC 

13 October Planning AC 

17 November Finance AC 

26 November Policy & Performance AC 

  � 
Stage 3 

Budget Update 

(incl. Service Change Impact 

Assessments (SCIAs), feedback from 

Advisory Committees) 

3 December Cabinet 

  � 
Stage 4 

Budget Update 

(incl. Government Support information) 
14 January Cabinet 

  � 
 

Stage 5 

Budget Update and further review of 

Service Change Impact Assessments 

(if required) 

 January - 

February 
Advisory Committees 

  � 
Stage 6 

Budget Setting Meeting 

(Recommendations to Council) 
4 February Cabinet 

  � 
Stage 7 

Budget Setting Meeting 

(incl. Council Tax setting) 
16 February Council 

 

 

Note: The Scrutiny Committee may ‘call in’ items concerning the budget setting process. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STREET NAMING AND PROPERTY NUMBERING POLICY 

Planning Advisory Committee – 13 October 2015 

 

Report of  Chief Officer Environmental and Operational Services 

Status: For Decision  

Also considered by: Cabinet – 5 November 2015 

Key Decision: Yes  

Executive Summary: The Council has a responsibility to administer the naming and 

numbering of buildings and streets within the District. Names and numbers need to be 

allocated logically and within issued guidance to ensure emergency service vehicles, 

amongst others, are able to identify properties quickly. The attached policy sets out the 

legal framework, procedure and guidance for naming/number and renaming/numbering 

of buildings and streets. 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Piper 

Contact Officer Joe Brooks, Building Control Manager  Ext. 7356 

Recommendation to Planning & Advisory Committee:   

To recommend to Cabinet to  adopt the Street Naming and Property Numbering Policy 

Recommendation to Cabinet:  

To adopt the Street Naming and Property Numbering Policy 

Reason for recommendation:  To provide a formal framework for exercising the council’s 

statutory duties as the Street Naming & Numbering Authority. 

Introduction and Background 

1 The Council under the Towns Improvement Clauses Act 1847 and the Public 

Health Amendment Act 1925 controls the naming of streets and numbering of 

buildings in the Sevenoaks District. 

2 The purpose of this control is to make sure that any new street names and 

building names and numbers are allocated logically with a view to ensuring that 

emergency service vehicles are able to speedily locate any address to which they 

may be summoned; the effective delivery of mail and enable property 

identification for the general public. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 

3 The service has operated for a number of years within the requirements of the 

legislation and an internal policy, however this not been formally adopted and 

therefore could be open to challenge. It is therefore recommended that the 

Council formally adopt a policy 

Key Implications 

Financial 

Charges are set to recover the cost of the service, the adoption of the policy will support 

that function.  

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement. 

None identified. Legislation requirements detailed above. A statutory function. 

Equality Assessment  

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to the 

substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users 

 

Appendices Appendix A – Draft Policy Document 

 

Background Papers: None 

.  

 

RICHARD WILSON 

Chief Officer  Environmental & Operational Services 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  
 

 

STREET NAMING AND PROPERTY NUMBERING POLICY  

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council under the Towns Improvement Clauses Act 1847 and the Public 

Health Amendment Act 1925 controls the naming of streets and numbering of 

buildings in the Sevenoaks District. The purpose of this control is to make sure 

that any new street names and building names and numbers are allocated 

logically with a view to ensuring that emergency service vehicles are able to 

speedily locate any address to which they may be summoned; the effective 

delivery of mail and enable property identification for the general public. 

 
1.2 Anyone wishing to change the name/ number of their property or seeking an 

address for a new property should apply in writing to the Council. 
 

1.3 In respect of the naming and numbering of new streets and properties, the 

naming or numbering of new properties in existing streets and the renaming or 

renumbering of existing properties the Council will normally charge a fee to 

cover the cost of the work involved as set out in the schedule (Appendix C). 

 
 
2.0 Purpose of Policy 
 
2.1 This policy provides a framework for Sevenoaks DC to administer its Street 

Naming and Numbering (SNN) function effectively and efficiently for the benefit 

of residents, businesses and visitors. It will also act as a guide for developers 

when considering new names for streets and give assistance to Ward 

Councillors and Town and Parish Councils. 

 

2.2 The Policy defines:- 

(i)  Legal framework for administrating the Street Naming and Numbering 

service. 

(ii)  Protocols for determining official street names and numbers. 

(iii) Recommendations to prevent confusion by duplicating or using similar 

names to any already in use. 

 
 
3.0  Legal Framework 
 
3.1 The Legislation under which naming and numbering can be carried out is: 
 

 Section 21 Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907 (alteration of street 
name) 

 Sections 17-19 Public Health Act 1925 (naming of streets and 
alteration and indication of street names  

 Sections 64 and 65 of the Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 
(street naming and building numbering provisions) 

 
 

  

Page 33

Agenda Item 7

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text
Appendix A

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text

glewis
Typewritten Text



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  

 
 
4.0  Street Naming and Numbering Charges 
 
4.1 The Power to charge falls under Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

This sets out that a local authority may charge for discretionary services. 

Discretionary services are those services that an authority has the power but not 

a duty to provide. An authority may charge where the person who receives the 

service has agreed to its provision and the charge must not exceed the cost of 

providing the service. 

 

4.2  Therefore the Council can charge for elements of the naming and numbering 

function by virtue of Section 64 and 65 of the 1847 Act coupled with Section 93 

of the 2003 Act. 

 

4.3 For Street Naming and Numbering these charges cover: 

 

 Consultation and liaising with other external organisations such as Royal 

Mail, Local Councils and Emergency Services. 

 The Naming and Numbering of new properties (including conversions). 

 Alterations in either name or numbers to new developments after initial 

naming and numbering has been undertaken. 

 Notifications to those organisations listed in Appendix B 

 

4.4 These charges are to be paid prior to any changes of address being made to a 

property. Changes made without contacting the Council will be not be officially 

recognised and will not be registered with services and organisations listed in 

Appendix B. 

 

4.5 The Scale of Charges for Street Naming and Numbering can be found in 

Appendix C. 

 

4.6 Fees and charges applicable for the street naming and numbering service may 

be annually reviewed during the Council’s budget setting process and publicised 

through the Council’s agreed communication channels including the website. 

 
 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  

 
 

 5.0 Procedure for determining new Street Names 
 
5.1 The developer will usually be advised on the grant of planning permission of the 

need to contact the Council to arrange for the naming and numbering of the 

buildings and streets within the development. The Building Control Team will 

also inform the developer once works commence. 
 
5.2 As part of the SNN application the developer will be required to supply up to 

three preferred names for consideration for each of the new streets being 

constructed.  Any suggested street name should have some connection with the 

area and must conform to the guidelines set out below. 

 

5.3 The developer is requested to supply a layout plan with plot numbers of the site 

with the street name application. 
 
5.4 Within 7 working days following receipt of the developer’s proposal the 

appropriate Parish/ Town Council will be consulted. The period allowed for 

consultation shall be 14 days from the date of the covering letter to the Parish/ 

Town Councils. The consultation period may be extended, if requested, to 

enable local council meetings to take place. 
 
5.5 If one of the offered names is considered acceptable following consultation then 

that name will be forwarded to the Royal Mail for comment. If the Royal Mail 

agree to the name then it will be adopted, the properties within the new street 

will be numbered and an official plan produced. The plan will be distributed to 

the developer and other relevant bodies.  
 
5.6 If no response is received from the consultees, then the SNN Officer will select 

one of the three preferred names, the properties within the new street will be 

numbered, an official plan produced and distributed. 
 
5.7 If none of the offered names are considered acceptable by the SNN Officer then 

the Parish/Town Council will be asked to suggest a name, if considered 

acceptable then the developer will be informed, the new street will be numbered, 

an official plan produced and distributed. 

 
 
6.0 Guidelines for Naming Streets 
 

The following guidelines must be considered when seeking a new name for a 

street: 

 

6.1 A new street name will only be allocated to a street that serves five or more 

properties. In the event that a small development serves four or less properties 

the address will incorporate the primary street name. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  
 
 
6.2 New street names should try to avoid duplicating any similar name already in 

use in the district or neighbouring local authority areas. A variation in the 

terminal word, example, “street”, “road”, “avenue”, will not be accepted as 

sufficient reason to duplicate a name. The overwhelming desire of, for instance, 

a request for St. Mary’s Close off an existing St Mary’s Way, near St. Mary’s 

Church etc should be avoided. 
 
6.3 Street names should not be difficult to pronounce or awkward to spell. Names 

that are aesthetically unsuitable must be avoided such as Gasworks Road, 
Packemin Close, Tip Lane, Coalpit Lane or names capable of misinterpretation 
like Hoare Road and Typple Avenue etc. 
 

6.4 The informal adoption of unofficial ‘marketing’ titles by developers in the sale of 

new properties is not acceptable.  Developers are reminded that under S.1 of 

the Property Descriptions Act 1991 that it is an offence to make misleading 

statement about the location or address of a property. 
 

6.5 All new street names should be appropriate to their location and end with one of 

the following suffixes: 
 

 Street (for any thoroughfare) 

 Road (for any thoroughfare) 

 Way (for major roads) 

 Avenue (for residential roads) 

 Drive (for residential roads) 

 Grove (for residential roads) 

 Lane (for residential roads) 

 Gardens (for residential roads) subject to there being no confusion with any 

local open space. 

 Place (for residential roads) 

 Crescent (for a crescent shaped road) 

 Close (for a cul-de-sac only) 

 Square (for a square only) 

 Hill (for a hillside only) 

 Circus (for a large roundabout) 

 Vale (for residential roads) 

 Rise (for residential roads) 

 Dene (for residential roads) 

 Mead (for residential roads) 

 Mews (for residential roads) 

 View (for residential roads) 

 Walk (for residential roads) 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  
 
 

6.6 Street names may include the following words, but to comply with national 

standards may not end with them: 
 

 End 

 Cross 

 Side 

 Park 

 Meadow 

 Court 

 Wharf 
 

All these words can be incorporated in a street name provided it ends with an 

appropriate suffix (example Vine Meadow Road). 
 
6.7 Exceptions: 
 
6.7.1  Single or dual names without suffixes in appropriate places (example, 

Broadway) are acceptable. 
 
6.7.2  All new pedestrian ways should end with one of the following suffixes: 
 

 Walk 

 Path 

 Way 
 
6.7.3  All new building names for apartment blocks should end with one of the 

following suffixes: 
 

 House 

 Court – Residential only 

 Point – High block residential only 

 Tower – High block offices or residential 

 Heights – High block offices or residential 
 
6.7.4 For private houses it is sufficient that the name should not repeat the name of 

the road or that of any other house or building in the area in a way that could 

lead to confusion with a pre-existing nearby address. 

 
6.7.5  The use of North, East, South or West (as in Alfred North Road and Alfred Road 

South, or East or West) is only acceptable where the road is continuous and 

passes over a major junction. It is not acceptable when the road is in two 

separate parts with no vehicular access between the two. 
 
6.7.6 Avoid having two phonetically similar names within a postal area and, if possible, 

within town/ village, example, Alfred Road and Alfred Close or Churchill Road 

and Birch Hill Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  
 
 
 
 
6.7.7 The use of a name which relates to living people should be avoided if possible.  

Only in very exceptional circumstances would such a suggestion be given 

consideration. It is essential that the person put forward lived in the town or 

village in question or otherwise has some other close association with that 

locality. If such an exception is allowed the written consent of the person 

concerned must also be obtained. Naming roads after members of the 

developer’s family is also to be avoided. 
 
6.7.8  The Council does not issue postcodes for properties; this duty lies with the Royal 

Mail. 
 
6.7.9  It is the responsibility of developers to cover the initial costs of the nameplates 

for the site; the Council thereafter covers the maintenance. 
 
 
7.0 Guidelines for Numbering Properties 
 
7.1 The usual convention for numbering properties in a new street will be even 

numbers on one side and odd numbers on the other, except that for a cul-de-sac 

where consecutive numbering in a clockwise direction is preferred.  Private 

garages and similar buildings used for housing cars and such like will not be 

numbered. 
 
7.2 A proper sequence shall be maintained, with number 13 being included unless 

requested to remove (at the beginning of the street name and numbering 

application process). 
 
7.3 Buildings (including those on corner sites) are numbered according to the street 

in which the main entrance is to be accessed and the manipulation of numbering 

in order to secure a “prestige” address or to avoid an address, which is thought 

to have undesired associations will not be sanctioned. 
 

7.4 In circumstances where an existing street or similar is extended, it would be 

appropriate to continue to use the same street name. This would be subject to 

the limitations of the existing numbering scheme. 
 
7.5 Legislation permits the use of numbers followed by letters or fractions. These 

are needed, for instance, when one large house in a road is demolished and 

replaced by (say) four smaller houses. To include the new houses in the 

numbered road sequence would involve renumbering all the higher numbered 

houses on that side of the road, which is considered unacceptable.  Therefore to 

avoid this each new house will be given the number of the old house with either 

A, B, C or D added. 

 
7.6 For private houses in existing unnumbered roads it is essential that the houses 

are officially allocated names, which are registered with the emergency services. 

For private houses it is sufficient that the name should not repeat the name of 

the road or that of any other house or building in the area.  Anyone wishing to 

change the name of their unnumbered house must apply in writing to the 

Council.  

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  

 

 Once the name has been accepted the Council will notify the Royal Mail and the 

statutory bodies of the change but it is the responsibility of the person requesting 

the change to notify all their personal contacts. 
 
7.7 Where a property has a number, it must be used and displayed. Where a name 

has been chosen to a property with a number, the number must always be 

included, the name cannot be regarded as an alternative.  The property name 

and number must be clearly displayed on the property and be visible from the 

highway. 
 
7.8 For new blocks of flats, where each flat is accessed via a common entrance and 

hallway, the building will be given a number in the usual sequence within the 

street and each flat will be separately numbered within the block (e.g. Flat 1, 1 

High Street, Flat 2, 1 High Street etc.,). If the properties are individually 

accessed directly from the street (sometimes described as ‘maisonettes’) each 

will be given its own address. 
 
 

8.0 Renaming a Street / Renumbering Properties 
 
8.1 Renaming an existing street/renumbering property within an existing street is to 

be avoided unless the benefits clearly outweigh the obvious disadvantages. 
 
8.2 On rare occasions where this becomes necessary it is usually only done as a 

last resort when: 
 

 There is confusion over a street’s name and/or property numbering. 

 The residents are unhappy with their street name. 

 The number of named-only properties in a street is deemed to be causing 

confusion for emergency services, visitors and deliveries. 
 
8.3 In such instances a ballot of those persons responsible for paying council tax 

affected by the change will be taken on the issue. This will ensure that 

residents’ views are taken into account and the results will be considered by the 

Council. In addition the Council will consult the Royal Mail and Local Council on 

the issue. 
 
8.4 To change a street name the Council will require a minimum of two thirds 

support from the affected persons responsible for paying the local council tax as 

any change can be very disruptive and cause individuals to have to change all 

their personal address details. The consultation process referred to in this 

document will be implemented before any agreement is given. This is a very 

time consuming process and can be very emotive for those involved and will, 

therefore, only be contemplated as a last resort. 

  

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Council September 2015  

 

 
9.0  The National Land and Property Gazetteer (NLPG) 
 
9.1 The NLPG is the definitive address list that provides unique identification of 

properties and conforms to the British Standard, BS7666:2006. The NLPG 

covers the whole of England and Wales and contains more than 30 million 

residential, business and non-mailing addresses and is now marketed 

commercially. 

 

9.2 The NLPG is a comprehensive and continually updated database, created by 

those with local knowledge in each local authority, the body with legal 

responsibility for street naming and numbering of property. As local authorities 

are the originators of addressing information an address dataset, developed and 

maintained at source by users of the data, will inevitably have the highest level 

of currency and completeness. 

 

9.3 The Council is committed to this initiative through its own Local Land and 

Property Gazetteer (LLPG) which, together with the other local authorities in 

England and Wales, makes up the NLPG. Street naming and numbering is the 

single most important source of address change intelligence for the Council’s 

LLPG and therefore NLPG. 

 
 

10.0 Street Nameplates 

 

10.1 The Council is responsible for the replacement and repair of street nameplates 

in its own administrative area. Nameplates will be erected and replaced 

whenever required, taking into account both financial restraints and requirement. 

 

10.2 Where a street is approached only from one direction only one nameplate will be 

erected and this will face the direction of approaching traffic. Where a road can 

be approached from both directions, nameplates on either side of the junction 

will be erected. Nameplate(s) will also be erected at any junction or entrance 

onto the street. 

 

10.3 The nameplates erected within the Sevenoaks District will be as per the 

nameplate specification. (See Appendix D) 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

APPENDIX A: Legislation 

 

Section 64: Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 

Houses to be numbered and streets named 

 
“The commissioners shall from time to time cause the houses and buildings in all or any of 

the streets to be marked with numbers as they think fit, and shall cause to be put up or 

painted on a conspicuous part of some house, building, or place, at or near each end, 

corner, or entrance of every such street, the name by which such street is to be known; and 

every person who destroys, pulls down, or defaces any such number or name, or puts up any 

number or name different from the number or name put up by the commissioners, shall be 

liable to a penalty not exceeding [level 1 on the standard scale] for every such offence”. 

 
Section 65: Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 

Numbers of houses to be renewed by occupiers 

 
“The occupiers of houses and other buildings in the streets shall mark their houses with 

such numbers as the commissioners approve of, and shall renew such numbers as often as 

they become obliterated or defaced; and every such occupier who fails, within one week 

after notice for that purpose from the commissioners, to mark his house with a number 

approved of by the commissioners, or to renew such number when obliterated, shall be 

liable to a penalty not exceeding [level 1 on the standard scale], and the commissioners 

shall cause such numbers to be marked or to be renewed, as the case may require, and the 

expense thereof shall be repaid to them by such occupier, and shall be recoverable as 

damages.” 

 
Section 21: Public Health Acts  Amendment Act 1907 

Power to alter street names 

 

“The local authority may, with the consent of two-thirds in number and value of the 

ratepayers in any street, alter the name of such street or any part of such street. The local 

authority may cause the name of any street or any part of any street to be painted or 

otherwise marked on a conspicuous part of any building or other erection.” 

 
Section 17: Public Health Act 1925 

Notice to urban Local Authority before street is named 

 
“1) Before any street is given a name, notice of the proposed name shall be sent to the 

urban authority by the person proposing to name the street. 

2) The urban authority, within one month after the receipt of such notice, may, by notice in 

writing served on the person by whom notice of the proposed name of the street was sent, 

object to the proposed name. 

3) It shall not be lawful to be set up in any street an inscription of the name thereof – a) 

until the expiration of one month after notice of the proposed name has been sent to the 

urban authority under this section; and b) where the urban authority have objected to the 

proposed name, unless and until such objection has been withdrawn by the urban authority 

or overruled on appeal; and any person acting in contravention of this provision shall be 

liable to a penalty not exceeding [level 1 on the standard scale] and to a daily penalty not 

exceeding [£1]. 

4) Where the urban authority serve a notice of objection under this section, the person 

proposing to name the street may, within twenty-one days after the service of the notice, 

appeal against the objection to a Magistrates court”. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Section 18: Public Health Act 1925 

Alteration of name of street 

 
“1) The urban authority by order may alter the name of any street, or part of a street, or may 

assign a name to any street, or part of a street, to which a name has not been given. 

2) Not less than one month before making an order under this section the urban authority 

shall cause notice of the intended order to be posted at each end of the street, or part of the 

street, or in some conspicuous position in the street or part affected. 

3) Every such notice shall contain a statement that the intended order may be made by the 

urban authority on or at any time after the day named in the notice, and that an appeal will 

lie under this Act to a petty Magistrates Court against the intended order at the instance of 

any person aggrieved. 

4) Any person aggrieved by the intended order of the local authority may, within twenty-one 

days after the posting of the notice, appeal to a Magistrates court”. 

 
The Local Government Act 2003 

 
Brought about new devolved powers for Local Authorities, these included giving Councils 

new powers to trade and charge for non-statutory services if they are Best Value Authorities 

(Section 93 of the Act) 

Authorities, if charging for discretionary services, have a duty to charge no more than the 

costs they incur in providing the service. The aim is to encourage improvements to existing 

services and develop new ones that will help to improve the overall service they provide to 

the community, not to make a profit. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



 

 

APPENDIX B: 

 
Distribution List for Street Naming and Numbering Information 

 
Internal: 

 
o Electoral Register  

o Land Charges 

o Local Land and Property Gazetteer Custodian (LLPG)  

o Council Tax 

 
External: 

 
o Kent Fire & Rescue  

o South East Coast Ambulance  

o Kent Police 

o Kent County Council Highways  

o Valuation Office 

o Land Registry 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

 

APPENDIX C: Street Naming and Numbering Charges 
 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Charges from 1st April 2010. 
 

The naming and numbering of streets and buildings within Sevenoaks District is 

the responsibility of Sevenoaks District Council. The Council is the only 

organisation with the authority to name and number new or to amend existing 

streets and properties within the district. 

 
The purpose of street naming and numbering is to ensure that any new or 

amended street, building name and /or property numbers are allocated in a 

logical and consistent manner. The address of a property is becoming a very 

important issue. Organisations such as the Royal Mail, Emergency Services, 

delivery companies as well as the general public need an efficient and accurate 

means of locating and referencing properties. The Royal Mail will not allocate a 

postcode until they receive official notification of new or amended addresses 

from the Council. 

 
Sevenoaks District Council will charge for the provision of Street Naming and 

Numbering. 

 
There are 5 types of charges that apply for the Street Naming and Numbering 

services; 

 Addition/Amendment/Removal of property names (both for residential 

and commercial properties) 

 Addition/Amendment/Removal of property numbers (both for 

residential and commercial properties) 

 New development to include naming of new streets (naming of streets 

and numbering of properties); 
 Amendment of property details (usually for buildings which can be addressed 

from two roads) 

 Change an existing street name. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
 

Sevenoaks District Council 
Schedule of Charges Street Naming and Numbering Service 

(April 2010) 

 

Changing a house or building name £45.00 

Changing a house or building number £45.00 
 

Numbering of New Properties: 

Individual dwelling or building £100.00 

2 – 10 Plots £200.00 

11 – 19 Plots £300.00 

20 + Plots £400.00 plus £15 per plot 

 
Note: Individual apartments are charged as one plot 
 Associated new street names included in charge 

 
  Changing an existing street name £395.00  

Amending property addresses     £80.00 
 
Note: usually for properties on corner of streets that can be accessed and 
addressed off two streets 

 
 

These charges are not subject to VAT. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
 

 

APPENDIX D: Sevenoaks District Council Street Name Plate Specification 

 

Rationale: 
98% recycled plastic, no delamination, no scrap value, polyethylene easy 
wipe, 

UV resistant for 10 years 

Plates: Composite complete with channels 

Plate depth: 150mm plus (can be easily adjusted) 

Lettering height: 89mm Kindersley – primary text 

50mm Kindersley – ‘LEADING TO’ 

50mm Kindersley – secondary text 

Lettering colour: Black 

Border size: 

Border colour: 

12.5mm (can be varied) 

Black 

Background colour: White non reflective  

Reverse colour: Black 

Symbols: 816.1 No Through Road Symbol to be 140mm deep. Arrows may be 

added. 

Construction: 18mm thick 95% recycled plastic board with one piece construction, 

screwed to posts with 50mm x M6 stainless steel security screws 

Finish: Non-reflective, anti-graffiti film – Vinyl cut – GRF to face 

Fixings: 4no. 76mm anti-rotational clips c/w sheer nuts 

Supports: Solid 75 mm dia. – 1350mm long x 2 

Support finish: Recycled plastic 

Support colour: Black 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



 

LOCAL PLAN WORK PROGRAMME 

Planning Advisory Committee - 13 October 2015  

 

Report of  Chief Planning Officer 

Status: For Consideration 

Key Decision: No 

This report supports the Key Aim of Protecting the Green Belt 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Piper  

Contact Officer Antony Lancaster, Strategic Planning Manager Ext.7326 

Recommendation:  To consider progress with the work programme for preparing a Local 

Plan 

Reason for recommendation: In order to enable discussion and advice on progress with 

the work programme for the preparation of a Local Plan.  

Introduction and Background 

1 Sevenoaks District Council currently has two development plan documents (DPD) 

providing statutory planning policy to guide consideration of development 

proposals in the District; these are a Core Strategy (adopted February 2011) and 

an Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) (adopted February 

2015). Member drop-in sessions were held on 17, 22 and 23 July following 

adoption of the ADMP. 

2 This report is concerned with providing an update on the Local Plan work 

programme agreed by the Planning Advisory Committee on 7 July 2015. The work 

plan was concerned with the initial stages of plan making until September 2016 

focussing on preparation of a proportionate and robust evidence base and 

effective co-operation with other authorities. 

3 An independent technical ‘critical friend’ peer review has now been undertaken by 

Planning Officer Society enterprises (POSe) facilitated via the Planning Advisory 

Service (PAS). This has provided a useful position statement and potential issues 

and pitfalls drawing on experiences from other authorities. The report will be made 

available on the Council’s website and will form a useful part of the Local Plan 

evidence base. In order to provide for further Member engagement with the Local 

Plan work programme a PAS facilitated presentation will be arranged via the 

Planning Portfolio holder which will be open to all Members of the Council to 

attend.  

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

4 The updated Local Plan work programme is set out in appendix A. Key areas of 

progress are as follows: 

5 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The SHMA, prepared jointly with 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, was completed in September and is the subject 

of a separate report to this meeting of the Planning Advisory Committee (see 

agenda item 9). Appendix B indicates the stage now reached in moving towards a 

housing target.  

6 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and Employment Land 

Availability Assessment (SHLAA and ELAA). The call for sites for both items of 

evidence began on 30 September. Following discussion with the portfolio holder it 

was agreed to hold a single call for sites effectively moving the call for sites for 

employment land forward by six months to match that of housing. The initial call 

for sites will run for six weeks until 11 November to enable the SHLAA and ELAA 

documents to be created. Thereafter the call for sites will remain open allowing 

updates to be made to the documents when justified. Any updates would be 

brought to a future meeting of this committee for consideration. Updates are likely 

to become more frequent as preparation of the Local Plan approaches the 

examination stage. The call for sites has been advertised via ‘In Shape’ and direct 

communication with relevant parties on the Local Plan database. 

7. Economic Needs Study. Agreement has been reached with Tunbridge Wells 

Borough Council to commission a shared study. There are significant benefits in 

this approach, not just in terms of potential cost savings, but also in terms of 

alignment with the jointly commissioned SHMA work and the nature of housing 

market areas and functioning economic areas in West Kent. This has delayed 

slightly the commissioning of the study while the brief is finalised. The Economic 

Development team has also been consulted on the brief and it is being made 

available to the Planning Portfolio Holder and deputies.   

8. Swanley and Hextable Area Action Plan (AAP). As a first step towards including 

an AAP as part of the new Local Plan a consultants brief is being prepared for the 

production of a masterplan, in conjunction with the Economic Development team, 

to form a key part of the Local Plan evidence base. The brief is also being made 

available to the Planning Portfolio Holder and deputies. Such an approach is 

considered to provide an appropriate means of providing cohesion and vision for 

the regeneration of Swanley and Hextable. Draft timescales are set out in 

appendix C.  

9. Infrastructure Plan. The Infrastructure Plan update was completed in August and 

is presented to this meeting of the Planning Advisory Committee for consideration 

(see agenda item 10). 

10. Settlement Hierarchy. The review of the settlement hierarchy was discussed with 

the Portfolio holder and deputies on 14 July. As part of the discussion some useful 

suggestions were made as to how the hierarchy might be adjusted when forming 

the evidence base for the Local Plan going forward (see agenda item 11).  

11. Duty to Cooperate. Officers have now had meetings with all eight adjoining 

authorities and established mechanisms for future quarterly meetings, given that 

Duty to Cooperate is a continuous process. Groupings have been established for 

Page 48

Agenda Item 8



 

West Kent (Sevenoaks, Tonbridge and Malling and Tunbridge Wells), North Kent 

(Sevenoaks, Dartford and Gravesham) and South-East London fringe (Sevenoaks, 

Bromley and Bexford). Meetings have also commenced with other key 

stakeholders including the Environment Agency and the Homes and Communities 

Agency. Going forward, there is the potential, where Duty to Cooperate issues 

become significant, for  cross boundary Member meetings and signed memoranda 

of understanding.  

12. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA). At the Duty to Cooperate meeting with 

the Environment Agency officers were advised that the updated Catchment 

Management Plan for the Medway would be completed by the end of 2015. It was 

also suggested that an update/appendix to the existing SFRA is likely to be 

appropriate, rather than a completely new study. As the Catchment Management 

Plan will include the Eden, and therefore Edenbridge) it is considered appropriate 

to delay the SFRA update until 2016. 

13. Conservation. In order to prepare conservation evidence in house, agreement has 

been reached to double the Conservation resource by employing another officer. 

An interview process in August has unfortunately been unsuccessful and the post 

is therefore being re-advertised. This has meant some delay in bringing through 

this part of the evidence base, but is not considered to be a key concern at this 

stage. 

14. Gypsies and Travellers. The preparation of a Gypsy and Traveller Plan has been 

awaiting a response to a Government consultation on how accommodation needs 

should be met in the future. The Government response has now been received 

changing the definition to be applied to Gypsies and Travellers. Given the change 

in definition and the need to update the evidence base caused by the delay in 

progress it is recommended that Members support absorbing the identification of 

sites for Gypsies and Travellers into the work plan for the Local Plan rather than 

having a separate document.  

15. Climate Change/Renewables. Work has begun on the Climate Change Evidence 

base.  This includes sourcing energy and carbon use data for the District and 

researching up to date guidance.  The evidence paper will consider all aspects of 

climate change including mitigation and adaptation.  The need to adapt to the 

effects of climate change is likely to have an impact on a number of policy areas 

within the new Local Plan including sustainable drainage and flooding, green and 

blue infrastructure as well as the design of developments.  The evidence base will 

also include investigation of low carbon and renewable technologies as part of 

climate change mitigation. 

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected  

Preparation of a Local Plan is required by Government. Not preparing a local plan will 

leave the Council vulnerable to unwanted planning applications and appeal decisions. 

Recent Government announcements also indicate that the Government will intervene to 

prepare plans where not being prepared in a timely manner locally. 

Key Implications 

Financial 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



 

Production of the Local Plan will be funded from the LDF reserve. 

 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement. 

 

Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement. There are defined legal  

requirements that must be met in plan making which are  considered when the plan is  

examined by a Government Planning Inspector. Risks associated with Local Plan  

making are set out in the Local Development Scheme.  

 
Equality Assessment. 

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector Equality Duty (section 

149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010, (ii) 

advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups, and (iii) foster 

good relations between people from different groups.  The preparation and adoption of a 

Local Plan will directly impact on end users.   The impacts will be analysed via an 

Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) to be prepared alongside each key stage of plan 

making. 

Conclusions 

Preparation of a Local Plan is required by Government. The current Core Strategy and 

Allocations and Development Management Plan are to be updated and combined in a 

new Local Plan for Sevenoaks District ensuring compliance of policy with any changes in 

national planning policy since their adoption. This report provides an update on the 

project plan for the work needed to achieve an adopted Local Plan.  

Appendices Appendix A – Local Plan Work Programme – 

Evidence Base studies 

Appendix B – Proposed process for addressing 

housing need in the Local Plan 

Background Papers: Report to Planning Advisory Committee – 7 July 

2015 – Local Plan work programme 

.  

Richard Morris 

Chief Planning Officer  

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



 

Appendix A 

Local Plan Work Programme – Evidence Base updated October 2015  

                  

Task                                                             Month> 
5/

15 

6/

15 

7/

15 

8/

15 

9/

15 

 10

/ 

15 

11

/ 

15 

12

/ 

15 

1/1

6 

2/1

6 

3/1

6 

4/1

6 

5/1

6 

6/1

6 

7/1

6 

8/1

6 

9/1

6 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (consultants)                   

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (in 

house) 

                  

Appraisal of non Green Belt land options                   

Economic Needs Study including offices (consultants)                   

Employment Land Availability Assessment (ELAA) (in house)                   

Affordable Housing Viability update (consultants)                   

Commercial Development Viability update (consultants)                    

Green Belt Review (consultants)                   

Housing for older people (consultants)                   

Landscape Character Assessment (consultants)                   

Retail Study (consultants)                   

Hotel Study (consultants)                   

Settlement Hierarchy (in house)                   

Sports Facilities/Open Space/Green Infrastructure 

(consultants) 

                  

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and consideration of Water 

Cycle Study/Surface Water Management Plan (consultants) 

                  

Climate Change/Renewables (in house)                   

Conservation evidence (in house)                   

Justification for planning standards (in house)                   

Infrastructure Plan                   

Duty to Cooperate Statement                   

Swanley and Hextable Masterplan (consultants)                   

Gypsies and Travellers accommodation needs (consultants)                   

Green Preparation of brief/appointment of consultant where relevant   Red Carrying out of study/evidence base work    Blue Call for sites 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 8



 

Appendix B 

Proposed process for addressing housing need in the Local Plan 

Step 1 Understanding Need 

Undertake Strategic Housing Market Assessment with Tunbridge Wells BC (SHMA) 

Understand other adjacent authorities need via Duty to Cooperate discussions 

 

Step 2 Maximising supply 

Undertake Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) including a call for 

Sites*  

Explore potential for increased site densities  

Explore potential for focussed increased site densities such as near railway stations  

Assess quantum of under-utilised employment land 

Assess potential contribution of windfalls 

Assess potential contribution of empty properties 

Assess potential contribution of office conversions 

Discuss supply options in other authority areas under the Duty to Cooperate 

 

Step 3 Understanding shortfall 

Match steps 1 and 2 findings for need and supply to understand level of any shortfall 

 

Step 4 Assessment of Green Belt Options  

Undertake full Green Belt Review of the District– assess parcels of land against the five 

purposes of Green Belt designation. Undertake detailed assessment at settlement 

boundaries and broad level assessment elsewhere  

 

Step 5 Other considerations  

Assess potential land options against other criteria, including: 

Category 1 constraints (national/international)  

Category 2 constraints (county/district)  

Landscape Character  

Assessments undertaken in neighbouring authorities  

 

Step 6 Identification of land options for further consideration   

Step 7 Housing target identified  

 

*note at 1 April 2014 total housing supply for the current Core Strategy plan period 2006-26 was 

4,732 (including 450 at Fort Halstead) 

Page 52

Agenda Item 8



 

Appendix C 

Initial programme for preparation of Draft Masterplan for Swanley and Hextable. 

 

September 2015 Consultants Brief prepared and issued. 

October 2015  Bids received 

November 2015 Interviews (if required) and successful bidder selected. 

December 2015 Initial stakeholder workshop(s) 

March 2016  Draft Masterplan prepared for consultation 

April - May 2016 Consultation 

July 2016  Masterplan to Planning Advisory Committee 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC HOUSING MARKET ASSESSMENT (SHMA) 

Planning Advisory Committee – 13 October 2015 

 

Report of  Chief Planning Officer 

Status: For Consideration 

Also considered by: Cabinet – 5 November 2015 

Key Decision: Yes  

Executive Summary: 

A first stage in the process of preparing a new Local Plan is to establish the up to date 

housing needs of the District. The consultant GL Hearn was procured jointly by Sevenoaks 

District and Tunbridge Wells Borough Councils to undertake a Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA), a key piece of evidence from which the Local Plan strategy will be 

developed. Based on the Government’s latest population and household projections the 

SHMA identifies the objectively assessed housing need across the District. This is an 

unconstrained figure and is not the District’s housing target. It also identifies the need for 

different sizes of homes, and the need for different types of homes. This report outlines 

the findings of the SHMA and the full study is attached at Appendix A.  

Portfolio Holder Cllr Piper 

Contact Officer(s) Emma Boshell, Senior Planning Officer Ext.7358 

Recommendation to Planning Advisory Committee:   

To consider the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) attached at Appendix A, 

and to recommend to Cabinet that the study be endorsed as a robust evidence base from 

which the Local Plan strategy will be developed. 

Recommendation to Cabinet:  

To endorse the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) as a robust evidence base 

from which the Local Plan strategy will be developed. 

Reason for recommendation: In order to plan for the housing needs of our residents and 

to prepare a Local Plan that is based on sound and robust evidence. 

Introduction and Background 

1 The Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) was adopted in 

February 2015, and, together with the Core Strategy (adopted 2011), makes up 

the current Development Plan for the District Council. The Core Strategy was 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



 

adopted prior to the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

being introduced, and as such, now contains some policies that are not consistent 

with the NPPF. 

2 The District Council is therefore required to review its planning policies, and the 

intention is to combine the two documents into a single Local Plan that contains 

up to date policies consistent with the NPPF. To ensure that the Local Plan is 

found sound at examination, the first stage in this process (as part of a suite of 

new evidence base studies) is to establish the up to date need for both market 

and affordable housing across the District for the new Local Plan period. This is a 

technical study carried out by expert consultants, derived from Government 

statistics and subject to a prescribed methodology. Called a Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment (SHMA), this study will form one of the key pieces of evidence 

for the Local Plan. This is an unconstrained figure and is not the District’s housing 

target.  

Procuring the SHMA 

3 The NPPF encourages joint-working under the duty to co-operate, particularly 

where there may be cross-boundary issues. In this instance, there was strong 

evidence (identified in chapter 2 of the SHMA (appendix A)) to suggest that 

Sevenoaks District and Tunbridge Wells Borough share a housing market area (i.e. 

there are strong links between the two districts in terms of where people live and 

work). To this end, the two councils worked together and the SHMA was procured 

jointly between Sevenoaks District Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

(with Sevenoaks District Council as the lead authority).  

4 The consultant GL Hearn was appointed to undertake the SHMA, based on their 

quotation and subsequent interview. Their submission was comprehensive, clearly 

showing expertise and experience in this field and at examination. Importantly, GL 

Hearn has local experience having recently prepared SHMAs for Tonbridge & 

Malling, Maidstone and Ashford Borough Councils. 

Early Stakeholder Engagement 

5 A joint stakeholder workshop with Tunbridge Wells was held on 31st March with 

Planning and Housing officers from all neighbouring authorities, Kent County 

Council and key housing partners. The purpose of this workshop was to seek 

agreement on the SHMA methodology and on defining the housing market area. 

This was an important aspect of the study, as agreement on these matters 

provides a firm basis for discussions later on under the duty to co-operate. 

The Findings of the SHMA 

6 Firstly, the publication of the SHMA does not constitute acceptance by the District 

Council that it does not have a five year housing land supply. The SHMA is as yet 

untested, and so the five year housing land supply will continue to be judged 

against the adopted housing target of 165 new homes per year set out in the Core 

Strategy. 

7 Secondly, the SHMA provides a starting point based on the latest Government 

statistics. All local authorities are required to undertake this study as a basis for 

Page 56

Agenda Item 9



 

developing their Local Plan strategy. Any future planning policies will have to 

take account of market activity and viability, both independently and together as a 

whole, and will be subject to public consultation before being submitted to the 

Government’s Planning Inspectorate. 

8 Defining the housing market area: 

i. The SHMA identifies that Sevenoaks falls within a West Kent housing 

market area which includes Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge. 

There are also cross-boundary interactions between Swanley, Dartford and 

London. 

9 Identifying overall housing need: 

i. The SHMA identifies an objectively assessed housing need of 620 new 

homes per year across the District (12,400 over the 20 year plan period). 

This is an unconstrained figure based on the latest Government population 

and household projections, and is not the District’s housing target 

Government has attached great weight to protection of the Green Belt and 

any reduction should only be considered in exceptional circumstances. In 

these circumstances, and without prejudice to the Local Plan assessment 

process, the high number of significant local constraints would clearly 

suggest that the final housing target for new homes to be built in Sevenoaks 

District will be lower.  

ii. An affordable housing need of 420 new homes per year across the District is 

also identified, with a recommended mix of 76% social/affordable rent and 

24% intermediate housing. Whilst the two figures aren’t directly comparable, 

it is evident that the affordable housing need makes up the majority of the 

overall housing need. Neither this figure, nor the quoted mix is final; the 

figure is likely to reduce and the mix change. 

10 The need for different sizes of homes: 

i. The SHMA identifies that the greatest need in relation to market housing is 

for 2 and 3 bedroom homes. 

ii. For affordable housing, the greatest need is for 1 and 2 bedroom homes. 

iii. Notwithstanding this, there remains a need for a balanced mix of dwellings 

of different sizes to meet all housing needs. 

11 The need for different types of homes: 

i. The SHMA indicates that the population of people aged over 65 accounts for 

20% of the total population in the District, and the number of residents aged 

over 65 is expected to grow by 49% during the plan period. 

ii. A need of 66 homes per year is identified for older people, in the form of 

sheltered housing and extra care schemes. These fall within use class C3 

(residential) and are within the overall need of 620. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



 

iii. A need of 26 bedspaces per year is identified for older people, in the form 

of residential/nursing care. These fall within use class C2 (institutional 

population) and as such, are additional to the overall housing need of 620. 

Presentation of Findings 

12 A workshop was held on 29th July for Planning Advisory Committee Members. 

Presentations were given by GL Hearn and the Planning Policy team, followed by 

an opportunity to discuss the data and to ask any questions. The draft report was 

also presented to the Housing Portfolio Holder and her deputies. Members raised 

concerns about the housing figures quoted and the highly misleading view this 

gives the public of the number of homes that will need to be built, before 

constraints are taken into account. 

13 Further, a joint stakeholder workshop with Tunbridge Wells was held on 9th 

September for Planning and Housing officers from all neighbouring authorities, 

Kent County Council and key housing partners. Again, this provided our duty to co-

operate partners an opportunity to discuss the data and to ask any questions. 

What Happens Next 

14 Government policy requires us to establish the unconstrained objectively assessed 

housing need for the District using the most up to date population and household 

projections and prescribed methodology set out in the Government’s Planning 

Practice Guidance (PPG). The objectively assessed housing need is an 

unconstrained figure i.e. it doesn’t take account of the District’s constraints and 

limitations however we are required to prepare this evidence base study and use it 

as a starting point in order for the Local Plan to be found sound at examination. 

Importantly, the objectively assessed housing need is not the District’s housing 

target and again, without prejudice to the Local Plan assessment process, the 

high number of significant local constraints would clearly suggest that the final 

housing target for new homes to be built in Sevenoaks District will be lower.  

15 Following completion of the SHMA there are a number of steps that we are 

required to undertake to identify the housing target for the Local Plan. These steps 

were discussed and agreed by the Planning Advisory Committee on 7th July 2015. 

16 The first of these steps is to assess the supply of land in the District to establish 

how much of the need can be realistically delivered. These studies are known as a 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and Employment Land 

Availability Assessment (ELAA) and they begin with a call for sites whereby 

landowners, developers, businesses and other interested parties are invited to 

submit sites that will be assessed for their suitability for housing, employment and 

retail uses. It will be important to balance any future housing with sufficient 

employment land. Employment land will only be given up for housing where it is 

clearly no longer suitable for modern employment uses and it is replaced with 

more appropriate, better located employment sites. Whilst undertaking this 

important piece of evidence our focus will be on maximising development 

opportunities on brownfield land, in particular maximising the opportunities set out 

below: 

Page 58

Agenda Item 9



 

i. Exploring potential for increased site densities, whilst ensuring that any 

increased density is sensitive to, and reflective of, the character of the area; 

ii. Exploring potential for focused increased site densities such as near railway 

stations; 

iii. Assessing the quantum of under-utilised employment land, whilst ensuring 

that housing and employment land provision remains balanced and that key 

well-performing employment sites are protected; 

iv. Assessing the potential contribution of windfalls; 

v. Assessing the potential contribution of empty properties; 

vi. Assessing the potential contribution of office conversions; and 

vii. Discussing supply options in other authority areas under the Duty to 

Cooperate. 

17 A report on the SHLAA and ELAA is timetabled to be presented to the next meeting 

of the Planning Advisory Committee in January 2016.  

18 We will endeavour to meet the identified housing need from the above 

opportunities, however if a shortfall remains then we will then be required, at a 

later stage in the process, to undertake a focused review of the Green Belt. Other 

key evidence will also inform the suitability of areas for potential housing 

development including landscape character, nature conservation and flood risk. 

Government has attached great weight to protection of the Green Belt and any 

reduction should only be considered in exceptional circumstances. In these 

circumstances, and without prejudice to the Local Plan assessment process, the 

high number of significant local constraints would clearly suggest that the final 

housing target for new homes to be built in Sevenoaks District will be lower. 

19 We are also required to have regular discussions with our neighbouring authorities 

under the Government’s Duty to Cooperate. These discussions will be key in 

identifying cross-boundary issues and the potential for any of our neighbours to 

accept some of the identified housing need will have to be discussed, both at 

Officer, and later, at Member level.  

20 Completion of the above steps will ensure that the District Council has a robust 

evidence base to support the development of the Local Plan and the setting of a 

realistic and deliverable housing target that will stand up to scrutiny at 

examination.  

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected  

The Committee could choose not to endorse the SHMA, however this is not 

recommended. The previous SHMA was completed in 2008 and is now considerably out 

of date. To rely on this out of date evidence would lead to the Local Plan being found 

unsound at examination. But comfort can be given to both Members and the local 

community at large that the housing target figure is likely to be lower. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 

Key Implications 

Financial  

The SHMA is funded through the LDF budget. 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement 

Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement. There are defined legal  

requirements that must be met in plan making which are considered when the plan is  

examined by a Government Planning Inspector. Risks associated with Local Plan  

making are set out in the Local Development Scheme.  

Equality Assessment 

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector Equality Duty (section 

149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010, (ii) 

advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups, and (iii) foster 

good relations between people from different groups.  The decisions recommended 

through this paper directly impact on end users. The impacts will be analysed via an 

Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) to be prepared alongside each key stage of plan 

making. 

Conclusions 

A first stage in the process of preparing a new Local Plan is to establish the up to date 

housing needs of the District. The consultant GL Hearn was procured jointly by Sevenoaks 

District and Tunbridge Wells Borough Councils to undertake a Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA), a key piece of evidence from which the Local Plan strategy will be 

developed. Based on the Government’s latest population and household projections the 

SHMA identifies the objectively assessed housing need across the District. This is an 

unconstrained figure and is not the District’s housing target. In these circumstances, and 

without prejudice to the Local Plan assessment process, the high number of significant 

local constraints would clearly suggest that the final housing target for new homes to be 

built in Sevenoaks District will be lower. It also identifies the need for different sizes of 

homes, and the need for different types of homes. This report outlines the findings of the 

SHMA and the full study is attached at Appendix A. 

Appendices Appendix A – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment September 

2015 

Background Papers: Reports to Planning Advisory Committee – 7 July 

2015 and 13 October 2015 – Local Plan work 

programme 

Richard Morris 

Chief Planning Officer 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 9



 

 

 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment  

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils 

 

Final Draft Report 

 

 

 

 
 

September 2015 

 

Prepared by 

 

GL Hearn Limited 

280 High Holborn  

London WC1V 7EE 

 

T +44 (0)20 7851 4900 

glhearn.com 

 

 

 
  

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 2 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

  

Page 62

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 3 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Contents  

 
Section Page 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 12 

1 INTRODUCTION 21 

2 DEFINING THE HOUSING MARKET AREA 27 

3 DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC-LED PROJECTIONS 47 

4 AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED 81 

5 MARKET SIGNALS 97 

6 NEED FOR DIFFERENT SIZES OF HOMES 115 

7 HOUSING NEEDS OF PARTICULAR GROUPS 129 

8 CONCLUSIONS  166 
 

 

LIST OF FIGURES  

FIGURE 1: OBJECTIVELY-ASSESSED HOUSING NEED, 2013-33 16 

FIGURE 2: OVERVIEW OF APPROACH 26 

FIGURE 3: CURDS FRAMEWORK HOUSING MARKET AREAS 30 

FIGURE 4: CURDS-DEFINED LOCAL HOUSING MARKET AREAS 31 

FIGURE 5: HOUSING MARKET AREAS IN THE SOUTH EAST 33 

FIGURE 6: PRICES OF SEMI-DETACHED AND TERRACED HOMES SOLD, 2014 34 

FIGURE 7: PRICES OF SEMI-DETACHED AND TERRACED HOMES SOLD – WEST 

KENT, 2014 35 

FIGURE 8: CHANGE IN HOUSE PRICES (ALL PROPERTIES), 2009-14 36 

FIGURE 9: GROSS MIGRATION FLOWS BETWEEN LOCAL AUTHORITIES, 2010-11 38 

FIGURE 10: NET MIGRATION FLOWS BETWEEN LOCAL AUTHORITIES, 2010-11 39 

FIGURE 11: 2001 TRAVEL TO WORK AREAS 41 

FIGURE 12: LONDON COMMUTING CATCHMENT (2011) 42 

FIGURE 13: ONS 2011 TRAVEL TO WORK AREAS 43 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 4 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

FIGURE 14: INDEXED POPULATION GROWTH, 1981-2013 48 

FIGURE 15: INDEXED POPULATION GROWTH (1981-2013) – BY DISTRICT 49 

FIGURE 16: COMPONENTS OF POPULATION CHANGE, MID-2001 TO MID-2013 – 

SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 50 

FIGURE 17: POPULATION AGE PROFILE (2013) 52 

FIGURE 18: PAST AND PROJECTED POPULATION GROWTH – SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 55 

FIGURE 19: PAST AND PROJECTED POPULATION GROWTH – BY LOCAL AUTHORITY 55 

FIGURE 20: COMPONENTS OF POPULATION CHANGE, MID-2001 TO MID-2033 – 

SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 56 

FIGURE 21: MIGRATION FLOWS TO- AND FROM- LONDON AND THE SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS AREA 58 

FIGURE 22: INDEXED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH (1991-2033) 61 

FIGURE 23: INDEXED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH (1991-2033) 62 

FIGURE 24: PAST AND PROJECTED TRENDS IN AVERAGE HOUSEHOLD SIZE – 

SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 63 

FIGURE 25: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD FORMATION RATES BY AGE OF HEAD OF 

HOUSEHOLD - SEVENOAKS 64 

FIGURE 26: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD FORMATION RATES BY AGE OF HEAD OF 

HOUSEHOLD – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 65 

FIGURE 27: EMPLOYMENT TRENDS, 1991-2013 71 

FIGURE 28: PAST AND PROJECTED NUMBER OF JOBS – SEVENOAKS & TUNBRIDGE 

WELLS 74 

FIGURE 29: PAST AND PROJECTED CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT RATE – SEVENOAKS 

AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS (2004-2031) 78 

FIGURE 30: INDICATIVE INCOME REQUIRED TO PURCHASE/RENT WITHOUT 

ADDITIONAL SUBSIDY 82 

FIGURE 31: DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME IN SEVENOAKS & TUNBRIDGE 

WELLS 83 

FIGURE 32: OVERVIEW OF THE BASIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT MODEL 84 

FIGURE 33: OVERLAP BETWEEN AFFORDABLE HOUSING TENURES 95 

FIGURE 34: UNDERSTANDING HOUSING DEMAND DRIVERS 97 

FIGURE 35: MEDIAN HOUSE PRICE (1998-2007) 99 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 5 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

FIGURE 36: MEDIAN HOUSE PRICE (2008-2013) 100 

FIGURE 37: MEDIAN HOUSE PRICES (2013-2014) 100 

FIGURE 39: MEDIAN HOUSE PRICES (JAN 2013 – DEC 2014) 102 

FIGURE 40: BENCHMARKED TREND IN MEDIAN PRIVATE RENTAL VALUES (SEP 2011 

– SEP 2014) 103 

FIGURE 41: TREND IN PRIVATE RENTAL TRANSACTIONS (SEP 2011 – SEP 2014) 104 

FIGURE 45: SEVENOAKS – HOUSING SUPPLY VS TARGET (2006/07 – 2013/14) 108 

FIGURE 46: TUNBRIDGE WELLS – HOUSING SUPPLY VS TARGET (2006/07 – 2013/14) 108 

FIGURE 47: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD FORMATION RATES FOR THOSE AGED 25-34 – 

SEVENOAKS 112 

FIGURE 48: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD FORMATION RATES FOR THOSE AGED 25-34 – 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 112 

FIGURE 49: STAGES IN THE HOUSING MARKET MODEL 116 

FIGURE 50: AVERAGE BEDROOMS BY AGE, SEX AND TENURE – SEVENOAKS 117 

FIGURE 51: AVERAGE BEDROOMS BY AGE, SEX AND TENURE – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 118 

FIGURE 52: IMPACT OF DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS ON MARKET HOUSING 

REQUIREMENTS BY HOUSE SIZE, 2013 TO 2033 – SEVENOAKS 121 

FIGURE 53: IMPACT OF DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS ON MARKET HOUSING 

REQUIREMENTS BY HOUSE SIZE, 2013 TO 2033 – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 122 

FIGURE 54: IMPACT OF DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS ON AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

REQUIREMENTS BY HOUSE SIZE, 2013 TO 2033 – SEVENOAKS 124 

FIGURE 55: IMPACT OF DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS ON AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

REQUIREMENTS BY HOUSE SIZE, 2013 TO 2033 – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 124 

FIGURE 56: SIZE OF HOUSING REQUIRED 2013 TO 2033 – SEVENOAKS 125 

FIGURE 57: SIZE OF HOUSING REQUIRED 2013 TO 2033 – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 125 

FIGURE 58: TENURE OF OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS – SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 132 

FIGURE 59: TENURE OF OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS – BY LOCAL AUTHORITY 

AND OTHER AREAS 133 

FIGURE 60: OCCUPANCY RATING OF OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS – SEVENOAKS 

AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 134 

FIGURE 61: OCCUPANCY RATING OF OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS – BY LOCAL 

AUTHORITY AND OTHER AREAS 134 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 6 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

FIGURE 62: POPULATION WITH LONG-TERM HEALTH PROBLEM OR DISABILITY IN 

EACH AGE BAND 141 

FIGURE 63: TENURE OF PEOPLE WITH LTHPD – SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE 

WELLS 142 

FIGURE 65: POPULATION AGE PROFILE (2011) – SEVENOAKS 147 

FIGURE 66: POPULATION AGE PROFILE (2011) – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 147 

FIGURE 67: TENURE BY ETHNIC GROUP – SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 148 

FIGURE 68: TENURE OF BME HOUSEHOLDS – BY DISTRICT AND COMPARATOR 

AREAS 149 

FIGURE 69: OCCUPANCY RATING BY ETHNIC GROUP – SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 150 

FIGURE 70: OCCUPANCY RATING OF BME HOUSEHOLDS – BY LOCAL AUTHORITY 151 

FIGURE 71: TENURE OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH DEPENDENT CHILDREN – SEVENOAKS 

AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 153 

FIGURE 72: TENURE OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH DEPENDENT CHILDREN – BY LOCAL 

AUTHORITY 154 

FIGURE 74: OCCUPANCY RATING AND HOUSEHOLDS WITH DEPENDENT CHILDREN – 

BY LOCAL AUTHORITY 156 

FIGURE 76: TENURE OF HOUSEHOLDS AGED UNDER 35 – BY LOCAL AUTHORITY 159 

FIGURE 77: ECONOMIC ACTIVITY BY AGE – SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS 160 

FIGURE 78: ECONOMIC ACTIVITY BY LOCATION (PEOPLE AGED 16-34) 160 

FIGURE 79: DEMOGRAPHIC-LED ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED, HOMES PER 

YEAR 2013-33 168 

FIGURE 80: OBJECTIVELY-ASSESSED HOUSING NEED, 2013-33 171 

 
 

LIST OF TABLES  

TABLE 1: CONCLUSIONS ON FULL OBJECTIVELY-ASSESSED HOUSING NEED 15 

TABLE 2: RECOMMENDED HOUSING MIX – SEVENOAKS DISTRICT 16 

TABLE 3: RECOMMENDED HOUSING MIX – TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH 16 

TABLE 4: NEED FOR DIFFERENT FORMS OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING 17 

TABLE 5: NEED FOR SPECIALIST HOUSING FOR OLDER PERSONS, 2013-33 18 

Page 66

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 7 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

TABLE 6: NEED FOR RESIDENTIAL/ NURSING CARE BEDSPACES 18 

TABLE 7: REGISTERED INTEREST IN SELF AND CUSTOM-BUILD HOMES, SEPT 2015 19 

TABLE 8: SELF-CONTAINMENT OF MIGRATION FLOWS WITHIN INDIVIDUAL 

AUTHORITIES, 2010-11 37 

TABLE 9: COMMUTING SELF-CONTAINMENT, EXCLUDING LONDON, 2011 40 

TABLE 10: COMPONENTS OF POPULATION CHANGE (2001-13) – SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 51 

TABLE 11: CHANGE IN AGE STRUCTURE 2001 TO 2013 – SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS 52 

TABLE 12: CHANGE IN AGE STRUCTURE 2001 TO 2013 53 

TABLE 13: PROJECTED POPULATION GROWTH (2013-2033) 54 

TABLE 14: POPULATION CHANGE 2013 TO 2033 BY FIFTEEN YEAR AGE BANDS 

(2012-BASED SNPP) 57 

TABLE 15: MIGRATION TO- AND FROM- LONDON AND THE SEVENOAKS AND 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS AREAS – INDIVIDUAL LOCAL AUTHORITY ANALYSIS 59 

TABLE 16: PROJECTED POPULATION GROWTH (2013-2033) – WITH LONDON 

ADJUSTMENT 60 

TABLE 17: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH (2013-2033) 61 

TABLE 18: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – 2012-BASED SNPP AND 

2012-BASED HEADSHIP RATES 67 

TABLE 19: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – 2012-BASED SNPP 

(LONDON ADJUSTED) AND 2012-BASED HEADSHIP RATES 67 

TABLE 20: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – 10-YEAR MIGRATION 

TRENDS AND 2012-BASED HEADSHIP RATES 69 

TABLE 21: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – 2012-BASED SNPP WITH 

UPC ADJUSTMENT AND 2012-BASED HEADSHIP RATES 70 

TABLE 22: COMPARING THE DEMOGRAPHIC-LED PROJECTIONS 70 

TABLE 23: CHANGE IN NUMBER OF JOBS (2013-33) 73 

TABLE 24: EEFM ECONOMIC FORECASTS, WINTER 2014/15 73 

TABLE 25: COMMUTING PATTERNS IN SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS (2011) 75 

TABLE 26: JOBS GROWTH AND CHANGE IN RESIDENT WORKFORCE (2013-33) – 2013 

EEFM 76 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 8 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

TABLE 27: JOBS GROWTH AND CHANGE IN RESIDENT WORKFORCE (2013-33) – 2014 

EEFM 76 

TABLE 28: EMPLOYMENT RATES BY AGE AND SEX – SEVENOAKS AND TUNBRIDGE 

WELLS 77 

TABLE 29: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – EEFM (2013) AND 2012-

BASED HEADSHIP RATES 78 

TABLE 30: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – EEFM (2014) AND 2012-

BASED HEADSHIP RATES 79 

TABLE 31: INCOME LEVELS BY LOCAL AUTHORITY 83 

TABLE 32: ESTIMATED NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS IN UNSUITABLE HOUSING 85 

TABLE 33: ESTIMATED CURRENT NEED 86 

TABLE 34: ESTIMATED LEVEL OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED FROM NEWLY 

FORMING HOUSEHOLDS (PER ANNUM) 87 

TABLE 36: CURRENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLY 88 

TABLE 37: ANALYSIS OF PAST SOCIAL/AFFORDABLE RENTED HOUSING SUPPLY 

(PER ANNUM – PAST 2 YEARS) 89 

TABLE 38: SUPPLY OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING 90 

TABLE 39: ESTIMATED LEVEL OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED PER ANNUM 90 

TABLE 40: ESTIMATED LEVEL OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED (PER ANNUM) AT 

VARIANT INCOME THRESHOLDS 91 

TABLE 41: COMPARING THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED AND DEMOGRAPHIC 

PROJECTIONS 92 

TABLE 42: ESTIMATED LEVEL OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED (PER ANNUM) BY 

TYPE OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING, 2013-33 96 

TABLE 43: COMPARISON OF LOWER QUARTILE AND MEDIAN AFFORDABILITY (2013) 105 

TABLE 44: CHANGES IN OVER OCCUPIED AND HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION 

(2001-2011) 109 

TABLE 45: PROJECTED HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 2013-33 – 2012-BASED SNPP 

(ADJUSTED) AND 2012-BASED HEADSHIP RATES – WITH AFFORDABILITY 

ADJUSTMENT 113 

TABLE 46: IMPACT OF AFFORDABILITY ADJUSTMENTS – HOUSING NEED PER 

ANNUM, 2013-33 114 

TABLE 47: ESTIMATED PROFILE OF DWELLINGS IN 2013 BY SIZE – SEVENOAKS 119 

Page 68

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 9 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

TABLE 48: ESTIMATED PROFILE OF DWELLINGS IN 2013 BY SIZE – TUNBRIDGE 

WELLS 119 

TABLE 49: ESTIMATED SIZE OF DWELLINGS NEEDED 2013 TO 2033 – MARKET 

HOUSING – SEVENOAKS 120 

TABLE 50: ESTIMATED SIZE OF DWELLINGS NEEDED 2013 TO 2033 – MARKET 

HOUSING – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 121 

TABLE 51: ESTIMATED SIZE OF DWELLINGS REQUIRED 2013 TO 2033 – 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING – SEVENOAKS 123 

TABLE 52: ESTIMATED SIZE OF DWELLINGS REQUIRED 2013 TO 2033 – 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 123 

TABLE 53: NEED FOR DIFFERENT SIZES OF HOMES, SEVENOAKS 127 

TABLE 54: NEED FOR DIFFERENT SIZES OF HOMES, TUNBRIDGE WELLS 127 

TABLE 55: OLDER PERSON POPULATION (2013) 130 

TABLE 56: PROJECTED CHANGE IN POPULATION OF OLDER PERSONS (2013 TO 

2033) 131 

TABLE 57: OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS (CENSUS 2011) 131 

TABLE 58: OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS WITH OCCUPANCY RATING OF +2 OR 

MORE BY TENURE - SEVENOAKS 135 

TABLE 59: OLDER PERSON HOUSEHOLDS WITH OCCUPANCY RATING OF +2 OR 

MORE BY TENURE – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 135 

TABLE 60: ESTIMATED POPULATION CHANGE FOR RANGE OF HEALTH ISSUES 

(2013 TO 2033) 136 

TABLE 61: CURRENT SUPPLY OF SPECIALIST HOUSING FOR OLDER PEOPLE 137 

TABLE 62: PROJECTED NEED FOR SPECIALIST HOUSING FOR OLDER PEOPLE 

(2013-33) 138 

TABLE 63: POTENTIAL NEED FOR RESIDENTIAL CARE HOUSING 140 

TABLE 64: HOUSEHOLDS AND PEOPLE WITH LONG-TERM HEALTH PROBLEM OR 

DISABILITY (2011) 140 

TABLE 66: BLACK AND MINORITY ETHNIC POPULATION (2011) 144 

TABLE 67: CHANGE IN BME GROUPS 2001 TO 2011 – SEVENOAKS 145 

TABLE 68: CHANGE IN BME GROUPS 2001 TO 2011 – TUNBRIDGE WELLS 145 

TABLE 69: CHANGE IN NON-WHITE (BRITISH/IRISH) POPULATION – 2001-11 146 

TABLE 70: HOUSEHOLDS WITH DEPENDENT CHILDREN (2011) 152 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 10 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

TABLE 71: ESTIMATED CHANGE IN POPULATION AGED 15 AND UNDER (2013-33) 152 

TABLE 72: ESTIMATED CHANGE IN HOUSEHOLDS HEADED BY SOMEONE AGED 

UNDER 35 (2013-33) – USING 2012-BASED CLG HOUSEHOLD FORMATION 

RATES 156 

TABLE 73: ESTIMATED CHANGE IN HOUSEHOLDS HEADED BY SOMEONE AGED 

UNDER 35 (2013-33) – USING 2012-BASED CLG HOUSEHOLD FORMATION 

RATES AND A ‘MARKET SIGNALS’ UPLIFT 157 

TABLE 74: HOUSEHOLDS WITH NON-DEPENDENT CHILDREN (2011) 157 

TABLE 75: INTEREST IN SELF- AND CUSTOM-BUILD, SEPT 2015 163 

TABLE 76: EEFM ECONOMIC FORECASTS 169 

TABLE 77: RECOMMENDED HOUSING MIX – SEVENOAKS DISTRICT 172 

TABLE 78: RECOMMENDED HOUSING MIX – TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH 172 

TABLE 79: NEED FOR DIFFERENT FORMS OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING 173 

TABLE 80: NEED FOR SPECIALIST HOUSING FOR OLDER PERSONS, 2013-33 174 

TABLE 81: NEED FOR RESIDENTIAL/ NURSING CARE BEDSPACES 175 

TABLE 82: REGISTERED INTEREST IN SELF AND CUSTOM-BUILD HOMES, SEPT 2015 175 

TABLE 83: LOWER QUARTILE SALES PRICES BY TYPE (2014) 180 

TABLE 84: LOWER QUARTILE PRIVATE RENTS BY SIZE AND LOCATION (YEAR TO 

SEPTEMBER 2014) – PER MONTH 180 

TABLE 85: MAXIMUM LHA PAYMENTS BY SIZE AND BRMA (PER MONTH) 181 

TABLE 86: MONTHLY SOCIAL RENT LEVELS 182 

TABLE 87: RESULTS OF PROJECTIONS – SEVENOAKS 184 

TABLE 88: RESULTS OF PROJECTIONS - TUNBRIDGE WELLS 184 

 
 

Appendices  

APPENDIX A: GLOSSARY AND DEFINITIONS 177 

APPENDIX B: ANALYSIS OF LOCAL PRICES AND RENTS 180 

APPENDIX C: EXTENDING PROJECTIONS TO 2035 183 

Page 70

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 11 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Quality Standards Control 

 
The signatories below verify that this document has been prepared in accordance with our quality control 

requirements. These procedures do not affect the content and views expressed by the originator. 

 

This document must only be treated as a draft unless it is has been signed by the Originators and approved 

by a Business or Associate Director. 

DATE ORIGINATORS  APPROVED 

September 2015 Aled Barcroft, Planner  Nick Ireland 

 Justin Gardner, JGC  Planning Director 

 

 

 

 

Limitations 

This document has been prepared for the stated objective and should not be used for any other purpose 

without the prior written authority of GL Hearn; we accept no responsibility or liability for the consequences of 

this document being used for a purpose other than for which it was commissioned. 

 

  

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 12 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Introduction  

This Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) considers housing need in Sevenoaks District 

and Tunbridge Wells Borough. It considers:  

 Overall housing need;  

 Need for different sizes of homes;  

 Need for different types of homes, particularly from a growing older population.  

The SHMA does not set housing targets. The Councils will bring together evidence of housing need, 

with information regarding available land, environmental and policy constraints, including Green 

Belt, and issues related to delivering infrastructure, through the plan-making process to set housing 

targets.  

The SHMA has been prepared for the Councils by GL Hearn and Justin Gardner Consulting. It 

addresses the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the 

methodology prescribed by Government for assessments such as this in Planning Practice 

Guidance
1
.  

Housing Market Geography  

The SHMA identifies that Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells fall within a West Kent Housing Market 

Area (HMA) which includes Sevenoaks, Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells and extends to include 

Crowborough, Hawkhurst and Heathfield.  

Whilst recognising inter-relationships across administrative boundaries, for practical purposes it is 

appropriate to consider the ‘best fit’ to local authority boundaries – not least as official demographic 

projections are not produced below this level. The two authorities would provide the best fit to the 

Housing Market Area.  

The SHMA however identifies cross-boundary interactions with the northern parts of Rother and 

Wealden in East Sussex; between Swanley and Dartford; and with London.  Recognising these 

links, the Councils will need to engage with neighbouring authorities through the Duty to Cooperate.  

Objectively-Assessed Housing Need  

The SHMA builds up a picture of overall housing need by starting with trend-based demographic 

projections, based on the latest official (2012-based) population and households projections; 

considering movement to/from London and the impact of the recession on this; and then 

considering whether adjustments need to be made to in-migration to support economic growth; or to 

                                                      
1
 http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments/ 

Page 72

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 13 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

improve affordability, taking account of evidence of affordable housing need and market signals 

which provide evidence that the ability of younger households to form has been restricted. This 

process is used to define the full need for market and affordable housing, “leaving aside” supply-

side considerations and constraints to development.  

1. Trend-based Demographic Projections  

The ONS 2012-based Sub-National Population Projections and CLG 2012-based Household 

Projections provide the starting point for assessing housing need. The SHMA rebases these trend-

based demographic projections to take account of ONS 2013 Mid-Year Population Estimates.  

The population projections are based on trends between 2006/7 and 2012, a period which included 

an economic recession. The SHMA analysis suggests that housing market circumstances during 

this period may have influenced net migration from London, and that a moderate increase in 

migration from London might be expected moving forwards. The potential impact of this has been 

modelled using assumptions consistent with those adopted by the Greater London Authority (GLA) 

in Further Alternations to the London Plan (FALP).  

The SHMA concludes that an appropriate trend-based demographic projection would see 

population growth of 19,900 (17.0%) in Sevenoaks District and 19,200 (16.6%) in Tunbridge Wells 

Borough over the 2013-33 period.  

The report applies (age-specific) assumptions on household formation to the population projections, 

and includes an allowance for vacant and second homes within the housing stock (based on levels 

shown by the 2011 Census). This results in a demographic-led need for 524 homes per year (2013-

33) in Sevenoaks, and 631 homes per year in Tunbridge Wells.  

2. Supporting Economic Growth  

The SHMA then considers whether in the future higher net migration might be required relative to 

past trends, taking account of how the age structure of the population might change (including 

people moving into retirement) and the potential scale of growth in employment.  

Over the 1993-2010 period (which is equivalent to the last economic cycle), employment in 

Sevenoaks District grew by an average of 1.0% per annum. In Tunbridge Wells Borough, 

employment levels were static (0.0% growth). Economic forecasts from the East of England 

Forecasting Model (EEFM) suggest employment could grow by between 8.9 – 16.5% in Sevenoaks; 

and by between 9.1 – 16.8% in Tunbridge Wells in the period 2013-33. The latest (Winter 2014) 

forecasts are the higher.  

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 14 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

The SHMA concludes that the forecasts for Tunbridge Wells look overly optimistic set against 

historical employment trends. For Sevenoaks District, the latest forecasts are closer to the historical 

rate of employment growth; and taking account of wider macro-economic factors the SHMA 

concludes that these forecasts, for 0.8% annual growth in employment, look reasonable. On this 

basis the SHMA models the implications of higher economic-led migration to Sevenoaks relative to 

past trends. In relating jobs and homes, the SHMA takes account of trends in age-specific 

employment rates and changes to state pension age; and assumes that the “commuting ratio
2
” 

shown in the 2011 Census stays constant. The higher, economic-driven migration to Sevenoaks 

results in housing need 8% higher than in the initial trend-based demographic projections.  

3. Affordability Issues  

Government’s Planning Practice Guidance indicates that “the housing need number suggested by 

household projections (the starting point) should be adjusted to reflect appropriate market signals, 

as well as other market indicators of the balance between the demand for and supply of dwellings.” 

It identifies that where market signals point to poor and worsening affordability and an imbalance 

between supply and demand, an appropriate adjustment should be made to future housing 

provision.  

The median house price in Sevenoaks is £302,000, and in Tunbridge Wells £260,000 at the time of 

the Assessment; both of which are above those across the wider housing market area and Kent 

(where the average is £210,000). The mapping of house prices undertaken however clearly shows 

that prices are similar to other areas close to London. Whilst house price increases over the period 

since 2008 have been modest, particularly in real terms (taking account of inflation); growth in rents 

in both areas has been above inflation.  

The evidence points to notable affordability pressures, with the lower quartile (entry level) house 

prices 11 times earnings of younger households in Sevenoaks; and 9.7 times earnings in Tunbridge 

Wells. This compares to a ratio of 6.5 nationally.  

The analysis also suggests some real impacts arising from high housing costs. Over the 2001-11 

period, home ownership fell (with increasing numbers of households renting privately). Levels of 

over-occupied households and those in shared housing increased, albeit that levels of both remain 

below Kent and national averages.  

As we might expect, the high housing costs have contributed to levels of households who require 

financial support in meeting their housing needs, and would be eligible for affordable housing. The 

report identifies a net need from 422 households per annum for affordable housing in Sevenoaks; 

                                                      
2
 The commuting ratio is the ratio of people working in the District to the number of employed residents. This is a “policy off” assumption  

Page 74

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 15 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

and from 341 households per annum in Tunbridge Wells.  This includes need arising from 

concealed and homeless households – who will require additional housing – as well as from 

overcrowded households, or those who seek an alternative tenure of accommodation, but would 

release a home for other households should a new affordable home be provided.  

The evidence from market signals, and from the affordable housing needs assessment, point to 

affordability pressures. The report provides evidence that deteriorating affordability (coupled with 

the credit crunch) resulted in a fall in household formation amongst households in their late 20s and 

early 30s over the 2001-11 period. An improvement in affordability can be expected to see a rise in 

household formation amongst these households.  

Taking account of market conditions, where sales volumes remain below pre-2008 levels and 

market capacity issues, coupled with the tightening of lending criteria for accessing mortgage 

finance, it is reasonable to expect household formation for younger households to improve 

gradually over time (if supply-side considerations such as land availability are left aside).  

The report models an improvement in household formation rates amongst households aged 25-34, 

returning to 2001 levels by 2033. This adjustment is applied to the demographic and/or economic-

led projections to derive conclusions on the objectively-assessed housing need.  

4. Conclusions on Objectively-Assessed Housing Need  

The SHMA draws together the above factors to identity the full objectively-assessed need for 

market and affordable housing. It identifies a need for 620 homes per year in Sevenoaks District, 

and 648 homes per year in Tunbridge Wells Borough over the 2013-33 period.  

Table 1: Conclusions on Full Objectively-Assessed Housing Need  

 Housing Need, 2013-33 Annual Average 
Sevenoaks 12,400 620 
Tunbridge Wells  12,960 648 

 
  

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 16 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

The need identified is built up as shown in the figure below.  

Figure 1: Objectively-Assessed Housing Need, 2013-33  

 

 

Need for Different Types of Homes  

 

Need for different Sizes of Homes  

The SHMA has considered the need for different sizes of homes, both market and affordable, taking 

account of the current housing stock and market conditions; and how changes in the size and 

structure of the population can be expected to change over the period to 2033. The SHMA 

concludes that the following represents an appropriate mix of affordable and market homes to plan 

for over the 2013-33 period: 

Table 2: Recommended Housing Mix – Sevenoaks District 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 5-10% 25-30% 40-45% 20-25% 

Affordable 30-35% 30-35% 25-30% 5-10% 

All dwellings 15-20% 25-30% 35-40% 15-20% 

 

Table 3: Recommended Housing Mix – Tunbridge Wells Borough 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 5-10% 25-30% 35-40% 20-25% 

Affordable 35-40% 30-35% 20-25% 5-10% 

All dwellings 20% 30% 30% 20% 

 

The evidence suggests that the strongest demand for market housing will be for two and three 

bedroom properties. For affordable housing, there is a greater proportional need for one and two 

bedroom properties; however there remains a need for a balanced mix of dwellings of different 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells

Improving Affordability 43 17

Supporting Economic Growth 53 0

Out-Migration from London 8 4

Base Demographic Need 516 627

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

H
o

m
e
s
 p

e
r 

A
n

n
u

m
, 

 
2
0
1
3
-3

3
 

Page 76

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 17 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

sizes to come forward with delivery of larger properties being important in meeting the needs of 

households with an acute housing need, and releasing existing properties for other households.  

In applying policies on housing mix to individual development sites, the SHMA recommends that 

regard should be had to the nature of the development site and character of the area, and to up-to-

date evidence of need as well as the existing mix and turnover of properties at the local level.  

Affordable Housing Mix  

In respect of the need for different types of affordable housing, the SHMA has considered what 

households can afford, together with the supply through turnover of existing housing stock. It 

concludes that around 25% of the affordable housing need in Sevenoaks District, and 35% in 

Tunbridge Wells Borough could be met by intermediate housing options, such as Help-to-Buy 

Shared Ownership, Rent-to-Homebuy, and Low Cost Sale/Starter Homes.  

Table 4: Need for Different Forms of Affordable Housing  

 
Intermediate Social / Affordable Rent 

Sevenoaks 24% 76% 

Tunbridge Wells 36% 64% 

Policies for the mix of affordable housing need to take account not just of the needs evidence, but 

the evidence base regarding development viability, as well as local policy aspirations. It may be 

appropriate for viability studies to test potential alternative policies for the mix of affordable housing 

in order to support overall delivery.  

Specialist Housing and Accommodation for Older Persons  

The SHMA indicates that the population of persons aged over 65 accounts for 18% of the 

population in Tunbridge Wells; and 20% in Sevenoaks. The number of residents aged over 65 is 

expected to grow substantially – by 49% in Sevenoaks and 61% in Tunbridge Wells to 2033, with 

particularly strong growth expected in those aged over 75, driven by improving life expectancy.  

A growing older population and increasing longevity is expected to result in a substantial growth in 

people with dementia and mobility problems. Across the two areas, the number of people with 

mobility problems is expected to increase by over 6,000; with an increase of more than 2,500 

persons with dementia projected (based on the SNPP) to 2033. Some of these households will 

require adaptions to properties to meet their changing needs whilst others may require more 

specialist accommodation or support – including Lifetime and wheelchair-accessible homes. There 

is clear evidence of need for properties which are capable of accommodating people’s changing 

needs.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 18 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Specialist housing includes sheltered and extra care housing. Based on the expected growth in 

population of older persons, the SHMA estimates a need for an additional 1,300 specialist dwellings 

for older persons in Sevenoaks and 1,400 in Tunbridge Wells over the 2013-33 period. This forms 

part of the overall housing need identified in Table 5. The need in different areas is shown below:  

Table 5: Need for Specialist Housing for Older Persons, 2013-33 

  

Specialist 

Housing Need, 

2013-33 

Annual Need for 

Specialist 

Housing 

% Overall OAN 

Sevenoaks 1,319 66 11% 

Tunbridge Wells 1,391 70 11% 

 

Decisions about the appropriate mix of specialist housing should take account of the current stock, 

other local needs evidence as appropriate, and policies regarding accommodation and care for 

older persons. The two authorities and county council should liaise as appropriate in this respect. 

The SHMA recommends that each Council give consideration to how best to deliver the identified 

specialist housing need, including for instance the potential to identify sites in accessible locations 

for specialist housing or to require provision of specialist housing for older people as part of larger 

strategic development schemes.  

The SHMA recognises that many older people will want to remain in homes that they may have 

lived in for many years. Adaptions to properties and floating support will be important in helping 

older people to do so. Some older households may wish to downsize, should suitable, attractive 

properties be available locally. This has been taken into account in deriving the findings regarding 

the future mix of market and affordable housing shown in Tables 2 and 3.   

Care / Nursing Home Bedspaces for Older Persons  

The SHMA indicates a net need for 511 nursing or care home bedspaces for older persons in 

Sevenoaks and 796 bedspaces in Tunbridge Wells over the 2013-33 period. The assessment, 

based on the expected change in the “institutional population” aged over 75 within the demographic 

projections should be treated as indicative. The SHMA does not seek to set policies in how older 

persons with care needs should be accommodated. This need is separate from the assessed 

overall housing need as it relates principally to a C2 Use Class.  

Table 6: Need for Residential/ Nursing Care Bedspaces 

 Change in institutional population aged 75+, 2013-33 

Sevenoaks 511 

Tunbridge Wells 796 

 
  

Page 78

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 19 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Self-Build Housing  

The SHMA indicates that there is potential for growth in housing delivery through self- and custom-

build housing. The SHMA provides indicative information on needs, based on data from BuildStore, 

as shown below.  

Table 7: Registered Interest in Self and Custom-Build Homes, Sept 2015  

 
Persons registered on BuildStore 

Custom-Build Register, Sept 2015  

Active Members on BuildStore 

Plot Search Register, Sept 2015  

Sevenoaks 39 152 

Tunbridge Wells  64 340 

 

To support growth in this market segment, responding to Government policy, it would be 

appropriate for the Councils to consider whether planning policy for larger sites should require an 

element of land to be put aside to support Custom-build housing. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

should also investigate putting in place a register of individuals with an interest in Custom-Build to 

provide more detailed information on demand, to support and provide a justification for seeking 

provision of plots on larger development schemes.  

 

Meeting the Needs of Other Vulnerable Groups  

The SHMA has considered the needs of a number of other vulnerable groups. The two local 

authorities have a relatively modest Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) population, but one which has 

been growing. BME households may be disadvantaged in the housing market. The SHMA sets out 

that where possible the Councils should provide advice to BME groups and in particular ensure that 

accommodation quality (particularly in the private rented sector) can meet the needs of such 

households which are disproportionately likely to contain children. 

The evidence also suggests that lone parent households are more likely to be disadvantaged than 

other household groups. Advice on housing options and securing good quality of accommodation 

will be critical to ensure that such households’ needs are best met and that children are provided 

with a full range of opportunities.  

Younger households in the two areas typically have a higher reliance on rented accommodation. 

Given that the housing options for young people may be more limited than for other groups it will be 

important to monitor the accommodation quality – this will need to focus on the quality of shared 

accommodation and housing within the Private Rented Sector.  

The Private Rented Sector has grown over the 2001-11 period. There is potential, moving forwards, 

for institutional investment in ‘Build-to-Rent’ housing schemes. This may contribute positively to 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 20 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

overall housing delivery, however the Councils may need to consider how affordable housing 

policies are applied to this Private Rented Sector housing, given that the viability of such schemes 

is very different to those of more ‘traditional’ market or mixed-tenure developments.   

Page 80

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 21 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 

1 INTRODUCTION  

1.1 GL Hearn (GLH) and Justin Gardner Consulting (JGC) have been commissioned by Sevenoaks 

District Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Council to prepare a Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA).  The purpose of the SHMA is to develop a robust understanding of housing 

market dynamics, to provide an assessment of future needs for both market and affordable housing 

and the housing needs of different groups within the population. 

1.2 The SHMA does not set housing targets. It provides an objective assessment of the need for 

housing, making no judgements regarding future policy decisions which the Councils may 

take. Housing targets will be set in the Councils respective local plans. These will need to be 

informed by the SHMA but will also take into account other factors and evidence through the plan-

making process.  

1.3 The SHMA responds to and is compliant with the requirements of both the National Planning Policy 

Framework (the NPPF)
3

 and the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
4

. It provides 

assessment of the future need for housing, with the intention that this will inform future development 

of planning policies. According to the PPG, housing need: 

“refers to the scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures that is likely to be needed in 

the housing market area over the plan period – and should cater for the housing demand of 

the area and identify the scale of housing supply necessary to meet that demand.” 

1.4 The Planning Practice Guidance is clear that the SHMA should not apply constraints to the 

assessment of need, such as those relating to land supply, environmental constraints or 

infrastructure provision, although it is clear that these are relevant considerations in bringing 

together the range of evidence in the preparation of a local plan.  

1.5 The SHMA provides specific evidence and analysis of the need for different sizes of homes, to 

inform policies on the mix of homes (both market and affordable). The SHMA also analyses the 

needs of specific groups, such as older people.  

1.6 A best-fit of local authority boundaries to the Housing Market Area would include Sevenoaks, 

Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge and Malling.  

1.7 The SHMA provides an assessment of housing need in Sevenoaks District and Tunbridge Wells 

Borough. It has been prepared using a consistent methodology to that in similar assessments 

                                                      
3
 CLG (March 2012) National Planning Policy Framework 

4
 CLG (March 2014) Planning Practice Guidance – Assessment of Housing and Economic Development Needs  

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 22 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

prepared by GL Hearn for Tonbridge and Malling Borough; as well as Maidstone and Ashford 

Boroughs.  

1.8 Findings from this report regarding housing need can be aggregated with those for Tonbridge and 

Malling Borough as set out in the SHMA Update – Implications of 2012-based Household 

Projections  report
5
 (GL Hearn, June 2015) to provide a composite picture of housing needs across 

the three authorities. Both reports adopt a consistent methodology and use the same data.  

1.9 Thus to provide an objective assessment of need across the HMA, conclusions in this report would 

need to be brought together with those in GL Hearn’s recent SHMA Update Report dealing with 

housing need in Tonbridge and Malling (together with Ashford and Maidstone).  

National Planning Policy Framework and Guidance  

1.10 National planning policies are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). This sets 

out a framework for how evidence-based studies regarding housing provision should be prepared; 

and policies against which development plans will be assessed at examination and with which they 

must comply. Local authorities are required to collaborate on assessments such as this, recognising 

that housing markets can cut across local authority boundaries.  

1.11 The primary legislation to support this is the 2011 Localism Act which now imposes a ‘duty to 

cooperate’ on local authorities, requiring them to “engage constructively, actively and on an on-

going basis” with the other authorities and relevant bodies. The Duty to Cooperate is applied as 

both a legal and soundness test to which development plans must comply.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

1.12 The NPPF was published in March 2012. The Framework sets a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development whereby Local Plans should meet objectively assessed development 

needs, with sufficient flexibility to respond to rapid change, unless the adverse impacts of doing so 

would significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits or policies within the Framework indicate 

that development should be restricted.  

1.13 Paragraph 47 in the NPPF outlines that to significantly boost the supply of housing, local planning 

authorities (amongst other things) should use their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan 

meets the full, objectively-assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the housing market 

area, as far as is consistent with the policies set out in the NPPF.  

                                                      
5
 This deals with housing need in Tonbridge and Malling, together with Maidstone and Ashford  

Page 82

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 23 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

1.14 The NPPF highlights the SHMA as a key piece of evidence in determining housing needs. 

Paragraph 159 in the Framework outlines that this should identify the scale and mix of housing and 

the range of tenures which the local population is likely to need over the plan period which:  

 Meets household and population projections, taking account of migration and demographic 

change;  

 Addresses the need for all types of housing, including affordable housing and the needs of 

different groups in the community; and  

 Caters for housing demand and the scale of housing supply necessary to meet this demand.  

1.15 The SHMA is intended to be prepared for the housing market area, and include work and dialogue 

with neighbouring authorities where the Housing Market Area (HMA) crosses administrative 

boundaries.  

1.16 Paragraph 181 sets out that Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) will be expected to demonstrate 

evidence of having effectively cooperated to plan for issues with cross-boundary impacts when their 

Local Plans are submitted for examination. This highlights the importance of collaborative working 

and engaging constructively with neighbouring authorities, as required by Section 33A of the 2004 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, and ensuring that there is a robust audit trail showing joint 

working to meet the requirements of paragraph 181 of the NPPF.  

1.17 Paragraph 158 of the NPPF emphasises the alignment of the housing and economic evidence base 

and policy. Paragraph 17 in the NPPF reaffirms this, and outlines that planning should also take 

account of market signals, such as land prices and housing affordability. However it also makes 

clear that plans must be deliverable. The Councils’ economic development aspirations align with the 

findings identified in this report.  

1.18 In regard to housing mix, the NPPF sets out that local authorities should plan for a mix of housing 

based on current and future demographic trends, market trends and the needs of different groups in 

the community. Planning authorities should identify the size, type, tenure and range of housing that 

is required in particular locations reflecting local demand. Where a need for affordable housing is 

identified, authorities should set policies for meeting this need on site.  

1.19 In setting affordable housing targets, the NPPF states that to ensure a plan is deliverable, the sites 

and the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to a scale of obligations 

and policy burdens such that their ability to be developed is threatened and should support 

development throughout the economic cycle. The costs of requirements likely to be applied to 

development, including affordable housing requirements, contributions to infrastructure and other 

policies in the Plan, should not compromise the viability of development schemes. To address this, 

affordable housing policies would need to be considered alongside other factors including 

infrastructure contributions – a ‘whole plan’ approach to viability. Where possible the NPPF 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 24 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

encourages local authorities to work up Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charges alongside the 

local plan.  

1.20 The SHMA is intended to be brought together with evidence of land availability, from Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessments (SHLAAs). To increase housing supply, the NPPF proposes 

that local authorities should be required to maintain a 5 year supply of specific deliverable sites, and 

to bring forward an allowance of 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land (unless 

there is a persistent track record of under-delivery in which case a 20% buffer is to be included).  

 

National Planning Practice Guidance 

1.21 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) was issued by Government in March 2014 as an online 

resource. Elements of this are updated periodically. The PPG includes Guidance on ‘Assessment of 

Housing and Economic Development Needs’. This SHMA takes account of the Guidance set out at 

the time of publication.  

1.22 The PPG is relevant to this SHMA in that it provides clarity on how key elements of the NPPF 

should be interpreted, including the approach to deriving an objective assessment of the need for 

housing. The approach in this report takes account of this Guidance. 

1.23 The Guidance defines “need” as referring to ‘the scale and mix of housing and the range of tenures 

that is likely to be needed in the housing market area over the plan period – and should cater for the 

housing demand of the area and identify the scale of housing supply necessary to meet this need.”  

1.24 It sets out that the assessment of need should be realistic in taking account of the particular nature 

of that area (for example geographical constraints and the nature of the market area), and should 

be based on future scenarios that could be reasonably expected to occur. It should not take 

account of supply-side factors or development constraints. Specifically the Guidance sets out that: 

 “plan makers should not apply constraints to the overall assessment of need, such as 

limitations imposed by the supply of land for new development, historical under performance, 

infrastructure or environmental constraints. However these considerations will need to be 

addressed when bringing evidence bases together to identify specific policies within 

development plans.”  

1.25 The Guidance outlines that estimating future need is not an exact science and that there is no one 

methodological approach or dataset which will provide a definitive assessment of need. However, 

the starting point for establishing the need for housing should be the latest household projections 

published by the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG). At the time of 

preparation of this report the latest projections are the CLG 2012-based Household Projections. It 

also outlines that the latest population projections and Mid-Year Population Estimates should be 

Page 84

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 

GL Hearn Page 25 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

considered. The latest Mid-Year Population Estimates available at the time of preparation of the 

report were for mid-2013
6
.  

1.26 The PPG sets out that there may be instances where these national projections require adjustment 

to take account of factors affecting local demography or household formation rates, in particular 

where there is evidence that household formation rates are or have been constrained by supply. It 

suggests that proportional adjustments should be made where the market signals point to supply 

being constrained relative to long-term trends or to other areas in order to improve affordability.  

1.27 Evidence of affordable housing needs is also relevant, with the Guidance suggesting that the total 

affordable housing need should be considered in the context of its likely delivery as a proportion of 

mixed market and affordable housing. In some instances it suggests this may provide a case for 

increasing the level of overall housing provision.  

1.28 In regard to employment trends, the Guidance indicates that job growth trends and/or economic 

forecasts should be considered having regard to the growth in working-age population in the 

housing market area. It sets out that: 

“ where the supply of working age population that is economically active (labour force supply) 

is less than the projected job growth, this could result in unsustainable commuting patterns 

(depending on public transport accessibility and other sustainable options such as walking 

and cycling) and could reduce the resilience of local businesses. In such circumstances, plan 

makers will need to consider how the location of new housing and infrastructure development 

could help to address these problems.”  

1.29 The Guidance indicates that the assessment should consider the need for different types of housing 

and the needs of different groups, including family housing, housing for older people, and 

households with specific needs and those looking to build their own home. It sets out that the need 

for older persons’ housing should be broken down by tenure and type, and should include an 

assessment of need for residential institutions (falling within a C2 use class).  

Overview of the Approach to Deriving OAN 

1.30 Based on the above, the diagram below summarises the approach we have used to deriving 

conclusions regarding the Objectively-Assessed Need (OAN) for Housing.  

                                                      
6
 The demographic modelling herein was undertaken in advance of release of ONS 2014 Mid-Year Population Estimates. The impact of 

these on the assessed housing need over a 20 year period could be expected to be minimal.  

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
GL Hearn Page 26 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 

 

Figure 2: Overview of Approach  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trend-based 
Population & 

Household Projections Testing  
Migration Trends  

Testing Household 
Formation Rates 

Market Signals 
Evidence 

Affordable Housing 
Needs Analysis 

Case for Adjustments 
to Improve Affordability 

Economic Growth 
Prospects 

Alternative Migration 
Scenarios 

Objectively Assessed 
Housing Need 

(OAN)  

Aligning Housing & 
Economic Strategy 

Land Supply, 
Constraints, 
Sustainability 

Appraisal 

Unmet Needs from 
Other Areas 

Housing Target in 
Plan 

SHMA Process 

P
age 86

A
genda Item

 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 27 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

2 DEFINING THE HOUSING MARKET AREA  

2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that local planning authorities should use 

their evidence base to ensure Local Plans meet the full, objectively assessed needs for market and 

affordable housing in their Housing Market Area (HMA). 

2.2 In simple terms, the HMA is a geographical area in which the majority of people, who move, will 

move within. It also reflects functional relationships between where people live and work. However, 

defining housing market areas is an inexact science and there is no single source of information 

that will clearly identify housing market areas. 

2.3 The NPPF makes clear that in planning for housing provision, it is important to consider housing 

needs and dynamics across a HMA, with each HMA seeking to meet needs within it where it is 

sustainable to do so and consistent with national planning policies. The Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) similarly highlights that needs should be assessed across the relevant housing market area. 

The first question for the SHMA is therefore, what housing market area(s) do Sevenoaks District 

and Tunbridge Wells Borough fall within. 

Approach to Defining Housing Market Areas   

2.4 The PPG defines a housing market area, setting out: 

A housing market area is a geographical area defined by household demand and 

preferences for all types of housing, reflecting the key functional linkages between places 

where people live and work. It might be the case that housing market areas overlap. 

The extent of the housing market areas identified will vary, and many will in practice cut 

across various local planning authority administrative boundaries. Local planning authorities 

should work with all the other constituent authorities under the duty to cooperate
7
. 

2.5 The PPG sets out that housing market areas can broadly be defined using three different sources of 

information:  

 House prices and rates of change in house prices – providing a market-based definition 

based on areas with similar house price characteristics;  

 Household migration and search patterns – considering the extent to which people move 

house within an area, with a housing market area considered to be that in which typically 70% or 

more of local moves are contained within (excluding long-distance moves);  

 Contextual data - such as travel to work areas, retail and school catchments – with travel to 

work areas providing information regarding commuting.   

2.6 The three strands of information look at different aspects of household behaviour, and there is no 

right or wrong answer regarding what weight should be applied to different factors. What the PPG 

says is that:  

                                                      
7
 ID: 2a-011-20140306 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/duty-to-cooperate/


 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 28 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

No single source of information on needs will be comprehensive in identifying the appropriate 

assessment area; careful consideration should be given to the appropriateness of each 

source of information and how they relate to one another. For example, for housing, where 

there are issues of affordability or low demand, house price or rental level analyses will be 

particularly important in identifying the assessment area. Where there are relatively high or 

volatile rates of household movement, migration data will be particularly important. Plan 

makers will need to consider the usefulness of each source of information and approach for 

their purposes.
8
   

Practical Issues  

2.7 The PPG largely reiterates previous guidance on defining HMAs set out within the CLG’s 2007 

Advice Note on Identifying Sub-Regional Housing Market Areas. There has been effectively no 

change in guidance, which continues to emphasise that there is no right or wrong answer as to how 

an HMA should be defined and that the approach should, in effect, reflect local market 

characteristics and circumstances.  

2.8 There is a range of previous work which has been undertaken to define HMAs over the last decade, 

at national, regional and local levels. It is now however appropriate to review this, not least given 

that a significant proportion of the past work is informed by 2001 Census data regarding commuting 

and migration patterns. 2011 Census flow data was issued in late July 2014.  

2.9 There are some further practical issues which are dealt with in the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) 

Technical Advice Note on Objectively Assessed Need and Housing Targets.
9
 This outlines that in 

practice, the main indicators used to define HMAs are migration and commuting flows, but goes on 

to point out that:  

One problem in drawing boundaries is that if each local planning authority were to draw an 

HMA centred on its area, there would be almost as many HMAs as local authorities. This is 

because the largest migration flows in and out of any individual authority are usually those 

linking it with immediately adjacent authorities. But each of these adjacent authorities will 

probably find that their largest migration flows link them to their immediate neighbours, and 

the chain continues indefinitely.  

Thus if each authority works independently to define an optimal HMA each authority may 

draw a different map, centred on its own area. 

2.10 The PAS Note argues that to address this issue, it is useful to start with a “top down analysis” which 

looks at the whole country. This is provided by a research study led by the Centre for Urban and 

Regional Development Studies (CURDS) at Newcastle University to define HMAs across England, 

which was published by Government in November 2010
10

. This has defined a consistent set of 

HMAs across England based on migration and commuting data from the 2001 Census.  

                                                      
8
 ID 2a-009-20140306 

9
 Peter Brett Associates (PBA) for PAS (June 2014) Objectively Assessed Need and Housing Targets  

10
 C Jones, M Coombe and C Wong for CLG (Nov 2010) Geography of Housing Markets, Final Report  

Page 88

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 29 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

2.11 Peter Brett Associates (PBA) emphasises that this should be considered ‘only a starting point’ and 

should be sense-checked against local knowledge and more recent data, especially on migration 

and commuting – concluding that more recent data ‘should always trump’ the national research. GL 

Hearn agrees with the report’s conclusions in this respect.  

2.12 A further practical issue regards the geographical building blocks that housing market areas are 

built up from. A key purpose of a SHMA is to define the Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) for 

housing. The PPG is clear that the starting point for doing so is the official population and 

household projections. These are published at a national level, and for local authorities. They are 

not published below local authority level, nor is the data available (regarding migration and trends in 

household formation which are key drivers within the projections) to allow this to be undertaken 

below local authority level. On this basis we consider that Housing Market Areas should be 

based on the ‘best fit’ to local authority boundaries; albeit that SHMAs can (and should) 

recognise cross-boundary influences and interactions. The PAS Report supports this, concluding 

that:  

It is best if HMA boundaries do not cut across local authority areas. Dealing with areas 

smaller than local authorities causes major difficulties in analysing evidence and drafting 

policy. For such small areas data availability is poor and analysis is complex. These 

complications are not offset by the benefit of greater accuracy.   

2.13 This approach seems widely accepted and is a practical response to data availability and one we 

would wish to adopt. In practical terms, we are of the view that towards the edges of most housing 

markets there are likely to be influences in two directions.  

2.14 Following this approach, we first of all therefore review existing research which has sought to 

consider the definition of the HMAs; before going on to consider more recent data.  

CLG/ CURDS Study (2009/10) 

2.15 National research undertaken for Government by a consortium of academics led by the Centre for 

Urban and Regional Development Studies (CURDS) at Newcastle University has sought to define 

housing markets across England. As the PAS Technical Advice Note recommends, we have used 

this as a ‘starting point’ for considering the HMA geography.  

2.16 The CURDS Study for CLG considers commuting and migration dynamics (based on 2001 Census 

data) and house prices (standardised to account for differences in housing mix and neighborhood 

characteristics). This information was brought together to define a three tiered structure of housing 

markets, as follows:  

 Strategic (Framework) Housing Markets – based on 77.5% commuting self-containment; 

 Local Housing Market Areas – based on 50% migration self-containment; and  

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 30 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 Sub-Markets – which would be defined based on neighbourhood factors and house types.  

2.17 The Strategic and Local HMAs are mapped across England, with the Local HMAs embedded within 

the wider Strategic HMAs. Both are defined based on wards at a “gold standard” and based on local 

authorities for the “silver standard” geographies defined.   

Framework Housing Market Areas  

2.18 All of Sevenoaks District, Tonbridge and Malling Borough and most of Maidstone Borough, as well 

as Tandridge to the west and the northern part of Wealden District are identified as part of a London 

‘Framework’ Housing Market Area in the CURDS research. Tunbridge Wells Borough is split, with 

the western part of the Borough (including Tunbridge Wells itself) also falling within a London HMA; 

but with Benenden and Cranbrook falling in a Dover and Ashford Framework HMA; and with 

Hawkhurst sitting on the boundary with an Eastbourne and Hastings HMA.  

Figure 3: CURDS Framework Housing Market Areas 

 

Source: CURDS 2009/10  

2.19 On the basis of a ‘best fit’ to local authority boundaries, both authorities together with Tonbridge and 

Malling, Maidstone and Tandridge fall within the London Framework HMA.  

  

Page 90

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 31 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Local Housing Market Areas  

2.20 The CURDS Study defined Local Housing Market Areas (LHMAs) which are embedded within the 

Framework Housing Markets, based on areas with 50% self-containment of migration flows (using 

2001 Census data). Relevant Local HMAs defined comprise:  

 South East London  

 Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells (which also includes Tonbridge)  

 Eastbourne  

 Ashford  

2.21 The main towns of Tonbridge, Tunbridge Wells and Sevenoaks all fall within a ‘Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells’ LHMA. Benenden and Cranbrook are shown to relate towards Ashford; with 

Hawkhurst and rural areas on the southastern fringes of Tunbridge Wells Borough relating towards 

Eastbourne. Swanley and areas to the north of the M20 in Sevenoaks District falls within a South 

East London LHMA.  

Figure 4: CURDS-Defined Local Housing Market Areas 

 

Source: CURDS,2009/10  

2.22 The CURDS work highlights the strong relationship with London from Sevenoaks District and the 

western part of Tunbridge Wells Borough. However the extent of influence of London is highly 

sensitive to the ‘threshold’ used in analysis.   

Page 91

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 32 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

2.23 It must be borne in mind that the CURDS work is based on 2001 data, which is now 14 years old. 

2011 Census commuting and migration flow data has been released in Summer 2014 which 

provides a basis for reconsidering housing market geographies using more recent information. This 

is considered later in this section.   

 

Other Strategic Studies considering HMA Geographies  
 

London SHMA (2013)  

2.24 The GLA’s 2013 SHMA looks at the Greater London area, but recognises links beyond this setting 

out that ‘its urban area extends beyond this boundary and encompasses a substantial hinterland’ 

but sets out that there is no universally accepted way of measuring this, noting that boundaries 

based on analysis of commuting and migration “are highly sensitive to the specific level of 

containment uses” based on reference to the CURDS Study.   

2.25 The examination of Further Alternations to the London Plan took place in September 2014. This 

included consideration of whether London can be described as a single Housing Market Area. The 

report from the Planning Inspector, Anthony Thickett, following the Examination in Public was 

published in December 2014. In Paragraph 22 the Inspector did not challenge the GLA’s contention 

that London represents a single Housing Market area, commenting that:  

The Mayor points to the acceptance by previous EiP Panels that London constitutes a single 

housing market area with sub markets which span Borough boundaries. The Mayor also 

points to the findings of the High Court, following a challenge to the Revised Early Minor 

Alterations to the London Plan, within which in his (undisputed) opinion, the Court accepted 

that although local variations exist, this did not compromise the view that London constitutes 

a single housing market area.  

2.26 The implications of this for studies such as this is that local authorities must seek to define HMAs 

which exclude parts of London; but need to recognise that there is an inter-relationship with London 

which is relevant in housing market terms.  

 

South East Plan Evidence  

2.27 Sub-regional housing markets within the South East of England were defined in the South East 

Plan based on a regional study undertaken by DTZ for the South East of England Regional 

Assembly and Homes and Communities Agency in 2004
11

 to define housing market areas across 

the South East. DTZ identified 21 housing market areas across the region, as shown in Figure 5.  

 

                                                      
11

 DTZ (2004) Identifying the Local Housing Markets of the South East 

Page 92

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 33 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 5: Housing Market Areas in the South East 

 

Source: DTZ (2004) Identifying the Local Housing Markets of the South East 

 

2.28 This Study defined a West Kent HMA which included much of Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells and 

Tonbridge and Malling local authorities. A High Weald market was also identified which includes 

parts of Tunbridge Wells Borough. These conclusions were based on analysis of migration and 

travel to work patterns (at local authority level) and wider data; and a programme of stakeholder 

engagement to agree the definitions of housing markets across the region. Areas of overlap were 

identified towards the boundaries of the area.  

 

House Prices  

2.29 We next move on to consider more recent data. Our analysis seeks to compare house prices 

spatially for comparable products. Figure 6 therefore provides an analysis of prices for semi-

detached and terraced homes sold between January and December 2014 looking across the wider 

area. This plan provides a market-based definition of the extent of London’s housing market 

influence.  

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 34 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

2.30 The shows an area of higher house prices which extends beyond London into a number of the 

Home Counties, including parts of Kent, Sussex, Surrey, Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, Hertfordshire 

and Essex.  

Figure 6: Prices of Semi-Detached and Terraced Homes Sold, 2014  

 

Source: Land Registry, 2015 

2.31 Prices drop quite notably further north into Luton and Bedfordshire; in South Essex; and Western 

Berkshire. We see corridors of higher prices extending towards Oxford and Cambridge (influenced 

by economic strength), as well as down towards the Sussex Coast.  

2.32 At a more local level, Figure 7 shows stronger house prices in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

local authorities (and in Tonbridge) relative to other parts of Kent, suggesting some distinction 

between West Kent and other parts of the County. Prices are strongest in Sevenoaks, most likely 

reflecting proximity to London.  Lower prices are evident in Dartford, the Medway Towns and along 

the Kent Coast.  

  

Page 94

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 35 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Localised Price Distinctions  

2.33 As described above, we would fully expect more localised distinctions in house prices to emerge 

through a finer grain (more localised) analysis of house price differentials. These reflect differences 

in the housing offer, quality of place and accessibility of different areas to employment centres.  

Figure 7: Prices of Semi-Detached and Terraced Homes Sold – West Kent, 2014  

 

Source: Land Registry, 2015 

2.34 Figure 7 highlights stronger house prices in Sevenoaks District; and lower housing costs in 

Hawkhurst and the eastern part of Tunbridge Wells Borough. Lower prices are also evident in 

Swanley.  

House Price Changes 

2.35 Figure 8 analyses how house prices have changed over the last five years (2009-14). It shows 

consistent growth in house prices across the two authorities of 10-15% over the five year period. 

This is slightly stronger than in either Tonbridge and Malling or Maidstone Boroughs; but similar to 

that in Tandridge, Mid Sussex and Wealden. The analysis shows price change at local authority 

level.  

  

Page 95

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 36 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 8: Change in House Prices (All Properties), 2009-14  

 

Source: Land Registry, 2015 

 

Migration Patterns  

2.36 Migration flows reflect housing market relationships – they reflect the movement of people between 

homes. They are thus an important factor in considering the definition of an HMA.  

2.37 Migration data from the 2011 Census has only been published at a local authority level.  The 

Census records migration, asking people where they lived one year prior to Census day and on 

Census day itself. The use of Census data is preferable to other data (such as from NHS Central 

Health Register) as it records movement within individual local authorities, as well as between them, 

allowing self-containment analysis to be undertaken.   

Self-Containment within Individual Local Authorities  

2.38 The PPG sets out that an HMA typically would be an area within which a relatively high proportion 

of moves (typically 70% excluding long-distance moves) are contained. Table 8 shows self-

containment levels within individual authorities. These can be measured either in terms of those 

who moved who were living in the local authority in 2010; or the base being those living in the 

authority in 2011.  

Page 96

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 37 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 8: Self-Containment of Migration Flows within Individual Authorities, 2010-11  

 

% Self-Containment of those 
moving who lived in area in 

2010 

% Self-Containment of those 
moving who lived in area in 2011 

Tunbridge Wells 53% 51% 

Sevenoaks 40% 43% 

Tonbridge & Malling  46% 46% 

Source: 2011 Census  

2.39 Sevenoaks in particular has a low self-containment level (40-43% depending on which basis it is 

measured). Tunbridge Wells is higher (51-53%). Neither can be considered to have a sufficient 

containment level to be considered an HMA in their own right. This is principally a reflection of the 

strength of relationships with London.  

Migration Flows between Local Authorities   

2.40 We have next sought to assess migration flows between local authorities. We have reviewed both 

net and gross flows. The first identifies the stronger direction of movement; with the latter 

highlighting the strength of connections between two local authorities – and in effect showing more 

about the functional links between places.  

Gross Flows Analysis  

2.41 Typically we would expect a larger migration flow between two authorities with larger populations. 

To provide a comparative assessment of the strength of migration flows, we have therefore 

benchmarked flows based on the combined population of two authorities. Figures are expressed 

per 1,000 joint population. 

2.42 The analysis indicates a strong set of migration flows between local authorities in North and West 

Kent and between West Kent and East Sussex. We see strong flows between Sevenoaks and 

Dartford; and between Tunbridge Wells and both Tonbridge and Malling and Wealden.  

2.43 A complex pattern of links is evident, suggesting that different parts of local authorities may fall 

within different housing market areas.  

 

  

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 38 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 9: Gross Migration Flows between Local Authorities, 2010-11   

 

Source: 2011 Census 

 

Net Migration  

2.44 An analysis of net flows shows a similar picture to that which we find in most areas around London 

(and other core cities across the UK). Cities tend to attract in migrants from across the country and 

internationally, but then see a net out-migration to surrounding areas. The cities tend to have a 

younger population structure. Net out-migration to surrounding areas partly reflects a lifestyle model, 

with middle aged households from cities moving to more suburban and rural environments. 

Movement is influenced by a range of factors including house prices, quality of place, housing offer 

and schools.  

2.45 We see a net flow from most of the South East London Boroughs to Sevenoaks; as well as flows 

from Westminster, Bromley, Sevenoaks and Tonbridge and Malling into Tunbridge Wells. We then 

see a net flow from Tunbridge Wells to Wealden.  

  

Page 98

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 39 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 10: Net Migration Flows between Local Authorities, 2010-11  

 Source: 2011 Census 

2.47 We do not consider the net flows analysis to be particularly useful in defining Housing Market Area 

boundaries (in this or other areas).  

Considering Self-Containment  

2.48 The PPG sets out that an HMA would typically be an area in which 70% of moves are contained 

within (excluding long distance moves). We have therefore excluded long distance flow from the 

analysis and analysed migration self-containment levels for different potential geographies.    

2.49 The migration self-containment levels for the individual local authorities are low. Considering self-

containment looking at Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells together raises the level to 51%. There is a 

minimal impact of including Dartford – which increases this to 52%. This indicates a weak strategic 

relationship with Dartford from other parts of the HMA.  

2.50 Including Tonbridge and Malling, the self-containment level rises to 56%. It increases further to 61% 

if Maidstone is included.  

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 40 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

2.51 Low self-containment levels overall reflect the strong economic interaction between this area and 

London.  

2.52 We consider it appropriate to therefore test self-containment levels if the influence of London (in 

economic / commuting terms) is excluded. This is shown in Table 9.  

2.53 At a local authority level, the self-containment level nears 70% if Tonbridge and Malling and 

Maidstone are included; and exceeds it if these authorities and Dartford are included.  

Table 9: Commuting Self-Containment, excluding London, 2011  

 
% 

Residents 
% 

Workers 
Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks 56% 61% 

Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks, Dartford 59% 67% 

Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling 61% 67% 

Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling, Dartford 63% 69% 

Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling, Maidstone 67% 71% 

Tunbridge Wells, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling, Maidstone, Dartford 71% 71% 

 

2.54 The evidence also suggests a relationship between scale and self-containment.   

Commuting Flows  

2.55 The analysis of commuting flows in this section has been used to consider further the housing 

market geography.  Our starting point for considering commuting patterns are the 2001 Travel to 

Work Areas (TTWA) which were produced by the ONS and Newcastle University in 2007.  These 

are the only official and nationally consistent definition of Travel to Work Areas. 

2.56 The TTWAs were an attempt to identify self-contained labour market areas in which all commuting 

occurs within the boundary of the area. It should however be recognised that in practice, it is not 

possible to divide the UK into entirely separate labour market areas as commuting patterns are too 

diffuse.  

2.57 The TTWAs were developed as approximations to self-contained labour markets, i.e. areas where 

most people both live and work. As such they are based on a statistical analysis rather than 

administrative boundaries.  The areas were produced by analysing commuting flows from the 2001 

Census.   

2.58 The criteria for defining TTWAs were that at least 75% of the area's resident workforce work in the 

area and at least 75% of the people who work in the area also live in the area in most instances. 

The area must also have had a working population of at least 3,500. However, for areas where the 

working population is in excess of 25,000, self-containment rates as low as 66% were accepted.  

Page 100

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 41 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 11: 2001 Travel to Work Areas 

 

Source: ONS, 2007 

2.59 The majority of the two authorities, together with Tonbridge and the northern parts of Wealden and 

north-west part of Rother District were defined as forming collectively a Tunbridge Wells TTWA by 

ONS. Swanley was defined as within a London TTWA.  

2.60 Figure 12 illustrates the influence of London as an employment destination.  The map shows that 

some Middle-Level Super Output Areas (MSOA)
12

 as far as Brighton, Winchester and Suffolk from 

which there is notable commuting to London. It highlights the extensive influence of London on 

commuting from areas within the South East and East of England. This demonstrates the Capital’s 

extensive economic influence.  

  

                                                      
12

 This is an ONS geography which is larger than wards, but below local authority level  

Page 101

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 42 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 12: London Commuting Catchment (2011) 

Source: ONS, Census 2011 

2.61 As with the migration analysis, we find that commuting self-containment levels within individual local 

authorities are low. In Sevenoaks, 30% of residents live and work within the District. In Tunbridge 

Wells it is higher, at 50%.  

2.62 The strongest commuting relationships (using 2011 Census data) from Sevenoaks are as follows:  

 London (42.6%) – of which Bromley (7.2%) and Bexley (4.6%)  

 Dartford (7.0%); and  

 Tonbridge and Malling (4.9%).  

2.63 From Tunbridge Wells, the strongest flows are to:  

 London (19.1%)  

 Tonbridge & Malling (9.2%) 

 Sevenoaks (4.3%);  and  

 Maidstone (4.2%).  

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 43 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

2.64 From Tonbridge and Malling, the strongest relationships are with London (20.3%); Maidstone 

(11.4%); and Sevenoaks (7.0%). There is a strong relationship between Tunbridge Wells and 

Tonbridge.  

2.65 In August 2015, ONS released updated Travel to Work Areas (TTWAs) based on 2011 Census 

data. Their criteria for defining TTWAs is that generally at least 75% of an area's resident workforce 

work in the area and at least 75% of the people who work in the area also live in the area. The area 

must also have a working population of at least 3,500. However, for areas with a working population 

in excess of 25,000, self-containment rates as low as 66.7% are accepted. TTWA boundaries are 

non-overlapping, are contiguous and cover the whole of the UK. 

2.66 The ONS defines a Tunbridge Wells TTWA which includes Sevenoaks, Tonbridge and Tunbridge 

Wells; together with Hawkhurst as well as Crowborough and Heathfield in the northern part of 

Wealden and Rother respectively.  Swanley is identified as part of a London TTWA.  

Figure 13: ONS 2011 Travel to Work Areas  

 

Source: ONS   

Page 103

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 44 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Summary and Implications – HMA Geography  

2.67 As the CURDS analysis sets out there is a close set of interactions between the towns of 

Sevenoaks, Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells which reflect their geographical proximity. There is also 

a relationship into the northern part of Wealden. There are cross-boundary interactions between 

Swanley and Dartford and a stronger commuting relationship to London. Links from Tandridge are 

stronger to other authorities in Surrey and West Sussex. Flows between Dartford and Swanley are 

relatively localised. 

2.68 An appropriate definition of the Housing Market Area would include Sevenoaks, Tonbridge, 

Tunbridge Wells and Crowborough. This includes the main population centres in Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells local authorities. GL Hearn would consider that the 2011 Tunbridge Wells TTWA 

provides an appropriate HMA geography.  This is not substantially different to that shown from the 

CURDS Local Housing Market Area.  

2.69 However for practical purposes it is useful to consider the ‘best fit’ of local authorities to housing 

market areas, not least as demographic projections are developed on this basis. There is a strong 

basis for considering Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells together. Tonbridge and Malling is effectively 

split, with part of the Borough relating to this HMA (Tonbridge); and part (Malling) towards 

Maidstone.  

2.70 There are some relationships with adjoining areas, including between Swanley and Dartford; and 

between Tunbridge Wells and the northern parts of Wealden and Rother Districts. The evidence 

also points towards a significant functional relationship with London, in respect of both commuting 

and migration flows. Like many areas close to the M25, there is a strong functional relationship with 

the Capital. However the GLA define a London HMA which is contained within the Greater London 

boundaries; whilst recognising relationships across a wider hinterland.  

2.71 For the purposes of local plan preparation, a recent High Court judgement has confirmed that 

(interpreting the NPPF) the primary duty of a Local Planning Authority is to assess the needs of the 

LPA area, but in assessing these needs it is required to prepare a SHMA which may cross 

administrative boundaries.
13

 Against this context this report has been prepared for the 

commissioning authorities of Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells, but uses a consistent methodology 

to that covering Tonbridge and Malling (as well as Maidstone and Ashford).  

2.72 The principal cross-boundary issue of relevance relates to any potential issues regarding unmet 

housing needs. If an unmet housing need arises from either of the commissioning authorities, it 

would be appropriate for them to approach other authorities with which they share an HMA to 

                                                      
13

 Satnam Millenium Ltd vs. Warrington MBC [EWHC 370 (Admin) Para 25]  

Page 104

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 45 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

consider if needs can be met in these areas. The principal adjoining authorities with a strong 

relationship would be Tonbridge & Malling, Wealden and Rother. Equally the commissioning 

authorities would need to engage with these authorities in respect of any unmet housing needs 

arising from these other authorities’ areas. We would also advise the Councils to engage with the 

Greater London Authority and London Boroughs in respect of any unmet needs arising from London.  

  

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 46 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

  

Page 106

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 47 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

3 DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC-LED PROJECTIONS  
 

3.1 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) outlines that the latest official population and household 

projections should be considered as the ‘starting point’ in defining the Objectively Assessed 

Housing Need. It outlines that plan makers may consider sensitivity testing, considering alternative 

assumptions on population growth and household formation rates, but that any local changes made 

to projections need to be clearly explained and justified based on established sources of robust 

evidence.  

3.2 The PPG also sets out that employment trends should be taken into account, with an assessment 

made of likely changes in job numbers based on past trends and/or economic forecasts as 

appropriate, having regard to the growth in the working-age population across the housing market 

area. Where labour force supply is less than projected jobs growth, plan makers are advised to 

consider how the level or location of housing provision, or infrastructure development could help to 

address this.  

3.3 In this section consideration is given to demographic evidence of housing need. The analysis 

begins by considering the most recent population and household projections published by 

ONS/CLG. A sensitivity analysis is then provided considering alternative projections of population 

growth and housing need based on demographic trends.  

3.4 A sensitivity analysis includes consideration of the inter-relationship between each of the two local 

authorities and London, and considers how migration to/ from London might change in the future. 

This takes account of evidence and the modelling approach which underpins the current version of 

the London Plan, which is based on the Greater London Authority (GLA) 2013-based Demographic 

Projections. It should however be noted that the London Plan is being reviewed, and that this 

evidence and situation may change over time.  

3.5 The section also considers the overlay between population growth and job growth to consider if 

there will be a sufficient workforce moving forward to support projected growth in employment, 

following the approach in the PPG.   

3.6 The core projections in this section look at housing needs in the period from 2013 to 2033. The 

starting point reflects a base position for which a reasonable amount of data is available (the ONS 

mid-2013 population estimates) with the end date selected to provide a reasonable (20-year) period 

for analysis. 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 48 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Demographic Profile and Trends 

3.7 The population of Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells in 2013 was estimated to be 232,700. This is an 

increase of 19,500 people since 2001 – a 9.1% increase over the 12-year period. This level of 

population growth is notably below that seen across Kent (12.2%) but broadly in-line with the South 

East region (9.6%) and nationally (8.9%). Of the two local authorities, the data shows the more 

significant growth in the 2001-13 period to have been in Tunbridge Wells (11.3%), with lower growth 

in Sevenoaks (7.1%). 

3.8 We can also consider longer-term trends in population growth, with data being available back to 

1981. Figure 14 shows that population growth in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells has consistently 

been below the average for Kent, the South East and England. Until the end of the 1990s there had 

been very little population growth across the two Districts, however, over the past 12-years or so for 

which data is available, the level of population growth has been notably higher – in common with 

that across wider geographies. Over the whole 1981 to 2013 period, the data shows that the 

population of Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells grew by 12%; notably lower than in Kent (20%), the 

South East (21%) and England (15%). 

Figure 14: Indexed Population Growth, 1981-2013  

 

Source: ONS 

3.9 Figure 15 shows the same information for the two individual local authority areas. The data shows a 

much higher level of growth in Tunbridge Wells throughout the period than seen in Sevenoaks (as 

well as the more recent period since 2005). The analysis also shows that until the early 2000s there 

had been no population growth in Sevenoaks (a slight decline). Population growth until the end of 

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

19
81

19
82

19
83

19
84

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

In
de

xe
d 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
gr

ow
th

 (
19

81
=

10
0)

 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

Page 108

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 49 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

the 1990s was also pretty moderate in Tunbridge Wells (relative to trends across wider areas, as 

Figure 14 shows).  

Figure 15: Indexed Population Growth (1981-2013) – by District 

 

Source: ONS 

3.10 Figure 16 and Table 10 consider the drivers of population change in the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge 

Wells area. Population change is largely driven by natural change (births minus deaths) and 

migration, although within ONS data there is also a small other changes category (mainly related to 

armed forces and prison populations) and an Unattributable Population Change (UPC) category. 

UPC is an adjustment made by ONS to Mid-Year Population Estimates where Census data 

suggests that population growth had either been over- or under-estimated in the inter-Censal years. 

Because UPC links back to Census data, a figure is only provided for 2001 to 2011. It is not entirely 

clear to which years (between 2001-11) any under- or over-recording might relate, or if it relates to 

accuracy of the Census data itself. It is ‘unattributable.’  

3.11 The data shows that both natural change and net migration have been important components of 

population growth in the study area. Over the whole of the period studied (2001-13) the average 

level of natural change has been about 570 per annum; natural change has generally been 

increasing over time, although the more recent evidence suggests that this may now be levelling off 

or even decreasing slightly.  

3.12 Net migration can also be seen to be significant with an average level of about 720 per annum over 

the 12-year period studied – this has varied on a year-by-year basis from -320 (i.e. net out-

migration) in 2002/3 up to 1,540 in 2007/8. Both internal migration (i.e. moves from one part of the 

Country to another) and international migration have been significant drivers of population growth; 

95

100

105

110

115

120

19
81

19
82

19
83

19
84

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

In
de

xe
d 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
gr

ow
th

 (
19

81
=

10
0)

 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells

Page 109

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 50 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

internal migration has averaged about 350 people per annum, compared with about 370 in the case 

of international migration. International migration is shown to have been particularly strong in the 

2003-7 period. 

3.13 Other changes are quite small whilst the data shows a notable (and positive) level of UPC – the 

positive UPC suggests that previous ONS components of change data may have under-estimated 

population growth in the study area. Data for the individual local authorities actually identifies a 

small negative level of UPC in Sevenoaks with a large positive figure for Tunbridge Wells. 

Figure 16: Components of population change, mid-2001 to mid-2013 – Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: ONS 

 

  

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

2001/2 2002/3 2003/4 2004/5 2005/6 2006/7 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

Natural change Net internal migration Net international migration

Other changes Unattributable population change Population change

Page 110

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 51 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 10: Components of Population Change (2001-13) – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

Year 
Natural 
change 

Net internal 
migration 

Net 
international 

migration 

Other 
changes 

Other 
(unattributable) 

Total change 

2001/2 259 -517 -74 -17 369 20 

2002/3 286 -537 219 -2 393 359 

2003/4 379 -116 844 18 381 1,506 

2004/5 357 149 1,075 -11 397 1,967 

2005/6 582 894 541 -9 401 2,409 

2006/7 730 569 805 -8 411 2,507 

2007/8 581 1,151 386 -25 397 2,490 

2008/9 633 519 389 1 437 1,979 

2009/10 824 409 380 -25 433 2,021 

2010/11 897 738 17 8 388 2,048 

2011/12 844 693 -188 -4 - 1,345 

2012/13 518 211 48 9 - 786 

Source: ONS 

3.14 Figure 17 shows the age structure of the population in the two local authorities and a range of other 

areas. The profile of the population of the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells area is broadly similar to 

that seen across the County and is slightly ‘older’ than equivalent data regionally or nationally – 

Sevenoaks looks to have a slightly older population profile than Tunbridge Wells. As shown in the 

figure below, some 26% of the population of Sevenoaks is aged 60 and over with an equivalent 

figure of 23% in Tunbridge Wells. These figures compare with 25% across Kent, 24% for the South 

East region and 23% for the whole of England. 

  

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 52 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 17: Population Age Profile (2013) 

 

Source: Mid-Year Population Estimates 

3.15 Table 11 shows how the age structure of the population has changed over the 2001 to 2013 period. 

The data shows the most significant growth to have been in the 60-74 and 45-59 age groups (with a 

high proportionate increase in the number of people aged 75 and over). The analysis also indicates 

a small decline in the population aged 30-44 and increases in other age groups. 

Table 11: Change in Age Structure 2001 to 2013 – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

Age group 2001 2013 Change % change 

Under 15 41,100 43,400 2,300 5.6% 

15-29 33,500 36,400 2,900 8.7% 

30-44 47,400 45,400 -2,000 -4.2% 

45-59 44,700 49,400 4,700 10.5% 

60-74 29,800 37,300 7,500 25.2% 

75 and over 17,000 20,600 3,600 21.2% 

Total 213,200 232,700 19,500 9.1% 

Source: Mid-Year Population Estimates 

 

17.8% 

17.9% 

18.0% 

18.7% 

18.9% 

18.5% 

19.6% 

18.2% 

18.2% 

15.7% 

16.3% 

15.1% 

20.1% 

19.7% 

18.5% 

19.5% 

20.4% 

18.6% 

19.8% 

20.4% 

20.3% 

21.2% 

21.1% 

21.4% 

14.8% 

15.3% 

16.2% 

16.0% 

14.9% 

17.2% 

7.9% 

8.5% 

8.7% 

8.9% 

8.5% 

9.2% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

England

South East

Kent

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Under 15 15-29 30-44 45-59 60-74 75 and over

Page 112

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 53 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

3.16 The same analysis has been carried out for the individual local authorities and a range of 

comparator areas (in Table 12). The data identifies that population change in each of the two local 

authorities has broadly followed the change seen across other areas. 

Table 12: Change in age structure 2001 to 2013 

Age group Sevenoaks 
Tunbridge 

Wells 

Sevenoaks 
& 

Tunbridge 
Wells 

Kent South East England 

Under 15 3.3% 7.9% 5.6% 5.5% 5.1% 3.2% 

15-29 9.3% 8.0% 8.7% 20.0% 10.5% 12.7% 

30-44 -8.8% 0.4% -4.2% -4.0% -4.6% -3.7% 

45-59 5.0% 16.7% 10.5% 14.7% 14.6% 14.3% 

60-74 25.6% 24.6% 25.2% 30.0% 27.4% 22.4% 

75 and over 24.1% 18.1% 21.2% 17.9% 16.8% 15.0% 

Total 7.1% 11.3% 9.1% 12.2% 9.6% 8.9% 

Source: Mid-Year Population Estimates 

 

Sub-National Population Projections  

3.17 The latest set of subnational population projections (SNPP) were published by ONS on the 29th 

May 2014. They replace the 2010- and 2011-based projections. Subnational population projections 

provide estimates of the future population of local authorities, assuming a continuation of recent 

local trends in fertility, mortality and migration which are constrained to the assumptions made for 

the 2012-based national population projections. The new SNPP are largely based on trends in the 

2007-12 period (2006-12 for international migration trends). The SNPP are only population 

projections and do not contain headship rates (which are needed to convert into household 

estimates). 

3.18 The SNPP are not forecasts and do not attempt to predict the impact that future government or 

local policies, changing economic circumstances or other factors might have on demographic 

behaviour. The primary purpose of the subnational projections is to provide an estimate of the 

future size and age structure of the population of local authorities in England. These are used as a 

common framework for informing local-level policy and planning in a number of different fields as 

they are produced in a consistent way. 

  

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 54 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Overall Population Growth 

3.19 Table 13 shows projected population growth from 2013 to 2033 in each District and other areas. 

The data shows that the population of the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells area is expected to 

grow by around 38,400 people; this is a 16.5% increase – slightly lower than expected across Kent, 

but higher than equivalent figures for the South East and England. 

3.20 It should be noted that due to inclusion within the modelling of mid-2013 population estimates for 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells the figures do not exactly match those in the SNPP. Figures for 

comparator areas are however taken directly from the SNPP. The difference in this respect will not 

be material.  

Table 13: Projected population growth (2013-2033) 

 
Population 

2013 
Population 

2033 
Change in 
population 

% change 

Sevenoaks 117,035 136,504 19,469 16.6% 

Tunbridge Wells 115,693 134,669 18,976 16.4% 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 232,728 271,173 38,445 16.5% 

Kent 1,490,700 1,744,500 253,800 17.0% 

South East 8,784,800 10,092,800 1,308,000 14.9% 

England 53,843,600 61,022,500 7,178,900 13.3% 

Source: ONS 

3.21 Figure 18 shows past and projected population growth in the period 2001 to 2033 for the whole of 

the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells area. The data also plots a linear trend line for the last five 

years for which data is available (2008-13) and also a longer-term period from 2001 to 2013 – this 

being the longest period for which reasonable data about the components of population change (e.g. 

migration) is available. The data shows that the population is expected to grow at a rate which is 

broadly in-line with long-term past trends and at a level slightly above that seen over the past five 

years. 

  

Page 114

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 55 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 18: Past and projected population growth – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: ONS 

 

3.22 Figure 18 shows the same data for individual local authorities. In Sevenoaks, future population 

growth is expected to be above past trend levels (whether in the short- or long-term) whereas in 

Tunbridge Wells future growth is broadly in line with recent trends (past five years) but some way 

below longer-term trends. 

Figure 19: Past and projected population growth – by local authority 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

  

Source: ONS 

3.23 Overall, across the two authority areas, we would conclude that the SNPP is a reasonable 

projection to take forward into household growth modelling. Whilst, the data shows population 

200,000

210,000

220,000

230,000

240,000

250,000

260,000

270,000

280,000

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

Trend (2001-13) Trend (2008-13) 2012-based

Linear (Trend (2001-13)) Linear (Trend (2008-13))

100,000

110,000

120,000

130,000

140,000

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

Trend (2001-13) Trend (2008-13)
2012-based Linear (Trend (2001-13))
Linear (Trend (2008-13))

100,000

110,000

120,000

130,000

140,000

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

P
op

ul
at

io
n 

Trend (2001-13) Trend (2008-13)
2012-based Linear (Trend (2001-13))
Linear (Trend (2008-13))

Page 115

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 56 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

growth which is very slightly above short-term past trends, it is not considered that this divergence 

is significant. In interpreting the figures, it does also need to be born in mind that the ONS 

projections are not a simple roll forward of past population growth. The projections take account of 

the current age structure and how this will change over time. The age structure changes then feed 

into estimates of how migration and natural change might develop over time. 

Components of Population Change 

3.24 Figure 20 brings together data about migration (both past trends and the future projection) along 

with information about natural change. This shows that after being fairly constant at the start of the 

projection period, natural change is expected to decrease over time.  

3.25 Expected levels of migration are generally expected to increase slightly over time – this is likely to 

be linked to the changing population profile in the two areas, and in particular an increase in the 

number of older persons in the population. For the whole of the projection period (2013-33) the 

average level of migration is expected to be around 1,252 people (net) per annum – this figure is 

somewhat higher than the levels seen in either short-term past trends (643 per annum over the last 

five years) or the longer-term (717 per annum on average from 2001 to 2013). Over the past 

decade (2003-13) the average level of net migration is also lower (at 951 per annum). 

Figure 20: Components of Population Change, mid-2001 to mid-2033 – Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: ONS 

 

  

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

20
01

/2

20
02

/3

20
03

/4

20
04

/5

20
05

/6

20
06

/7

20
07

/8

20
08

/9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

20
17

/1
8

20
18

/1
9

20
19

/2
0

20
20

/2
1

20
21

/2
2

20
22

/2
3

20
23

/2
4

20
24

/2
5

20
25

/2
6

20
26

/2
7

20
27

/2
8

20
28

/2
9

20
29

/3
0

20
30

/3
1

20
31

/3
2

20
32

/3
3

Natural change (past) Net migration (past) Natural change (projection) Net migration (projection)

Page 116

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 57 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Age Structure Changes 

3.26 With growth in the population will also come age structure changes. Table 14 summarises the 

findings for key (15-year) age groups under the 2012-based SNPP. The data shows that the largest 

growth will be in people aged 60 and over; it is estimated that there will be 85,200 people aged 60 

and over in 2033 – this is an increase of 27,200 from 2013, representing growth of 54%. The 

population aged 75 and over is projected to increase by an even greater proportion, 83%. Looking 

at the other end of the age spectrum the data shows that there are projected to be around 12% 

more people aged under 15 with smaller increases in other age groups.  

3.27 The two local authorities show similar patterns in terms of age structure changes, although 

generally, Tunbridge Wells is expected to see a greater ageing of the population and lower growth 

in the number of younger people and those of working age. 

Table 14: Population Change 2013 to 2033 by Fifteen Year Age Bands (2012-based SNPP) 

Age group 
Population 

2013 
Population 

2033 
Change in 
population 

% change 
from 2013 

% change 
from 2013 – 
Sevenoaks 

% change 
from 2013 – 
Tun. Wells 

Under 15 43,390 48,735 5,345 12.3% 15.7% 9.0% 

15-29 36,550 37,355 805 2.2% 5.0% -0.4% 

30-44 45,288 48,618 3,330 7.4% 9.3% 5.5% 

45-59 49,494 51,291 1,797 3.6% 2.5% 4.8% 

60-74 37,249 48,480 11,231 30.2% 23.9% 37.4% 

75+ 20,757 36,695 15,938 76.8% 71.0% 83.2% 

Total 232,728 271,173 38,445 16.5% 16.6% 16.4% 

 

 

Sensitivity Analysis: Migration Flows to/ from London  

3.28 The Greater London Authority (GLA) identified as part of their own projections feeding into the 

Further Alterations to the London Plan (FALP) that there had been a marked change in internal 

migration dynamics to- and from- London since the beginning of the recession (2007/8). Overall, the 

GLA identified that out-migration from London to other parts of the UK had dropped by about 10% 

along with a 6% increase in in-migration.  

3.29 As a result of this the GLA developed a series of population and household projections with 

different assumptions about migration. The Central Scenario (used to support the FALP) made the 

assumption that after 2017, migration levels would recover back towards pre-recession levels – the 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 58 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

GLA in effect took a midpoint between pre- and post-recession migration statistics and assumed a 

5% uplift in out-migration and a 3% decrease in in-migration. 

3.30 Whilst the figures above are for the whole of London, it will be the case that different areas will have 

seen different levels of change in London related migration in the pre- and post- recession periods. 

Below we have studied how migration patterns have changed in the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge 

Wells areas. Figure 21 shows that there is some evidence across the area of a reduction in the 

number of people moving from London, as well as a slight increase in the numbers moving to 

London. The net effect is a reduction in net migration from London to the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge 

Wells area. The changes observed are however very modest. 

Figure 21: Migration flows to- and from- London and the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

Area 

 

Source: GLA 

 

3.31 The analysis shows in the 2001-8 period that an average of 4,389 people moved from London to 

the two authorities, in the five year period feeding into the SNPP (2007-12) this average reduced to 

4,342 – a reduction of 47 (1%). The analysis also shows a small increase in the average number of 

people moving to London (increasing by about 1%). The net effect of both of these changes is a 

reduction in net migration from London to the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells area of about 72 

people per annum – this is a 3% reduction on pre-recession trends. 

3.32 The same data for individual local authorities is shown in Table 15. This shows that both areas have 

seen a small decrease in net migration from London. 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

2001/2 2002/3 2003/4 2004/5 2005/6 2006/7 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

From London to Districts To London from Districts Net Flow

Page 118

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 59 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 15: Migration to- and from- London and the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells areas – 

individual local authority analysis 

 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

From 

London to 

district 

To London 

from district 

Net flow From 

London to 

district 

To London 

from district 

Net flow 

2001/2 2,730 1,270 1,460 1,350 700 650 

2002/3 2,870 1,280 1,590 1,310 690 620 

2003/4 2,780 1,180 1,600 1,550 650 900 

2004/5 2,770 1,230 1,540 1,340 790 550 

2005/6 2,930 1,260 1,670 1,510 800 710 

2006/7 3,160 1,380 1,780 1,780 760 1,020 

2007/8 2,940 1,260 1,680 1,700 810 890 

2008/9 2,460 1,190 1,270 1,290 790 500 

2009/10 2,750 1,200 1,550 1,480 800 680 

2010/11 2,822 1,120 1,703 1,600 831 769 

2011/12 2,912 1,263 1,649 1,756 905 851 

2012/13 2,784 1,346 1,438 1,455 883 572 

Pre-2008 average 2,883 1,266 1,617 1,506 743 763 

SNPP average 2,777 1,207 1,570 1,565 827 738 

Difference 106 59 47 -60 -84 25 

Source: GLA 

3.33 On the basis of the information above, we have developed an alternative population projection to 

provide a sensitivity analysis to the SNPP. This projection uses a similar assumption to the GLA 

modelling; i.e. for an adjustment to be made to migration levels post-2017 at a level which is half of 

the difference seen between pre-recession trends and the trends feeding into the SNPP. 

3.34 Table 9 shows overall population growth from this alternative projection. For the whole Sevenoaks 

and Tunbridge Wells area this projection suggests population growth of 16.8% in the 2013-33 

period; this compares with growth of 16.5% in the SNPP. The overall level of population growth is 

39,108, which is about 663 more than the SNPP (38,445) – the projection with a London adjustment 

is therefore about 2% higher than the SNPP. 

 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 60 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 16: Projected population growth (2013-2033) – with London adjustment 

 
Population 

2013 
Population 

2033 
Change in 
population 

% change 

Sevenoaks 117,035 136,934 19,899 17.0% 

Tunbridge Wells 115,693 134,903 19,210 16.6% 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells  232,728 271,836 39,108 16.8% 

Source: Derived from ONS data 

3.35 This scenario, with a London adjustment, is modelled to be consistent with the GLA’s demographic 

projections which underpin the London Plan. It reflects analysis of migration trends, which suggest 

that there has been some (fairly minor) ‘recessionary effect’ which has resulted in a fall in net out-

migration from London to the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells authorities. With improving housing 

market circumstances, GL Hearn consider it a realistic possibility that out-migration could increase 

moving forwards. The sensitivity analysis takes this into account. 

Household Growth 

3.36 Having studied the population size and the age/sex profile of the population, the next step in the 

process is to convert this information into estimates of the number of households in the area. To do 

this the concept of headship rates is used. Headship rates can be described in their most simple 

terms as the number of people who are counted as heads of households (or in this case the more 

widely used Household Reference Person (HRP)). 

3.37 With the publication of new 2012-based CLG household projections, a new set of headship rates is 

now available. These rates are considered to be more positive than the previous set (2011-based) 

and typically suggest higher rates of household growth for a given population. At a national level (in 

the 2012-21 period considered by CLG) the new projections show 10% higher growth in households. 

For Sevenoaks the growth in households on a like-for-like basis to 2021 is 6% higher; with the new 

projections for Tunbridge Wells 3% higher than using the headship rates in the 2011-based Interim 

Household Projections.  

3.38 Table 17 shows expected household growth in the 2012-based projections from 2013 to 2033 for 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells and a range of other areas. The figures for the Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells authorities do not exactly match the CLG projections as we have included 

population data for 2013, all other areas show the data as published. The data suggests an 

increase in households of about 22,100 over the 20-year period – this is a 23% increase; somewhat 

higher than expected in the South East and England but slightly below the average across the 

County. 

  

Page 120

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 61 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 17: Projected Household Growth (2013-2033) 

 
Households 

2013 
Households 

2033 
Change in 

households 
% change 
from 2013 

Sevenoaks 47,951 57,973 10,023 20.9% 

Tunbridge Wells 48,032 60,076 12,044 25.1% 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 95,982 118,050 22,067 23.0% 

Kent 620,272 765,118 144,846 23.4% 

South East 3,631,482 4,386,939 755,457 20.8% 

London 22,499,536 26,797,826 4,298,290 19.1% 

Source: Derived from ONS and CLG data 

3.39 Figure 22 shows household growth back to 1991 and projected forward to 2033. The analysis 

shows that growth in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells has generally been lower than seen in other 

areas although moving forward the rate of change is expected to be generally quite strong, and 

notably stronger than expected nationally. There has been a particular acceleration in the growth 

rate from about 2003. 

Figure 22: Indexed household growth (1991-2033) 

 

Source: Derived from ONS and CLG data 

3.40 Figure 23 shows the same information for individual local authority areas. The data shows strong 

growth is expected in both areas. In the past the number of households has grown more strongly in 

Tunbridge Wells, although this is only apparent from about 2007. Prior to this, both areas only saw 

fairly moderate household growth. 

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

In
de

xe
d 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
gr

ow
th

 (
19

91
=

10
0)

 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

Page 121

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 62 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 23: Indexed Household Growth (1991-2033) 

 

Source: Derived from ONS and CLG data 

 

3.41 To provide an initial assessment of the impact of the 2012-based household projections we can 

make a comparison of average household sizes. Figure 24 shows this based on each of 2012-, 

2011- and 2008-based CLG household projection data. The data is very interesting in comparison 

with other areas where we have carried out a similar analysis. Essentially the data is suggesting a 

notable decline in average household sizes in the future (compared to a fairly flat recent trend), 

however it is noteworthy that the earlier (2011-based) projections were also showing a very similar 

trend. In most areas, the 2011-based Interim Projections show much lower levels of household size 

decline – suggesting that they have built in some degree of suppression of household formation. 

There is no strong evidence that this is the case in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells. 

3.42 Moving forward, the data is notable for showing a similar rate of change in average household sizes 

as was expected in the earlier (2008-based) projections – albeit from a different starting point. This 

would suggest that there is not a significant degree of suppression being built into the latest CLG 

projections – although there is still evidence of some suppression in the 2001-11 decade. 

 

 

 

  

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

In
de

xe
d 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
gr

ow
th

 (
19

91
=

10
0)

 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells

Page 122

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 63 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 24: Past and Projected Trends in Average Household Size – Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: Derived from ONS and CLG data 

3.43 It is also useful to understand how the different CLG projections impact on assumptions for different 

age groups. Figures 25 and 26 show the headship rates used in each of the projections (separately 

for Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells). Overall the 2012-based projections look fairly sound with 

levels and rates of change being not dissimilar to those in the earlier (pre-recession) 2008-based 

projections.  

3.44 What the analysis does show is that household formation amongst those aged 25-34 fell between 

2001-11. The projections show the proportion of households who are a head of household in 

Sevenoaks falling from 39% to 38% over the period to 2033. In Tunbridge Wells, household 

formation is expected to rise from 47% to 48% to 2033. If housing supply was to increase and 

affordability improve, other factors remaining equal, we might expect household formation amongst 

this age cohort to rise in Sevenoaks. We consider this further later in the report.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.15

2.2

2.25

2.3

2.35

2.4

2.45

2.5

2.55

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

2012-based

2011-based

2008-based

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 64 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 25: Projected Household Formation Rates by Age of Head of Household - Sevenoaks  

 
  

15-24 25-34 

  

35-44 45-54 

  55-64 65-74 

  

0

0.05

0.1

0.15

0.2

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.3

0.35

0.4

0.45

0.5

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.45

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.45

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.45

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

0.7

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

Page 124

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 65 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Source: Derived from CLG data 

Figure 26: Projected Household Formation Rates by Age of Head of Household – Tunbridge 

Wells 

 

  

75-84 85 and over 

  

15-24 25-34 

  

35-44 45-54 

  

0.6

0.65

0.7

0.75

0.8

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.7

0.75

0.8

0.85

0.9

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0

0.05

0.1

0.15

0.2

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.35

0.4

0.45

0.5

0.55

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.45

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.45

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65
19

91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 66 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 Source: Derived from CLG data 

 

3.45 Table 18 brings together outputs in terms of household growth and housing need using the 2012-

based headship rates and our core projections linked to the 2012-based SNPP and also with a 

‘London adjustment’. To convert households into dwellings the data includes an uplift to take 

account of vacant homes. Analysis of 2011 Census data about unoccupied household spaces 

provides the following vacancy rate figures which have been used in analysis: 

 Sevenoaks – 2.9% 

 Tunbridge Wells – 4.1% 

 

3.46 The percentage figures are calculated as the number of vacant homes divided by the number of 

occupied properties – this give the vacancy allowance to use as an uplift to household estimates. It 

is assumed that such a level of vacant homes will allow for movement within the housing stock and 

includes an allowance for second homes. 

3.47 The analysis shows an overall housing need for some 516 homes per annum in Sevenoaks; and 

627 homes per annum in Tunbridge Wells. This would be considered the “starting point” for 

considering housing need, following the approach in the PPG.  

55-64 65-74 

  

75-84 85 and over 

  

0.45

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.5

0.55

0.6

0.65

0.7

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.65

0.7

0.75

0.8

0.85

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

0.7

0.75

0.8

0.85

0.9

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

Page 126

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 67 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

3.48 If adjustments are made for higher net migration from London, the need rises by 1.5% in 

Sevenoaks (8 dpa) and by 0.6% (4 dpa) in Tunbridge Wells. We consider that it would be prudent to 

include these adjustments, albeit that the impact is minor, on the basis of the evidence that there is 

some potential for higher net out-migration from London related to improving economic and housing 

market conditions.  

Table 18: Projected household growth 2013-33 – 2012-based SNPP and 2012-based 

headship rates 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2013 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2033 57,973 60,076 118,050 

Change in households 10,023 12,044 22,067 

Per annum 501 602 1,103 

Dwellings (per annum) 516 627 1,142 

 

Table 19: Projected household growth 2013-33 – 2012-based SNPP (London adjusted) and 

2012-based headship rates 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2013 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2033 58,131 60,158 118,289 

Change in households 10,180 12,127 22,306 

Per annum 509 606 1,115 

Dwellings (per annum) 524 631 1,155 

 

3.49 If the headship rates from the previous 2011-based household projections are used (suitably 

indexed beyond 2021 and linked to the 2012-based SNPP) then the level of housing need would be 

1,099 dwellings per annum. Hence the latest CLG projections are suggesting an uplift of 43 homes 

each year – a 4% increase over the 2013-33 period.  

3.50 If the same modelling were undertaken using the 2008-based rates then a slightly higher housing 

need is derived (of 1,225 dwellings per annum) – this is 7% above the level suggested by the 2012-

based figures. However national research has highlighted that the 2008-based Projections over-

Page 127

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 68 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

estimated likely household formation, in part related to higher international migration to the UK and 

the impact of different household structures within new migrant communities
14

.  

3.51  In our experience, the range of outputs from the different headship rate assumptions is very small – 

an 11% difference between 2011- and 2008-based rates; typically we see a difference in excess of 

20%. This generally confirms that none of the past projections are building in any significant 

suppression to household formation rates moving forward. 

 

Alternative Demographic Scenarios 

3.52 Although we consider the 2012-based SNPP to be reasonable demographic projection when taking 

account of past trends in population growth we have also developed two alternative projections. 

These can be summarised as: 

3.53 10-year migration trends – this projection looks at the level of population and household/housing 

growth we might expect if migration levels in the future are the same as seen over the past decade. 

A consideration of longer-term trends is suggested as an alternative scenario in PAS Technical 

Advice Note.  

3.54 UPC adjustment – as noted earlier there is a notable level of Unattributable Population change in 

the ONS data for 2001-11. In this instance UPC is positive, this suggests that the components of 

change feeding into the SNPP could underestimate migration and population growth. The sensitivity 

analysis here assumes that UPC relates entirely to under- or over-estimation of migration, and 

considers the impact which this could have.  

3.55 Tables 20 and 21 show the outputs of the two alternative demographic projections developed.  

3.56 The 10 year linear migration scenario results in a lower housing need in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge 

Wells relative to the SNPP. This projection shows a level of need in Sevenoaks which is 7% below 

that shown in the SNPP; and 11% below it in Tunbridge Wells. It is however a relatively crude 

projection which projects forward average annual net migration. The SNPP is a more advanced 

demographic projection which takes account of how the age structure of the population in the local 

authority is expected to change and how the population in other areas from which people typically 

move to the area is expected to change; and how this may influence the propensity of people to 

migrate. This is a more advanced projection for population growth, which is likely to be more 

realistic than simply projecting forward average net migration figures. The SNPP projects some 

                                                      
14

 Holmans, A. (2013) New Estimates of Housing Need and Demand in England, 2011- 2031  

Page 128

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 69 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

growth in net migration which we would expect to occur given our understanding of dynamics of 

population growth in London and the wider South East.  

3.57 The UPC scenario assumes that UPC can be allocated in full to an over or under-estimate of 

migration. This results in 4% lower housing need in Sevenoaks; but a notably higher housing need 

in Tunbridge Wells. Whilst UPC may relate to migration, it cannot be definitively determined the 

extent to which this is the case, or whether it reflects errors in Census data; or indeed over what 

period during the 2001-11 decade it relates. ONS undertook a consultation on whether adjustments 

should be made to the 2012-based SNPP to take account of UPC. This concluded that it would not 

be appropriate to include adjustments for UPC in the SNPP because:   

 It is unclear what proportion of the UPC is due to sampling error in the 2001 Census, 

adjustments made to MYEs post the 2001 Census, sampling error in the 2011 Census and/or 

error in the intercensal components (mainly migration);  

 If it is due to either 2001 Census or 2011 Census then the components of population change will 

be unaffected; and   

 If it is due to international migration, it is likely that the biggest impacts will be seen earlier in the 

decade and will have less of an impact in the later years, because of improvements introduced 

to migration estimates in the majority of these years. 

3.58 It is not possible to attribute UPC accurately to specific years. ONS has improved its methodology 

for modelling migration, and data collection – including in taking account of Higher Education 

Statistics Agency data regarding student moves. On this basis, migration estimates for the latter 

years over the 2001-11 decade should be better than those in earlier years. Overall, we would 

consider the evidence insufficient to warrant adjustments to the 2012-based SNPP Projections.  

Table 20: Projected household growth 2013-33 – 10-year migration trends and 2012-based 

headship rates 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2013 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2033 57,313 58,787 116,100 

Change in households 9,363 10,755 20,118 

Per annum 468 538 1,006 

Dwellings (per annum) 482 560 1,041 

 

 

  

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 70 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 21: Projected household growth 2013-33 – 2012-based SNPP with UPC adjustment 

and 2012-based headship rates 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2013 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2033 57,596 64,052 121,648 

Change in households 9,645 16,020 25,666 

Per annum 482 801 1,283 

Dwellings (per annum) 496 833 1,330 

 

3.59 Table 22 brings together the various demographic-led scenarios. We would consider that the SNPP 

with an adjustment for migration from London represents the most robust demographic-led 

projection for housing need in each of the authorities.  

Table 22: Comparing the Demographic-led Projections  

Housing Need per Annum, 
2013-33 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

SNPP 516 627 1143 

London-Adjusted Projection 524 631 1155 

10 Year Migration  482 560 1042 

SNPP with UPC Adjustment  496 833 1329 

3.60 The 10 year migration projections are unlikely to be as robust as the SNPP as they don’t take 

account of changes to the age structure over time and the impact this might have on migration 

levels. 

3.61 The UPC scenario is a useful scenario to consider (again it is one suggested in the PAS guidance) 

however we do not consider it to be a robust alternative to the SNPP. The main reasons for this are 

that it is unclear if UPC is related to migration and more importantly, due to changes in the methods 

used by ONS to measure migration it is most probable that any errors are focussed on earlier 

periods (notably 2001-6) and therefore a UPC adjustment for more recent data would not be 

appropriate. 

 

Relationship to Economic Growth  

3.62 Planning Practice Guidance sets out that consideration should be given to future economic 

performance in drawing conclusions on the overall need for housing. Where the evidence suggests 

Page 130

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 71 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

that higher migration might be needed than seen in past trends in order to support economic growth, 

consideration should be given to adjusting the assessed housing need. Specifically the Guidance 

outlines that:  

‘Plan makers should make an assessment of the likely growth in job numbers based on 

past trends and/or economic forecasts as appropriate and also having regard to the 

growth of the working age population’ 

And that: 

‘Where the supply of working age population that is economically active (labour force 

supply) is less than the projected job growth, this could result in unsustainable 

commuting patterns (depending on public transport accessibility or other sustainable 

options such as walking or cycling) and could reduce the resilience of local businesses. 

In such circumstances, plan makers will need to consider how the location of new 

housing or infrastructure development could help address these problems’. 

3.63 Both Councils in due course are intending to prepare Employment Land Studies, which will include 

consideration of economic dynamics and growth potential. This more detailed work considering 

economic growth potential may result in the need to consider adjustments to conclusions on OAN 

or to housing targets. This report, following the approach in the PPG, considers trends and 

forecasts in employment growth.  

3.64 Figure 27 considers past trends over the period since 1991, based on data in the East of England 

Forecasting Model (EEFM). These are estimates of (workplace-based) total employment, based on 

aggregating data from official data sources such as the Business Register and Employment Survey 

(BRES), Annual Population Survey (APS) and ONS Workforce Jobs series.  

Figure 27: Employment Trends, 1991-2013  

 

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

50.0

55.0

60.0

65.0

1
9

9
1

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
5

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
('

0
0
0
s
) 

Sevenoaks

Tunbridge Wells

Page 131

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 72 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Source: EEFM  

3.65 It is evident that total employment in Tunbridge Wells has been relatively stable over the 22 year 

period shown. In Sevenoaks, employment was relatively stable in the 1990s, grew in the early 

2000s, but has been relatively stable over the last 8 years or so.  

3.66 Over the 1993-2010 period (which is equivalent to the last economic cycle), employment in 

Sevenoaks grew by an average of 1.0% per annum. In Tunbridge Wells, employment levels were 

static (0.0% growth).  

3.67 We have used the EEFM to consider economic growth potential in each of the two local authorities. 

Both the 2013 and 2014 model runs have been considered.  

3.68 EEFM is an econometric model which takes account of the structure and composition of local 

economies, their past performance and expected growth potential of different sectors (at national 

and regional levels). Growth potential is influenced by Oxford Economics’ national and regional 

forecasts. The South East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) subscribes to these forecasts.  

3.69 Our understanding is that the model takes account of Sub-National Population Projections in 

modelling demand for consumer-driven sectors (such as retail or education), but its population 

assumptions are constrained to Oxford Economics’ view regarding overall population growth and 

migration at a national and regional level, driven by economic factors.  

3.70 Consideration has been given to the past two EEFM releases (2013 and 2014 baseline). This 

source provides an indication of the expected job growth at a local authority level and Table 23 

shows the increase in the number of jobs expected in 2033 from 2013 levels. 

3.71  The EEFM only runs to 2031 and so an estimate to 2033 has been made on the basis of expected 

growth in the last five years of the forecast (2026-31). The data shows that in the 2013 release, the 

EEFM expected job growth of about 10,600 (9%) and that just one year later the forecast had been 

increased significantly to 18,900 additional jobs (a 17% increase over the 20-year period). 

  

Page 132

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 73 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 23: Change in Number of Jobs (2013-33)  

Area 
Forecast 
date 

Jobs (2013) Jobs (2033) 
Change 

(2013-33) 
% change 

Sevenoaks 2013 57,771 62,927 5,156 8.9% 

2014 53,823 62,703 8,880 16.5% 

Tunbridge Wells 2013 60,255 65,714 5,459 9.1% 

2014 59,580 69,605 10,024 16.8% 

Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells  

2013 118,025 128,641 10,616 9.0% 

2014 113,404 132,308 18,905 16.7% 

Source: East of England Forecasting Model 

3.72 The latest (2014) forecasts shown in Table 24 expect employment growth of 0.8% pa across each 

of the two authorities, which compares to 0.9% pa growth forecast across Kent and 0.7% growth 

across the South East.  

Table 24: EEFM Economic Forecasts, Winter 2014/15  

2013-33 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent 

Employment Growth 

(‘000s) 

8.9 10.0 134.1 

% Annual Growth 0.8% 0.8% 0.9% 

3.73 Figure 28 shows past trends and the expected future change in the number of jobs in Sevenoaks 

and Tunbridge Wells. The data shows a growth in jobs in the past along with some notable year-on-

year variations; the data also shows the much higher forecast level of job growth in the 2014 

release compared with data from the previous year. 

  

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 74 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 28: Past and projected number of jobs – Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: East of England Forecasting Model 

 

3.74 Comparing the growth rates in the latest EEFM model with past growth over the economic cycle, 

the forecasts for Sevenoaks look to be reasonable; however a substantially higher growth is 

forecast in Tunbridge Wells than has been seen historically – raising questions about whether the 

forecasts can be considered to be reasonable.  

3.75 Given competition from higher paid jobs in London, and a lack of specific local drivers which would 

suggest stronger relative performance, we would recommend that the latest EEFM forecasts for 

Tunbridge Wells are therefore treated with some care.  

3.76 In undertaking Employment Land Studies, the Councils should consider further the likely economic 

performance and scale of jobs growth which can be expected.  

Relating Jobs and Labour Force Growth  

3.77 To convert jobs into growth in the labour-force, overall population growth and hence housing need 

is not a simple process and the analysis takes account of: 

 Commuting patterns;  

 Double jobbing (i.e. the number of people with more than one job); and  

 Changes to employment rates (e.g. as a result of reducing unemployment or people working 

longer).  

 

  

100,000

105,000

110,000

115,000

120,000

125,000

130,000

135,000

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

N
um

be
r 

of
 jo

bs
 

2013 EEFM 2014 EEFM

Page 134

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 75 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Commuting patterns 

3.78 Table 25 shows summary data about commuting to and from the study area and individual local 

authorities from the 2011 Census. The data shows that the study area generally sees a notable 

level of out-commuting for work.  

3.79 Out-commuting is highest in Sevenoaks where there are around 20% more people living in the area 

(and working) than work in the area. Tunbridge Wells shows a smaller percentage of net out-

commuting (4%). 

Table 25: Commuting patterns in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells (2011) 

 Sevenoaks 
Tunbridge 

Wells 

Sevenoaks & 
Tunbridge 

Wells 

Live and work in LA 12,767 22,088 34,855 

Home workers 7,846 8,177 16,023 

No fixed workplace 5,331 5,016 10,347 

Out-commute 30,555 22,349 52,904 

In-commute 20,948 20,132 41,080 

Total working in LA 46,892 55,413 102,305 

Total living in LA (and working) 56,499 57,630 114,129 

Commuting ratio 1.20 1.04 1.12 

Source: 2011 Census 

3.80 In translating the commuting pattern data into growth in the labour-force it is assumed that the 

commuting ratio remains at the same level as shown by the 2011 Census. This essentially means 

that there would be expected to be a greater increase in working residents for a given number of 

jobs. This is a “policy off” assumption which takes account of relevant case law
15

.  

3.81 The figures have been applied on a local authority by local authority basis using data as shown in 

Table 25. 

Double jobbing 

3.82 Typically a number of people may have more than one job (double jobbing). This can be calculated 

as the number of people working in each District divided by the number of jobs. Data from the 

Annual Population Survey (available on the NOMIS website) suggests that around 4.1% of workers 

have a second job (data averaged from data for the 2004-14 period to recognise relatively high 

                                                      
15

 Oadby & Wigston BC vs SoSCLG & Bloor Homes Ltd [2015] EWHC 1879 (Admin)  

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 76 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

error margins associated with data for individual years). This gives a double jobbing ratio of 0.959 

(i.e. the number of jobs can be discounted by 4.1% to estimate the required change in the 

workforce).  

3.83 Again data has been used on an individual local authority basis with the double jobbing 

percentages for each area being: 

 Sevenoaks – 4.1% 

 Tunbridge Wells – 4.0% 

3.84 To work out the change in the resident workforce required to match the forecast number of jobs we 

can multiply the commuting ratio by the amount of double jobbing and in turn multiply this by the 

number of jobs – this is shown in Tables 26 and 27.  

3.85 Overall, the EEFM (2014) forecast expects an increase of 18,900 jobs. If commuting patterns and 

levels of double jobbing remain the same then this would require a slightly higher level of growth in 

the resident workforce (of about 20,300 people). For the earlier version of the EEFM, lower growth 

in the workforce is required for the forecast to be met. 

Table 26: Jobs Growth and Change in Resident Workforce (2013-33) – 2013 EEFM 

 
Change in jobs 

(2013 EEFM) 
Adjustment 

factor 

Change in 
resident 

workforce 

Sevenoaks 5,156 1.15 5,955 

Tunbridge Wells 5,459 1.00 5,451 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells  10,616 1.07 11,406 

Source: EEFM, NOMIS and 2011 Census 

 

Table 27: Jobs Growth and Change in Resident Workforce (2013-33) – 2014 EEFM 

 
Change in jobs 

(2014 EEFM) 
Adjustment 

factor 

Change in 
resident 

workforce 

Sevenoaks 8,880 1.15 10,256 

Tunbridge Wells 10,024 1.00 10,009 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 18,905 1.07 20,265 

Source: EEFM, NOMIS and 2011 Census 

 
  

Page 136

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 77 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Changes to Employment Rates 

3.86 As well as studying commuting levels and double jobbing the analysis needs to consider how 

economic participation and employment rates will change in the future. Although the past few years 

have seen an increase in unemployment there have generally been increases in the proportion of 

people who are economically active (particularly for females and people aged over 50). In the future 

we may see a continuation of these trends – particularly in relation to people working longer (partly 

linked to pensionable ages) and have modelled for there to be some increase in employment rates 

as we move through to 2031. 

3.87 Table 28 shows the age/sex specific rates assumed in the analysis. These have been based on 

consideration of the assumptions made by a range of different forecasting houses and also take 

trends shown by 2011 Census data.  

3.88 It should be stressed that these figures reflect what we would consider to be a reasonable set of 

assumptions although there would be a case for alternatives (both in an upwards and downwards 

direction). It should also be noted that the difference in the levels of job growth in the EEFM over 

time may to some extent be affected by assumptions in the EEFM model about employment rate 

changes – as such comparisons between the different data releases should be treated as indicative. 

Table 28: Employment Rates by Age and Sex – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 Sex Year 
Aged 16 to 

24 
Aged 25 to 

34 
Aged 35 to 

49 
Aged 50 to 

64 
Aged 65 
and over 

Sevenoaks Male 2013 57.7% 90.7% 92.5% 79.7% 20.2% 

2033 57.7% 90.9% 93.4% 83.7% 21.5% 

Female 2013 57.0% 79.0% 77.3% 67.0% 11.6% 

2033 57.0% 84.1% 82.2% 75.5% 13.1% 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

Male 2013 55.9% 89.7% 90.6% 80.0% 19.8% 

2033 55.9% 89.9% 91.5% 84.0% 20.9% 

Female 2013 54.6% 80.7% 77.6% 69.0% 12.1% 

2033 54.6% 85.8% 82.5% 77.5% 13.6% 

3.89 Figure 29 shows how the overall employment rate in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells is expected 

to change over time, a past trend analysis from the Annual Population Survey (APS) back to 2004 

has also been shown although some caution should be used in comparing figures given that the 

sources are different. The employment rate is based on the number of people in employment 

divided by the population aged 16 and over.  

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 78 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

3.90 The analysis shows in both areas there is expected to be a small increase in this rate to about 2014 

with a small decline thereafter. The period to 2014 reflects expectations of some improvements 

(particularly around reducing unemployment) with the decline in the rate thereafter being strongly 

linked to the demographic profile of the population (i.e. ageing). 

3.91 The rates shown in Figure 29 are derived from the 2012-based SNPP and it should be noted that 

these change very slightly with different assumptions about population growth. 

Figure 29: Past and projected Change in Employment Rate – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge 

Wells (2004-2031) 

 

Source: Derived from Annual Population Survey, Labour Force Survey, Experian forecasts and demographic projections 

3.92 The outputs from the EEFM-based projections are shown below.  

Table 29: Projected Household Growth 2013-33 – EEFM (2013) and 2012-based headship 

rates 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2013 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2033 56,339 57,982 114,321 

Change in households 8,389 9,950 18,339 

Per annum 419 498 917 

Dwellings (per annum) 432 518 949 

 

50%

52%

54%

56%

58%

60%

62%

64%

66%

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t r
at

e 
(p

op
ul

at
io

n 
ag

ed
 1

6+
) 

Sevenoaks - trend Tunbridge Wells - trend

Sevenoaks - projected Tunbridge Wells - projected

Page 138

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 79 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 30: Projected Household Growth 2013-33 – EEFM (2014) and 2012-based headship 

rates 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2013 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2033 59,164 61,102 120,267 

Change in households 11,214 13,071 24,284 

Per annum 561 654 1,214 

Dwellings (per annum) 577 680 1,257 

 

3.93 For both local authorities, the 2013 EEFM forecasts can be accommodated with the housing 

provision projected in the SNPP. There is thus no need to adjust the assessed housing need to take 

account of these forecasts.  

3.94 The 2014 forecasts show stronger employment growth. To support the scale of employment growth 

forecast would require 12% higher housing provision relative to the SNPP in Sevenoaks (577 

homes pa, 2013-33) and 8% higher housing provision than in the SNPP in Tunbridge Wells (680 

homes pa, 2013-33).  

3.95 GL Hearn considers that the evidence would support an adjustment to housing provision to 

reflect the stronger economic growth potential in Sevenoaks, taking account of the latest 

forecast and past trends.  

3.96 However in Tunbridge Wells, there is no substantive evidence to suggest that the economy 

will generate much stronger employment growth than seen historically – where employment 

numbers have been broadly static. There is not conclusive evidence to suggest that a higher 

housing need will arise.  

3.97 The assessment of economic growth potential in this report should be treated as “provisional.” GL 

Hearn would recommend that the Councils review the assessment of economic growth potential 

further through preparation of Economic/ Employment Land Studies, and if appropriate consider 

updating the assessment of housing need (OAN) herein.  

  

Page 139

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 80 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Summary and Implications – Demographic & Economic-led Projections  

3.98 Official (2012-based) trend-based population projections indicate that Sevenoaks population can be 

expected to grow by 16.3% between 2013-33; with 16.4% growth expected in Tunbridge Wells’ 

population. However the evidence suggests that as the economy recovers from recession, it would 

be reasonable to expect slightly higher net out-migration from London – increasing population 

growth between 2013-33 to 17.0% in Sevenoaks and 16.6% in Tunbridge Wells. Taking account of 

age-specific headship rates, and including an allowance for vacant and second homes, this results 

in a need for 524 homes per year in Sevenoaks Borough; and 631 in Tunbridge Wells District. This 

represents the “starting point” for considering housing provision, following the approach in Planning 

Practice Guidance.  

3.99 Consideration is then given to economic performance, and whether taking account of age structure 

changes, employment growth may lead to an increase in net migration relative to past trends.  

3.100 Employment in Tunbridge Wells has been relatively static, and there is no clear evidence that 

economic performance would drive higher housing need moving forwards. The Council will consider 

this issue further in preparing Employment Land Studies.  

3.101 For Sevenoaks, economic trends and forecasts suggest that 0.8% employment growth per annum 

can be expected. This is equivalent to a growth in employment of 8,900 between 2013-33. This 

would result in housing need for 577 homes per annum.     

Page 140

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 81 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

4 AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED  

4.1 In this section we discuss levels of affordable housing need in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells. 

The analysis is intended to assess need arising from “those households who lack their own housing 

or live in unsuitable housing and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market” as 

the Planning Practice Guidance sets out.  Such households will be eligible for affordable housing. 

Affordable housing is defined as:  

Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible 

households whose needs are not met by the market. Eligibility is determined with regard 

to local incomes and local house prices. Affordable housing should include provisions to 

remain at an affordable price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be 

recycled for alternative affordable housing provision. 

4.2 The Practice Guidance sets out a standard approach for assessing affordable housing need - 

consistent with the methodology advocated in the 2007 SHMA Guidance - which we adopt for this 

study. This is known as the Basic Needs Assessment Model.  

4.3 The analysis is based on secondary data sources. It draws on a number of sources of information 

including 2011 Census data, demographic projections, house prices/rents and income information. 

Key definitions used are outlined in Appendix A.  

4.4 The housing needs model is based largely on housing market conditions (and particularly the 

relationship of housing costs and incomes) at a particular point in time – the time of the assessment 

– as well as the existing supply of affordable housing which can be used to meet housing need. The 

base date for analysis (e.g. data about housing costs and incomes) is 2014.  

Housing Affordability  

4.5 In preparing this report we have undertaken a survey of housing costs for different sizes of 

properties by tenure category. This is presented in Appendix B.  

4.6 Figure 30 estimates how current prices and rents in the two local authorities might equate to income 

levels required to afford such housing. The figures are based on the figures derived in the analysis 

above and include four different tenures (buying, private rent, affordable rent and social rent) and 

are taken as the lower quartile price/rent across the whole stock of housing available (i.e. including 

all property sizes).  

4.7 For illustrative purposes the calculations are based on 3.5 times household income for house 

purchase and 30% of income to be spent on housing for rented properties. The figures for house 

purchase are based on a 100% mortgage for the purposes of comparing the different types of 

housing. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 82 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 30: Indicative income required to purchase/rent without additional subsidy 

Sevenoaks 

 

Tunbridge 
Wells 

 

Source: Land Registry, VOA and CoRe 

4.8 Data about gross household income has been modelled on the basis of a number of different 

sources of information to provide both an overall average income and the likely distribution of 

incomes in each area. The key sources of data include: 

 CACI from Wealth of the Nation 2012 – to provide an overall national average income figure for 

benchmarking;  

 English Housing Survey (EHS) – to provide information about the distribution of incomes (taking 

account of variation by tenure in particular);  

 Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) – to assist in looking at how incomes have 

changed from 2012 to 2014 (a 2.0% increase was identified from this source for the South East 

region); and  

 ONS modelled income estimates – to assist in providing more localised income estimates (i.e. 

for each of the local authority areas).  

4.9 Drawing all of this data together we have therefore been able to construct an income distribution for 

each authority in 2014. The data shows that around a quarter (24%) of households have an income 

£66,400 

£34,000 
£27,200 

£16,700 

£0

£10,000

£20,000

£30,000

£40,000

£50,000

£60,000

£70,000

£80,000

Lower quartile
purchase price

Lower quartile
private rent

Affordable rent Lower quartile
social rent

In
co

m
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

£58,600 

£27,000 
£21,600 

£15,900 

£0

£10,000

£20,000

£30,000

£40,000

£50,000

£60,000

£70,000

£80,000

Lower quartile
purchase price

Lower quartile
private rent

Affordable rent Lower quartile
social rent

In
co

m
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

Page 142

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 83 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

below £20,000 with a further third in the range of £20,000 to £40,000. The overall average (median) 

income of all households in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells is estimated to be around £35,400 

with a mean income of £46,600.  

Figure 31: Distribution of Household Income in Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: Derived from ASHE, EHS, CACI and ONS data 

4.10 Table 31 shows how income levels vary for each of the two local authorities. Incomes were found to 

be slightly higher in Sevenoaks than Tunbridge Wells. 

Table 31: Income levels by local authority 

 Mean income Median income 

Sevenoaks £47,689 £36,272 

Tunbridge Wells £45,550 £34,644 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells  £46,619 £35,444 

Source: Derived from ASHE, EHS, CACI and ONS data 

4.11 To assess affordability we have brought together the information on housing costs and incomes. 

We have looked at households ability to afford either home ownership or private rented housing 

(whichever is the cheapest), without financial support. The distribution of household incomes is then 

used to estimate the likely proportion of households who are unable to afford to meet their needs in 

the private sector without support, on the basis of existing incomes. This analysis brings together 

the data on household incomes with the estimated incomes required to access private sector 

housing.  

2.0% 

21.9% 

18.0% 

14.3% 

10.4% 

8.8% 
9.9% 

4.9% 

9.7% 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Under 10k £10k to
£20k

£20k to
£30k

£30k to
£40k

£40k to
£50k

£50k to
£60k

£60k to
£80k

£80k to
£100k

Over £100k

P
ro

po
rt

io
n 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 g
ro

up
 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 84 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

4.12 Different affordability tests are applied to different parts of the analysis depending on the group 

being studied (e.g. recognising that newly forming households are likely on average to have lower 

incomes than existing households). Assumptions about income levels are discussed for relevant 

analyses where relevant in the analysis that follows. 

 

Affordable Housing Needs Assessment 

4.13 Affordable housing need has been assessed using the Basic Needs Assessment Model, in 

accordance with the CLG Practice Guidance. This model is summarised in the chart below.  

Figure 32: Overview of the Basic Needs Assessment Model  

 

4.14 The figures presented in this report for affordable housing needs have been based on secondary 

data sources including analysis of 2011 Census data. The modelling undertaken provides an 

assessment of affordable housing need for a 20-year period (which is then annualised). Each of the 

stages of the affordable housing needs model calculation are discussed in more detail below. 

Current Affordable Housing Need 

4.15 In line with Planning Practice Guidance, the current need for affordable housing has been based on 

estimating the number of households living in unsuitable housing along with consideration of their 

current tenure and affordability.  

4.16 Estimates of households living in unsuitable housing have been derived from the number of 

households shown to be overcrowded in the 2011 Census (updated to a 2013 base) along with an 

estimate of other needs which have been modelled by comparing the tenure profile in each area 

with information regarding housing need by tenure. Much of these additional needs are found in the 

private rented sector and relate to issues around security of tenure and housing costs. 

Future Housing Need  
 

Estimate of Newly-Forming 
Households in Need & Existing 
Households falling into Need 

over plan period 

Affordable Housing 
Supply 

 
Estimate of Supply of Affordable 
Housing from Relets of Existing 

Properties over plan period  

Affordable Housing 
Supply 

 
Supply of Affordable Housing 

from Vacant Stock & 
Development Pipeline 

Current Housing Need 
(Gross) 

 
Current Households in Housing 

Need based on Census and 
other modelled data  

Total Net 
Current 
Need 

 
 
 

Net 
Housing 

Need 
Arising 

Total Net Current Need 
Over plan period 

Page 144

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 85 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

4.17 The analysis suggests some 3,019 overcrowded households (using the bedroom standard) along 

with an estimated 2,309 households with other needs. In total it is therefore estimated that around 

5,329 households are currently living in unsuitable accommodation – this represents 5.6% of the 

estimated number of households in the study-area in 2013. 

4.18 In taking this estimate forward, the data modelling estimates housing unsuitability by tenure. From 

the overall number in unsuitable housing (5,329) households living in affordable housing are 

excluded (as these households would release a dwelling on moving and so no net need for 

affordable housing will arise). The analysis also excludes all outright owners under the assumption 

(which is supported by analysis of survey data) that they will have sufficient equity to move and 

90% of owners with a mortgage. Again analysis of a range of recent surveys indicates that the vast 

majority of owners with a mortgage are able to afford housing once savings and equity are taken 

into account. A final adjustment (which only has a very modest impact) is to slightly reduce the 

unsuitability figures to take account of student-only households – such households could technically 

be overcrowded but would be unlikely to be considered as being in affordable housing need. 

4.19 At the time of the assessment there were an estimated 2,379 households living in unsuitable 

housing (excluding current social tenants and the majority of owner-occupiers) – this represents 

2.5% of all households in the study area. This data is shown in Table 32 which shows a particularly 

high level of unsuitability in Tunbridge Wells relative to Sevenoaks – this looks to be driven by both 

a higher level of overcrowding and also a larger private rented sector. 

Table 32: Estimated number of households in unsuitable housing 

Area 
In unsuitable 

housing 
Total number of 

households 
% in unsuitable 

housing 

Sevenoaks 864 47,951 1.8% 

Tunbridge Wells 1,514 48,032 3.2% 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells  2,379 95,982 2.5% 

Source: Census (2011) and data modelling 

4.20 Our estimated level of current need is therefore 2,379. We can however additionally consider that a 

number of these households might be able to afford market housing without the need for subsidy. 

For an affordability test we have used the income data and adjusted the distribution to reflect a 

lower average income amongst households living in unsuitable housing – for the purposes of the 

modelling an income estimate of 69% of the figure for all households has been used. Overall, 

around three-fifths of households with a current need are estimated to be likely to have insufficient 

income to afford market housing and so our estimate of the total current need is reduced to 1,412 

households. 

  

Page 145

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 86 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 33: Estimated Current Need  

Area 
In unsuitable 

housing 
% Unable to 

Afford 

Revised Gross 
Need (including 

Affordability) 

Sevenoaks 864 64.8% 560 

Tunbridge Wells 1,514 56.3% 852 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 2,379 59.3% 1,412 

Source: Census (2011), data modelling and income analysis 

4.21 The PPG also suggests that the housing register can be used to estimate levels of affordable 

housing need. Our experience working across the Country is that housing registers can be highly 

variable in the way allocation policies and pointing systems work. This means that in many areas it 

is difficult to have confidence that the register is able to define an underlying need. Many housing 

registers include households who might not have a need whilst there will be households in need 

who do not register (possibly due to being aware that they have little chance of being housed). For 

these reasons, the method linked to Census and other modelled data is preferred.  

Newly-Arising Need 

4.22 To estimate newly-arising (projected future) need we have looked at two key groups of households 

based on the CLGs SHMA Guidance. These are: 

 Newly forming households; and  

 Existing households falling into need. 

 

Newly Forming Households 

4.23 The number of newly-forming households has been estimated through the demographic modelling 

with an affordability test also being applied. This has been undertaken by considering the changes 

in households in specific 5-year age bands relative to numbers in the age band below 5 years 

previously to provide an estimate of gross household formation. This differs from numbers 

presented in the demographic projections which are for net household growth. The number of 

newly-forming households is limited to households forming who are aged under 45 – this is 

consistent with CLG guidance (from 2007) which notes after age 45 that headship (household 

formation) rates ‘plateau’. There may be a small number of household formations beyond age 45 

(e.g. due to relationship breakdown) although the number is expected to be fairly small when 

compared with formation of younger households. 

4.24 The estimates of gross new household formation have been based on outputs from our core 

demographic projection. In looking at the likely affordability of newly-forming households we have 

drawn on data from previous surveys. This establishes that the average income of newly-forming 

Page 146

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 87 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

households is around 84% of the figure for all households. This figure is remarkably consistent 

across areas (and is also consistent with analysis of English Housing Survey data at a national 

level). 

4.25 We have therefore adjusted the overall household income data to reflect the lower average income 

for newly-forming households. The adjustments have been made by changing the distribution of 

income by bands such that average income level is 84% of the all household average. In doing this 

we are able to calculate the proportion of households unable to afford market housing without any 

form of subsidy (such as Local Housing Allowance or Housing Benefit). Our assessment suggests 

that overall around half of newly-forming households will be unable to afford market housing and 

that a total of 989 new households will have a need on average in each year to 2033. 

Table 34: Estimated Level of Affordable Housing Need from Newly Forming Households 

(per annum) 

Area 
Number of new 

households 
% unable to 

afford 
Total in need 

Sevenoaks 940 55.7% 523 

Tunbridge Wells 1,008 46.3% 466 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 1,948 50.8% 989 

Source: Projection Modelling/Income analysis 

Existing Households falling into Affordable Housing Need  

4.26 The second element of newly arising need is existing households falling into need. To assess this 

we have used information from CoRe
16

. We have looked at households who have been housed 

over the past two years – this group will represent the flow of households onto the Housing Register 

over this period. From this we have discounted any newly forming households (e.g. those currently 

living with family) as well as households who have transferred from another social rented property. 

An affordability test has also been applied, although relatively few households are estimated to 

have sufficient income to afford market housing. 

4.27 This method for assessing existing households falling into need is consistent with the 2007 SHMA 

guide which says on page 46 that ‘Partnerships should estimate the number of existing households 

falling into need each year by looking at recent trends. This should include households who have 

entered the housing register and been housed within the year as well as households housed 

outside of the register (such as priority homeless households applicants)’. Households who fall into 

need and are not housed are counted as having a current housing need.  

                                                      
16

 The Continuous Recording of lettings and sales in social housing in England (referred to as CoRe) is a national information source 

that records information on the characteristics of both private registered providers and local authority new social housing tenants and 
the homes they rent.  

Page 147

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 88 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

4.28 Following the analysis through suggests a need arising from 323 existing households each year 

(with very similar estimates in each of the two local authorities) – this is about 0.3% of all 

households living in the study area (in 2013). 

Table 35: Estimated level of Housing Need from Existing Households (per annum) 

Area 
Number of Existing 

Households falling into 
Need 

% of Need 

Sevenoaks 160 49.5% 

Tunbridge Wells 163 50.5% 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells 323 100.0% 

Source: CoRe/affordability analysis 

 

Supply of Affordable Housing 

Current Affordable Housing Supply  

4.29 The PPG sets out that assessments should identify the current supply of housing that can be used 

to accommodate households in affordable housing need as well as future supply. Potential sources 

of supply include affordable homes that are going to be vacated by current occupiers that are fit for 

use by other households, surplus vacant properties, and the committed supply of new affordable 

units. Any properties due to be “taken out of management” are expected to be deducted from these 

figures to identify the total affordable housing stock available.  

4.30 The assessment herein excludes homes to be vacated by current occupiers in both the need and 

supply calculations (as these will in any case cancel each other out).  

4.31 The supply from other categories is shown below, based on data from the two Councils.  

Table 36: Current Affordable Housing Supply  

 
Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

Sevenoaks & 
Tunbridge Wells 

Surplus Vacant Properties 0 0 0 

Committed Affordable Supply  232 350 582 

Units to be taken Out of Management 0 -96 -96 

Total Stock Available 232 254 486 

 

 

  

Page 148

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 89 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Future Supply of Affordable Housing  

4.32 The future supply of affordable housing is the flow of affordable housing arising from the existing 

stock that is available to meet future need. It is split between the annual supply of social/affordable 

rent relets and the annual supply of relets/sales within the intermediate sector. 

4.33 The PPG suggests that the estimate of likely future relets from the social rented stock should be 

based on past trend data which can be taken as a prediction for the future. We have used 

information from the Continuous Recording system (CoRe) to establish past patterns of social 

housing turnover. Our figures include general needs and supported lettings but exclude lettings of 

new properties plus an estimate of the number of transfers from other social rented homes. These 

exclusions are made to ensure that the figures presented reflect relets from the existing stock. 

Additionally an estimate of the number of ‘temporary’ supported lettings have been removed from 

the figures (the proportion shown in CoRe as being lettings in direct access hostels or foyer 

schemes (of which there were relatively few in the study area)). 

4.34 On the basis of past trend data it has been estimated that 571 units of social/affordable rented 

housing are likely to become available each year moving forward, with a higher proportion of these 

being in Tunbridge Wells.  

Table 37: Analysis of past social/affordable rented housing supply (per annum – past 2 

years) 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Total lettings 429 583 1,012 

% as non-newbuild 91.3% 90.9% 91.1% 

Lettings in existing stock 392 530 922 

% non-transfers 65.8% 65.6% 65.7% 

Sub-total 258 348 605 

% non-temporary housing 100.0% 90.1% 94.3% 

Total lettings to new tenants 258 313 571 

Source: CoRe 

4.35 The supply figure is for social/affordable rented housing only and whilst the stock of intermediate 

housing in Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells is not significant compared to the social/affordable rented 

stock it is likely that some housing does become available each year (e.g. resales of shared 

ownership). For the purposes of this assessment we have again utilised CoRe data about the 

number of sales of homes that were not newbuild. From this it is estimated that around 26 

Page 149

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 90 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

additional properties might become available per annum. The total supply of affordable housing is 

therefore estimated to be 597 per annum. 

Table 38: Supply of Affordable Housing  

Area 
Social/affordable 
rented relets 

Intermediate 
housing ‘relets’ 

Total supply (per 
annum) 

Sevenoaks 258 20 278 

Tunbridge Wells 313 6 319 

7oaks & TW 571 26 597 

Source: CoRe 

 

Net Affordable Housing Need  

4.36 Table 39 shows our overall calculation of annual affordable housing need using the approach 

suggested in the PPG. The analysis shows a net annual need from 422 households in Sevenoaks, 

and 341 households in Tunbridge Wells, who require financial support to meet their housing needs.  

Table 39: Estimated level of Affordable Housing Need per Annum 

    Sevenoaks 
Tunbridge 

Wells 

Sevenoaks 

& 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

A Current Gross Affordable Need 560 852 1,412 

B Committed Supply of Affordable Housing 232 254 486 

C Total Net Current Affordable Need 328 598 926 

D Total Net Need per Annum to 2033 (C / 19) 17 31 49 

       

E Annual Need from Newly-Forming Households 523 466 989 

F Annual Need from Existing Households Falling into Need 160 163 323 

G Total Annual Gross Newly-Arising Need (E + F) 683 629 1,312 

       

H Annual Supply from Relets of Social & Affordable Rented Homes 258 313 571 

I Annual Supply from Relets of Intermediate Housing 20 6 26 

J Total Future Annual Supply from Re-Lets (H + I) 278 319 597 

       

K Annual Net Need for Affordable Housing (D + G - J) 422 341 764 

 

Sensitivity to Income Thresholds 

4.37 A 30% rent to income threshold for affordability has been used in the main modelling. It is however 

worthwhile considering the implications of alternative thresholds. To understand the implications of 

the income threshold, a sensitivity test has been undertaken which assumes variant levels of 

Page 150

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 91 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

income spent on housing costs. Table 40 summarises the findings. In particular, it can be seen with 

an assumption of households spending 40% of gross income on housing costs that the need falls to 

459 households per annum (down from 787 using a 30% threshold). The analysis in this table 

excludes committed supply of affordable housing.  

Table 40: Estimated level of Affordable Housing Need (per annum) at Variant Income 

Thresholds 

 @ 25% @ 30% @ 35% @ 40% 

Current Need 81 71 62 54 

Newly forming households 1,162 989 844 725 

Existing households falling 

into need 

343 323 301 277 

Total Need 1,586 1,383 1,206 1,056 

Supply 597 597 597 597 

Net Need 990 787 609 459 

Sevenoaks 524 434 347 275 

Tunbridge Wells 465 353 262 184 

Source: 2011 Census/CoRe/Projection Modelling and affordability analysis 

 

Relating Affordable Need and OAN  

4.38 The analysis above indicates a significant need for affordable housing. Using a baseline 

demographic need (for all tenures) linked to the 2012-based SNPP and household projections (a 

need for 516 dpa in Sevenoaks and 627 dpa in Tunbridge Wells), the affordable housing need 

would represent 82% of the need shown in the demographic projections in Sevenoaks; and 54% of 

the need in Tunbridge Wells.  

4.39 The PPG sets out that:  

“the total affordable housing need should then be considered in the context of its likely 

delivery as a proportion of mixed market and affordable housing developments, given the 

probable percentage of affordable housing to be delivered by market housing led 

developments. An increase in the total housing figures included in the local plan should be 

considered where it could help deliver the required number of affordable homes.”  

4.40 Sevenoaks Core Strategy seeks provision of 40% affordable housing on sites of over 15 dwellings, 

and a sliding scale of contributions on smaller sites depending on size. Tunbridge Wells Core 

Strategy seeks 35% affordable housing provision on sites of 10 or more dwellings. On this basis, it 

Page 151

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 92 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

would be reasonable to assume that 35% affordable housing could be delivered on market-led 

housing schemes in each local authority on the basis of assuming policy compliance.  

4.41 Assuming the target is delivered, the following levels of overall housing provision would be needed 

in theory if the affordable housing need was delivered just through mixed-tenure development 

schemes:  

Table 41: Comparing the Affordable Housing Need and Demographic Projections  

Need per Annum, 
2013-33 

Affordable 
Need 

Est. Delivery 

Provision 
needed to 
support 

delivery of full 
Affordable 

Housing Need 

Uplift on SNPP 

Sevenoaks 422 35% 1206 134% 

Tunbridge Wells 341 35% 976 56% 

Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

764  2182 91% 

4.42 This theoretical exercise indicates that housing provision of nearly more than double that projected 

in the SNPP would be needed to deliver the full affordable housing need. GL Hearn would consider 

that this is neither feasible, in respect of the market and industry capacity to deliver this scale of 

housing provision, nor necessary. In particular, the affordable housing needs model does not 

suggest that there are this many additional households who require accommodation.  

4.43 In particular it is important to understand the basis of the affordable housing needs model. As the 

Planning Practice Guidance sets out, the calculation of affordable need involves “adding together 

the current unmet housing need and the projected future housing need and then subtracting this 

from the current supply of affordable stock.” The affordable housing need does therefore not 

represent an assessment of what proportion of “additional households” might require affordable 

housing. Instead the model considers: 

 What need can be expected to arise from both existing and newly-forming households who 

require financial support to access suitable housing;  

 This is then compared with the projected supply of affordable housing expected to arise from the 

turnover of existing stock, and affordable housing in the development pipeline.  

4.44 The modelling is influenced by the available stock, which has been influenced by past funding and 

investment decisions. The projected supply of affordable housing would for instance be greater 

(and the identified affordable housing need lower) if greater public resources had been devoted to 

delivering affordable housing and more had been built over the last decade, or no properties lost 

through right-to-buy sales.  

Page 152

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 93 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

4.45 The model also looks at needs arising from both new households and existing households. Part of 

the needs included are from households who might require an additional home,  such as:  

 Newly-forming households;  

 Those in temporary accommodation;  

 Concealed households; and   

 Homeless households.  

4.46 But the figures also include needs arising from households who will require a different form of home, 

but who – by moving to another property – would release an existing property for another 

household. These households do not generate a need for more dwellings overall. They include 

households who need to move as they are:  

 Overcrowded;  

 Coming to the end of a tenancy;  

 Living in unsuitable housing; or  

 Cannot afford to remain in their current home.  

4.47 These elements of the affordable housing need are not directly relevant to considering overall 

housing need and housing targets (which are typically measured in terms of net dwellings).  On this 

basis the annual delivery to meet full need in Table 41 will over-estimate the scale of overall need 

for market and affordable housing.  

4.48 A need for net additions to the overall housing stock could arise from newly-forming households, 

concealed households and homeless households/ those in temporary accommodation. The need 

arising from newly-forming households is calculated from the demographic projections. Any 

additional need (over and above the demographic projections) would thus potentially come from 

concealed and homeless households – although these cannot simply be “added on” to the 

demographically-assessed need, as for instance modelled improvements in the projections in 

household formation rates would reduce levels of concealed households. To address the needs 

from concealed and homeless households, it may however be appropriate to consider adjustments 

to household formation rates – particularly for younger households. We consider these issues 

further in the next section.   

4.49 We would also point out that delivery of affordable housing through market-led development 

schemes (for instance as secured through Section 106 Agreements) shouldn’t be considered in 

isolation from other mechanisms for increasing affordable housing supply. There are a range of 

other mechanisms which deliver affordable housing, including:  

 Schemes brought forward by Registered Providers – including those funded through the HCA’s 

Affordable Housing Programme;  

 Building Council Homes – following reform of the HRA funding system, Councils can bring 

forward affordable housing themselves;  

Page 153

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 94 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 Empty Homes Programmes – where local authorities can bring properties back into use as 

affordable housing;  

 Rural Exception Site Development – where the emphasis is on delivering affordable housing to 

meet local needs.  

4.50 Funding for specialist forms of affordable housing, such as extra care provision, may also be 

available from other sources; whilst other niche agents, such as Community Land Trusts, may 

deliver new affordable housing. Government in December 2014 also announced a Starter Homes 

Initiative providing support for first-time buyers to get onto the housing market. Councils are also 

able to bring empty properties back into use as affordable housing, and Government funding is 

available to support this.  

 

Need for Different Types of Affordable Housing 

4.51 Having studied housing costs, incomes and affordable housing need the next step is to make an 

estimate of the proportion of affordable housing need that should be met through provision of 

different housing products. We therefore use the income information presented earlier in this 

section to estimate the proportion of households who are likely to be able to afford intermediate 

housing and the number for whom only social or affordable rented housing will be affordable. There 

are three main types of affordable housing that can be studied in this analysis: 

 Intermediate 

 Affordable rent 

 Social rent 

4.52 Whilst the process of separating households into different income bands for analytical purposes is 

quite straightforward, this does not necessarily tell us what sort of affordable housing they might be 

able to afford or occupy.  

4.53 For example a household with an income close to being able to afford market housing might be 

able to afford intermediate or affordable rent but may be prevented from accessing certain 

intermediate products (such as shared ownership) as they have insufficient savings to cover a 

deposit. Such a household might therefore be allocated to affordable rented or intermediate rented 

housing as the most suitable solution. However we would expect that few Registered Providers 

would build intermediate rented homes, given that the level of potential occupants for affordable 

rented homes is greater (as it includes households who could claim housing benefit to supplement 

their incomes).  

4.54 The distinction between social and affordable rented housing is also complex. Whilst rents for 

affordable rented housing would be expected to be higher than social rents, this does not 

necessarily mean that such a product would be reserved for households with a higher income. In 

Page 154

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 95 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

reality, as long as the rent to be paid falls at or below LHA limits then it will be accessible to a range 

of households (many of whom will need to claim housing benefit). Local authorities’ tenancy 

strategies might set policies regarding the types of households which might be allocated affordable 

rented homes; and many authorities will seek to avoid where possible households having to claim 

higher levels of housing benefit. This however needs to be set against other factors, including 

viability and the availability of grant funding. Over the current spending period to 2015 grant funding 

is primarily available to support delivery of affordable rented homes. A significant level of affordable 

housing delivery is however through developer contributions (Section 106 Agreements). 

4.55 For these reasons it is difficult to exactly pin down what proportion of additional affordable homes 

should be provided through different affordable tenure categories. In effect there is a degree of 

overlap between different affordable housing tenures, as the figure below shows.  

Figure 33: Overlap between Affordable Housing Tenures 

 

 

 

 

4.56 Given this overlap, for analytical purposes we have defined the following categories:  

 Households who can afford 80% or more of market rent levels;  

 Households who would potentially be able to afford more than existing social rent levels but 

could not afford 80% of market rents; 

 Households who can afford no more than existing social rent levels (or would require housing 

benefit, or an increased level of housing benefit to do so). 

4.57 The first of these categories would include equity-based intermediate products such as shared 

ownership and shared equity homes. The latter two categories are both rented housing and in 

reality can be considered together (both likely to be provided by Registered Providers (or the 

Page 155

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 96 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Council) with some degree of subsidy). Additionally, both affordable rented and social rented 

housing is likely to be targeted at the same group of households; many of whom will be claiming 

Housing Benefit. For this reason the last two categories are considered together for the purposes of 

drawing conclusions. 

4.58 Detailed information on households’ savings is not available. It has therefore been assumed that all 

households with an income which would allow them to afford 80% or more of market rents would 

represent the potential market for intermediate products such as shared ownership and shared 

equity homes – in reality a number of these households might only be able to afford some sort of 

rental product. Housing supply information is derived from CoRe lettings data. The profile of need 

shown differs slightly from that in Table 39 as the analysis excludes the committed supply of 

affordable housing, as data on the tenure mix of properties expected is not consistently available.  

4.59 Taking the gross numbers for affordable housing need and comparing this against the supply from 

relets of existing stock, the following net need arises within the different categories. Overall the 

analysis suggests around 30% of housing could be intermediate with the remaining 70% being 

either social or affordable rented – Tunbridge Wells shows a potentially higher ‘need’ for 

intermediate products.  

Table 42: Estimated level of Affordable Housing Need (per annum) by type of affordable 

housing, 2013-33  

 
Intermediate Social/Affordable Rented 

Total need Supply Net need Total need Supply Net need 

Sevenoaks 125 20 105 586 258 329 

Tunbridge Wells 132 6 126 540 313 227 

Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

257 26 231 1,126 571 556 

% of total 29% 71% 

Source: Affordable Housing Needs Analysis 

4.60 In determining policies for affordable housing provision on individual sites, the analysis in Table 35 

should be brought together with other local evidence such as from the Housing Register. 

Consideration could also be given to areas with high concentrations of social rented housing where 

additional intermediate housing might be desirable to improve the housing mix and to create 

‘housing pathways’. 

  

Page 156

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 97 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

5 MARKET SIGNALS 

5.1 In line with the Planning Practice Guidance, we have sought to analyse in detail the housing market 

dynamics. This section, initially reviews housing market dynamics including national and macro-

economic drivers. This is then developed at a HMA and district level with quantitative analysis of 

local prices, sales volumes and affordability.  

 

Overview of the Housing Market and Economy 
 

Conceptual Framework  

5.2 It is important to understand that the housing market is influenced by macro-economic factors, as 

well as the housing market conditions at a regional and local level. There are a number of key 

influences on housing demand, which are set out in the diagram below: 

Figure 34: Understanding Housing Demand Drivers 

 

Source: GLH 

5.3 At the macro-level, the market is particularly influenced by interest rates and mortgage availability, 

as well as market sentiment (which is influenced by economic performance and prospects at the 

macro-level). In the recent recessionary period, these macro conditions have been particularly 

prominent in driving the housing market. 

5.4 The market is also influenced by the economy at both regional and local levels, recognising that 

economic employment trends will influence migration patterns (as people move to and from areas 

Demand 
Influences 

Existing 
Stock & 
Market 

Quality of 
Place 

Employment 
& Earnings 

Access to 
Finance 

Demographic 
Changes 

Accessibility 
to 

Employment 
Centres 

Page 157

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 98 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

to access jobs) and that the nature of employment growth and labour demand will influence 

changes in earnings and wealth (which influences affordability).  

5.5 Housing demand over the longer-term is particularly influenced by population and economic trends: 

changes in the size and structure of the population directly influence housing need and demand, 

and the nature of demand for different housing products.  

5.6 There are then a number of factors which play out at a more local level, within a functional housing 

market and influence demand in different locations. The importance of these local factors is 

perhaps more pronounced in stable or healthy economic times, when mortgage availability and 

market liquidity are far less of a constraint on activity. Local factors include:  

 quality of place and neighbourhood character;  

 school performance and the catchments of good schools; 

 the accessibility of areas including to employment centres (with transport links being an 

important component of this); and  

 the existing housing market and local market conditions. 

5.7 These factors influence the demand profile and pricing within the market. At a local level, this often 

means that the housing market (in terms of the profile of buyers) tends to be influenced and 

consequently reinforce to some degree the existing stock profile. However, regenerative investment 

or delivery of new transport infrastructure can influence the profile of housing demand in a location, 

by affecting its attractiveness to different households. 

5.8 Local housing markets or sub-markets are also influenced by dynamics in surrounding areas, in 

regard to the relative balance between supply and demand in different markets; and the relative 

pricing of housing within them. Understanding relative pricing and price trends is thus important. 

Local Demand Indicators and Market Signals 

House Prices 

5.9 Across Sevenoaks District the mean house price (Jan 2013 – Dec 2014 incl.) is £414,500 whilst the 

median is £302,000. In Tunbridge Wells Borough average house prices are lower with a mean 

house price of £351,000 and a median of £260,000. We can compare this to the wider housing 

market – which comprises Rother, Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells, Tonbridge and Malling, and 

Wealden councils. The mean house price across the wider housing market as a whole is £324,000 

and the median is £250,000. Average prices in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells are the highest of 

any of the authorities in the wider housing market. Average house prices across Kent are 

considerably lower, with a mean value of £253,000 and a median of £210,000.  

Page 158

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 99 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

5.10 Figure 35 profiles median house prices from 1998 to 2007 (i.e. the pre-recession decade). It shows 

median values for Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, and England and Wales along with the 

average of the median values of the authorities within the wider housing market.  

5.11 All areas have seen strong and steady growth in house prices over this period. Over this period the 

median house price in Sevenoaks grew from £103,000 in Q1 1998 to £275,000 by Q4 2007 – an 

increase of £172,000 (167%). This is an increase of £54,000 more than the national average over 

this period. In Tunbridge Wells the median house prices increased from £88,600 in Q1 1998 to 

£242,500 by Q4 2007 – an increase of £153,900 (174%). 

5.12 The wider housing market has seen an increase of £160,600 (184%) – slightly more than seen in 

Tunbridge Wells but below that seen Sevenoaks. The county of Kent saw a £133,000 (199%) 

increase, and England and Wales saw an £118,000 (190%) increase over this period.  

Figure 35: Median House Price (1998-2007) 

 

Source: DCLG Live Tables: Land Registry Data 

5.13 Since 2007, national trends in house prices have been very different due to the economic backdrop. 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells experienced notable price falls in late 2008 / early 2009 at the 

onset of the recession, as was the case regionally and nationally, followed by a period of growth 

throughout the second half of 2009 and into 2010 before falling away again. Prices have remained 

roughly level since. As of Q2 2013 median house prices in Sevenoaks were £292,000, 5% higher 

than the pre-recession high. Median house prices in Tunbridge Wells were equal to pre-recession 

levels. By comparison Kent saw a 2% decrease in median prices while England and Wales saw 

zero change over this period. 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Wider housing market

Kent England and Wales

Page 159

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 100 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 36: Median House Price (2008-2013) 

 

Source: DCLG Live Tables: Land Registry Data 

5.14 Although taken from a different source, Figure 37 shows median house prices over the past 2 years 

(2013 – 2014). This shows a notable upward trend in house prices, particularly since the start of 

2014. In Sevenoaks the median price has increased by £35,000 (12%) over these two most recent 

years. Tunbridge Wells has seen an increase of £18,600 (7%) over this period. This is lower than 

the £25,000 (10%) increase seen across the wider housing market and £33,000 (17%) seen across 

Kent as a whole.  

Figure 37: Median house prices (2013-2014) 

 

Source: GLH Analysis: Land Registry Price Paid Data 

  

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Wider housing market

Kent England and Wales

 £-

 £50,000

 £100,000

 £150,000

 £200,000

 £250,000

 £300,000

 £350,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2013 2014

Sevenoaks

Tunbridge Wells

Wider Housing Market

Kent

Page 160

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 101 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Sales Volumes and Effective Demand 

5.15 Sales volumes are an important indicator of effective demand for market housing. We have 

benchmarked sales performance against long-term trends to assess relative demand. Figure 38 

benchmarks annual sales in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells and comparator areas over the period 

1998 to 2014. It uses an index where 1.00 is the average annual sales over the 1998-2007 pre-

recession decade. 

5.16 As illustrated in Figure 38, the impact of the 2008 recession was experienced across all 

geographical areas with sales volumes experiencing a significant drop between 2007 and 2008. 

Following the recessionary slump, sales volumes have remained well below pre-recession levels, 

although figures for 2013 and 2014 show signs of accelerated improvement. It is notable that sales 

numbers have improved markedly quicker in Kent than the England and Wales average.   

5.17 As of 2014, sales volumes in Sevenoaks remain at 81% of the pre-recession average levels, in 

Tunbridge Wells this figure is 79%. This is below the 85% seen across the wider housing market 

but considerably above the England and Wales rate of 71%.  

Figure 38: Indexed Analysis of Sales Trends (1998 – 2014) 

 

Source: DCLG and Land Registry Price Paid Data 

5.18 We have also analysed house prices achieved over past two years (January 2013 to December 

2014 incl.) in more detail to gain an understanding of the latest dynamics for different property types 

within the local housing markets.  

0.40

0.50

0.60

0.70

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.10

1.20

In
d

e
x
: 

1
.0

0
 =

 9
8
=

0
7
 A

v
e
ra

g
e

 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Wider Housing Market

Kent England and Wales

Page 161

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 102 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 39: Median House Prices (Jan 2013 – Dec 2014) 

 

Source: GLH Analysis: Land Registry Price Paid Data 

5.19 Figure 39 shows median house prices by different dwelling type. The median price for detached 

houses in Sevenoaks is £580,000. The median detached house price in Tunbridge Well is slightly 

lower at £532,500. These values are considerably above the values in the rest of the wider housing 

market and Kent where the median prices are £390,000 and £335,000 respectively. On average, 

detached house prices in Sevenoaks are 49% higher than the wider housing area value. In 

Tunbridge Wells prices are 43% higher. Median house prices for other dwelling types are also 

higher in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells than the comparator areas, although the difference is 

less considerable.  

5.20 Median prices for all dwelling types are higher in Sevenoaks than Tunbridge Wells. For detached 

houses the difference is 9%. Other than for detached houses this difference is modest with semi-

detached houses 3% more expensive, Terrace houses are 4% more expensive, and the difference 

for flats is negligible.  

Rental Trends  

5.21 The most recent VOA private rental data (over the year to September 2014) shows the median 

rental price in Sevenoaks was £1100 per calendar month (pcm); with an average of £825 pcm in 

Tunbridge Wells. These compare to an average of £825 pcm across the wider housing market area 

and £595 pcm across England.  

Figure 40 shows the median rental values benchmarked to September 2011 values. Also shown in 

Figure 40 is the Consumer Price Index (CPI). This shows strong growth in private rental values 

Detached
Semi-

Detached
Terrace Flat Overall

Sevenoaks £580,000 £299,250 £239,973 £180,000 £302,000

Tunbridge Wells £532,500 £290,000 £231,251 £179,995 £260,000

Wider Housing Market £389,973 £250,000 £217,500 £158,000 £250,000

Kent £335,000 £220,000 £180,000 £139,000 £210,000

 £-

 £100,000

 £200,000

 £300,000

 £400,000

 £500,000

 £600,000

Page 162

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 103 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

across Sevenoaks, Tunbridge Wells, and Kent as a whole. In Sevenoaks prices have grown by 

16% over this period, and in Tunbridge Wells there has been a 10% increase – both above the 

inflation rate of 6%, and above the national growth rate of 3%. This growth is roughly in line with the 

trend across the wider housing market, where there has been 9% growth, and across Kent as a 

whole, where there has been a 13% increase.   

Figure 40: Benchmarked trend in median private rental values (Sep 2011 – Sep 2014) 

 

Source: VOA Private Rental Data 

5.22 Figure 41 shows trends in the number of private rental transactions recorded by the VOA 

benchmarked against September 2011 figures. This shows a strong upward trend in the number of 

rental transactions in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells until the most recent 12 to 18 months where 

the number of transactions has declined notably. In Sevenoaks rental volume is still well above 

(29%) the September 2011 figure. However in Tunbridge Wells the figure is 15% down. Nationally, 

over this period there has been a slight downward trend which is an indication of households 

returning to owner occupation as a result of improved mortgage availability and the impact of 

Government schemes such as Help to Buy.  

  

0.80

0.85

0.90

0.95

1.00

1.05

1.10

1.15

1.20

S
e
p
-1

1

J
a
n
-1

2

M
a

y
-1

2

S
e
p
-1

2

J
a
n
-1

3

M
a

y
-1

3

S
e
p
-1

3

J
a
n
-1

4

M
a

y
-1

4

S
e
p
-1

4

In
d

e
x
: 

1
.0

0
 =

 S
e
p

-1
1
 

Sevenoaks

Tunbridge Wells

Wider Housing Market

Kent

England

Consumer Price Index

Page 163

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 104 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 41: Trend in private rental transactions (Sep 2011 – Sep 2014) 

 

 Source: VOA Private Rental Data 

Affordability of Market Housing  

5.23 We have considered evidence of affordability by looking specifically at the relationship between 

lower quartile house prices and lower quartile earnings. As of 2013 the lower quartile house prices 

in Sevenoaks are 10.95 times higher than lower quartile earnings. The equivalent figure for 

Tunbridge Wells is 9.73.  

5.24 These affordability ratios are high, which is symptomatic of the authorities’ location within 

commuting distance of London. Indeed, the average lower quartile affordability ratio seen across 

the wider housing market is 10.00, so Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells are not too dissimilar to the 

surrounding areas. However, comparison with other areas highlights that affordability pressures are 

significant. The figure for Kent as a whole is lower at 8.20. This figure includes the local authorities 

within the wider housing market area, where the average ratio of 10.0 reflects proximity and 

transport links to London.  

5.25 As shown in Figure 42, across all areas the ratio of affordability rose steadily over the period to 

2005, before experiencing a post-recession trough in 2009. At a national level, affordability ratios 

have plateaued following a modest ‘bounce back’ in 2010 and are currently lower than the 2007 

peak. Within Sevenoaks however there has been some growth in the ratio rise in recent years with 

a general upward trend since 2008 and a ratio which is now above the previous 2005 peak.  

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

1.60

1.80

S
e
p
-1

1

D
e

c
-1

1

M
a

r-
1

2

J
u
n
-1

2

S
e
p
-1

2

D
e

c
-1

2

M
a

r-
1

3

J
u
n
-1

3

S
e
p
-1

3

D
e

c
-1

3

M
a

r-
1

4

J
u
n
-1

4

S
e
p
-1

4

In
d

e
x
: 

1
.0

0
 =

 S
e
p

-1
1
 

Sevenoaks

Tunbridge Wells

Wider Housing Market

Kent

England

Page 164

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 105 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

5.26 As a general observation, we can see that across all areas the affordability of property has 

worsened quite markedly over the past 15 years. However much of this growth was prior to 2005, 

and there has been limited change in affordability over the last decade, particularly in Tunbridge 

Wells.  

Figure 42: Lower Quartile Affordability Trend (1997-2013) 

 

Source: DCLG Housing Market Live Tables 

5.27 Table 43 compares the lower quartile affordability ratio to the median price-earnings ratio to identify 

whether affordability is an issue across the market or within a particular segment. In Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells the median ratio is below the lower quartile figure indicating that affordability 

pressures are even more acute at the lower end of the market. 

Table 43: Comparison of lower quartile and median affordability (2013) 

  Lower Quartile Ratio Median Ratio Difference 

Sevenoaks 10.95 10.47 0.48 

Tunbridge Wells  9.73 9.11 0.62 

Wider Housing Market 10.00 10.21 -0.21 

Kent 8.20 7.75 0.45 

England 6.45 6.72 -0.27 

Source: DCLG Housing Market Live Tables 

5.28 Affordability is influenced by house prices and earnings. Figure 42 compares the median and lower 

quartile gross annual earnings by place of residence. The median earnings in Sevenoaks is 

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

1
9

9
7

1
9

9
8

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

Sevenoaks

Tunbridge Wells

Wider Housing Market

Kent

England

Page 165

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 106 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

£32,300 per annum while the median in Tunbridge Wells is higher at £34,900. These are higher 

than median wages seen in the comparator areas and considerably higher than the national figure 

of £27,300. The lower quartile earnings figure for Sevenoaks is £23,000 per annum. In Tunbridge 

Wells the figure is slightly lower at £22,400. Again, these values are above those seen in the 

comparator areas, and the national figure of £19,300.  

5.29 This emphasises that the median and lower quartile affordability ratios are higher in Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells despite these areas having higher median and lower quartile earnings than 

comparator areas. This suggests that the lack of affordability in these areas is driven by high 

property prices rather than low wages.  

Figure 43: Annual earnings (gross) of full time workers by place of residence (2014) 

Source: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings 

5.30 Nationally, a combination of the deteriorating affordability of market homes, restricted access to 

mortgage products and a lack of social housing supply over the 2001-11 decade has resulted in 

fewer households being able to buy and increased pressures on the existing affordable housing 

stock. This has resulted in strong growth in the private rented sector as households are being 

forced to rent longer. This is illustrated in Figure 44.  

5.31 Figure 44 shows the percentage point change in tenureship between 2001 and 2011. Over this 

period there has been a notable shift in the number of people owning their home to living in the 

private rented sector. This has been seen across all the comparator areas. However, this 

phenomenon has been less prevalent in Sevenoaks than the comparator areas. In Sevenoaks there 

has been a decrease of 3 percentage points in homeownership and an increase of 4 percentage 

points in those living in the private rented sector. The trend in Tunbridge Wells has been much 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

Sevenoaks Tunbridge
Wells

Wider
Housing
Market

Kent England and
Wales

Median

Lower Quartile

Page 166

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 107 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

closer to the national trend. In Tunbridge Wells there has been a decrease of 5 percentage points in 

homeownership and an increase of 6 percentage points in those living in the private rented sector.   

5.32 It is noted that the two areas with the lowest levels of tenure change – Sevenoaks and the wider 

housing market – are the two areas with the highest levels of homeownership and the highest levels 

of homeowners who own their property outright. The relatively smaller swing seen in these areas 

therefore may reflect this more settled market composition. 

Figure 44: Change in Households by Tenure (2001-11) 

 

Source: 2001 & 2011 Censuses  

Past Housing Supply vs. Targets  

5.33 We have examined housing completions data for Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells dating back to 

2006/07. Figures 45 and 46 show net housing completions against the annual housing target from 

2006/07 to 2012/13. Over this period, housing delivery in Sevenoaks has exceeded the target by 

30% delivering 405 units above target.  

5.34 In Tunbridge Wells housing delivery has been less consistent with delivery well exceeding the 

target from 2006 to 2009 but also seeing some years with low levels of delivery. In the two most 

recent years net housing delivery has actually been negative with losses outnumbering completions, 

reflecting a number of housing redevelopment which involved the demolition and then rebuilding of 

dwellings where the timing of demolition and replacement development occurred in different 

monitoring periods. Over this period 86% of the housing target has been delivered, equating to an 

-8%

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

Owned Social Rented Private Rented Living Rent
Free

Sevenoaks

Tunbridge Wells

Wider Housing Market

Kent

England and Wales

Page 167

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 108 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

overall shortfall of 345 dwellings fewer than the adopted target for this period. However, recent 

monitoring shows a return to a level of completions above the target (323 dwellings for 2014/15). 

Figure 45: Sevenoaks – Housing Supply vs Target (2006/07 – 2013/14)  

 

Source: Authority Monitoring Reports 

Figure 46: Tunbridge Wells – Housing Supply vs Target (2006/07 – 2013/14)  

 

Source: Authority Monitoring Reports 

  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Completions

Target

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Completions

Target

Page 168

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 109 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 44: Changes in Over Occupied and Houses in Multiple Occupation (2001-2011) 

  Over Occupied HMOs 

  2001 2011 Change 2001 2011 Change 

Sevenoaks 3.8% 4.6% 0.8% 2.9% 3.4% 0.5% 

Tunbridge Wells 6.4% 8.6% 2.2% 3.9% 4.9% 1.0% 

Wider Housing Market 4.2% 5.2% 1.0% 3.2% 4.0% 0.8% 

Kent 5.4% 7.0% 1.6% 3.5% 4.5% 1.0% 

England and Wales 7.0% 8.5% 1.5% 4.5% 5.7% 1.2% 

Source: 2001 & 2011 Censuses  

5.35 Restricted access to mortgages brought on by tighter regulation is likely to have resulted in 

constrained household formation rates and contributed to the current need for affordable housing. A 

symptom of this is increased over-crowding and a growth of households living in houses in multiple 

occupation (HMO) as households fail to form properly. This is a trend that has been seen nationally 

where between 2001 and 2011 the number of households living in over occupied properties 

increased from 7.0% to 8.5%. In Sevenoaks these figures are lower – 3.8% in 2001 and 4.6% in 

2011 – and the increase is half the national figure. By contrast, the Tunbridge Wells figure of 8.5% 

in 2011 is above national average and the inter-census growth of 2.2% is also above national trend.  

Summary and Implications – Market Signals  

5.36 Nationally, the pre-recession decade saw a strong and sustained growth in house prices which has 

been mirrored in increasing affordability pressures. Over this period the affordability ratio – the ratio 

of average house prices to average earnings – saw similarly large and consistent increases. 

Nationally, there has been a fundamental shift in housing market conditions since 2007, particularly 

in relation to confidence and credit availability. This saw a steep drop in the volume of housing 

sales and house prices plateauing. In recent years there is evidence to suggest the market is 

improving, albeit slowly.  The housing market in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells has largely 

followed this national trend.  

5.37 Median house prices in Sevenoaks are £302,000 and in Tunbridge Wells are £250,000 – these are 

higher than other authorities within the HMA, but similar to other areas around London. House 

prices grew substantially during the pre-recession decade; but over the period since 2008 have 

seen more modest growth, particularly once account is taken of inflation.  

5.38 As with the national trend described above, sales volumes in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

dropped significantly between 2007 and 2008. Sales volumes in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

Page 169

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 110 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

have recovered more strongly than has been seen nationally. However, sales volume remains well 

below pre-recession levels. 

5.39 Like for like house prices in Sevenoaks are on average more expensive than elsewhere in the wider 

housing market. Prices are slightly cheaper in Tunbridge Wells than Sevenoaks, but still 

considerably above the other authorities in the wider housing market and across Kent as a whole.  

5.40 The Private Rented Sector has seen an increase in rental prices in all areas within the wider 

housing market with price increases well above inflation – unlike the national trend where increases 

have been below inflation. The two authorities also saw strong increases in the volume of rental  

transactions although these have fallen again in recent years.  

5.41 Affordability ratios in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells are high and are well above the national and 

county averages. Lower quartile house prices are 11.0 times earnings in Sevenoaks, and 9.7 times 

earnings in Tunbridge Wells. This points to a particular housing affordability problem in both areas. 

Both areas have high levels of earnings – both average and lower quartile – suggesting affordability 

pressures stem from high house prices rather than low incomes. There is not however significant 

evidence of a substantial worsening of the position over the last decade.  

5.42 Declining affordability has contributed to a decrease in the level of homeownership and an increase 

in the numbers renting instead of buying. Similarly there has been an overall increase in the 

proportion of the Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells’ population living in over occupied dwellings and 

HMOs. The evidence suggests that key impacts of declining affordability have been more young 

people living with parents (as shown by the demographic analysis of household formation rates 

amongst households in their late 20s and early 30s) and more living in shared accommodation.  

5.43 Recent levels of housing delivery in Sevenoaks have been high with delivery exceeding target in 

the majority of years and overall. Overall housing delivery in Tunbridge Wells has been lower with 

the most recent years seeing housing losses outnumber completions, reflecting a number of 

regeneration schemes involving the demolition and rebuilding of properties. Most recent monitoring 

data shows a return to a level of completions above the annual target.   

5.44 Overall the analysis of market signals clearly points to higher affordability pressures on housing in 

both Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells than in other parts of the country. The demographic analysis 

indicates that levels of household formation, particularly for younger households, have fallen. It 

would therefore be appropriate to consider an adjustment to the overall assessment of housing 

need to improve affordability over time in line with the approach outlined in the Practice Guidance. 

5.45 The Planning Practice Guidance sets out that:  

Page 170

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 111 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

“In areas where an upward adjustment [to the assessment of housing need] is 

required, plan makers should set this adjustment at a level that is reasonable. The 

more significant the affordability constraints (as reflected in rising prices and rents, 

and worsening affordability ratio) and the stronger other indicators of high demand (eg 

the differential between land prices), the larger the improvement in affordability 

needed and, therefore, the larger the additional supply response should be.” 

5.46 The Guidance does not however set out how such an adjustment should be quantified. It simply 

sets out that it should be ‘reasonable.’  

5.47 To consider this issue further we have sought to use the demographic analysis to assess the 

degree to which household formation levels have been constrained for younger age groups, and 

what scale of adjustment to housing provision would be necessary for these to improve. The key 

premise is that as a decline in affordability in demographic terms has been manifest in a reduction 

in household formation for younger households, the reverse would also be true.  

5.48 A detailed interrogation of demographic dynamics in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells indicates that 

in demographic terms, the deterioration in affordability of market housing and the economic 

recession over the 2001-11 decade is likely to have influenced – at least in part – a decline in 

household formation rates in younger people, particularly amongst those aged between 25 and 34. 

This is the key age group in which the data shows that household formation rates have fallen.  

5.49 When we consider age-specific data it is notable that those aged 25-34 have lower headship rates 

than was expected in the 2008-based projections and that the rates have dropped considerably 

from 2001 to 2011 – the 2012-based projections do however show some improvement from 2011 

onwards (an improvement in the case of Tunbridge Wells and a slowing down of the rate of change 

in Sevenoaks). We have therefore run a sensitivity analysis which considers and seeks to quantify 

the implication of returning the household formation rates of the 25-34 age group back to 2001 

levels (i.e. before the rate started to decrease) by 2033. 

5.50 The figures below show how this adjustment impacts on the formation rates of people aged 25-34. 

The analysis shows that the adjustment is particularly notable in Sevenoaks, with Tunbridge Wells 

seeing a smaller uplift. This is consistent with observations earlier in the report that the CLG 

household projections are not expecting any recovery in formation rates for this age group in 

Sevenoaks but are projecting some modest increases in Tunbridge Wells. 

5.51 Household formation rates for younger households in Tunbridge Wells are higher than in 

Sevenoaks, and than in a range of other areas within the South East region. This is a relevant 

factor in determining the scale of additional adjustment which might be considered appropriate.  

  

Page 171

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 112 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 47: Projected household formation rates for those aged 25-34 – Sevenoaks 

 

Source: Derived from CLG data 

Figure 48: Projected household formation rates for those aged 25-34 – Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: Derived from CLG data 

5.52 This sensitivity in effect seeks to consider a scenario in which affordability and access to housing 

for younger households improves, and quantifies what level of housing provision might be 

associated with this, all other factors being equal. If achieved, the effect would be to reduce the 

0.3

0.35

0.4

0.45

0.5
19

91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

Return to 2001

0.35

0.4

0.45

0.5

0.55

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

CLG 2012-based

CLG 2011-based

CLG 2008-based

Return to 2001

Page 172

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 113 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

proportions of shared households and persons within this age group living with parents. We term 

this sensitivity analysis the ‘affordability adjustment.’  

5.53 In reality, other factors such as real growth in disposable income (allowing people to save), the 

availability of and access to mortgage finance, interest rates and economic confidence will all 

influence trends in household formation. There is a complex set of factors at play, and it is difficult 

to predict how these factors might interact in the future and the impact on household formation rates 

(in the absence of any supply-side constraints). Furthermore part of the changes in household 

formation rates for this age group may have been due to international migration. 

5.54 The sensitivity analysis indicates that, all other things being equal, an uplift of around 41 homes per 

annum in Sevenoaks and 17 homes per annum in Tunbridge Wells would support an improvement 

in affordability and household formation rates amongst younger households. The analysis is based 

on a projection linked to the 2012-based SNPP.  

Table 45: Projected household growth 2013-33 – 2012-based SNPP (adjusted) and 2012-

based headship rates – with affordability adjustment 

 Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 
Sevenoaks & 

Tunbridge Wells 

Households 2011 47,951 48,032 95,982 

Households 2031 58,771 60,405 119,176 

Change in households 10,820 12,373 23,193 

Per annum 541 619 1,160 

Dwellings (per annum) 557 644 1,201 

From SNPP model 516 627 1,142 

Potential uplift 41 17 58 

% uplift 8.0% 2.7% 5.1% 

 

5.55 For Sevenoaks the adjustment in drawing conclusions has been based on the economic-led 

projection. Based on the higher projected population growth, in this an adjustment to improve 

affordability of 43 dwellings per annum is modelled.  

5.56 The level of uplift modelled is fairly moderate. This however reflects the assumptions in the 2012-

based Household Projections which project that household formation is likely to increase for all age 

groups in Tunbridge Wells; and for all age groups besides the 25-34 cohort in Sevenoaks.  

5.57 To illustrate the point, we have sought to run a scenario which holds headship rates constant for 

those aged under 45. This is modelled for the preferred scenario for each local authority (the 

Page 173

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 114 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

economic-led scenario for Sevenoaks, and preferred demographic-led scenario for Tunbridge 

Wells).  

Table 46: Impact of Affordability Adjustments – Housing Need per Annum, 2013-33  

 
Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

Constant headship rates under 45 577 606 

Scenario with affordability adjustment 620 648 

% Difference 7% 7% 

5.58 The improvements to headship rates for younger households in the projections thus result in a 7% 

uplift in the assessed housing need across both authorities.  

 

6  

  

Page 174

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 115 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

6 NEED FOR DIFFERENT SIZES OF HOMES 
 

Introduction 

6.1 As noted in Section 4, there are a range of factors which influence housing demand. These factors 

play out at different spatial scales and influence both the level of housing demand (in terms of 

aggregate household growth) and the nature of demand for different types, tenures and sizes of 

homes. It is important to understand that the housing market is influenced by macro-economic 

factors, as well as the housing market conditions at a regional and local level. 

6.2 The analysis in this section seeks to use the information available about the size and structure of 

the population and household structures; and consider what impact this may have on the sizes of 

housing required in the future. For analysis purposes, the analysis assumes population and 

household growth in line with the 2012-based Household Projections (as updated by mid-year 

population estimate data for 2013), but with an “affordability adjustment” made to increase the 

formation of younger households. These projections indicate a need 557 homes per annum in 

Sevenoaks, and 644 per annum in Tunbridge Wells over the 2013-33 period. 

6.3 It should be noted that this projection will not necessarily be translated into policy, once account is 

taken of other factors including development constraints, but has been used to indicate the likely 

need for different sizes of homes moving forward. Were a projection with a different housing figure 

used then the outputs would be expected to be broadly similar. 

Methodology 

6.4 The figure below describes the broad methodology employed in the housing market model which is 

used to consider the need for different sizes of market and affordable homes. Data is drawn from a 

range of sources including the 2011 Census and demographic projections. 

 

  

Page 175

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 116 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 49: Stages in the Housing Market Model 

 

 

Understanding how Households Occupy Homes 

6.5 Whilst the demographic projections provide a good indication of how the population and household 

structure will develop, it is not a simple task to convert the net increase in the number of households 

in to a suggested profile for additional housing to be provided. The main reason for this is that in the 

market sector households are able to buy or rent any size of property (subject to what they can 

afford) and therefore knowledge of the profile of households in an area does not directly transfer 

into the sizes of property to be provided.  

6.6 The size of housing which households occupy relates more to their wealth and age than the number 

of people which they contain. For example, there is no reason why a single person cannot buy (or 

choose to live in) a four bedroom home as long as they can afford it and hence projecting an 

increase in single person households does not automatically translate in to a need for smaller units. 

This issue is less relevant in the affordable sector (particularly since the introduction of the social 

sector size criteria) although there will still be some level of under-occupation moving forward with 

regard to older person and working households who may be able to continue to under-occupy their 

current homes. 

6.7 The approach used is to interrogate information derived in the projections about the number of 

household reference persons (HRPs) in each age and sex group and apply this to the profile of 

housing within these groups. The data for this analysis has been formed from a commissioned table 

by ONS (Table C1213 which provides relevant data for all local authorities in England) with data 

Output recommendations for housing requirements by tenure and size 
of housing 

Output recommendations for housing requirements by tenure and size 
of housing 

Model future requirements for market and affordable housing by size 
and compare to existing profile of homes 

Model future requirements for market and affordable housing by size 
and compare to existing profile of homes 

Draw together housing needs, viability and funding issues to consider 
affordable housing delivery 

Draw together housing needs, viability and funding issues to consider 
affordable housing delivery 

Project how the profile of households of different ages will change in 
future 

Project how the profile of households of different ages will change in 
future 

Establish how households of different ages occupy homes (by tenure)  Establish how households of different ages occupy homes (by tenure)  

Page 176

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 117 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

then calibrated to be consistent with 2011 Census data (e.g. about house sizes in different tenure 

groups and locations). 

6.8 Figures 50 and 51 show an estimate of how the average number of bedrooms varies by different 

ages of HRP and different sexes by broad tenure group. In the market sector the average size of 

accommodation rises over time to typically reach a peak around the age of 40-49. In the affordable 

sector this peak appears earlier. After this peak the average dwelling size decreases – as typically 

some households downsize as they get older.  

6.9 It is also notable that the average size for affordable housing dwellings are lower than those for 

market housing whilst; in market housing male HRPs live in larger accommodation for all age 

groups (with no particular trend being seen in the affordable sector). The patterns observed are 

broadly similar in each of the two local authorities. 

Figure 50: Average Bedrooms by Age, Sex and Tenure – Sevenoaks 

 

Source: Derived from ONS Commissioned Table C1213 and 2011 Census 

 

  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

Under
25

25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+

A
ve

ra
ge

 n
um

be
r 

of
 b

ed
ro

om
s 

Male - market Female - market Male - affordable Female - affordable

Page 177

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 118 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 51: Average Bedrooms by Age, Sex and Tenure – Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: Derived from ONS Commissioned Table C1213 and 2011 Census 

 

Establishing a Baseline Position 

6.10 As of 2013 it is estimated that there were 47,951 households living in Sevenoaks and 48,032 in 

Tunbridge Wells. Analysis of Census data linked to the demographic baseline provides an estimate 

of the profile of the housing stock in 2013, as shown in Tables 47 and 48. This shows that an 

estimated 14% of households live in affordable housing in Sevenoaks and 16% in Tunbridge Wells  

with 84% and 86% respectively being in the market sector. The size of the affordable sector has 

been fixed by reference to an estimate of the number of occupied social rented and shared 

ownership homes in the 2011 Census along with an estimate of changes in the sector from 2011 to 

2013 from data in CLG Live Table 100. The data also suggests that homes in the market sector are 

generally bigger than in the affordable sector with 73% having three or more bedrooms in 

Sevenoaks and 64% in Tunbridge Wells; this compares with 32% and 36% respectively for 

affordable housing. 

6.11 These figures are for households rather than dwellings as information about the sizes of vacant 

homes across the whole stock (i.e. market and affordable) is not readily available. For the purposes 

of analysis this will not make any notable difference to the outcome. The household projections 

have however been translated into dwelling figures by including a vacancy allowance when 

studying the final outputs of the market modelling. 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

Under
25

25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+

A
ve

ra
ge

 n
um

be
r 

of
 b

ed
ro

om
s 

Male - market Female - market Male - affordable Female - affordable

Page 178

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 119 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 47: Estimated Profile of Dwellings in 2013 by Size – Sevenoaks 

Size of 
housing 

Market Affordable Total 

Number % Number % Number % 

1 bedroom 2,359 5.7% 2,194 31.9% 4,553 9.5% 

2 bedrooms 8,898 21.7% 2,149 31.2% 11,047 23.0% 

3 bedrooms 16,410 40.0% 2,331 33.9% 18,741 39.1% 

4+ bedrooms 13,408 32.6% 202 2.9% 13,610 28.4% 

Total 41,075 100.0% 6,876 100.0% 47,951 100.0% 

% in tenure 85.7% 14.3% 100.0% 

Source: Derived from 2011 Census 

Table 48: Estimated Profile of Dwellings in 2013 by Size – Tunbridge Wells 

Size of 
housing 

Market Affordable Total 

Number % Number % Number % 

1 bedroom 4,570 11.3% 2,581 34.3% 7,151 14.9% 

2 bedrooms 10,095 24.9% 2,556 34.0% 12,651 26.3% 

3 bedrooms 13,698 33.8% 2,170 28.8% 15,868 33.0% 

4+ bedrooms 12,144 30.0% 217 2.9% 12,361 25.7% 

Total 40,508 100.0% 7,524 100.0% 48,032 100.0% 

% in tenure 84.3% 15.7% 100.0% 

Source: Derived from 2011 Census 

 

Tenure Assumptions 

6.12 The housing market model has been used to estimate the future need for different sizes of property 

over the 20-year period from 2013 to 2033. The model works by looking at the types and sizes of 

accommodation occupied by different ages of residents, and attaching projected changes in the 

population to this to project need and demand for different sizes of homes. However the way 

households of different ages occupy homes differs between the market and affordable sectors (as 

shown earlier). Thus it is necessary to consider what the mix of future housing will be in the market 

and affordable sectors. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 120 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

6.13 It is necessary on this basis to make some judgement for modelling purposes about what proportion 

of net completions might be of market and affordable housing. For modelling purposes, the analysis 

assumes that 35% of net completions are of affordable housing. This is not a policy target. Policy 

targets for affordable housing on new development schemes in some cases are above this; but not 

all sites deliver policy-compliant affordable housing provision.  Equally some housing development 

is brought forward by Registered Providers and local authorities and may deliver higher proportions 

of affordable housing than in current policy. It should be stressed that this is not a policy position 

and has been applied simply for the purposes of providing outputs from the modelling process. 

Key Findings: Market Housing 

6.14 There is a range of factors which can influence demand for market housing in different locations. 

The focus of this analysis is on considering long-term needs, where changing demographics are 

expected to be a key influence. It uses a demographic-driven approach to quantify demand for 

different sizes of properties over the 20-year period from 2013 to 2033.  

6.15 On the basis of the modelling assumptions, an increase of 7,000 additional households is modelled 

in Sevenoaks and 8,000 in Tunbridge Wells to 2033. The majority of the need is for two- and three-

bed homes.  

Table 49: Estimated Size of Dwellings Needed 2013 to 2033 – Market Housing – Sevenoaks 

Size 2013 2033 
Additional 

households 
2013-2033 

% of additional 
households 

1 bedroom 2,359 2,934 576 8.2% 

2 bedrooms 8,898 10,867 1,969 28.0% 

3 bedrooms 16,410 19,279 2,870 40.8% 

4+ bedrooms 13,408 15,027 1,619 23.0% 

Total 41,075 48,108 7,033 100.0% 

Source: Housing Market Model 

 

  

Page 180

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 121 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 50: Estimated Size of Dwellings Needed 2013 to 2033 – Market Housing – Tunbridge 

Wells 

Size 2013 2033 
Additional 

households 
2013-2033 

% of additional 
households 

1 bedroom 4,570 5,319 749 9.3% 

2 bedrooms 10,095 12,463 2,368 29.4% 

3 bedrooms 13,698 16,634 2,936 36.5% 

4+ bedrooms 12,144 14,134 1,990 24.7% 

Total 40,508 48,550 8,043 100.0% 

Source: Housing Market Model 

6.16 Figures 52 and 53 show the number of households in different sizes of dwellings in 2013 and 2033. 

In both areas, the data suggests that housing need can be expected to reinforce around the existing 

profile, but with a slight shift towards a requirement for smaller dwellings relative to the distribution 

of existing housing. This is understandable given the fact that household sizes are expected to fall 

slightly in the future – particularly as a result of a growing older population living in smaller 

households. The shift towards smaller homes relative to the current offer is more notable in 

Sevenoaks and will to some degree reflect the high proportion of larger homes in the stock currently.  

Figure 52: Impact of Demographic Trends on Market Housing Requirements by House Size, 

2013 to 2033 – Sevenoaks 

 

Source: Housing Market Model 

2,359 

8,898 

16,410 

13,408 

576 

1,969 

2,870 

1,619 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms

N
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 g
ro

up
 

2013 2033

Page 181

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 122 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 53: Impact of Demographic Trends on Market Housing Requirements by House Size, 

2013 to 2033 – Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: Housing Market Model 

6.17 The graphs and statistics are based upon the modelling of demographic trends. As has been 

identified, it should be recognised that a range of factors including affordability pressures and 

market signals will continue to be important in understanding market demand. In determining 

policies for housing mix, policy aspirations are also relevant. 

6.18 At the strategic level, a local authority in considering which sites to allocate, can consider what type 

of development would likely be delivered on these sites. It can also provide guidance on housing 

mix implicitly through policies on development densities. 

Key Findings: Affordable Housing 

6.19 The tables and figures below show estimates of the need for different sizes of affordable homes 

based on the analysis of demographic trends. The data suggests in the period between 2013 and 

2033 that around three-quarters of the need is for homes with one- or two-bedrooms (70% in 

Sevenoaks and 76% in Tunbridge Wells), with around a quarter of the need being for larger homes 

with three or more bedrooms. 

6.20 This analysis provides a longer-term view of the need for different sizes of affordable housing and 

does not reflect any specific priorities such as for family households in need rather than single 

people. In addition, it should be noted that smaller properties (i.e. one bedroom homes) typically 

offer limited flexibility in accommodating the changing needs of households, whilst delivery of larger 

4,570 

10,095 

13,698 
12,144 

749 

2,368 

2,936 

1,990 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms

N
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 g
ro

up
 

2013 2033

Page 182

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 123 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

properties can help to meet the needs of households in high priority and to manage the housing 

stock by releasing a supply of smaller properties. That said, need for smaller homes has been 

boosted by welfare reforms limiting the amount of housing benefit being paid to some working-age 

households. 

Table 51: Estimated Size of Dwellings Required 2013 to 2033 – Affordable Housing – 

Sevenoaks 

Size 2013 2033 
Additional 

households 
2013-2033 

% of additional 
households 

1 bedroom 2,194 3,712 1,518 40.1% 

2 bedrooms 2,149 3,294 1,146 30.2% 

3 bedrooms 2,331 3,367 1,036 27.4% 

4+ bedrooms 202 290 88 2.3% 

Total 6,876 10,663 3,787 100.0% 

Source: Housing Market Model 

 

Table 52: Estimated Size of Dwellings Required 2013 to 2033 – Affordable Housing – 

Tunbridge Wells 

Size 2013 2033 
Additional 

households 
2013-2033 

% of additional 
households 

1 bedroom 2,581 4,487 1,906 44.0% 

2 bedrooms 2,556 3,945 1,389 32.1% 

3 bedrooms 2,170 3,116 946 21.8% 

4+ bedrooms 217 306 90 2.1% 

Total 7,524 11,855 4,331 100.0% 

Source: Housing Market Model 

6.21 Figures 54 and 55 show how the estimated need from households for different sizes of affordable 

homes in 2013 compares to the profile of need in 2033. Again, the data shows that relative to the 

current profile there is a slight move towards a greater proportion of smaller homes being needed – 

this makes sense given that in the future household sizes are expected to drop whilst the population 

of older people will increase – older person households (as shown earlier) are more likely to occupy 

smaller dwellings. 

Page 183

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 124 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 54: Impact of Demographic Trends on Affordable Housing Requirements by House 

Size, 2013 to 2033 – Sevenoaks 

 

Source: Housing Market Model 

 

Figure 55: Impact of Demographic Trends on Affordable Housing Requirements by House 

Size, 2013 to 2033 – Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: Housing Market Model 

 

2,194 2,149 2,331 

202 

1,518 
1,146 

1,036 

88 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms

N
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 g
ro

up
 

2013 2033

2,581 2,556 
2,170 

217 

1,906 
1,389 

946 

90 
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms

N
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 g
ro

up
 

2013 2033

Page 184

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 125 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Indicative Targets by Dwelling Size 

6.22 Figures 56 and 57 summarise the above data in both the market and affordable sectors under the 

modelling exercise. A vacancy allowance has been factored in when moving from household figures 

to estimates of housing need/demand (the same figures have been used as in the demographic 

modelling). 

Figure 56: Size of Housing Required 2013 to 2033 – Sevenoaks 

Market Affordable 

  

Source: Housing Market Model 

Figure 57: Size of Housing Required 2013 to 2033 – Tunbridge Wells 

Market Affordable 

  

Source: Housing Market Model 

6.23 Whilst the outputs of the modelling provide estimates of the proportion of homes of different sizes 

that need to be provided there are a range of factors which should be taken into account in setting 

23.0% 

40.8% 

28.0% 

8.2% 

0% 20% 40% 60%

4+ bedrooms

3 bedrooms

2 bedrooms

1 bedroom

% of additional dwellings required 

2.3% 

27.4% 

30.2% 

40.1% 

0% 20% 40% 60%

4+ bedrooms

3 bedrooms

2 bedrooms

1 bedroom

% of additional dwellings required 

24.7% 

36.5% 

29.4% 

9.3% 

0% 20% 40% 60%

4+ bedrooms

3 bedrooms

2 bedrooms

1 bedroom

% of additional dwellings required 

2.1% 

21.8% 

32.1% 

44.0% 

0% 20% 40% 60%

4+ bedrooms

3 bedrooms

2 bedrooms

1 bedroom

% of additional dwellings required 

Page 185

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 126 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

policies for provision. This is particularly the case in the affordable sector where there are typically 

issues around the demand for and turnover of one bedroom homes. Conclusions also need to 

consider that the stock of four bedroom affordable housing is very limited and tends to have a very 

low turnover. As a result, whilst the number of households coming forward for four or more bedroom 

homes is typically quite small the ability for these needs to be met is even more limited.  

6.24 It should also be recognised that local authorities have statutory homeless responsibilities towards 

families with children and would therefore prioritise the needs of families over single person 

households and couples. On this basis the profile of affordable housing to be provided would be 

further weighted to two or more bedroom housing. 

6.25 For these reasons it is suggested in converting the long-term modelled outputs into a profile of 

housing to be provided (in the affordable sector) that the proportion of one bedroom homes required 

is reduced slightly from these outputs with a commensurate increase in four or more bedroom 

homes also being appropriate. 

6.26 There are thus a range of factors which are relevant in considering policies for the mix of 

affordable housing sought through development schemes. At a district level, the analysis would 

support policies for the mix of affordable housing of: 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

 1-bed properties: 30-35% 

 2-bed properties: 30-35% 

 3-bed properties: 25-30% 

 4-bed properties: 5-10% 

 1-bed properties: 35-40% 

 2-bed properties: 30-35% 

 3-bed properties: 20-25% 

 4-bed properties: 5-10% 

6.27 The strategic conclusions recognise the role which delivery of larger family homes can play in 

releasing a supply of smaller properties for other households; together with the limited flexibility 

which one-bed properties offer to changing household circumstances which feed through into 

higher turnover and management issues. 

6.28 The need for affordable housing of different sizes will vary by area across the HMA and over time. 

In considering the mix of homes to be provided within specific development schemes, the 

information herein should be brought together with details of households currently on the Housing 

Register in the local area and the stock and turnover of existing properties. 

6.29 In the market sector a profile of housing that closely matches the outputs of the modelling is 

suggested. The recommendations take some account of the time period used for the modelling and 

the fact that the full impact of the ageing population will not be experienced in the short-term. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 127 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

6.30 On the basis of these factors it is considered that the provision of market housing should be more 

explicitly focused on delivering smaller family housing for younger households. On this basis the 

following mix of market housing is recommended: 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

 1-bed properties: 5-10% 

 2-bed properties: 25-30% 

 3-bed properties: 40-45% 

 4-bed properties: 20-25% 

 1-bed properties:5-10% 

 2-bed properties: 25-30% 

 3-bed properties: 35-40% 

 4-bed properties: 20-25% 

6.31 Although the analysis has quantified this on the basis of the market modelling and an understanding 

of the current housing market it does not necessarily follow that such prescriptive figures should be 

included in the plan making process. The ‘market’ is to some degree a better judge of what is the 

most appropriate profile of homes to deliver at any point in time, and demand can change over time 

linked to macro-economic factors and local supply. The figures can however be used as a 

monitoring tool to ensure that future delivery is not unbalanced when compared with the likely 

requirements as driven by demographic change in the area. 

Summary and Implications – Need for Different Sizes of Homes  

6.32 There are a range of factors which will influence demand for different sizes of homes, including 

demographic changes; future growth in real earnings and households’ ability to save; economic 

performance and housing affordability. The analysis linked to long-term (20-year) demographic 

change concludes that the following represents an appropriate mix of affordable and market homes: 

Table 53: Need for Different Sizes of Homes, Sevenoaks 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 5-10% 25-30% 40-45% 20-25% 

Affordable 30-35% 30-35% 25-30% 5-10% 

All dwellings 15-20% 25-30% 35-40% 15-20% 

 

Table 54: Need for Different Sizes of Homes, Tunbridge Wells  

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 5-10% 25-30% 35-40% 20-25% 

Affordable 35-40% 30-35% 20-25% 5-10% 

All dwellings 20% 30% 30% 20% 

 

Page 187

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 128 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

6.33 The strategic conclusions in the affordable sector recognise the role which delivery of larger family 

homes can play in releasing supply of smaller properties for other households; together with the 

limited flexibility which one-bed properties offer to changing household circumstances which feed 

through into higher turnover and management issues. 

6.34 The mix identified above should inform strategic District-wide policies. In applying these to 

individual development sites regard should be had to the nature of the development site and 

character of the area, and to up-to-date evidence of need as well as the existing mix and turnover of 

properties at the local level. 

6.35 Based on the evidence, it is expected that the focus of new market housing provision will be on two- 

and three-bed properties. Continued demand for family housing can be expected from newly 

forming households. There may also be some demand for medium-sized properties (2- and 3-beds) 

from older households downsizing and looking to release equity in existing homes, but still retain 

flexibility for friends and family to come and stay. 

6.36 The analysis of an appropriate mix of dwellings should also inform the ‘portfolio’ of sites which are 

considered by each local authority through its local plan process. Equally it will be of relevance to 

affordable housing negotiations. 

 

  

Page 188

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 129 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 

7 HOUSING NEEDS OF PARTICULAR GROUPS 
 

Introduction 

7.1 We have considered in the previous section the needs for different sizes of property. In this section 

we move on to consider groups within the population who have specialist housing needs, or whose 

housing needs differ from the wider population.  

7.2 Estimates of household groups who have particular housing needs is a key output of the SHMA 

guidance whilst the National Planning Policy Framework identifies that local planning authorities 

should plan for a mix of housing which takes account of the needs of different groups in the 

community.  

7.3 The following key groups have been identified which may have housing needs which may differ 

from those of the wider population:  

 Older Persons; 

 People with disabilities; 

 Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) households; 

 Households with children;  

 Young people; and 

 People wishing to build their own homes. 

 

Housing Needs of Older People 

7.4 The SHMA Guidance recognises the need to provide housing for older people as part of achieving 

a good mix of housing. A key driver of change in the housing market over the next few years is 

expected to be the growth in the population of older persons.  

7.5 Indeed as the population projections in this report show, the number of older people is expected to 

increase significantly over the next few years. In this section we draw on a range of sources 

including our population projections, 2011 Census information and data from POPPI (Projecting 

Older People Population Information).  

7.6 In planning for a growing older population, it is important to recognise: 

 A need to provide housing for older people as part of achieving a good mix of housing, but 

recognizing that many older people are able to exercise choice and control over housing 

options – e.g. owner occupiers with equity in their homes;  

 Evidence of falling demand for residential care in some areas, and a rapidly rising average age 

of people living in sheltered housing, requiring higher levels of support. However many local 

authorities have struggled to contain expenditure on services for older people;  

Page 189

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 130 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 New models of enhanced and extra care housing. These aim to meet the needs of those who 

require high levels of care and support alongside those who are still generally able to care for 

themselves. These models often allow for changing circumstances in situ rather than requiring 

a move; and 

 Providing choice, including supporting people to stay in their own homes including through 

supporting adaptations to properties and through provision of floating support. 

 

Current Population of Older Persons  

7.7 Table 55 provides baseline population data about older persons and compares this with other areas. 

The data for this table has been taken from the published ONS mid-year population estimates and 

is provided for age groups from 65 and upwards. 

7.8 The data shows that over a fifth of the population of Sevenoaks (in 2013) was aged 65 and over 

(20.2%) – this is above the proportion seen in any of the other areas studied. In Tunbridge Wells, 

the proportion of older people is slightly lower (at 17.9%) – this proportion is slightly above the 

national average but below equivalent figures for Kent and the South East. 

Table 55: Older Person Population (2013) 

  Under 65 65-74 75-84 85+ Total Total 65+ 

Sevenoaks 
Popn 93,400 12,713 7,790 3,132 117,035 23,635 

% of popn 79.8% 10.9% 6.7% 2.7% 100.0% 20.2% 

Tunbridge Wells 
Popn 94,963 10,895 6,658 3,177 115,693 20,730 

% of popn 82.1% 9.4% 5.8% 2.7% 100.0% 17.9% 

Kent % of popn 80.8% 10.4% 6.1% 2.6% 100.0% 19.2% 

South East % of popn 81.7% 9.7% 5.9% 2.6% 100.0% 18.3% 

England % of popn 82.7% 9.3% 5.7% 2.3% 100.0% 17.3% 

Source: ONS 2013 Mid-Year Population Estimates 

Future Changes in the Population of Older Persons  

7.9 As well as providing a baseline position for the proportion of older persons in each local authority 

we can use population projections to provide an indication of how the numbers might change in the 

future compared with other areas. The data for the study area is based on our core projection linked 

to the 2012-based SNPP (with an adjustment for mid-2013 population estimates). Data for other 

areas is taken from the 2012-based SNPP. 

7.10 The data shows that the study area (in line with other areas) is expected to see a notable increase 

in the older person population with the total number of people aged 65 and over expected to 

Page 190

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 131 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

increase by 48% in Sevenoaks and 61% in Tunbridge Wells over the 20-years from 2013. This 

compares with overall population growth of 16%-17% and growth in the Under 65 population of just 

7%-9%. 

Table 56: Projected Change in Population of Older Persons (2013 to 2033) 

 Under 65 65-74 75-84 85+ Total Total 65+ 

Sevenoaks 8.6% 29.1% 46.6% 131.6% 16.6% 48.5% 

Tunbridge Wells 6.7% 40.3% 57.0% 138.1% 16.4% 60.6% 

Kent 7.7% 36.4% 57.6% 132.8% 17.0% 56.2% 

South East 5.6% 38.0% 55.5% 127.5% 14.9% 56.4% 

England 5.4% 34.5% 50.2% 120.7% 13.3% 51.1% 

Source: derived from ONS data and demographic projections 

Characteristics of Older Persons Households  

7.11 We have used 2011 Census data to explore in more detail the characteristics of older person 

households in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells (based on the population aged 65 and over). Table 

57 shows the number of households compared with the County, region and England. The data 

shows in 2011 that around 24% of households in Sevenoaks were comprised entirely of people 

aged 65 and over with a slightly lower figure (of 21%) in Tunbridge Wells. The proportion of older 

person households in Sevenoaks is higher than seen in any of the comparator areas although in 

Tunbridge Wells the proportion is lower than seen across the County and region (although slightly 

above the national average). 

Table 57: Older Person Households (Census 2011) 

  
Single older 

person 
2 or more 

older people 
All other 

households 
All 

households 
Older 

person only 

Sevenoaks 
Households 6,386 5,018 35,616 47,020 11,404 

% of hhs 13.6% 10.7% 75.7% 100.0% 24.3% 

Tunbridge Wells 
Households 5,818 4,147 37,209 47,174 9,965 

% of hhs 12.3% 8.8% 78.9% 100.0% 21.1% 

Kent % of hhs 13.1% 9.7% 77.2% 100.0% 22.8% 

South East % of hhs 12.7% 9.3% 78.1% 100.0% 21.9% 

England % of hhs 12.4% 8.4% 79.3% 100.0% 20.7% 

Source: 2011 Census 

Page 191

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 132 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

7.12 Figure 58 shows the tenure of older person households – the data has been split between single 

older person households and those with two or more older people (which will largely be couples). 

The data shows that older person households are relatively likely to live in outright owned 

accommodation (71%) and are also more likely than other households to be in the social rented 

sector. The proportion of older person households living in the private rented sector is relatively low 

(4% compared with 14% of all households in the study area). 

7.13 There are however notable differences for different types of older person households with single 

older people having a much lower level of owner-occupation than larger older person households – 

this group also has a much higher proportion living in the social rented sector. 

7.14 Given that the number of older people is expected to increase in the future and that the number of 

single person households is expected to increase this would suggest (if occupancy patterns remain 

the same) that there will be a notable demand for affordable housing from the ageing population. 

That said, the proportion of older person households who are outright owners (with significant 

equity) may mean that market solutions will also be required to meet their needs. This is considered 

later in this section. 

Figure 58: Tenure of Older Person Households – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.15 Data for individual local authorities and other comparator areas is shown in Figure 59. There are 

small differences between areas; the most notable is the high proportion of outright owners in 

Sevenoaks and a higher proportion in social rented housing in Tunbridge Wells. Overall however, 

63.4% 

80.9% 
70.9% 

24.2% 
34.8% 

5.8% 

7.4% 

6.5% 

44.3% 
35.7% 

22.6% 

7.9% 

16.3% 

13.6% 14.2% 

5.5% 
2.7% 4.3% 

16.7% 13.9% 

2.7% 1.2% 2.1% 1.3% 1.5% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Single older people 2 or more older
persons

All older person
only

All other
households

All households

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 192

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 133 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

the patterns of tenure in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells are broadly similar to that seen in other 

locations. 

Figure 59: Tenure of Older Person Households – by Local Authority and other areas 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.16 A key theme that is often brought out in Housing Market Assessment work is the large proportion of 

older person households who under-occupy their dwellings. Data from the Census allows us to 

investigate this using the bedroom standard.  

7.17 The Census data suggests that older person households are more likely to under-occupy their 

housing than other households in the study area. In total, 57% have an occupancy rating of +2 or 

more (meaning there are at least two more bedrooms than are technically required by the 

household). This compares with 36% for non-older person households. Further analysis suggests 

that under-occupancy is far more common in households with two or more older people than single 

older person households. 

  

72.6% 69.0% 70.5% 71.7% 67.4% 

6.5% 
6.4% 6.7% 6.8% 

6.2% 

15.2% 
17.5% 15.5% 15.3% 

19.8% 

3.6% 5.0% 5.0% 4.3% 4.4% 
2.1% 2.0% 2.2% 2.0% 2.3% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 193

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 134 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 60: Occupancy Rating of Older Person Households – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge 

Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.18 The occupancy ratings of older person households also show some differences by location with 

Sevenoaks showing a higher proportion of under-occupying older person households than 

Tunbridge Wells. Both areas however see levels of under-occupancy which are higher than 

observed across the County, regionally or nationally. This is a reflection, at least in part, of housing 

wealth. 

Figure 61: Occupancy Rating of Older Person Households – by local authority and other 

areas 

 

44.8% 

73.1% 

56.7% 

36.1% 40.7% 

30.5% 

21.3% 

26.6% 

33.2% 
31.7% 

24.7% 

5.6% 
16.6% 

26.8% 24.5% 

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 4.0% 3.1% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Single older people 2 or more older
persons

All older person onlyAll other households All households

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

+2 or more +1 0 -1 or less

58.5% 54.8% 51.3% 53.5% 52.4% 

25.3% 28.1% 33.0% 30.6% 31.7% 

16.2% 17.1% 15.7% 15.8% 15.9% 

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

+2 or more +1 0 -1 or less

Page 194

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 135 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.19 It is of interest to study the above information by tenure. Tables 58 and 59 show the number of 

older person households who had an occupancy rating of +2 or more in each of three broad tenure 

groups in 2011. Whilst the majority of older person households with an occupancy rating of +2 or 

more were in the owner-occupied sector, there were around 600 properties in the social rented 

sector occupied by older person only households with an occupancy rating of +2 or more (321 in 

Sevenoaks and 256 in Tunbridge Wells). This may therefore present some opportunity to reduce 

under-occupation - although to achieve this it may be necessary to provide attractive alternative 

housing in areas where households currently live and where they have social and community ties. 

Table 58: Older Person Households with Occupancy Rating of +2 or more by Tenure - 

Sevenoaks 

Tenure 
Single older 

person 
2 or more older 

people 
All older person 
only households 

Owner-occupied 2,637 3,383 6,020 

Social rented 221 100 321 

Private rented 153 90 243 

All tenures 3,011 3,573 6,584 

Source: 2011 Census 

Table 59: Older Person Households with Occupancy Rating of +2 or more by Tenure – 

Tunbridge Wells 

Tenure 
Single older 
person 

2 or more older 
people 

All older person 
only households 

Owner-occupied 2,165 2,783 4,948 

Social rented 157 99 256 

Private rented 132 59 191 

All tenures 2,454 2,941 5,395 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.20 It should however be recognised that many older households in the private sector will have built up 

equity in their existing homes. In the private sector many older households may be able to afford a 

larger home than they need (and thus under-occupy housing). Some may look to downsize to 

release equity from homes to support their retirement (or may move away from the area); however 

we would expect many older households to want to retain family housing with space to allow friends 

and relatives to come to stay. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 136 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

 

Health-related Population Projections  

7.21 In addition to providing projections about how the number and proportion of older people is 

expected to change in the future we can look at the likely impact on the number of people with 

specific illnesses or disabilities. For this we have used data from the Projecting Older People 

Population Information System (POPPI) website which provides prevalence rates for different 

disabilities by age and sex. For the purposes of the SHMA, analysis has focussed on estimates of 

the number of people with dementia and mobility problems. 

7.22 For both of the health issues analysed the figures relate to the population aged 65 and over. The 

figures from POPPI are based on prevalence rates from a range of different sources and whilst 

these might change in the future (e.g. as general health of the older person population improves) 

the estimates are likely to be of the right order. 

7.23 Table 60 shows that both of the illnesses/disabilities are expected to increase significantly in the 

future although this would be expected given the increasing older population. In particular there is 

projected to be a large rise in the number of people with dementia (80% in Sevenoaks, 90% in 

Tunbridge Wells) along with an increase in the number with mobility problems in Sevenoaks and 

80% increase in Tunbridge Wells.. Tunbridge Wells looks likely to see the most significant 

increases. 

Table 60: Estimated Population Change for range of Health Issues (2013 to 2033) 

 
Type of 
illness/disability 

2013 2033 Change % increase 

Sevenoaks 
Dementia 1,570 2,818 1,248 79.5% 

Mobility problems 4,296 7,213 2,917 67.9% 

Tunbridge 
Wells 

Dementia 1,458 2,774 1,317 90.3% 

Mobility problems 3,917 7,049 3,132 80.0% 

Source: Data from POPPI and demographic projections 

 

Indicative Need for Specialist Housing 

7.24 Given the ageing population and higher levels of disability and health problems amongst older 

people there is likely to be an increased requirement for specialist housing options moving forward. 

The analysis in this section draws on data from the Housing Learning and Information Network 

(Housing LIN) along with our demographic projections to provide an indication of the potential level 

of additional specialist housing that might be required for older people in the future. 

Page 196

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 137 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Current Stock of Specialist Housing  

7.25 Table 61 shows the current supply of specialist housing for older people. At present it is estimated 

that there are 2,808 units (1,592 in Sevenoaks and 1,216 in Tunbridge Wells). This is equivalent to 

135 units per 1,000 people aged 75 and over. This proportion varies from 124 per 1,000 in 

Tunbridge Wells up to 146 per 1,000 in Sevenoaks. The majority (66%) of this housing is in the 

affordable sector, even though the majority of older person households are owner-occupiers. 

Table 61: Current Supply of Specialist Housing for Older People 

 
Type of 
housing Market Affordable Total 

Supply per 

1,000 aged 

75+ 

Sevenoaks 

Sheltered 513 977 1,490 136 

Extra-Care 0 102 102 9 

Total 513 1,079 1,592 146 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

Sheltered 428 757 1,185 120 

Extra-Care 0 31 31 3 

Total 428 788 1,216 124 

Source: Housing LIN 

 

Projected Future Need for Specialist Housing 

7.26 A toolkit has been developed by Housing LIN ‘The Housing Learning Infiltration Network’, in 

association with the Elderly Accommodation Council and endorsed by the Department of Health, to 

identify potential demand for different types of specialist housing for older people and model the 

future range of housing and care provision. It suggests that there should be around 170 units of 

specialised accommodation (other than registered care home places) per thousand people aged 

over 75 years. 

7.27 Table 62 shows the change in the population aged 75 and over in each local authority and what this 

would mean in terms of provision at 170 units per 1,000 population. The analysis shows a potential 

need for 2,710 units across the two authorities – 135 per annum. This is around 11% of the total 

need identified in the demographic modelling (linked to the 2012-based SNPP and household 

projections with an affordability adjustment for younger person household formation). 

  

Page 197

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 138 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 62: Projected need for Specialist Housing for Older People (2013-33) 

 
Population 
aged 75+ 

(2013) 

Population 
aged 75+ 

(2033) 

Change in 
population 
aged 75+ 

Specialist 
housing need 
(@ 170 units 

per 1,000) 

Sevenoaks 10,922 18,679 7,757 1,319 

Tunbridge Wells 9,835 18,016 8,181 1,391 

Source: Derived from demographic projections and Housing LIN 

Types and Tenures of Specialist Housing 

7.28 Earlier in this section analysis has been carried out with regard to the tenure of older person 

households – the data was split between single pensioner households and those with two or more 

pensioners (which will largely be couples). The data showed that pensioner households are 

relatively likely to live in outright owned accommodation (71%) and are also more likely than other 

households to be in the social rented sector. There were however notable differences for different 

types of pensioner households with single pensioners having a lower level of owner-occupation 

than larger pensioner households as well as differences by location. 

7.29 The information about current supply of specialist housing indicates that slightly more of this is in 

the affordable sector than the market. Moving forward we would suggest that additional specialist 

housing should be split roughly 50:50 between the affordable and market sectors. This reflects the 

likely ‘market’ for specialist housing products as well as the current tenure profile of older person 

households (i.e. the current profile of specialist housing is focussed towards affordable housing and 

this is likely to in part reflect the need and demand for such accommodation, however, with 70% of 

older persons being outright owners there is the opportunity to broaden this housing offer to a wider 

range of household groups). 

7.30 The analysis is not specific about the types of specialist housing that might be required. We would 

consider that decisions about mix should be taken at a local level taking account of specific needs 

and the current supply of different types of units available (for example noting that at present the 

dominant type of housing is traditional sheltered accommodation). There may also be the 

opportunity moving forward for different types of provision to be developed as well as the more 

traditional sheltered and Extra-Care housing. 

7.31 Within the different models and assumptions made regarding the future need for specialist 

retirement housing (normally defined as a form of congregate housing designed exclusively for 

older people which usually offers some form of communal space, community alarm service and 

access to support and care if required), there may for example be an option to substitute some of 

Page 198

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 139 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

this specialist provision with a mix of one and two bedroomed housing aimed to attract ‘early retired’ 

older people which could be designated as age specific or not. Such housing could be part of the 

general mix of one and two bedroom homes but built to Lifetime Homes standards in order to attract 

retired older people looking to ‘down size’ but perhaps not wanting to live in specialist retirement 

housing.  

7.32 Our experience when carrying out stakeholder work as part of SHMA commissions typically 

identifies a demand for bungalows. Where developments including bungalows are found it is clear 

that these are very popular to older people downsizing. It should be acknowledged that providing 

significant numbers of bungalows involves cost implications for the developer given the typical plot 

size compared to floor space – however providing an element of bungalows should be given strong 

consideration on appropriate sites, allowing older households to downsize while freeing up family 

accommodation for younger households. 

 

Registered Care Housing 

7.33 As well as the need for specialist housing for older people the analysis needs to consider 

Registered Care. At present (according to Housing LIN) there are around 1,873 spaces in nursing 

and residential care homes (850 in Sevenoaks and 1,023 in Tunbridge Wells). Given new models of 

provision (including Extra-care housing) it may be the case that an increase in this number would 

not be required. There will however need to be a recognition that there may be some additional 

need for particular groups such as those requiring specialist nursing or for people with dementia. 

7.34 As with the analysis of potential need for specialist accommodation, the analysis below considers 

changes to the number of people aged 75 and over who are expected to be living in some form of 

institutional housing. This is a direct output of the demographic modelling which indicates an 

increase of 1,307 people living in institutions over the 2013-33 period (65 per annum). This is split 

as 511 (26 per annum) in Sevenoaks and 796 (40 per annum) in Tunbridge Wells. These figures 

are important to note if the Councils intend to include C2 class uses in their assessment of 5-year 

housing land supply as it will be necessary to include figures on both the need and supply side of 

the equation.  

  

Page 199

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 140 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 63: Potential Need for Residential Care Housing 

 Institutional 
population aged 75+ 

(2013) 

Institutional 
population aged 75+ 

(2033) 

Change in 
institutional 

population aged 75+ 

Sevenoaks 622 1,133 511 

Tunbridge Wells 862 1,659 796 

Source: Derived from demographic projections 

 

People with Disabilities 

7.35 This section concentrates on the housing situation of people/households that contain someone with 

some form of disability. We have again drawn on Census data although it should be recognised that 

an analysis of people with disabilities is very strongly linked with the above analysis about older 

people. 

7.36 Table 64 shows the proportion of people with a long-term health problem or disability (LTHPD) and 

the proportion of households where at least one person has a LTHPD. The data suggests that 

across the two local authorities some 22%-23% of households contain someone with a LTHPD. 

These figures are lower than the equivalent figures for all of the County, the region and nationally. 

The figures for the population with a LTHPD again show a lower proportion when compared with 

regional and national figures (an estimated 14%-15% of the population of the study area have a 

LTHPD). 

7.37 For the individual local authorities the data suggests little difference between the two areas – 

Sevenoaks seeing a very slightly higher level of disability than Tunbridge Wells (although this is 

likely to be related to the higher proportion of older people living in Sevenoaks). 

Table 64: Households and people with Long-Term Health Problem or Disability (2011) 

Area 

Households containing 
someone with health problem 

Population with health problem 

Number % Number % 

Sevenoaks 10,753 22.9% 17,091 14.9% 

Tunbridge Wells 10,503 22.3% 16,371 14.2% 

Kent 154,753 25.6% 257,038 17.6% 

South East 839,086 23.6% 1,356,204 15.7% 

England 5,659,606 25.7% 9,352,586 17.6% 

Source: 2011 Census 

Page 200

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 141 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

7.38 As noted, it is likely that the age profile of the area will impact upon the numbers of people with a 

LTHPD, as older people tend to be more likely to have a LTHPD. Therefore Figure 62 shows the 

age bands of people with a LTHPD. It is clear from this analysis that those people in the oldest age 

bands are more likely to have a LTHPD – for example some 79%-80% of people aged 85 and over 

have a LTHPD. It should be noted that the base for the figure below is slightly different to the above 

table in that it excludes people living in communal establishments.  

7.39 When compared with the County and national situation (and to a lesser extent regional data), the 

data suggests lower levels of LTHPD for all age groups. 

Figure 62: Population with Long-Term Health Problem or Disability in each Age Band 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.40 The age specific prevalence rates shown above can be applied to the demographic data to estimate 

the likely increase over time of the number of people with a LTHPD. In applying this information to 

the 2012-based SNPP (adjusted to take account of 2013 mid-year population data) it is estimated 

that the number of people with a LTHPD will increase by around 14,200 (a 42% increase) – the 

increase is expected to be slightly higher in Tunbridge Wells than Sevenoaks. 

  

3.
1%

 

4.
8%

 

5.
1%

 

7.
5%

 15
.4

%
 

28
.3

%
 

52
.8

%
 

79
.7

%
 

14
.3

%
 

3.
2%

 

5.
2%

 

5.
3%

 

8.
5%

 15
.5

%
 

27
.3

%
 

51
.8

%
 

79
.1

%
 

13
.5

%
 

4.
2%

 

5.
8%

 

6.
5%

 

10
.6

%
 20

.6
%

 

35
.1

%
 

58
.1

%
 

82
.0

%
 

16
.9

%
 

3.
5%

 

5.
1%

 

5.
6%

 

9.
4%

 18
.0

%
 

31
.8

%
 

55
.3

%
 

80
.6

%
 

15
.1

%
 

3.
7%

 

5.
2%

 

6.
3%

 

11
.7

%
 

23
.1

%
 

38
.7

%
 

60
.9

%
 

83
.0

%
 

17
.2

%
 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Age 0 to 15 Age 16 to 24 Age 25 to 34 Age 35 to 49 Age 50 to 64 Age 65 to 74 Age 75 to 84 Age 85 and
over

All ages

%
 w

ith
 lo

ng
-t

er
m

 h
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
 o

r 
di

sa
bi

lit
y 

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

Page 201

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 142 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 65: Estimated change in population with LTHPD (2013-33) 

Area 
Population with LTHPD 

Change (2013-
33) 

% change 
from 2013 

2013 2033 

Sevenoaks 17,477 24,324 6,847 39.2% 

Tunbridge Wells 16,531 23,877 7,346 44.4% 

Source: Derived from demographic modelling and Census (2011) 

7.41 The figure below shows the tenures of people with a LTHPD – it should be noted that the data is for 

population living in households rather than households and is therefore not comparable with other 

tenure analysis provided in this section. The analysis clearly shows that people with a LTHPD are 

more likely to live in social rented housing and are also more likely to be outright owners (this will be 

linked to the age profile of the population with a disability). Given that typically the lowest incomes 

are found in the social rented sector and to a lesser extent for outright owners the analysis would 

suggest that the population/households with a disability are likely to be relatively disadvantaged 

when compared to the rest of the population. 

Figure 63: Tenure of people with LTHPD – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.42 Figure 64 shows the tenures of people with a LTHPD by local authority and other comparator areas. 

The data shows a similar pattern across areas with high proportions of outright owners and people 

in the social rented sector. Within this however, the data does show a higher proportion in social 

rented housing in Tunbridge Wells and a higher proportion of outright owners in Sevenoaks. 

46.1% 

26.2% 29.0% 

19.4% 
47.2% 43.3% 

24.7% 11.7% 13.5% 

9.8% 14.9% 14.2% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

People with LTHPD People without LTHPD All people in households

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented & other

Page 202

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 143 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 64: Tenure of people with LTHPD – by local authority 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

BME Households  

7.43 Black or Minority Ethnic (BME) households, as a group, are quite often found to have distinct 

characteristics in terms of their housing needs, or may be disadvantaged in some way. 

7.44 From 2011 Census data we find that around 8% of the population of Sevenoaks came from a non-

White (British/Irish) background with a slightly higher figure (of 10%) being seen in Tunbridge Wells. 

These figures are below that found across the region (14%) and also nationally (19%). The 

proportion of the population from a BME group is however consistent with the average for Kent 

(10%). The key BME group in both areas is Other-White (which is likely to contain a number of 

Eastern European migrants) – the Other-White population makes up 3.6% of all people in 

Sevenoaks and 4.3% in Tunbridge Wells. 

  

48.9% 
43.1% 44.6% 45.2% 42.0% 

20.4% 

18.4% 
20.7% 20.9% 

19.6% 

22.6% 
26.9% 22.1% 22.6% 27.0% 

8.1% 11.7% 12.6% 11.3% 11.4% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented & other

Page 203

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 144 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 66: Black and Minority Ethnic Population (2011) 

Ethnic Group Sevenoaks 
Tunbridge 

Wells 
Kent South East England 

White: British 91.0% 89.6% 89.1% 85.2% 79.8% 

White: Irish 0.8% 0.8% 0.7% 0.9% 1.0% 

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.1% 

White: Other White 3.6% 4.3% 3.6% 4.4% 4.6% 

Mixed: White & Black Caribbean 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.5% 0.8% 

Mixed: White & Black African 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% 

Mixed: White & Asian 0.6% 0.7% 0.5% 0.7% 0.6% 

Mixed: Other Mixed 0.3% 0.4% 0.4% 0.5% 0.5% 

Asian: Indian 0.6% 0.6% 1.2% 1.8% 2.6% 

Asian: Pakistani 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 1.1% 2.1% 

Asian: Bangladeshi 0.1% 0.4% 0.2% 0.3% 0.8% 

Asian: Chinese 0.4% 0.5% 0.4% 0.6% 0.7% 

Asian: Other Asian 0.5% 0.8% 1.2% 1.4% 1.5% 

Black: African 0.5% 0.4% 0.8% 1.0% 1.8% 

Black: Caribbean 0.2% 0.1% 0.2% 0.4% 1.1% 

Black: Other Black 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.5% 

Other ethnic group: Arab 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.4% 

Any other ethnic group 0.1% 0.2% 0.4% 0.4% 0.6% 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Total population 114,893 115,049 1,463,740 8,634,750 53,012,456 

% non-White (British/Irish) 8.2% 9.6% 10.2% 13.9% 19.3% 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.45 Since 2001 the BME population in the study area can be seen to have increased significantly as 

shown in Tables 67 and 68. We have condensed some categories together due to a slightly 

different list of potential groups being used in the 2011 Census when compared with 2001 data. In 

Sevenoaks, the data shows that whilst the overall population has risen by 5,600 over the 10-year 

period the increase in BME groups (all groups other than White (British/Irish)) has been 4,300. The 

White (British/Irish) population has therefore increased by 1% compared to an increase of 82% in 

BME groups (all combined). In Tunbridge Wells, the White (British/Irish) population grew by about 

5%, with BME groups increasing by 107% 

Page 204

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 145 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

7.46 Looking at particular BME groups we see that the largest rises in terms of population have been for 

White-Other and Asian people. This latter group also sees one of the highest increases in 

proportionate terms – a 129% rise in population in Sevenoaks and 182% in Tunbridge Wells. 

Table 67: Change in BME groups 2001 to 2011 – Sevenoaks 

Ethnic Group 2001 2011 Change % change 

White (British/Irish) 104,151 105,488 1,337 1.3% 

White – Other 2,921 4,541 1,620 55.5% 

Mixed 847 1,675 828 97.8% 

Asian or Asian British 910 2,085 1,175 129.1% 

Black or Black British 259 853 594 229.3% 

Chinese and other 217 251 34 15.7% 

Total 109,305 114,893 5,588 5.1% 

Non-White 
(British/Irish) 

5,154 9,405 4,251 82.5% 

Source: Census (2001 and 2011) 

Table 68: Change in BME groups 2001 to 2011 – Tunbridge Wells 

Ethnic Group 2001 2011 Change % change 

White (British/Irish) 98,680 103,995 5,315 5.4% 

White – Other 2,780 5,244 2,464 88.6% 

Mixed 949 1,893 944 99.5% 

Asian or Asian British 1,029 2,903 1,874 182.1% 

Black or Black British 266 638 372 139.8% 

Chinese and other 326 376 50 15.3% 

Total 104,030 115,049 11,019 10.6% 

Non-White 
(British/Irish) 

5,350 11,054 5,704 106.6% 

Source: Census (2001 and 2011) 

7.47 When comparing the findings with regional and national data it can be seen that the increase in the 

BME community has been stronger in the study area than across England but lower than seen in 

Kent. BME growth in Tunbridge Wells has been above the regional average, with the opposite 

pattern being seen with regard to Sevenoaks. 

Page 205

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 146 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 69: Change in non-White (British/Irish) population – 2001-11 

 
Population 

(2001) 
Population 

(2011) 
Change 

from 2001 
% change 
from 2001 

Sevenoaks 5,154 9,405 4,251 82.5% 

Tunbridge Wells 5,350 11,054 5,704 106.6% 

Kent 67,548 149,943 82,395 122.0% 

South East 613,562 1,202,181 588,619 95.9% 

England 5,767,580 10,216,219 4,448,639 77.1% 

Source: Census (2001 and 2011) 

BME Household Characteristics  

7.48 Census data can also be used to provide some broad information about the household and housing 

characteristics of the BME population in the study area. Figures 65 and 66 look at the population 

age structure of six broad age groups using data from the 2011 Census. 

7.49 The age profile of the BME population is striking when compared with White: British/Irish people. All 

BME groups are considerably younger than the White (British/Irish) group with people from a Mixed 

background being particularly likely to be aged under 15 when compared with any other group. The 

proportions of older persons are also notable with 24%-27 of White (British/Irish) people being aged 

60 or over – this compares with all BME groups showing proportions of no more than about 15% in 

this age group. The age structure profile of BME groups is similar in each of Sevenoaks and 

Tunbridge Wells. 

  

Page 206

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 147 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 65: Population age profile (2011) – Sevenoaks 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

Figure 66: Population age profile (2011) – Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.50 There are notable differences between the household characteristics of BME households and the 

White: British population. Figure 67 indicates that BME groups are less likely to be owner-occupiers 

18.3% 

17.9% 

26.8% 

17.0% 

51.6% 

20.5% 

17.6% 

15.1% 

15.5% 

17.0% 

18.5% 

18.6% 

16.8% 

14.9% 

19.5% 

31.5% 

27.9% 

33.6% 

15.0% 

33.7% 

18.6% 

21.2% 

20.3% 

23.6% 

19.7% 

8.8% 

17.9% 

21.5% 

16.9% 

11.6% 

3.3% 

9.1% 

4.5% 

8.2% 

17.8% 

9.0% 

3.2% 

1.4% 

2.2% 

1.4% 

3.0% 

9.6% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

All groups

Other

Black

Asian

Mixed

White: Other

White: British/Irish

Under 15 15-29 30-44 45-59 60-74 75 and over

19.1% 

13.0% 

19.3% 

19.3% 

43.3% 

15.2% 

18.9% 

17.0% 

23.4% 

20.2% 

26.9% 

25.0% 

23.6% 

16.2% 

21.1% 

35.1% 

34.5% 

31.8% 

17.9% 

33.6% 

20.1% 

20.1% 

18.6% 

20.4% 

16.1% 

9.4% 

17.4% 

20.5% 

14.5% 

6.9% 

4.9% 

4.7% 

2.8% 

7.4% 

15.4% 

8.2% 

2.9% 

0.8% 

1.2% 

1.6% 

2.8% 

8.8% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

All groups

Other

Black

Asian

Mixed

White: Other

White: British/Irish

Under 15 15-29 30-44 45-59 60-74 75 and over

Page 207

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 148 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

(particularly outright owners) and more likely to live in private rented accommodation. Arguably the 

starkest trend is the 36% of White (Other) and 31% of Asian households living in the private rented 

sector. 

Figure 67: Tenure by ethnic group – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.51 Looking at individual local authorities (Figure 68) the data shows some differences by location. In 

Tunbridge Wells, some 38% of BME households live in the private rented sector with a figure of 

only 25% being seen in Sevenoaks – this area also sees a notably higher proportion of owner-

occupiers than other locations. When compared with England the data shows that BME households 

are slightly more likely to be owner-occupiers (and therefore less likely to live in rented 

accommodation (particularly social rented homes)). 

  

36.0% 

20.0% 17.4% 19.2% 
9.5% 

16.0% 

34.8% 

35.8% 

29.2% 
40.4% 36.9% 

46.3% 35.1% 

35.7% 

14.4% 

10.2% 

14.7% 
9.5% 15.2% 

16.8% 

14.2% 

11.2% 

36.1% 
21.7% 30.7% 

27.1% 29.0% 

12.7% 

2.5% 4.6% 5.9% 3.7% 2.0% 3.1% 2.6% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

White
(British/Irish)

White (Other) Mixed Asian Black Other All groups

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 208

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 149 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 68: Tenure of BME households – by District and comparator areas 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.52 The strong representation of BME households in the Private Rented Sector means that they are 

more likely to be affected by the changes discussed to Local Housing Allowance (particularly as the 

sector in the study area shows a strong representation of LHA Claimants). 

7.53 As BME communities mature over time, the level of owner occupation may increase. The pace at 

which this happens may be influenced by economic opportunities available as well as the level of 

enterprise within the local community. For some communities there may be support mechanisms 

which can work within the community, such as availability of interest free loans or support raising a 

deposit to buy a home, depending on cultural factors.  

7.54 Figure 69 shows ‘occupancy ratings’ by BME group; this is based on the bedroom standard where a 

positive figure indicates under-occupancy and negative figures suggest some degree of over-

crowding. BME groups are more likely to be overcrowded (i.e. have a negative occupancy rating) 

than White (British) households. In particular, the Census data suggests that around 12% of Asian 

households are overcrowded – this compares with only 3% of the White (British/Irish) group. Levels 

of under-occupancy amongst BME communities are generally low. 

  

22.4% 
15.4% 16.9% 15.8% 14.9% 

39.2% 

29.6% 
32.9% 33.6% 

28.4% 

9.6% 

12.4% 
10.4% 12.3% 21.6% 

24.7% 

38.2% 34.6% 34.1% 31.5% 

4.1% 4.3% 5.3% 4.2% 3.5% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 209

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 150 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 69: Occupancy rating by ethnic group – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.55 Looking at individual local authorities (Figure 70) the analysis does suggest some differences. 

Tunbridge Wells has a notably higher level of overcrowding and low levels of under-occupancy with 

the opposite being seen in Sevenoaks. The occupancy ratings in Tunbridge Wells are similar to 

those observed across England although levels of overcrowding are more in line with County and 

regional data. In Sevenoaks, overcrowding amongst BME households is low when compared with 

other areas and levels of under-occupancy are quite high. The analysis does however suggest in all 

areas that BME households are more likely to be overcrowded and less likely to be under-

occupying homes than White (British/Irish) households. 

  

41.6% 
29.7% 31.5% 27.7% 

19.6% 
26.3% 

40.7% 

32.0% 

27.2% 
29.3% 

26.9% 
32.0% 

25.6% 

31.7% 

23.7% 

34.9% 
35.0% 

33.8% 39.7% 40.1% 

24.5% 

2.7% 
8.2% 4.2% 

11.7% 8.8% 8.0% 3.1% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

White
(British/Irish)

White (Other) Mixed Asian Black Other All groups

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

+2 or more 1 0 -1 or less

Page 210

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 151 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 70: Occupancy rating of BME households – by local authority 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

 

Family Households 

7.56 The number of families in the study area (defined for the purpose of this assessment as any 

household which contains at least one dependent child) totalled 28,300 as of the 2011 Census (with 

similar numbers seen in each of Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells), accounting for 30% of 

households. This proportion is very slightly higher than the County, regional and national average. 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells do however see a higher proportion of married couple households 

with dependent children and lower proportions in other groups (most notably a low proportion of 

lone parents). 

  

37.1% 

21.6% 23.8% 23.6% 
18.3% 

30.6% 

25.3% 
30.9% 29.4% 

27.6% 

26.5% 

42.2% 
35.0% 36.1% 

39.6% 

5.8% 
10.9% 10.4% 10.9% 14.5% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

+2 or more 1 0 -1 or less

Page 211

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 152 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 70: Households with dependent children (2011) 

  

M
a

rrie
d

 

c
o

u
p

le
 

C
o

h
a

b
itin

g
 

c
o

u
p

le
 

L
o

n
e

 p
a

re
n

t 

O
th

e
r 

h
o

u
s

e
h

o
ld

s
 

A
ll o

th
e

r 

h
o

u
s

e
h

o
ld

s
 

T
o

ta
l 

T
o

ta
l w

ith
 

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 

c
h

ild
re

n
 

Sevenoaks 
No. 9,139 1,809 2,287 838 32,947 47,020 14,073 

% 19.4% 3.8% 4.9% 1.8% 70.1% 100.0% 29.9% 

Tunbridge 
Wells 

No. 8,993 1,884 2,465 855 32,977 47,174 14,197 

% 19.1% 4.0% 5.2% 1.8% 69.9% 100.0% 30.1% 

Kent % 16.0% 4.6% 6.8% 2.3% 70.4% 100.0% 29.6% 

South East % 17.1% 3.9% 6.1% 2.3% 70.6% 100.0% 29.4% 

England % 15.3% 4.0% 7.1% 2.6% 70.9% 100.0% 29.1% 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.57 The demographic projection linked to the 2012-based SNPP (and with an adjustment to take 

account of 2013 mid-year population data) suggests that the number of children (aged 15 and 

under) is expected to increase from 2013 to 2033 (an increase of 3,400 – 16% increase in 

Sevenoaks and 2,000 (9%) in Tunbridge Wells). 

Table 71: Estimated change in population aged 15 and under (2013-33) 

Area 

Population aged 15 and 
under Change 

(2013-33) 
% change 
from 2013 

2013 2033 

Sevenoaks 21,540 24,928 3,388 15.7% 

Tunbridge Wells 21,850 23,807 1,957 9.0% 

Source: Derived from demographic modelling 

7.58 Figure 71 shows the current tenure of households with dependent children. There are some 

considerable differences by household type with lone parents having a very high proportion living in 

the social rented sector and also in private rented accommodation. Only around two-fifths of lone 

parent households are owner-occupiers compared with 81% of married couples with children. 

  

Page 212

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 153 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 71: Tenure of households with dependent children – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.59 Figure 72 shows the current tenure of households with dependent children for each individual local 

authority area (the figures are for all households with dependent children combined). The data 

tends to show a similar pattern in each location although Sevenoaks stands out as having a lower 

proportion living in social and private rented accommodation. Overall, both Tunbridge Wells and to 

a greater extent Sevenoaks show higher proportions of households with dependent children living in 

owner-occupied accommodation and lower proportions in rented homes (both private and social) 

when compared with other comparator locations. 

  

13.8% 
5.4% 9.9% 

20.0% 

44.4% 
34.8% 

12.4% 

67.5% 

45.3% 
29.1% 

45.5% 

26.6% 
35.7% 

56.8% 

7.7% 

27.4% 

37.1% 

17.2% 
13.5% 14.2% 15.8% 

10.0% 
21.0% 22.9% 

15.9% 13.8% 13.9% 13.9% 

1.0% 0.9% 1.1% 1.3% 1.7% 1.5% 1.0% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Married
couple

Cohabiting
couple

Lone parent Other
households

All other
households

(no
dependent
children)

All
households

All
households

with
dependent

children

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 213

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 154 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 72: Tenure of households with dependent children – by local authority 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.60 Overcrowding is often a key theme when looking at the housing needs of households with children 

and Figure 73 shows that households with children are about five times more likely than other 

households to be overcrowded. In total, some 7% of all households with dependent children are 

overcrowded. Included within this, the data shows particularly high levels of overcrowding amongst 

lone parent households and ‘other’ households with dependent children. Other than for married 

couple households levels of under-occupancy are also very low. 

  

12.9% 11.9% 9.0% 9.4% 9.4% 

58.8% 
54.8% 

53.9% 55.2% 51.0% 

14.4% 
17.2% 

16.5% 16.0% 20.0% 

12.8% 15.1% 19.8% 18.6% 18.8% 

1.1% 1.0% 0.8% 0.8% 0.9% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 214

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 155 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 73: Occupancy rating and households with dependent children – Sevenoaks and 
Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.61 Figure 74 shows occupancy rates of households with dependent children by local authority and a 

range of comparator areas. The data shows a higher level of overcrowding in Tunbridge Wells 

along with a lower level of under-occupancy; however, when compared with other locations, 

overcrowding in this area is quite modest. When compared with other areas, the data reveals a 

particularly low level of overcrowding in Sevenoaks and well as a high proportion of households 

with dependent children who under-occupy. 

  

35.2% 

13.4% 10.8% 16.4% 

46.5% 
40.7% 

27.2% 

37.3% 

32.0% 
30.0% 22.0% 

30.5% 
31.7% 

34.4% 

23.7% 

45.6% 49.5% 

33.1% 

21.5% 
24.5% 

31.4% 

3.8% 9.0% 9.7% 

28.5% 

1.5% 3.1% 7.0% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Married couple Cohabiting
couple

Lone parent Other
households

All other
households

(no dependent
children)

All households All households
with

dependent
children

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

+2 or more 1 0 -1 or less

Page 215

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 156 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 74: Occupancy rating and households with dependent children – by local authority 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

Young People 

7.62 Providing for the needs of younger person households is an important consideration for the 

Councils. Given ageing populations, the ability to retain young people in an area can assist in 

providing a more balanced demographic profile as well as providing a vital part of the local 

workforce. Young people may however find barriers to accessing housing given typically low 

incomes and potential difficulties in securing mortgage finance due to deposit requirements. 

Additionally, LHA payments may limit choice for under-35s requiring private rented homes. 

7.63 The demographic projections (linked to the 2012-based SNPP and CLG household projections) 

suggest that in 2013 there were around 12,700 households headed by someone aged under 35 and 

that this is set to remain virtually unchanged over the period from 2013 to 2033. 

Table 72: Estimated change in households headed by someone aged under 35 (2013-33) – 

using 2012-based CLG household formation rates 

Area 
Households aged under 35 

Change 
(2013-33) 

% change 
from 2013 

2013 2033 

Sevenoaks 5,306 5,370 63 1.2% 

Tunbridge Wells 7,348 7,249 -99 -1.3% 

Source: Derived from demographic modelling 

7.64 The data above uses the 2012-based CLG household projections; if the analysis is re-run with an 

uplift to the formation rates of the population aged 25-34 (as in the suggested market signals uplift) 

28.2% 26.1% 
17.8% 19.8% 15.9% 

36.0% 
32.9% 

36.0% 36.3% 
35.6% 

30.0% 
32.8% 

37.6% 35.5% 
37.6% 

5.7% 8.2% 8.5% 8.4% 10.9% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

+2 or more 1 0 -1 or less

Page 216

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 157 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

then there is actually expected to be an increase in the number of younger households – increasing 

by 16% (860) in Sevenoaks and 3% (230) in Tunbridge Wells over the full 2013-33 projection period. 

Table 73: Estimated change in households headed by someone aged under 35 (2013-33) – 

using 2012-based CLG household formation rates and a ‘market signals’ uplift 

Area 
Households aged under 35 

Change 
(2013-33) 

% change 
from 2013 

2013 2033 

Sevenoaks 5,306 6,167 861 16.2% 

Tunbridge Wells 7,348 7,578 230 3.1% 

Source: Derived from demographic modelling 

7.65 As well as households headed by a younger person there will be others living as part of another 

household (typically with parents). Table 74 shows the number of households in the study area with 

non-dependent children. In total, some 10% of households (9,200) contained non-dependent 

children in 2011 (11% in Sevenoaks and 9% in Tunbridge Wells). This may to some degree 

highlight the difficulties faced by young people in accessing housing. Ineligibility for social housing, 

lower household incomes and the unaffordability of owner occupation for such age groups all 

contribute to the current trend for young people moving in with or continuing to live with parents. 

The proportion of households with non-dependent children in the study area is broadly similar to the 

County, regional and national average. 

Table 74: Households with non-dependent children (2011) 

  
Married 
couple 

Cohabitin
g couple 

Lone 
parent 

All other 
household
s 

Total 

Total with 
non-
dependent 
children 

Sevenoaks 
No. 3,179 240 1,562 42,039 47,020 4,981 

% 6.8% 0.5% 3.3% 89.4% 100.0% 10.6% 

Tunbridge 
Wells 

No. 2,579 231 1,427 42,937 47,174 4,237 

% 5.5% 0.5% 3.0% 91.0% 100.0% 9.0% 

Kent % 5.7% 0.5% 3.2% 90.6% 100.0% 9.4% 

South East % 5.5% 0.5% 3.1% 90.9% 100.0% 9.1% 

England % 5.6% 0.5% 3.5% 90.4% 100.0% 9.6% 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.66 When considering households that are currently headed by a younger person we can use 2011 

Census data to look at some key characteristics. The figure below shows the tenure groups of 

Page 217

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 158 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

these households (compared with other age groups). The data clearly shows that very few younger 

households are owner-occupiers with a particular reliance on the private rented sector and to a 

lesser degree social rented housing. 

Figure 75: Tenure by age of HRP – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.67 When looking at the tenure groups of younger households by district (based on household 

reference persons aged under 35) the data shows similar patterns in all areas (i.e. a high reliance 

on the private rented sector). This is particularly strong in Tunbridge Wells with a somewhat lower 

figure (of 27%) being seen in Sevenoaks. Compared with County, regional and national data, 

Sevenoaks shows a lower reliance on the private rented sector and a higher proportion of owner-

occupiers – trends in Tunbridge Wells are broadly similar to that seen in other locations. 

  

4.9% 4.4% 
11.2% 

39.0% 

69.8% 71.8% 
66.1% 

34.8% 
12.0% 

39.8% 

57.0% 

40.1% 

11.0% 6.2% 
5.4% 

35.7% 

37.2% 

17.5% 

13.0% 

11.3% 
13.6% 15.9% 

20.3% 
14.2% 

38.6% 
33.4% 

16.5% 
7.6% 4.0% 3.5% 3.9% 

12.7% 
7.3% 4.8% 2.3% 2.1% 1.6% 2.5% 4.4% 2.6% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Age 24 and
under

Age 25 to
34

Age 35 to
49

Age 50 to
64

Age 65 to
74

Age 75 to
84

Age 85 and
over

All
households

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 218

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 159 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 76: Tenure of households aged under 35 – by local authority 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.68 Census data can also be used to look at economic activity rates; including employment and 

unemployment levels. Data about this is shown in Figure 77. The data shows that younger people 

are more likely to be unemployed than other age groups. The data shows that of the population 

aged 16-24 some 8% are unemployed, along with 4% of the 25-34 age group. 

  

5.0% 4.1% 3.4% 3.7% 4.1% 

42.2% 
31.0% 33.4% 33.3% 30.5% 

20.1% 

20.6% 18.2% 17.0% 19.7% 

26.8% 
39.6% 39.5% 40.2% 40.7% 

5.9% 4.6% 5.5% 5.8% 5.0% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Owner-occupied (no mortgage) Owner-occupied (with mortgage) Social rented Private rented Other

Page 219

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 160 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 77: Economic activity by age – Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

7.69 Data about economic activity has been provided below at a more localised level for the population 

aged under 35. The data shows that both Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells have around 6% of 

younger people who are unemployed. Compared with other locations (notably England) the data 

shows a relatively low level of unemployment amongst younger people in the two local authorities. 

Figure 78: Economic activity by location (people aged 16-34) 

 

Source: 2011 Census 

56.3% 

84.2% 83.5% 
71.7% 

13.7% 

62.0% 

8.5% 

3.7% 2.8% 

2.5% 

3.0% 

29.6% 

4.0% 

16.0% 

83.3% 

22.4% 

5.6% 10.8% 12.9% 9.5% 
2.6% 

8.7% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Age 16 to 24 Age 25 to 34 Age 35 to 49 Age 50 to 64 Age 65 and
over

All aged 16
and over

%
 o

f p
op

ul
at

io
n 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Working Unemployed Student Retired Other

71.1% 71.4% 66.8% 68.9% 65.8% 

6.2% 5.6% 
8.6% 7.3% 8.8% 

14.3% 14.5% 14.6% 15.2% 15.9% 

8.4% 8.3% 9.9% 8.5% 9.4% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells Kent South East England

%
 o

f p
op

ul
at

io
n 

in
 g

ro
up

 

Working Unemployed Student Retired Other

Page 220

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 161 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Build-to-Rent  

7.70 The size of the Private Rented Sector has grown in both Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells, and in 

Tunbridge Wells in 2011 accommodated more households than social rented housing.  

7.71 Between 2001-11, the number of households living in the Private Rented Sector grew by 2046 in 

Sevenoaks, and 3460 in Tunbridge Wells; with the size of the sector increasing – from 

accommodating 6.8% to 10.8% of households in Sevenoaks; and from 10.6% to 16.9% of 

households in Tunbridge Wells. The evidence is clear that it has been the major growth sector in 

the housing market.  

7.72 Linked in part to this, there is an increased interest from developers in “Build to Rent” housing, 

which is specifically built not for open market sale but for the Private Rented Sector. There is 

evidence occupier demand, linked to high house prices and borrowing restrictions which have 

resulted in an pool of young people in particular who are renting for longer.  

7.73 The sector provide the opportunity for good quality, well-managed rental accommodation which is 

purpose-build. In particular the sector provides the opportunity to boost overall housing delivery, as 

it does not compete directly with traditional housing development schemes which are built for sale. 

There are a number of active institutional investors and developers who are actively engaged in the 

sector.  

7.74 Government has been promoting Build-to-Rent housing. It has set up a Private Rented Sector 

Taskforce; and supported delivery though other measures – including a Build to Rent Fund which 

provides Government-backed loans to support new development.  

7.75 The sector is currently relatively small, but is one with growth potential. To support development of 

Build to Rent housing, the Council may well however need to be flexible in how affordable housing 

policies are applied. The financing of development is different from that of market-led development 

schemes where the properties are sold within a short-time of completion, generating a capital 

receipt. For private rental development, the return on the investment is staggered over a number of 

years. This impacts on finance costs and overall scheme viability.  

7.76 We would expect potential sites suitable for this type of product to be focused in the main towns 

and close to transport hubs.  

 

Custom/Self-Build 

7.77 SHMAs need to investigate the contribution that self-builds makes toward the local supply. Laying 

the Foundations – a Housing Strategy for England 2010 sets out that only one in 10 new homes in 

Page 221

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 162 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Britain was self-built in 2010 – a lower level than in other parts of Europe. It identifies barriers to self 

or custom-build development as including:  

 A lack of land;  

 Limited finance and mortgage products;  

 Restrictive regulation; and  

 A lack of impartial information for potential custom home builders.  

7.78 Government aspires to make self-build a ‘mainstream housing option’ and has thus sought to 

address these issues.  

7.79 There are now a number of websites which provide information on self- and custom-build housing, 

including www.self-build.co.uk, www.selfbuildportal.org.uk and www.nacsba.org.uk. The level of 

information and advice available is increasing. The Councils could signpost people to these.  

7.80 Government is proposing to introduce a “Right-to-Build” whereby Councils are required to set up 

and maintain a register of individuals who wish to build their own homes; and to use private sector 

land to provide service plots for individuals who want to build their own homes. A number of 

“vanguard” councils have been identified to test how this might work.    

7.81 Government has also introduced a £150 million Custom Build Service Plots Loan Fund, through 

which developers can bid for loan finance to bring forward serviced plots with planning permission 

which can be sold to individuals for custom-build development. Government has also mooted at 

extension of the Help-to-Buy Scheme to Custom Build, allowing potential self-builders to access 

finance with a 5% deposit. These schemes aim to increase land supply, and address barriers 

identified above.  

7.82 The SHMA needs to consider potential demand for self- or custom-build development. Sevenoaks 

District Council has set up a register of persons interested in self- or custom-build, but at the time of 

writing this report only one person has registered. As yet, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council is still 

to set up a register and wider information available is somewhat limited.  

7.83 We have sought principally to use the Custom Build Register maintained by BuildStore to consider 

potential demand. These are shown below, and should be treated as an indicative assessment as 

at September 2015.  

  

Page 222

Agenda Item 9

http://www.self-build.co.uk/
http://www.selfbuildportal.org.uk/
http://www.nacsba.org.uk/


 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 163 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 75: Interest in Self- and Custom-Build, Sept 2015   

 

Persons registered on 

BuildStore Custom-Build 

Register, Sept 2015  

Active Members on 

BuildStore Plot Search 

Register, Sept 2015  

Sevenoaks 39 152 

Tunbridge Wells  64 340  

Source:  BuildStore, Sept 2015  

7.84 There are a number of websites dedicated to advising and assisting people to self-build, of which 

BuildStore is the main one. BuildStore, as at September 2015, shows 7 potential plots available for 

self-build in Sevenoaks District; and 3 in Tunbridge Wells.  

7.85 From a development point of view, key issues with this market are associated with skills and risk: 

whist there may be notable number of people with an ‘interest’ in self-build, there is in some 

circumstances a significant financial outlay, risk and time-cost associated with self-build. 

Government’s drive is however likely to support some growth in this sector.  

7.86 We would expect most new delivery through self-build to be on small windfall sites; although there 

is some potential through policy to encourage developers of larger schemes to designate parts of 

these as plots available for custom build.  

7.87 While the focus of Self-build is understandably for market housing, there are opportunities for 

delivery of affordable homes through this method. One example of this is the ‘Build!’ programme run 

by Cherwell District Council in Oxfordshire. This programme offers individuals or interested groups 

the opportunity to come together to either build a new home, or to renovate and decorate an 

existing property. These properties are eventually available on a shared ownership or affordable 

rent tenure. In return for their labour, participants would receive reduced purchase price or lower 

rental rates. The level of discount applied would reflect the individual’s involvement in the build or 

renovation process.  

7.88 Overall self- and custom-build homes is a small sector of the housing market, but one with some 

potential to grow. It can help to increase overall housing delivery.  

7.89 To support growth, it would be appropriate for the Councils to consider whether planning policy for 

larger sites should require an element of land to be put aside to support Custom-build housing. 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council should also investigate putting in place a register of individuals 

with an interest in Custom-Build to provide more detailed information on demand, to support and 

provide a justification for seeking provision of plots on larger development schemes.  

  

Page 223

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 164 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Summary and Implications – Specific Groups of the Population  

7.90 A key issue over the period to 2033 will be meeting the needs of a growing older population, driven 

by demographic changes including increasing life expectancy. The number of people aged 65 and 

above expected to increase by 24,000 (54%) over the 20-years from 2013 to 2033. Demographic 

change is likely to see a requirement for additional levels of care/support along with provision of 

some specialist accommodation (particularly in the market sector). 

7.91 A growing older population will generate a need for specialist housing, as well as potentially 

nursing/ care home provision. It will also result in a need for properties suitable for those with 

disabilities, and adaptions to existing homes to take account of people’s changing needs. 

Demographic projections suggest a 135% increase in the population aged over 85 from 2013 to 

2033 with Census data suggesting that around 80% of this age group have some level of disability. 

7.92 The population from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) groups in the two local authorities is 

proportionally smaller than the regional and national average (and also slightly below equivalent 

figures for Kent). The BME population has however grown significantly over the past decade. 

Characteristics of BME groups (including tenure profiles and occupancy patterns) suggest that such 

households may be disadvantaged in the housing market. Where possible the Councils should 

provide advice to BME groups and in particular ensure that accommodation quality (particularly in 

the private rented sector) can meet the needs of such households which are disproportionately 

likely to contain children. 

7.93 As we might expect, younger households have a greater reliance on rented accommodation than 

other groups. Given that the housing options for young people may be more limited than for other 

groups it will be important to monitor the accommodation quality – this will need to focus on HMOs 

given general trends of an increase in house sharing over time. 

7.94 The analysis also points to potential for growth in the Private Rented Sector, including Build to Rent; 

but suggests that affordable housing policies may need to be applied somewhat flexibly given the 

different economics of this form of development compared to traditional market-led housing 

development schemes.  

7.95 Lone parents are particularly disadvantaged in the housing market with a high reliance on rented 

housing. Projections suggest an increase in the number of children in the two local authorities over 

the next few years and if past trends are repeated this will also see an increase in the number of 

lone parents. Again advice about housing options and maintaining a good quality of accommodation 

will be critical to ensure that such households’ needs are best met and that children are provided 

with a full range of opportunities (e.g. education) as they grow up. 

Page 224

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 165 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

7.96 Self- and Custom-Built Homes are identified as a further potential growth sector, with evidence of 

demand in both authorities. This is a small sector, but one with growth potential; and the analysis 

identifies a number of means through which the sector can be supported – including potentially 

through identifying plots on larger development schemes.    

 

 

 

  

Page 225

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 166 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

8 CONCLUSIONS  

8.1 This final section of the report draws together the preceding analysis to draw conclusions (leaving 

aside supply-based considerations) on:  

 Overall housing need;   

 Need from different sizes of homes (both market and affordable); and  

 Needs for particular types of homes, particularly from the growing older population.  

8.2 This report defines a West Kent Housing Market Area (HMA) which includes Sevenoaks, Tonbridge 

and Tunbridge Wells and extends to include Crowborough, Hawkhurst and Heathfield. Use of a 

‘best fit’ to local authority boundaries would include Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells; but there are 

evident cross-boundary interactions with the northern parts of Rother and Wealden in East Sussex; 

between Swanley and Dartford; and with London.  

8.3 An assessment of housing need is undertaken following the approach set out in Planning Practice 

Guidance (PPG). This is one whereby the latest population and household projections are a starting 

point; and then consideration is given as to whether this needs to be adjusted to take account of 

market signals, evidence of affordable housing need or to support expected economic growth. This 

is a prescribed approach, which is clearly set out by Government, and against which the evidence 

base is tested – such as at local plan examinations. This approach is used to define the full, 

objectively assessed need (OAN) for housing on a ‘policy off’ basis. Housing need is defined for the 

two local authorities of Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells as the NPPF requires (and as clarified by 

the case law)
17

.  

8.4 As national policy requires, the SHMA findings purposely “leaves aside” supply-side considerations 

and constraints to development – including land availability, infrastructure and Green Belt. These 

considerations are applied in bringing together the evidence, and testing options for development 

as part of the plan-making process. In effect, national policy sets out that development needs 

should be assessed leaving aside constraints (Stage 1); and then brought together with evidence 

related to land availability, development constraints, infrastructure  and unmet housing needs from 

other areas in deriving policy targets for housing provision through the development of local plans 

(Stage 2). The requirement for this two stage approach is clearly outlined in the case law
18

.  

8.5 Whilst national policy sets the bar high in terms of seeking to meet housing need
19

, and the ability to 

do so needs to be tested as part of the plan-making process, the housing need identified in the 

SHMA is not a housing target – and there may be sound reasons as to why the identified housing 

need cannot be sustainably accommodated.  

                                                      
17

 Satnam Millenium Ltd. V Warrington BC [2015] EWHC 370 (Admin)  
18

 City and District Council of St Albans vs. Hunston Properties Ltd [2013] EWCA Civ. 1610  
19

 The Hunston Case describes this as a “consideration of particular standing” 

Page 226

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 167 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

8.6 Housing targets will be set in local plans.  The SHMA provides an important input into setting 

targets for housing provision, but these will also take into account factors such as the supply of land 

for new development, Green Belt and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, local infrastructure 

capacity and wider environmental constraints. These factors may limit the amount of development 

which can be sustainably accommodated. 

Demographic Projections – the Starting Point  

8.7 Planning Practice Guidance sets out that “household projections published by the Department for 

Communities and Local Government should provide the starting point estimate of overall housing 

need.” The most up-to-date projections are the 2012-based CLG Household Projections published 

in February 2015. These projections were underpinned by ONS (2012-based) Sub-National 

Population Projections (SNPP) – published in May 2014.  

8.8 The SNPP are based on trends in births, deaths and migration. Migration is projected based on 

trends in domestic migration over the 2007-12 period; and international migration between 2006-12 

constrained to ONS national population projections. The projections are dynamic, and take account 

of how the age structure of the population in different areas is expected to change over time, and 

how this can be expected to influence migration flows.  

8.9 Given that the projections are influenced by trends between 2007-12, a period which included an 

economic recession, the analysis suggests a moderate increase in migration from London might be 

expected moving forwards. The potential impact of this has been modelled using assumptions 

consistent with those adopted in Further Alternations to the London Plan (FALP).  

8.10 The report concludes that an appropriate trend-based demographic projection would see population 

growth of 19,900 (17.0%) in Sevenoaks District and 19,200 (16.6%) in Tunbridge Wells Borough 

over the 2013-33 period.  

8.11 The report applies (age-specific) assumptions on household formation to the population projections, 

and includes an allowance for vacant and second homes within the housing stock (based on levels 

shown by the 2011 Census). This results in a demographic-led need for 524 homes per year (2013-

33) in Sevenoaks, and 631 homes per year in Tunbridge Wells. These provide the ‘starting point’ for 

assessing housing need, following the approach in the Planning Practice Guidance.  

 

  

Page 227

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 168 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Figure 79: Demographic-Led Assessment of Housing Need, Homes per Year 2013-33  

 

8.12 The assessment is based on the latest available evidence, draws on the official projections which 

are advocated in Planning Practice Guidance as based on nationally-consistent assumptions, and 

which take account of how changes in the size and structure of the population in different areas 

nationally can be expected to influence movement between areas.  

Supporting Economic Growth  

8.13 Following the approach in the PPG, consideration needs to be given to whether future economic 

performance might result in higher net migration to Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells than has been 

seen in the recent past. Consideration is expected to be given to employment trends and/or 

forecasts.  

8.14 Over the 1993-2010 period (which is equivalent to the last economic cycle), employment in 

Sevenoaks grew by an average of 1.0% per annum. In Tunbridge Wells, employment levels were 

static (0.0% growth).  

8.15 The report has considered economic forecasts from the East of England Forecasting Model (EEFM), 

from both the 2013 and 2014 model runs. The latest 2014 forecasts expect 0.8% pa growth in 

employment in Sevenoaks and in Tunbridge Wells – above the growth rate expected across the 

South East region (0.7% pa) but below that forecast across Kent (0.9% pa).  

 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells

H
o

u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d

 (
H

o
m

e
s
 p

a
 2

0
1
3

-3
3
_
 

Out-Migration from London

Base Demographic Need

Page 228

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 169 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 76: EEFM Economic Forecasts  

Area 
Forecast 

date 

Forecast Employment 

Growth2013-33 
% change 

Sevenoaks 2013 5,200 8.9% 

2014 8,900 16.5% 

Tunbridge Wells 2013 5,500 9.1% 

2014 10,000 16.8% 

8.16 The labour supply generated in the demographic-led projections is sufficient to support the 

expected growth in employment in the 2013 EEFM forecasts.  

8.17 The EEFM 2014 forecasts for Sevenoaks look reasonable set against past trends; whereas there is 

no substantive evidence to suggest that employment growth in Tunbridge Wells will be substantially 

stronger than seen historically, where employment numbers have been broadly static.  

8.18 GL Hearn conclude that, leaving aside supply-side constraints, economic performance in 

Sevenoaks District could drive an increase in net migration into the area than seen historically. The 

economic-led projection run shows a housing need for 577 homes per annum – 10% above the 

need shown in the demographic-led projections. This holds the ‘commuting ratio’ (the balance 

between residents in work and jobs) constant, but models some improvement to employment rates 

principally from expected increases in women and older persons within the workforce.  

8.19 Each authority intends to prepare studies considering economic growth and employment land 

needs. In light of more detailed work on economic growth potential, it may be necessary to revisit 

conclusions on housing need herein, depending on the scale of employment growth anticipated.  

Market Signals & Affordability  

8.20 The Planning Practice Guidance indicates that “the housing need number suggested by household 

projections (the starting point) should be adjusted to reflect appropriate market signals, as well as 

other market indicators of the balance between the demand for and supply of dwellings.” It identifies 

that where market signals point to poor and worsening affordability and an imbalance between 

supply and demand, an appropriate adjustment should be made to future housing provision.  

8.21 It indicates that rather than seek to estimate the precise impact of an increase in housing supply, 

plan makers should increase planned supply (relative to demographic projections) by an amount 

that, on reasonable assumptions and consistent with principles of sustainable development, could 

be expected to improve affordability, and monitor the response of the market over the plan period. 

8.22 The median house price in Sevenoaks is £302,000, and in Tunbridge Wells £260,000; both of which 

are above those across the wider housing market area and Kent (where the average is £210,000). 

The mapping of house prices undertaken however clearly shows that prices are similar to other 

Page 229

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 170 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

areas close to London. Whilst house price increases over the period since 2008 have been modest, 

particularly in real terms (taking account of inflation); growth in rents in both areas has been above 

inflation.  

8.23 The evidence points to notable affordability pressures, with the lower quartile (entry level) house 

prices 11 times earnings of younger households in Sevenoaks; and 9.7 times earnings in Tunbridge 

Wells. This compares to a ratio of 6.5 nationally.  

8.24 The analysis also suggests some real impacts of affordability pressures. Over the 2001-11 period, 

home ownership fell (with increasing numbers of households renting privately). Levels of over-

occupied households and those in shared housing increased, albeit that levels of both remain below 

Kent and national averages.  

8.25 As we might expect, the high housing costs have contributed to levels of households who require 

financial support in meeting their housing needs, and would be eligible for affordable housing. The 

report identifies a net need from 422 households per annum for affordable housing in Sevenoaks; 

and from 341 households per annum in Tunbridge Wells.   

8.26 This includes need arising from concealed and homeless households – who will require additional 

housing – as well as from overcrowded households, or those who seek an alternative tenure of 

accommodation, but would release a home for other households should a new affordable home be 

provided. Households in the former categories will generate a need for additional homes overall.  

8.27 The evidence from market signals, and from the affordable housing needs assessment, point to 

affordability pressures. The report provides evidence that deteriorating affordability (coupled with 

the credit crunch) resulted in a fall in household formation amongst households in their late 20s and 

early 30s over the 2001-11 period. An improvement in affordability can be expected to see a rise in 

household formation amongst these households.  

8.28 Taking account of market conditions, where sales volumes remain below pre-2008 levels and 

market capacity issues, coupled with the tightening of lending criteria for accessing mortgage 

finance, it is reasonable to expect household formation for younger households to improve 

gradually over time (if supply-side considerations such as land availability are left aside). The report 

models an improvement in household formation rates amongst households aged 25-34, returning to 

2001 levels by 2033. This adjustment is applied to the demographic and/or economic-led 

projections to derive conclusions on the objectively-assessed housing need.  

  

Page 230

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 171 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Conclusions on Objectively-Assessed Housing Need  

8.29 In drawing conclusions on the overall need for housing, we have followed the approach in the PPG, 

of starting out with trend-based demographic projections; and then considering whether these need 

to be adjusted to support economic growth or improve affordability. Drawing together the above 

analysis, a need for 12,400 homes is identified over the 2013-33 period in Sevenoaks District 

(620 per annum); and 12,960 homes (648 per annum) in Tunbridge Wells Borough. The need 

identified is built up as shown in the chart below.  

Figure 80: Objectively-Assessed Housing Need, 2013-33  

  

8.30 The assessment of housing need above does not include any specific provision from meeting 

unmet needs of adjoining areas. Where an adjoining authority has an unmet housing need, the 

potential to contribute to addressing this will need to be considered through the Duty to Cooperate.  

8.31 GL Hearn considers that where an authority is planning for higher migration than is shown in trend-

based projections, such as by seeking to accommodate economic growth, the upwards adjustments 

may provide scope to meet unmet needs from other areas. This recognises that if an authority is 

meeting unmet needs from another area, this would potentially support enhanced population and 

likely workforce growth in the recipient authority, which could contribute to support economic growth 

in its area.  

Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells

Improving Affordability 43 17

Supporting Economic Growth 53 0

Out-Migration from London 8 4

Base Demographic Need 516 627

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

H
o

m
e
s
 p

e
r 

A
n

n
u

m
, 

 
2
0
1
3
-3

3
 

Page 231

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 172 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Need for Different Types of Homes  

8.32 The NPPF in Paragraph 159 requires local planning authorities, through the SHMA, to identify the 

range of types and sizes of accommodation likely to be needed by the population in the future, 

including that required by those groups with specific housing needs. 

Mix of Homes of Different Sizes  

8.33 There are a range of factors which will influence demand for different sizes of homes. Section 6 

modelled the needs for different sizes of market and affordable homes over the 2013-33 period, 

based on an understanding of how the size and structure of the population is expected to change, 

and analysis of how households of different ages occupy homes. The SHMA concludes that the 

following represents an appropriate mix of affordable and market homes to plan for over the 2013-

33 period: 

Table 77: Recommended Housing Mix – Sevenoaks District 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 5-10% 25-30% 40-45% 20-25% 

Affordable 30-35% 30-35% 25-30% 5-10% 

All dwellings 15-20% 25-30% 35-40% 15-20% 

 

Table 78: Recommended Housing Mix – Tunbridge Wells Borough 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 5-10% 25-30% 35-40% 20-25% 

Affordable 35-40% 30-35% 20-25% 5-10% 

All dwellings 20% 30% 30% 20% 

 

8.34 The evidence suggests that the strongest demand for market housing will be for two and three 

bedroom properties.  

8.35 For affordable housing, there is a greater proportional need for one- and two-bedroom properties; 

however there remains a need for a balanced mix of dwellings of different sizes to come forward 

with delivery of larger properties being important in meeting the needs of households with an acute 

housing need, and releasing existing properties for other households.  

8.36 In applying policies on housing mix to individual development sites regard should be had to the 

nature of the development site and character of the area, and to up-to-date evidence of need as 

well as the existing mix and turnover of properties at the local level.  

Page 232

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 173 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

8.37 The analysis of an appropriate mix of dwellings should also inform the ‘portfolio’ of sites which are 

considered through the Local Plan process, including: Site Allocations, Neighbourhood Plans and 

other planning documents. Equally it will be of relevance to affordable housing negotiations. 

Affordable Housing Mix  

8.38 In respect of the need for different types of affordable housing, the SHMA has considered what 

households can afford, together with the supply through re-lets of existing housing stock. 

Conclusions regarding the need for different forms of affordable housing are shown below:  

Table 79: Need for Different Forms of Affordable Housing  

 
Intermediate Social / Affordable Rent 

Sevenoaks 24% 76% 

Tunbridge Wells 36% 64% 

8.39 The need for intermediate housing has been calculated on the basis of the proportion of households 

in need of affordable housing who can afford more than 80% of market rent levels. Such 

households might be eligible for:  

 Help-to-Buy Shared Ownership  

 Affordable Rent  

 Rent-to-Homebuy  

 Low Cost Sale / Starter Homes  

8.40 Policies for the mix of affordable housing need to take account not just of the needs evidence, but 

the evidence base regarding development viability, as well as local policy aspirations. As such in 

finalising policies, needs and viability evidence should be brought together. It may be appropriate 

for viability studies to test potential alternative policies for the mix of affordable housing in order to 

support overall delivery.  

Specialist Housing and Accommodation for Older Persons  

8.41 The SHMA indicates that the population of persons aged over 65 accounts for 18% of the 

population in Tunbridge Wells; and 20% in Sevenoaks. The number of residents aged over 65+ is 

expected to grow substantially – by 49% in Sevenoaks and 61% in Tunbridge Wells to 2033, with 

particularly strong growth expected in those aged over 75, driven by improving life expectancy.  

8.42 A growing older population and increasing longevity is expected to result in a substantial growth in 

people with dementia and mobility problems. Across the two areas, the number of people with 

mobility problems is expected to increase by over 6,000; with an increase of more than 2,500 

persons with dementia projected (based on the SNPP) to 2033. Some of these households will 

require adaptions to properties to meet their changing needs whilst others may require more 

specialist accommodation or support. There is clear evidence of need for properties which are 

capable of accommodating people’s changing needs.  

Page 233

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 174 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

8.43 There are currently over 2,800 units of specialist housing for older persons across the Study Area. 

Based principally on the expected growth in population of older persons, the SHMA estimates a 

need for an additional 1,300 specialist dwellings for older persons in Sevenoaks and 1,400 in 

Tunbridge Wells over the 2013-33 period. The need in different areas is shown below:  

Table 80: Need for Specialist Housing for Older Persons, 2013-33 

  
Specialist 

Housing Need, 
2013-33 

Annual Need for 
Specialist 
Housing 

% Overall OAN 

Sevenoaks 1,319 66 11% 

Tunbridge Wells 1,391 70 11% 

 

8.44 It may be the case that some existing sheltered housing is in a poor condition or suffers from low 

demand and that there remains a need for additional extra care accommodation – such as to 

reduce the proportion of households accommodated in residential care. The Councils should bring 

the SHMA analysis together with local knowledge of demand and the stock profile in determining 

the appropriate mix of specialist housing in development schemes.  

8.45 Specialist housing includes sheltered and extra care housing. The numbers of homes set out in the 

above table are considered to fall within a C3 use, and thus form part of the overall Objectively 

Assessed Need (OAN) for housing identified in this report.  

8.46 Decisions about the appropriate mix of specialist housing should take account of the current stock, 

other local needs evidence as appropriate, and policies regarding accommodation and care for 

older persons. The two authorities and county council should liaise as appropriate in this respect.  

8.47 Each Council should give consideration to how best to deliver the identified specialist housing need, 

including for instance the potential to identify sites in accessible locations for specialist housing or to 

require provision of specialist housing for older people as part of larger strategic development 

schemes.  

8.48 In addition to specialist housing, the potential for the wider housing stock to cater for a growing 

older population needs to be considered.  Many older people live in homes which they may have 

lived in for some years. Adaptions to properties and floating support may help households requiring 

support to remain in their home. 

8.49 Some households may wish to downsize, should suitable, attractive properties be available locally. 

This has been taken into account in deriving the findings regarding the future mix of market and 

affordable housing above.   

  

Page 234

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 175 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Need for Registered Care Provision  

8.50 Registered care provision falls within a C2 use class, with households who live in care homes 

counted as part of the institutional rather than the household population. As such provision of 

residential care is treated in the analysis of housing need separately in this report from that for C3 

dwellings.  

8.51 The SHMA indicates a net need for 511 C2 bedspaces for older persons in Sevenoaks and 796 

bedspaces in Tunbridge Wells over the 2013-33 period. The assessment should be treated as 

indicative, and does not seek to set policies in how older persons with care needs should be 

accommodated.  

Table 81: Need for Residential/ Nursing Care Bedspaces 

 Change in institutional population aged 75+, 2013-33 

Sevenoaks 511 

Tunbridge Wells 796 

 

8.52 These figures are important to note if the Councils intend to include C2 class uses in their 

assessment of 5-year housing land supply as it will be necessary to include figures on both the 

need and supply side of the equation.  

Self and Custom-Build Homes  

8.53 The SHMA indicates that there is potential for growth in housing delivery through self- and custom-

build housing. The SHMA provides indicative information on needs, based on data from BuildStore, 

as shown below.  

Table 82: Registered Interest in Self and Custom-Build Homes, Sept 2015  

 

Persons registered on 

BuildStore Custom-Build 

Register, Sept 2015  

Active Members on 

BuildStore Plot Search 

Register, Sept 2015  

Sevenoaks 39 152 

Tunbridge Wells  64 340 

 

8.54 To support growth in this market segment, responding to Government policy, it would be 

appropriate for the Councils to consider whether planning policy for larger sites should require an 

element of land to be put aside to support Custom-build housing. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

should also investigate putting in place a register of individuals with an interest in Custom-Build to 

provide more detailed information on demand, to support and provide a justification for seeking 

provision of plots on larger development schemes.  

Page 235

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 176 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Build-to-Rent  

8.55 The Private Rented Sector has grown significantly in size over the 2001-11 period in both 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells. There is potential, moving forwards, for institutional investment in 

‘Build-to-Rent’ housing schemes.  

8.56 The Build-to-Rent sector is currently small but there is growth potential. It can contribute positively 

to overall housing delivery, however the Councils may need to consider how affordable housing 

policies are applied to this Private Rented Sector housing, given that the viability of such schemes 

is very different to those of more ‘traditional’ market or mixed-tenure developments. 

Meeting the Needs of Other Vulnerable Groups  

8.57 The SHMA has considered the needs of a number of other vulnerable groups. The two local 

authorities have a relatively modest Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) population, but one which has 

been growing. BME households may be disadvantaged in the housing market. Where possible the 

Councils should provide advice to BME groups and in particular ensure that accommodation quality 

(particularly in the private rented sector) can meet the needs of such households which are 

disproportionately likely to contain children. 

8.58 The evidence also suggests that lone parent households are more likely to be disadvantaged than 

other household groups. Advice on housing options and securing good quality of accommodation 

will be critical to ensure that such households’ needs are best met and that children are provided 

with a full range of opportunities.  

8.59 Younger households in the two areas typically have a higher reliance on rented accommodation. 

Given that the housing options for young people may be more limited than for other groups it will be 

important to monitor the accommodation quality – this will need to focus on the quality of shared 

accommodation and housing within the Private Rented Sector.  

 

  

Page 236

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 177 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Appendices 

 

APPENDIX A: GLOSSARY AND DEFINITIONS  

Definitions used in this report are set out below.  

Affordable Housing Need 

1. Affordable housing need is defined as the number of households who lack their own housing or who 
live in unsuitable housing and who cannot afford to meet their housing needs in the market. 

Newly-Arising Need 

2. Newly-arising (or future) need is a measure of the number of households who are expected to have 
an affordable housing need at some point in the future. In this assessment we have used trend data 
from CoRe along with demographic projections about the number of new households forming (along 
with affordability) to estimate future needs. 

Supply of Affordable Housing  

3. An estimate of the likely future supply of affordable housing is also made (drawing on secondary 
data sources about past lettings). The future supply of affordable housing is subtracted from the 
newly-arising need to make an assessment of the net future need for affordable housing. 

Assessment of Affordability 

4. Affordability is assessed by comparing household incomes, based on income data modelled using a 
number of sources including CACI, ASHE, the English Housing Survey (EHS) and ONS data, 
against the cost of suitable market housing (to either buy or rent). Separate tests are applied for 
home ownership and private renting (in line with the SHMA Guidance) and are summarised below: 

A. Assessing whether a household can afford home ownership: A household is considered able 
to afford to buy a home if it costs 3.5 times the gross household income – CLG guidance 

suggests using different measures for households with multiple incomes (2.9) and those 

with a single income (3.5), however (partly due to data availability) we have only used a 3.5 
times multiplier for analysis. This ensures that affordable housing need figures are not over-
estimated – in practical terms it makes little difference to the analysis due to the inclusion of 
a rental test (below) which tends to require lower incomes for households to be able to 
afford access to market housing;  

B. Assessing whether a household can afford market renting: A household is considered able 
to afford market rented housing in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more 
than 30% of gross income. The choice of an appropriate threshold is an important aspect of 
the analysis, CLG guidance (of 2007) suggested that 25% of income is a reasonable start 
point but also notes that a different figure could be used. Analysis of current letting practice 
suggests that letting agents typically work on a multiple of 40% (although this can vary by 
area). Government policy (through Housing Benefit payment thresholds) would also suggest 
a figure of 40%+ (depending on household characteristics). Hence a pragmatic view has 
been taken in this assessment with a figure of 30% being adopted. Analysis has also been 
carried out to test the sensitivity of affordable need at different percentages (from 25% to 
40%). 

5. It should be recognised that a key challenge in assessing affordable housing need using secondary 
sources is the lack of information available regarding households’ existing savings. This is a key 
factor in affecting the ability of young households to purchase housing particularly in the current 
market context where a deposit of at least 10% is typically required for the more attractive mortgage 

Page 237

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 178 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

deals. The ‘help to buy’ scheme is likely to be making some improvements in access to the owner-
occupied sector although at present this is likely to be limited (although the impact of recent 
extensions to this scheme to include the second-hand market should be monitored moving forward). 
In many cases households who do not have sufficient savings to purchase have sufficient income to 
rent housing privately without support, and thus the impact of deposit issues on the overall 
assessment of affordable housing need is limited.  

Affordable Housing  

6. The NPPF provides the definition of affordable housing (as used in this report). The following is 
taken from Annex 2 of NPPF. 

“Affordable housing includes social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to 

specified eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Affordable housing should: 

 Meet the needs of eligible households including availability at a cost low enough for them to 
afford, determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices;  

 Include provision for the home to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households 
or, if these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision.” 

7. Within the definition of affordable housing there is also the distinction between social rented 
affordable rented, and intermediate housing. Social rented housing is defined as:  

“Rented housing owned and managed by local authorities and registered social landlords, for which 
guideline target rents are determined through the national rent regime. It may also include rented 
housing owned or managed by other persons and provided under equivalent rental arrangements to 
the above, as agreed with the local authority or with the Homes and Communities Agency as a 

condition of grant.” 

8. Affordable rented housing is defined as:  

“Rented housing let by registered providers of social housing to households who are eligible for 
social rented housing. Affordable Rent is not subject to the national rent regime but is subject to 
other rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80 per cent of the local market rent.” 

9. The definition of intermediate housing is shown below: 

“Intermediate affordable housing is ‘Housing at prices and rents above those of social rent, but below 
market price or rents. These can include shared equity products (e.g. HomeBuy), other low cost 
homes for sale and intermediate rent but does not include affordable rented housing.” 

Specialist Housing  

10. This is housing that has been specifically designed to meet the needs of people with particular 
needs. It can refer to housing that has been purpose designed or designated for a particular client 
group to assist tenants to live independently.  

Sheltered Housing  

11. Sheltered Homes are self-contained properties designated for older people that are linked to and 
supported by sheltered housing support staff. The support staff provides housing support to tenants 
to assist them live independently 

  

Page 238

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 179 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Extra Care Housing  

12. Extra Care Housing is designed with the needs of frailer older people in mind and with varying levels 
of care and support available on site. Extra-care housing is sometimes called very sheltered housing.  

 
 Registered Care Provision 
 

13. This is housing for people living in registered care homes which are managed and run by a care 
provider who is responsible for all aspects of their daily needs and wellbeing. Such housing is not 
self-contained and is often referred to as either residential or nursing care. 

 

 

 

  

Page 239

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 180 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

APPENDIX B: ANALYSIS OF LOCAL PRICES AND RENTS      
             

Local Prices & Rents 

 

1. An important part of the SHMA is to establish the entry-level costs of housing to buy and rent – this 

data is then used in the assessment of the need for affordable housing. The affordable housing 

needs assessment compares prices and rents with the incomes of households to establish what 

proportion of households can meet their needs in the market, and what proportion require support 

and are thus defined as having an ‘affordable housing need.’  

 

2. In this appendix we establish the entry-level costs of housing to both buy and rent across the study 

area. Our approach has been to analyse Land Registry and Valuation Office Agency (VOA) data to 

establish lower quartile prices and rents. For the purposes of analysis (and to be consistent with 

CLG guidance) we have taken lower quartile prices and rents to reflect the entry-level point into the 

market. 

 

3. Table 83 shows estimated lower quartile property prices by dwelling type. The data shows that entry-

level costs to buy are estimated to start from about £150,000 for a flat (in either area), and rising to 

£435,000 for a detached home in Sevenoaks District. Prices for all types of accommodation other 

than detached homes are fairly similar in the two areas. Looking at the lower quartile price across all 

dwelling types the analysis shows a range from £205,000 in Tunbridge Wells, up to £232,500 in 

Sevenoaks. 

 

Table 83: Lower quartile sales prices by type (2014) 

Dwelling type Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

Flat £150,300 £149,700 

Terraced £206,400 £208,000 

Semi-detached £250,000 £250,000 

Detached £435,000 £385,000 

All dwellings £232,500 £205,000 

Source: Land Registry (2014) 

 

4. A similar analysis has been carried out for private rents using Valuation Office Agency (VOA) data – 

this covers a 12-month period to September 2014. For the rental data information about dwelling 

sizes is provided (rather than types); the analysis shows an average lower quartile cost (across all 

dwelling sizes) of between £675 per month (in Tunbridge Wells), rising to £850 in Sevenoaks. When 

compared with the price data, it is worthwhile to note that rents in Sevenoaks are higher for all 

dwelling sizes – with the price data figures broadly similar other than for larger (detached) properties. 

 

Table 84: Lower quartile private rents by size and location (year to September 2014) – per 

month 

Dwelling type Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

Room only - £368 

Studio - £475 

Page 240

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 181 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

1 bedroom £695 £595 

2 bedrooms £825 £795 

3 bedrooms £1,100 £850 

4+ bedrooms £1,900 £1,488 

All dwellings £850 £675 

Source: Valuation Office Agency 

 

5. In addition to rental costs from our internet survey we have looked at the maximum amount of Local 

Housing Allowance (LHA) payable on different sized properties within the area. Maximum LHA 

payments are based on estimates of rents at the 30
th
 percentile and should therefore be roughly 

comparable with our estimates of lower quartile costs.  

 

6. The geographical areas used to determine LHA are not however co-terminus with local authority 

boundaries and so any comparison is not exact. LHA levels are based on Broad Rental Market 

Areas (BRMA). The BRMA is an area where a person could reasonably be expected to live taking 

into account access to facilities and services for the purposes of health, education, recreation, 

personal banking and shopping (as defined by the Rent Office). 

 

7. Parts of each of the two local authorities fall into three different BRMAs, however the majority of both 

districts are within the High Weald BRMA – this area does extend some way beyond the boundaries 

of the two local authorities and most notably includes the towns of Tonbridge, Crowborough and 

Uckfield (in East Sussex). A small part of Sevenoaks District is within the North West Kent BRMA 

(Swanley being the most notable settlement) whilst small parts of Tunbridge Wells are within the 

Ashford BRMA. Given that the majority of the two areas are within the High Weald BRMA, this area 

has been used for comparison purposes. 

 

8. Table 85 therefore shows the LHA rates in the High Weald BRMA, along with the lower quartile rents 

identified from the VOA analysis above. The analysis shows that maximum LHA payments are lower 

than lower quartile rents for all property sizes in Sevenoaks and lower for all sizes other than three 

bedroom properties in Tunbridge Wells. This analysis would suggest that some households may find 

it difficult to secure a private rented tenancy without having to top-up benefit payments to be able to 

afford the rent. 

 

Table 85: Maximum LHA payments by Size and BRMA (per month) 

Size High Weald BRMA Sevenoaks (LQ) 
Tunbridge Wells 

(LQ) 

Room only £335 - £368 

1 bedroom £587 £695 £595 

2 bedrooms £765 £825 £795 

3 bedrooms £967 £1,100 £850 

4 bedrooms £1,460 £1,900 £1,488 

Source: VOA data (April 2015) 

 

  

  

Page 241

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 182 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Cost of Affordable Housing 

 

9. Traditionally the main type of affordable housing available in an area is social rented housing and 

the cost of social rented accommodation by dwelling size can be obtained from Continuous 

Recording (CoRe) – a national information source on social rented lettings. Table 86 illustrates the 

rental cost of lettings of social rented properties by size in 2013/14. As can be seen the costs are 

below those for private rented housing indicating a gap between the social rented and market 

sectors. This gap increases for larger properties. The figures in the table include service charges.  

 

Table 86: Monthly social rent levels 

Size Sevenoaks Tunbridge Wells 

1 bedroom – average £399 £397 

2 bedrooms – average £464 £483 

3+ bedrooms – average £521 £538 

Lower quartile (all sizes) £418 £398 

Source: CoRe (2014) 

 

10. Changes in affordable housing provision has seen the introduction of a new tenure of affordable 

housing (Affordable Rented). Affordable rented housing is defined in the NPPF as being ‘let by local 

authorities or private registered providers of social housing to households who are eligible for social 

rented housing. Affordable Rent is subject to rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80% of 

the local market rent (including service charges, where applicable)’. In the short-term it is likely that 

this tenure will replace social rented housing for new delivery. 

 

11. Affordable Rented housing can therefore be considered to be similar to social rented housing but at 

a potentially higher rent. The 80% (maximum) rent is to be based on the open market rental value of 

the individual property and so it is not possible to say what this will exactly mean in terms of cost (for 

example the rent for a two-bedroom flat is likely to be significantly different to a two-bedroom 

detached bungalow). In addition, market rents for new-build homes are likely to be higher than within 

the existing stock and may well be in excess of 80% of lower quartile rents. However, for the 

purposes of analysis we have assumed that the 80% figure can be applied to the lower quartile 

private rented cost data derived from VOA information. 

 

 
  

Page 242

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 183 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

APPENDIX C: EXTENDING PROJECTIONS TO 2035 

1. The projections run in this report are summarised below:  

 SNPP – based on the 2012-based subnational population projections (SNPP) with an update 

to include 2013 ONS mid-year population data (MYE). Household formation/headship rates 

based on 2012-based CLG household projections (SNHP) 

 

 London Adjustment – the same assumptions as SNPP but with an uplift to population growth 

post-2017 to take account of post-recession changes in migration patterns to/from London 

 

 10-year Migration Trends – a demographic projection based on levels of migration over the 

past ten years (2003-13). Household formation/headship rates based on 2012-based SNHP 

 

 UPC Adjustment – a demographic projection linked to the SNPP but with an adjustment to 

take account of Unattributable Population Change (UPC) within ONS components of change 

data (headship again from the SNHP) 

 

 2013 EEFM – projection linked to estimates of population growth required to meet the job 

growth forecasts in the 2013 East of England Forecasting Model (EEFM) - headship again from 

the SNHP 

 

 2014 EEFM – projection linked to estimates of population growth required to meet the job 

growth forecasts in the 2014 EEFM - headship again from the SNHP 

 

 SNPP with Affordability Adjustment – the same projection as SNPP but with an uplift to the 

household formation/headship rates for people aged 25-34. 

 

 2014 EEFM with Affordability Adjustment – the same projection as 2014 EEFM but with an 

uplift to the household formation/headship rates for people aged 25-34. This projection has 

only been run for Sevenoaks.  

 

 London Adjustment with Affordability Adjustment – the same projection as London 

adjustment but with an uplift to the household formation/headship rates for people aged 25-34. 

This projection has only been run for Tunbridge Wells 
 

2. The tables overleaf provide estimates of the housing need set against the range of projections set 

out in the report. The figures in the tables below provide the overall need and annualised figures. As 

well as the core projection period of 2013-33, the analysis has been expanded to provide outputs for 

the 2013-35 period.  

  

Page 243

Agenda Item 9



 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

Sevenoaks & Tunbridge Wells Councils, Final Draft Report, September 2015 

 
 
 

GL Hearn Page 184 of 184 

S:\SDC\Planning & Transportation\Planning Policy\Evidence Base\SHMA 2015\SHMA draft final report (August 2015)\SHMA Final Draft Report (07.09.15).docx 

Table 87: Results of Projections – Sevenoaks  

 2013-33 2013-35 
Projection Total need Per annum Total need Per annum 

SNPP 10,317 516 11,267 512 

London adjustment 10,479 524 11,450 520 

10-year migration trends 9,638 482 10,491 477 

UPC adjustment 9,928 496 10,833 492 

2013 EEFM 8,635 432 9,380 426 

2014 EEFM 11,543 577 12,641 575 

SNPP with affordability adjustment 11,138 557 12,109 550 

2014 EEFM with affordability adjustment 12,394 620 13,516 614 

 

Table 88: Results of Projections - Tunbridge Wells 

 2013-33 2013-35 
Projection Total need Per annum Total need Per annum 

SNPP 12,532 627 13,639 620 

London adjustment 12,618 631 13,738 624 

10-year migration trends 11,191 560 12,071 549 

UPC adjustment 16,669 833 18,253 830 

2013 EEFM 10,353 518 11,197 509 

2014 EEFM 13,600 680 14,835 674 

SNPP with affordability adjustment 12,874 644 13,995 636 

London adjustment with affordability adjustment 12,961 648 14,096 641 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 244

Agenda Item 9



 

SEVENOAKS DISTRICT INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN   

Planning Advisory Committee – 13 October 2015 

 

Report of  Chief Planning Officer 

Status: For Decision 

Key Decision: No 

Executive Summary:  A Sevenoaks Infrastructure Delivery Plan was first prepared in 

2010 for the Core Strategy (adopted 2011). An updated Infrastructure Plan was 

submitted as evidence to the examination of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Charging Schedule in October 2013. This remains a “live” document which illustrates the 

infrastructure that is required to support development across the District. Following the 

adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule in February 2014, 

the Council is currently updating the Infrastructure Plan. This will be used as evidence for 

the new Local Plan and provide up to date information for elaborating the Council’s 

Regulation 123 List (adopted November 2014) which sets out the infrastructure that can 

be funded through CIL receipts.   

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Piper 

Contact Officer Simon Taylor Ext. 7134 

Recommendation to Planning Advisory Committee:   

Members support is sought for the Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan as a “live” 

document 

Reason for recommendation:  In order to endorse an important element of the evidence 

base for the new Local Plan and CIL Regulation 123 List.   

Introduction and Background 

1 The Planning Act 2008 defines infrastructure to include roads and other transport 

facilities, flood defences, schools and other educational facilities, medical 

facilities, sporting and recreational facilities and open space.  

2 Further to this, the Sevenoaks Core Strategy defines “infrastructure” as “[…] the 

various services and facilities that are necessary to help sustainable communities” 

and that physical, social and green infrastructure should be taken into account (CS 

para. 5.5.1). The Core Strategy also states that “supporting development with 

adequate infrastructure is important for balanced communities and the need for 

community facilities is specifically recognised in the Sevenoaks District Community 

Plan”. 

Page 245

Agenda Item 10



 

3 A draft Infrastructure Plan was submitted as evidence to the examination of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule in October 2013. The Plan 

outlines the potential strategic schemes for the District from infrastructure 

providers, as well as local schemes that could be eligible for CIL funding.  

4 Following the adoption of the CIL Charging Schedule in February 2014, the 

Council’s Regulation 123 List in November 2014 and the Council’s Allocations and 

Development Management Plan (ADMP) (February 2015), the current 

Infrastructure Plan must be updated to inform how infrastructure can be delivered 

as part of the new emerging Local Plan. It will also inform the production of a 

detailed Regulation 123 List.  

5 Once adopted, the Infrastructure Plan will be treated as a “live” document that will 

inform the preparation of the new Local Plan and production of a more detailed 

Regulation 123 List. The current list is broad and that CIL receipts collected can 

fund (but is not limited to) 

• Transport schemes; 

• Flood defence and water quality schemes; 

• Education;  

• Health and social care facilities;  

• Police and emergency services facilities;  

• Community facilities; and  

• Green infrastructure.  

The current Regulation 123 List notes that CIL receipts will not be used to fund 

site-specific infrastructure that would be secured through a planning obligation 

(i.e. site-specific access improvements, on-site open space provision, site-specific 

green infrastructure etc.). Infrastructure projects that are detailed on the 

Regulation 123 List cannot be funded by planning obligations.  

Current Position of the Infrastructure Plan  

6 Following the adoption of CIL and the ADMP, the Infrastructure Plan must be 

updated to reflect the planned future development of the District, as well as 

supporting additional development that may come forward. The Plan will also 

reflect the requirements for additional infrastructure from town and parish 

councils.  

7 SDC engaged with a number of infrastructure providers as well as all town and 

parish councils within the District, asking for evidence where infrastructure would 

be required to support development and an estimated cost for its delivery. 

Evidence submitted was based on a revised housing supply described in the ADMP 

(ADMP para. 3.8) which included all allocated sites and the anticipated phasing of 

Land West of Enterprise Way, Edenbridge and Fort Halstead, Halstead.  

Page 246

Agenda Item 10



 

8 A full list of the infrastructure providers, town and parish councils that were 

consulted can be found in the draft Infrastructure Plan (Appendix A).  

9 A number of organisations submitted projects that comply with the current 

Regulation 123 List heading s. Some organisations stated that there were no 

further submissions to make, following responses given as part of the CIL Charging 

Schedule examination in 2013.  

10 The projects and proposals outlined in the Infrastructure Plan are subdivided into 

three categories; “Potential Strategic Schemes”, “Potential Local Schemes” and 

“Other Proposed Schemes”: 

• Potential Strategic Schemes are seen as the high priority schemes as they 

may have significant impact on future development across the District, 

across a number of parishes or specific locations. These schemes are mainly 

identified by infrastructure providers as being required to support the scale 

of development being proposed with the adopted Core Strategy and would 

require funding to improving infrastructure to aid future development within 

the District. Other sources of funding may also have been identified.  

• Potential Local Schemes are schemes that are considered to be locally 

important and provide an indication of the schemes that town and parish 

councils may wish to spend a proportion of allocated CIL monies on. Further 

CIL contributions could be transferred to these schemes if additional funding 

from other sources is not evident. Also schemes in this category are 

dependent on developments coming forward that are CIL liable.  

• Other Proposed Schemes are schemes that are liable for CIL funding yet 

further information would be required to determine whether they are locally 

or strategically important. This can be due to a lack of information provided 

or the project requires another organisation to deliver it, has not expressed a 

need for CIL funding for delivery or has not raised a commitment to deliver it.    

11 Key points from the responses received include: 

• A majority of town and parish councils expressed a desire to develop 

community facilities and green infrastructure (i.e. improvements to play 

areas, installation of a multi-use games area (MUGA)).  

• Town and parish councils expressed a desire for transport and traffic 

improvements.  

• Extra provision of health and education facilities should be delivered by 

infrastructure providers to accommodate future development in some towns 

and parishes.  

• In its latest response, Kent County Council stated that there has not been a 

lot of change from its 2012 submission for the CIL Charging Schedule 

examination (October 2013) and requested that its previous responses were 

added to the current Infrastructure Plan.  

Page 247

Agenda Item 10



 

• NHS Property and NHS West Kent CCG submitted responses for improving 

health infrastructure across the District. NHS West Kent CCG outlined the 

general position for the District, while NHS Property outlined proposals for 

individual surgeries at particular locations.  

12 It has been considered that a consolidation of those responses received in 2012 

and responses received in 2015 should form the basis of the Infrastructure Plan. 

This is due to consultation periods being close together resulting in little or no 

change in need of infrastructure in many instances.  

The Infrastructure Plan and the Preparation of the Local Plan 

13 It is the intention that the Infrastructure Plan should be treated as a “live” 

document, as the needs for infrastructure and priority of delivery can change over 

the plan period. It will allow the Council greater opportunity to review and update 

the Plan regularly to ensure that infrastructure is being delivered to support 

development coming forward.   

14 Furthermore, the Infrastructure Plan will aid the preparation of a detailed 

Regulation 123 List, which will be used by the Council’s CIL Spending Board, 

illustrating the infrastructure that CIL can fund as well as indicating the priority of 

delivery of local and district-wide infrastructure projects.   

15 As the document will be treated as “live”, it will be important to update the Plan 

quickly to ensure that infrastructure requirements remain current. Updates may 

appear yearly or sooner (i.e. every 6 months) following discussions with 

infrastructure providers under Duty to Co-operate meetings or discussion relating 

to particular sites following the Call for Sites/SHLAA process.  

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected  

Members may not consider the Infrastructure Plan. This option was rejected on the basis 

that the Infrastructure Plan is an important evidence base document for the Local Plan 

Review and updates the Council’s current Regulation 123 List. The option was also 

rejected on the basis that the Infrastructure Plan is important to the Council’s CIL 

Governance process.  

Key Implications 

Financial  

The report does not have direct financial implications for the Council although once 

agreed, a Regulation 123 List will help guide expenditure of CIL monies.  

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement.  

The report does not have legal implications for the Council.  

Equality Assessment   

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to the 

substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

Page 248

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Conclusions 

Following the adoption of Community Infrastructure Levy (February 2014) and the 

Allocations and Development Management Plan (February 2015), it is important that the 

Infrastructure Plan is updated to reflect the current infrastructure needs of the District. 

The Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan seeks to identify the need for infrastructure 

across the District over the new Local Plan period (up to 2035), which can be funded 

through the collection of CIL monies. The Plan will also help to form a detailed Regulation 

123 List which will provide greater clarity to the types of projects that CIL can be spent 

on.  However, it is also important to recognise that infrastructure requirements change 

over time and is significant to bringing future development forward. Therefore, it is 

important for the Infrastructure Plan to be adopted as a “live” document and is updated 

regularly to ensure that future infrastructure needs are met across the District.   

Appendices Appendix A – Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan 

(September 2015)  

 

Richard Morris 

Chief Planning Officer 

 

Page 249

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENOAKS DISTRICT  

INFRASTRUCTURE PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
 

 

Page 251

Agenda Item 10



 

2 

 

 

Contents 

 

Background 3 

Infrastructure 4 

Local Plan and Development Proposed in Sevenoaks District 5 

Infrastructure Planning 7 

  
Appendix A: List of Organisations Consulted for the Request for Evidence.  10 

Appendix B: Potential strategic schemes for CIL funding 11 

Appendix C: Potential local schemes for CIL funding 22 

Appendix D: Other proposed schemes 30 

Page 252

Agenda Item 10



 

3 

 

Background 

 

1.1 When planning for development, it is important to ensure that it will occur in sustainable 

locations. In order to facilitate development, Sevenoaks District Council must ensure that 

adequate infrastructure is provided to accommodate current and future community 

needs.  

 

1.2 This Infrastructure Plan has been positively prepared through engagement with local 

infrastructure providers (including internal SDC stakeholders) and Town and Parish 

Councils. 

 

1.3 The purpose of the Infrastructure Plan is to consider what infrastructure is required to 

accompany new development across the District, as set out in the Core Strategy (adopted 

February 2011) and the Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) 

(adopted February 2015). This may include the upgrading of existing infrastructure, as 

well as the provision of new infrastructure.  

 

1.4 The Core Strategy proposes the scale and distribution of development that will be brought 

forward in the District to meet a target for 3,300 new dwellings to be accommodated in 

the period 2006-2026. An assessment of the infrastructure required to support the 

development proposed in the District was carried out during the preparation of the Core 

Strategy and the conclusions were set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan Schedule 

(appendix 4 of the Core Strategy). The schedule was intended to be kept as a ‘live 

document.    

 

1.5 The ADMP sets out design guidance for each housing and mixed use site allocation (see 

ADMP Appendices 3 and 5 for further information). It is expected that where a proposal 

should come forward, the infrastructure requirements laid out in the guidance will be 

recognised to develop a full proposal.   

 

1.6 Policy SP9 of the Core Strategy allows the Council to require developers to provide or 

contribute towards new or improved infrastructure where development creates a 

requirement for it. Where directly related to an application site this can be in the form of 

section 106 contributions, otherwise infrastructure contributions will be through a 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) the charging schedule for which was adopted in 

February 2014),  

 

1.7 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a locally set standard charge that can be 

applied to new development to fund infrastructure.  It is calculated in £ per sq. m of new 

development.  In order to charge CIL, charging authorities must prepare a Charging 

Schedule.  Sevenoaks District Council is the charging authority for Sevenoaks District. 

There are two residential CIL charging zones set out in the charging schedule for 

Sevenoaks District. Residential Zone A charges a levy rate of £125 per sq. m on new 

development, and Zone B charges £75 per sq. m on new development. 

 

1.8 Further CIL contributions can be raised through the development of supermarkets and 

superstores which primarily sell convenience goods and the development of retail 

Page 253

Agenda Item 10



 

4 

 

warehousing. Both these developments charge a rate of £125 per sq. m. Other forms of 

new development are not required to pay CIL.  

 

1.9  Sevenoaks District Council started charging qualifying developments on 4th August 2014.  

 

1.10 When taking the CIL Charging Schedule through examination Sevenoaks District Council 

prepared an updated and more detailed version of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Schedule which appeared as appendix 4 of the Core Strategy. The Council has also 

adopted a Regulation 123 List (Reg.123 List) in November 2014. The Reg. 123 List 

details the infrastructure projects that will be eligible for CIL contributions. Following the 

completion of the 2015 update of the Infrastructure Plan a new more detailed Reg. 123 

List will be prepared to help guide CIL spending decisions.  

 

1.11 Town and Parish Councils will receive a proportion of CIL contributions on qualifying 

developments in the respective parish. This has been determined by the Council as 25% 

of any CIL contribution collected. The remained of CIL contributions in the District will be 

pooled together to be spent on infrastructure projects across the District. The allocation 

of CIL monies received will be determined by the Council’s CIL Spending Board. 

 

1.12  In summary, the 2015 Infrastructure Plan: 

 

• Updates the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2011 (Appendix 4 of the Core Strategy); 

• Updates the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2013 (CIL Charging Schedule 

examination); 

• Identifies site specific infrastructure requirements from the ADMP; 

• Takes account of new requirements identified by infrastructure providers and 

Town and Parish Councils; 

• Prioritises infrastructure needs critical to supporting the Local Plan; 

• Provides the basis for a detailed Reg. 123 List; and  

• Will be updated as required to ensure it remains a ‘live’ document. 

 

Infrastructure 

 

2.1 In accordance with the legislation (Section 216 of the Planning Act 2008), CIL must be 

used to fund infrastructure to support the development of its area.  CIL may be used to 

fund the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 

infrastructure.  

 

2.2 The Planning Act 2008 identifies the types of infrastructure that should be considered for 

funding through CIL, although the list is not definitive.  These are: 

 

(a) roads and other transport facilities,  

(b) flood defenses,  

(c) schools and other educational facilities,  

(d) medical facilities,  

(e) sporting and recreational facilities, and 

(f) open spaces. 

 

Page 254

Agenda Item 10



 

5 

 

2.3 The Council has produced and adopted its Regulation 123 List in November 2014. The 

List sets out the following types of infrastructure that should be funded through CIL: 

 

 (a) Transport schemes except for site-specific access improvements;  

 (b) Flood defence schemes; 

 (c) Water quality schemes; 

 (d) Schools; 

 (e) Health and social care facilities; 

 (f)  Police and emergency services facilities; 

 (h) Community facilities; and  

 (i) Green infrastructure except for site-specific improvements or mitigation measures 

 

The 2015 Infrastructure Plan will be used as a basis for producing a new Reg. 123 List 

setting out in more detail the projects under these headings. Projects will need to be 

critical to supporting the scale of development proposed in the Local Plan.  

 

2.4 CIL should usually be used to provide contributions for infrastructure improvements that 

serve a wider area than just the specific development site or where more than 5 

contributions will need to be pooled to deliver the new infrastructure or improvement.  

Site specific infrastructure will continue to be secured through planning obligations.  The 

Reg.123 List illustrates clearly the types of infrastructure that will continue to be funded 

through planning obligations: 

 

(a) Site-specific access improvements (these could also be secured through s278 of the 

Highways Act 19800 in some circumstances); 

 (b) Onsite open site, for example children’s play areas; 

 (c) Site-specific green infrastructure, including biodiversity mitigation and improvement;  

 (d) On-site crime reduction and emergency services infrastructure, for example CCTV or 

fire hydrants; and  

 (e) Site-specific Public Rights of Way diversions or impact mitigation 

 

2.5 There is no provision in the CIL Regulations for CIL contributions to be used in 

conjunction with affordable housing. Therefore, affordable housing provision and 

financial contributions will continue to be secured through planning obligations. 

 

Local Plan and Development Proposed in Sevenoaks District 

 

3.1 The Core Strategy sets out policies on the overall scale and distribution of development 

that comes forward and protects the natural and built environment. The ADMP describes 

the allocations for housing, employment and boundaries for other land use designations 

such as the Green Belt and AONB.  

 

3.2 The Core Strategy states that SDC has a target of developing 3,330 dwellings during the 

plan period 2006-2026. Following the adoption of the ADMP, the Council has revised its 

housing supply to a base date of 1st April 2014. This accounts for the housing allocations 

within the Plan (including the redevelopment of Fort Halstead) as shown below:  

 

Summary of Housing Supply Components as at 1st April 2014  No. of Units 

Completions (2006 – 2014) 1,725 

Page 255

Agenda Item 10



 

6 

 

Permissions (at 01/01/2014) 1,030 

Housing Allocations 684 

Units from Mixed Use 357 

Windfall Allowance 486 

TOTAL 4,282 

Fort Halstead (ADMP Policy EMP3) 450 

TOTAL (including Fort Halstead) 4,732 

 

3.3 The numbers of additional dwellings that that are expected to be permitted and 

developed in the period up to 2026. Original housing figures can be found in the Annual 

Monitoring Report 2013/14. The following figures include the revised housing supply 

components in the ADMP and the anticipated phasing of major development sites in 

Edenbridge and Halstead: 

 

 
Sevenoaks 

Urban Area 
Swanley Edenbridge 

Rest of the 

District 
District 

Identified 

Sites 
205 311 276 579 1,491 

Permitted 

Development 

on Small Sites 

(<0.2ha) 

102 16 33 59 209 

Permitted 

Development 

on Large Sites 

(>0.2 ha) 

572 81 0 168 821 

Windfall 225 45 72 153 486 

Completions 394 158 307 866 1,725 

TOTAL* 1,498 614 688 1,825 4,732 

  

 *Figures may not sum as position takes into account identified units extending beyond 

the plan period (100 additional units to be developed at Fort Halstead, between 2026-

2028). Figures are subject to rounding.  

 

3.4 In addition to this residential development, the Core Strategy proposes the development 

of approximately 4,000 sq. m of new retail floor space in Sevenoaks town which is now 

complete, the development of 4.1ha of employment land at Broom Hill in Swanley and 

the redevelopment of Swanley Town Centre. 

 

3.5 In most cases, the need for additional or improved infrastructure is likely to result from 

an increase in population as a result of development, rather than the increase in the 

number of dwellings itself. 

 

3.6 At the time of this Plan’s publication, the Council is currently preparing a new Local Plan 

and has recently commissioned a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) to 

ascertain the level of need for housing with the District taking account of DCLG’s 2012-

based household projections up to 2037. The Plan will be updated accordingly, following 

further consultation on the future levels of development including associated 

infrastructure requirements as a result of the SHMA and as part of the evidence base for 

the new plan.. 

 

Page 256

Agenda Item 10



 

7 

 

3.7 Where new infrastructure is required at the local level within the District or a specific new 

development, for example a new local play area, the requirement will be more closely 

related to the new population moving into the new development regardless of where they 

have moved from and of the impact of wider demographic changes. 

 

3.8 Other organisations have taken different approaches to considering the impacts of 

development on population growth.  SDC has reviewed these approaches and included 

schemes where it is considered that the approach is sufficient to give a broad indication 

of the infrastructure requirement.  The Council will continue to require that sufficiently 

robust evidence of infrastructure requirements is presented to justify the release of CIL 

funding. 

 

Infrastructure Planning 

 

4.1 The draft infrastructure plan for the CIL Charging Schedule was developed following 

consultation with local infrastructure providers and town and parish councils between 

February and April 2012.  All consultees were sent an information pack that explained the 

background to CIL, set out the level of development expected to come forward in the 

District, set out the population forecasts and explained the information that the Council 

required in preparing a CIL Charging Schedule.  In particular, information was requested 

on: 

 

• What infrastructure projects are expected to be required; 

 

• Why the infrastructure projects are required as a result of development; 

and 

 

• When the infrastructure projects are expected to be required 

 

The expected cost of delivering the infrastructure and the funding that is already 

committed to delivering it was also required. This allowed the Council to identify the 

potential funding gap for infrastructure improvements within the District.   

 

4.2 In updating the current infrastructure plan, the same approach was considered as a 

favourable option. Parish and Town Councils, as well as infrastructure providers 

(including internal SDC departments) were consulted in submitting evidence for 

improving existing infrastructure or creating new provision.  

 

4.3 A full list of consultees has been provided in Appendix A. 

 

4.4 Information provided to the Council was reviewed in accordance with certain criteria and 

categorised into the three schedules that are set out in Appendices B, C and D. These 

infrastructure schedules are:  

 

B) Potential Strategic Schemes for CIL Funding 

 

4.5 These schemes are considered to be potentially strategically important in facilitating the 

scale and distribution of development proposed in the District in the Local Plan.  This may 

Page 257

Agenda Item 10



 

8 

 

be because these schemes have been identified as required in the Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan Schedule of the Core Strategy or the background evidence (such as the Open Space, 

Sport and Recreation Study) or because they are considered to generally support 

development in accordance with the Core Strategy and the Council’s trajectory and 

adopted allocations. 

 

4.6 The infrastructure that CIL will be used to fund is dependent on where and when 

development comes forward in the District. Therefore, this list should be treated as purely 

indicative.  Under the CIL guidance and legislation, CIL receipts can be used for other 

infrastructure projects to support development. 

 

4.7 CIL receipts are unlikely to be available to fund these schemes in their entirety but may 

be able to form part of packages of funding to meet the identified funding gaps. 

 

C) Potential local schemes for CIL funding 

 

4.8 These schemes have predominately been identified by town and parish councils in their 

submissions to SDC.  These schemes are considered to be locally important and provide 

an indication of the types of schemes that town and parish councils may provide through 

the ‘meaningful proportion’ of CIL transferred to them.   

 

4.9 The lack of inclusion of these schemes in the schedule of potentially strategic schemes 

does not necessarily mean that town and parish councils will only be able to deliver these 

schemes using the CIL receipts paid directly to them. SDC may transfer additional funds 

to town and parish councils to deliver these schemes where they are considered priorities 

to support development and are in accordance with the list of types of projects to be 

funded through CIL (see para 2.2).   

 

4.10 These schemes have not been taken into account in identifying the CIL funding gap 

because their delivery is considered to be dependent on development coming forward in 

the particular local area.   

 

4.11 Town and parish councils will not be limited to spending CIL receipts on schemes 

identified in this schedule. 

 

D) Other proposed schemes 

 

4.12 These schemes have been suggested to the Council as those that could be funded 

through CIL, primarily by town and parish councils.  However, they have not been included 

in the ‘strategic’ or ‘local’ priority lists because: 

• more information is required on the scheme; 

• they require delivery by an organisation that has not currently indicated a 

proposal to deliver it (it is hoped that these bodies will respond to the 

scheme proposals following the publication of this document); or 

• they are not considered to be appropriate uses of CIL. 

 

4.13 The lack of inclusion of these schemes in either the strategic or local priority schedules 

does not necessarily preclude the scheme promoter seeking CIL funding for these 

Page 258

Agenda Item 10



 

9 

 

schemes if needs change or if further evidence of need or of the specific details of the 

project to be developed becomes available in the future.  The inclusion of schemes in this 

list may simply indicate that additional information or commitment from another 

organisation is required.  As stated previously, SDC and town and parish councils are not 

limited to providing funding for those schemes identified in the ‘strategic’ or ‘local’ priority 

infrastructure lists. 

 

Status of the Infrastructure Plan 

 

5.1 Following the adoption of the CIL Charging Schedule, the Council adopted a Regulation 

123 List. This sets out the types of infrastructure that CIL can fund. It is the intention that 

the 2015 Infrastructure Plan is kept up to date and that it forms the basis for a new more 

detailed Regulation 123 List offsetting out the infrastructure projects that CIL can fund 

(see para. 2.3). 

 

5.2 While a strategic tool for planning infrastructure across the District, the Infrastructure 

Plan will inform future requests for infrastructure from Parish and Town Councils, as well 

as infrastructure providers.     

 

5.3 The Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan, in conjunction with the new Regulation 123 

List will be used by the recently established CIL Spending Board. It is the role of the Board 

to allocate monies retrieved from CIL to infrastructure projects that that are required in 

Sevenoaks District.  

 

5.4 As already stated, the Infrastructure Plan will be considered as a “live” document within 

the new Local Plan. This is due to the need for infrastructure and priority of delivery can 

change over the plan period. It will also allow the Council greater opportunity to review 

and update the Plan regularly to ensure that infrastructure is being delivered to support 

development coming forward.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 259

Agenda Item 10



 

10 

 

Appendix A – List of Organisations 

Consulted 
 

Parish and Town Councils  

 

� Ash-cum-Ridley Parish Council 

� Badgers Mount Parish Council  

� Brasted Parish Council 

� Chevening Parish Council  

� Chiddingstone Parish Council 

� Cowden Parish Council 

� Crockenhill Parish Council 

� Dunton Green Parish Council 

� Edenbridge Town Council 

� Eynsford Parish Council 

� Farningham Parish Council 

� Fawkham Parish Council  

� Halstead Parish Council  

� Hartley Parish Council  

� Hever Parish Council  

� Hextable Parish Council  

� Horton Kirby & South Darenth 

Parish Council 

� Kemsing Parish Council  

� Knockholt Parish Council  

� Leigh Parish Council  

� Otford Parish Council  

� Penshurst Parish Council  

� Riverhead Parish Council  

� Seal Parish Council  

� Sevenoaks Town Council  

� Sevenoaks Weald Parish Council  

� Shoreham Parish Council 

� Sundridge w/ Ide Hill Parish Council 

� Swanley Town Council  

� Westerham Town Council  

� West Kingsdown Parish Council  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Infrastructure Providers 

 

� Action with Communities in Rural Kent 

� Arriva Southern Counties 

� British Telecom  

� EDF Energy Networks 

� Environment Agency 

� Go Coach 

� High Weald AONB Unit 

� Highways Agency 

� Kent County Council  

(including KCC Environment & Planning, 

KCC Highways, KCC Public Health, KCC 

Waste Management 

� Kent Adult Education 

� Kent Ambulance NHS 

� Kent Community Heath NHS Foundation 

Trust 

� Kent Downs AONB Unit 

� Kent Fire and Rescue Service 

� Kent Police  

� Kent Wildlife Trust 

� Kent Youth Service 

� Metrobus 

� Mobile Operators Association 

� National Grid 

� Natural England 

� Network Rail 

� NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

� NHS Kent & Medway 

� NHS Property Services Ltd 

� NHS West Kent Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

� Sevenoaks District Council  

� Southeastern 

� Southern Rail 

� Southern Water 

� Sutton and East Surrey Water 

� Thames Water 

� Thameslink-Great Northern 

� UK Power Networks 

� West Kent Police 

Page 260

Agenda Item 10



 
Appendix A 

Appendix B: Potential strategic schemes 

 

These schemes are considered to be potentially strategically important in supporting the scale and distribution of development identified for the 

District within the Core Strategy 2011 and ADMP 2015. Committed/anticipated funding is identified where known together with project funding gaps 

for which funding sources will need to be identified. These are likely to be progressed via bids for Government growth funds (including via the LEP) and 

developer contributions including both section 106 contributions and CIL.   

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

1) Transport schemes other than site-specific access improvements 

Urban Traffic 

Management 

Control (UTMC) 

Sevenoaks 

Town 

To help alleviate congestion, 

monitor and improve air quality, 

including at existing Air Quality 

Management Areas, and 

monitor HGV traffic.  Real time 

bus running information at key 

bus stops would also be 

provided through the scheme. 

2014-2018 Kent County 

Council 

£540,000 - 

£690,000 

(£615,000 

assumed) 

£0 £615,000 KCC Highways 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Implementation of 

selected routes 

from the 

Sevenoaks District 

Cycling Strategy 

(note: these routes 

have been 

selected to give an 

indication of the 

cost of 

implementing the 

strategy and does 

not mean that 

other routes can 

not be funded 

through CIL) 

Sevenoaks 

District  

To enable more people to cycle 

more safely in the district so as 

to encourage a shift towards 

more sustainable transport 

choices, therefore reducing 

congestion and poor air quality, 

and healthy leisure activities. 

 

Route 1 – East-west route 

across northern Sevenoaks 

(£480K) 

Route 6 – North-south route 

connecting Otford and 

Sevenoaks - urban and leisure 

route (£600K) 

Route 7 – Link between the 

Sevenoaks Railway Station and 

town centre (£120K) 

Route 13 – Link from existing 

London Road, Swanley, cycle 

lane to the to town centre 

Route 14 and 15 – Route 

connecting Swanley town 

centre to Swanley Railway 

station. 

2014-2018 Kent County 

Council 

£1,440,000 £0 £1,440,000 KCC Highways 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

P
age 261

A
genda Item

 10



 

12 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

Route 19 – Link to Swanley 

Station from High Street 

(£240K for 3 Swanley 

schemes) 

2) Flood defence schemes 

Edenbridge Flood 

Alleviation Scheme 

Edenbridge To reduce flood risk in 

Edenbridge  

Unknown Environment 

Agency 

£4,500,000 £1,000,000 estimated from 

Flood Defence Grant in Aid 

£3,500,000 Environment Agency 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

3) Water quality schemes 

Identification, 

design and 

construction of 

schemes to reduce 

the impact of 

pollution from 

surface water 

outfalls on water 

quality in the 

District. 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To address problem surface 

water outfalls in Sevenoaks 

District that impact on surface 

water quality. 

2015 Environment 

Agency 

£300,000 £200,000 

The EA suggests that no less 

than one third should be 

funded by CIL or s106 

contribution. 

£100,000 Environment Agency 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

4) Education 

Capacity expansion 

at Edenbridge 

Primary School 

Edenbridge 

Primary School 

To provide an increased 

number of primary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£229,785 (over 

period 2014-

2026) 

£0 £229,785 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

at Hartley, New 

Ash Green and 

surrounding area 

primary schools 

North of 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide an increased 

number of primary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£313,351 (over 

period 2014-

2026) 

£0 £313,351 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

at primary schools 

in ‘rural’ 

Sevenoaks District 

Rural areas of 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide an increased 

number of primary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£396,047 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £396,047 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

at primary schools 

in Sevenoaks 

Urban Area 

Sevenoaks 

Urban Area 

To provide an increased 

number of primary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£180,304 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £180,304 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

at Swanley primary 

schools 

Swanley To provide an increased 

number of primary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£858,900 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £858,900 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

at Knole Academy 

Knole Academy To provide an increased 

number of secondary school 

places required as a result of 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£2,559,793 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £2,559,793 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

P
age 262

A
genda Item

 10



 

13 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

new development. consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

at Swanley 

secondary schools 

Swanley To provide an increased 

number of secondary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£1,874,507 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £1,874,507 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Capacity expansion 

to meet the needs 

of secondary 

school pupils that 

are forecast to be 

required to travel 

out of the District 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide an increased 

number of secondary school 

places required as a result of 

new development. 

2012 - 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£1,225,705 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £1,225,705 Kent County Council 

response to follow-

up CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

5) Health and social care facilities 

Health Care 

Services across 

the District 

Sevenoaks 

District 

With a planned growth of 4,732 

dwellings in the District. Based 

on an assumption of an 

increase on 11,357 residents, 

this will generate a need of 

more GPs in Sevenoaks. This 

will also require increased 

supportive infrastructure for 

health care services.  

2015 – 

2026 

NHS West Kent 

Clinic 

Commissioning 

Group 

£6,246,350 plus 

legal and 

administrative 

costs 

 

(figure based on 

£500 per person 

x 11,357 

individuals) 

Unknown  Unknown  Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Sevenoaks 

Hospital 

Sevenoaks 

Town 

Sevenoaks Hospital is located 

within Sevenoaks centre. A 

wide range of community, 

primary, secondary care and 

mental health services are 

delivered from the site, across 

four main buildings.  There is 

limited opportunity to increase 

service provision across the 

sites to the assumed patient 

population without further 

investment to be made in the 

properties. 

Investment will create 

additional capacity through the 

development of new consulting 

space, administrative areas 

and patient facilities.  

2015 – 

2020  

NHS Property 

Services 

£600,000 Unknown Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to Sevenoaks South Park Medical Centre 2015 – NHS Property £240,000 Unknown Unknown Infrastructure 

P
age 263

A
genda Item

 10



 

14 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

South Park 

Medical Practice 

Town  operates from purpose-built 

surgery premises within the 

Sevenoaks town centre. The 

leased premises offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development.  

2020  Services Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Town Medical 

Practice 

Sevenoaks 

Town 

The Town Medical Practice 

operates from property within 

the town centre. The leased 

premises offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development. 

2015 – 

2017  

NHS Property 

Services 

£480,000 Unknown Unknown  Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

West Kingsdown 

Surgery 

West 

Kingsdown 

West Kingsdown Surgery 

operates from purpose-built 

surgery premises. The premises 

offer restricted accommodation 

which limits the practice in 

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Property 

Services 

£240,000 Unknown  Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

P
age 264

A
genda Item

 10



 

15 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

terms of expansion and its 

capacity to register and treat 

new patients. To support the 

delivery of residential 

development in the town, the 

practice will need to improve 

the existing facilities to provide 

additional consulting space in 

which to treat new patients. 

Capital investment will be 

required to support such 

development.  

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Westerham 

Surgery 

Westerham Westerham Surgery operates 

from purpose-built surgery 

premises within the Sevenoaks 

town centre. The leased 

premises offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development.  

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Property 

Services 

£480,000 Unknown  Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Amherst Medical 

Practice 

Riverhead Amherst Medical Practice 

operates from two facilities 

within the Sevenoaks. The 

premises offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

2015 – 

2020  

NHS Property 

Services 

£600,000 Unknown  Unknown  Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

P
age 265

A
genda Item

 10



 

16 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development.  

Improvements to 

Brasted Practice 

Brasted The Brasted Practice operates 

from modern surgery premises 

which offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development. 

2015 – 

2020  

NHS Property 

Services  

£600,000 Unknown  Unknown  Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Kemsing Medical 

Practice 

Kemsing The Kemsing Medical Practice 

operates from modern surgery 

premises which offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Services 

Property 

£720,000 Unknown  Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

P
age 266

A
genda Item

 10



 

17 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

development. 

Improvements to 

Otford Medical 

Practice 

Otford Otford Medical Practice 

operates from modern surgery 

premises which offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development. 

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Property 

Services 

£720,000 Unknown Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

St. John Medical 

Practice 

Sevenoaks 

Town 

St Johns Medical Practice 

operates from purpose-built 

surgery premises within the 

Sevenoaks town centre. The 

leased premises offer restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development. 

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Property 

Services 

£840,000 Unknown  Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Sundridge Medical 

Practice 

Sundridge The Hildenborough Medical 

Group operates from a range of 

surgery premises with the 

branch premises at Sundridge 

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Property 

Services 

£240,000 Unknown  Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

P
age 267

A
genda Item

 10



 

18 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

offering restricted 

accommodation which limits 

the practice in terms of 

expansion and its capacity to 

register and treat new patients. 

To support the delivery of 

residential development in the 

town, the practice will need to 

improve the existing facilities to 

provide additional consulting 

space in which to treat new 

patients. Capital investment 

will be required to support such 

development. 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

Weald Practice 

Sevenoaks 

Weald 

The Weald Practice is a branch 

site of Tonbridge Medical 

Group. It operates from basic 

surgery premises offering 

restricted accommodation 

which limits the practice in 

terms of expansion and its 

capacity to register and treat 

new patients. To support the 

delivery of residential 

development in the town, the 

practice will need to improve 

the existing facilities to provide 

additional consulting space in 

which to treat new patients. 

Capital investment will be 

required to support such 

development. 

2015 – 

2020 

NHS Property 

Services 

£240,000 Unknown Unknown Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Family and Social 

Care facilities, 

including: 

- A Sevenoaks 
local hub; 

- Changing facility 
at Sevenoaks 

local hub; 

- Co-location with 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To ensure that family and 

social care services are able to 

meet the increased needs that 

result from development. 

2020 – 

2026 

Kent County 

Council 

£803,000 £0 £803,000 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

Preliminary Draft 

Charging Schedule 

(2012) 

P
age 268

A
genda Item

 10



 

19 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

Health at 

Sevenoaks; 

- Changing facility 
at White Oak; 

- Changing facility 
at Gateway; 

- Sevenoaks 
integrated 

dementia day 

care centre at 

Dunton Green 

Adult Social 

Services projects - 

Building 

community 

capacity and 

providing assistive 

technology 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide additional support to 

new clients of Adult Social 

Services moving into the 

District as a result of 

development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£11,520  

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £11,520 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

6) Police and emergency facilities  

         

7) Community facilities 

Community fund to 

support local 

regeneration 

projects in Swanley 

Swanley To ensure that new 

development in Swanley 

contributes to the regeneration 

priorities in the town. 

2014 – 

onwards 

Sevenoaks 

District Council 

and partners 

£201,066 (based 

on £500 per 

dwelling over 

period 2014 – 

2026) 

£0 £201,066 SDC Core Strategy 

and Draft Developer 

Contributions SPD 

Libraries – District-

wide book stock 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide additional library 

facilities to support new clients 

moving into the District as a 

result of development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£51,381  

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £51,381 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Edenbridge Library 

– extended 

opening hours and 

additional staff 

Edenbridge To provide additional library 

facilities to support new clients 

moving into the District as a 

result of development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£10,590  

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £10,590 Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

New Ash Green 

Library – extended 

opening hours and 

additional staff 

New Ash Green To provide additional library 

facilities to support new clients 

moving into the District as a 

result of development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£17,864  

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £17,864  

 

Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Sevenoaks Library 

– extended 

opening hours and 

additional staff 

Sevenoaks To provide additional library 

facilities to support new clients 

moving into the District as a 

result of development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£118,177  

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £118,177  

 

Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Mobile Library - 

extended opening 

hours and 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide additional library 

facilities to support new clients 

moving into the District as a 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£568  

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £568  

 

Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

P
age 269

A
genda Item

 10



 

20 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

additional staff result of development. consultation (2012) 

Community 

learning – 

additional 

equipment, 

staffing and class 

room hours at 

adult education 

centres and 

through outreach 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide additional 

community learning facilities to 

support new clients moving into 

the District as a result of 

development. 

2012 – 

onwards 

Kent County 

Council 

£41,632 

(over period 

2014-2026) 

£0 £41,632 

 

Kent County Council 

response to CIL 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Redevelopment of 

Whiteoak Leisure 

Centre 

Swanley To provide modern sports and 

recreation facilities in Swanley. 

Unknown Sevenoaks 

District Council 

£7,000,000 £3,500,000 £3,500,000 Internal SDC 

consultation. 

(2012) 

Community 

development work 

to bring old and 

new communities 

together 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To integrate new residents into 

the community. 

2014 - 

onwards 

Sevenoaks 

District Council  

£455,000 £0 £455,000 Internal SDC 

consultation. 

(2012) 

Mobile Community 

Services 

Sevenoaks 

District  

Mobile community services are 

provided from a bus that 

travels into all communities 

across the Sevenoaks District, 

including deprived 

communities and rural 

communities. They bring 

services to those groups in the 

District that are unable to 

access services elsewhere, 

may have disabilities or cannot 

afford to access services 

elsewhere. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Sevenoaks 

District Council  

£30,000 £0 £30,000 Internal SDC 

consultation. 

(2015) 

         

8) Communications Infrastructure (beyond the directly secured by agreement between the developer) 

         

9) Green infrastructure other than site-specific improvements or mitigation measures 

The Darent Valley 

Project 

The Darent 

River corridor 

from Swanley to 

Sevenoaks 

Wildfowl 

Reserve 

To provide ecological 

management and 

enhancement, improve access 

provision and visitor education 

along the Darent Valley river 

corridor. 

2015 – 

2026 

Kent Wildlife 

Trust 

£407,000 

 

(£37,000 per 

annum over 

2015-2026) 

£46,000 committed from the 

2015 Catchment Partnership 

Fund 

£361,000 Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

P
age 270

A
genda Item

 10



 

21 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed/Anticipated 
Funding Gap Source 

Enhancement 

project at 

Sevenoaks Wildlife 

Reserve 

Sevenoaks 

Wildlife Reserve 

To provide improved access 

provision and visitor 

management within the 

Sevenoaks Wildlife Reserve, 

including enhancing the visitor 

experience with improved 

facilities 

2015 – 

2026 

Kent Wildlife 

Trust 

£533,500 

 

 

£300,000 ring-fenced to 

match Landscape Partnership 

Scheme 

£233,500 Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

The Eden Valley 

Project 

Eden Valley 

from Hever 

Castle to south-

west 

Edenbridge 

To provide ecological 

management and 

enhancement, improved 

access provision and visitor 

education along the Eden 

Valley. 

2015 – 

2026 

Kent Wildlife 

Trust 

£495,000 

 

(£45,000 per 

annum over 

2015-2026) 

£110,000 committed over the 

period  

 

(£10,000 per annum, rolling) 

£385,000 Infrastructure 

Provider 

consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Increased 

provision of 

allotments in 

Sevenoaks town 

Sevenoaks town Proposal by Sevenoaks Town 

Council to resolve a deficiency 

identified in the Open Space, 

Sport and Recreation Study. 

2012 – 

2017 

Sevenoaks 

Town Council 

£5,500 (over 

period 2014 – 

2026) 

£0 £5,500 Sevenoaks Town 

Council response to 

infrastructure 

consultation (2012) 

Outdoor green 

gyms 

Sevenoaks 

District 

To provide sport and recreation 

facilities for new and existing 

residents. 

2014 - 

onwards 

Sevenoaks 

District Council 

£165,000 £0 £165,000 Internal SDC 

consultation. 

(2012) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 271

A
genda Item

 10



 

22 

 

Appendix C: Potential local schemes 

 

These schemes are considered to be locally important and provide an indication of the types of schemes that town and parish councils may provide 

through the ‘meaningful proportion’ of CIL transferred to them. Funds may be supplemented using monies gained from other sources and SDC may 

transfer additional funds to town and parish councils to deliver these schemes where they are considered priorities to support development, subject to 

approval by the CIL Spending Board.  These schemes have been identified through consultation with all town and parish councils since April 2015 but 

their delivery is considered to be dependent on development coming forward in the particular local area. Where future infrastructure need is identified, 

further information may be added through Plan updates, as it should be treated as a “live” document. Town and parish councils will not be limited to 

spending CIL receipts on schemes identified in this table. 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

1) Transport schemes other than site-specific access improvements 

Chiddingstone Car 

Park 

Chiddingstone Due to high levels of tourism and 

a large number of pupils at the 

primary school, there are not 

enough car parking spaces 

available. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Chiddingstone Parish 

Council  

£100,000 £7,200 £92,800 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Bough Beech Car 

Parking Area 

Bough Beech, 

Chiddingstone 

Residents are currently parking on 

the road and an area owned by 

Kent County Council. Due to 

insufficient parking available, it is 

dangerous for vehicles and 

pedestrians.  

2015 – 

onwards 

Chiddingstone Parish 

Council  

£23,000 £5,000 £18,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Otford “Green” car 

park 

Otford  To ameliorate overcrowding in 

current parish car park and allow 

the full utilization of the village 

halls and recreational grounds. To 

encourage visitors to the historic 

sites and the village shops 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish Council  £90,000 £0 £90,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

The development of 

cycleways with route 

between Otford and 

Sevenoaks 

Otford To promote community fitness 

and accessibility 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish Council  £100,000 £0 £100,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

P
age 272

A
genda Item

 10



 

23 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Creation of “green 

car park” to the rear 

of school playground 

Otford Provide safe passage for all pupils 

and significantly reduce traffic 

congestion in the village during 

school opening and closing times. 

2015 – 

2020  

Otford Parish Council  £100,000 £0 £100,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

2) Flood defence schemes 

Drainage 

improvements at the 

Recreation Ground 

Edenbridge  To provide High Quality Sports 

Provision. The site is within the 

flood plain and to maintain the 

high standard of pitches it 

requires adequate drainage. 

2015 – 

2020 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£100,000 £0 £100,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

3) Water quality schemes 

         

4) Education 

         

5) Health and social care facilities 

         

6) Police and emergency facilities  

         

7) Community facilities 

Public toilets Westerham  The public toilet adopted by the 

WTC from SDC is deemed no 

longer fit for purpose. It is an old 

stone structure with separate His 

and Hers facilities. The plumbing 

and electrics are very old and 

constantly in need of repair as is 

the building structure.  

 

2015 – 

2017 

Westerham Town 

Council 

£40,000 - 

£80,000 

£7,500 £32,500 - 

£72,500 

Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

New Garden and 

Garden of 

Remembrance 

Hartley The existing burial ground is 

becoming full and therefore, 

additional burial facilities are 

2015 – 

onwards 

Hartley Parish Council £50,000 Up to £50,000 Unknown Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

P
age 273

A
genda Item

 10



 

24 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

required. Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Redevelopment of 

Knockholt village 

centre, including 

redevelopment of the 

village hall 

Knockholt The existing village hall is over 

forty years old and rapidly 

deteriorating in addition to being 

very inefficient energy wise. A 

detailed structural survey 

concluded that refurbishment 

would be both expensive and 

provide only a temporary solution. 

As a remote village in the 

Sevenoaks district there is a need 

for a modern village centre to 

provide a social hub which would 

allow village clubs to deliver a 

wide range of activities to 

residents across all age groups. A 

part time medical facility is 

planned as transport links are 

very poor and unsuitable for the 

elderly. Current funds stand at 

£15,000 before the main grant 

applications are submitted in July 

2015.  

2015 – 

2020 

Knockholt Parish 

Council  

£1,500,000 £15,000 (as of 

July 2015) 

£1,485,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Acquisition of a youth 

centre 

Otford  To promote youth involvement in 

the community 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish Council  £1,000,000 £0 £1,000,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvement to 

Otford Memorial Hall 

Otford To enhance facilities for the 

community. 

2015 – 

2020  

Otford Parish Council  £60,000 £0 £60,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

P
age 274

A
genda Item

 10



 

25 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

2015 

Improvements to 

existing street 

furniture 

Edenbridge  Maintain and replace street 

furniture and park benches to 

enhance the local environment 

2015 – 

2026 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£33,000 

 

(£3,000 per 

annum) 

£0 £33,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Repairs to the 

Lingfield Road 

Pavilion 

Edenbridge  To provide high quality sports 

facilities. The roof of the sports 

pavilion constructed in the 70's is 

causing problems with 

water/condensation damaging the 

building. The pavilion is used as 

changing and social facilities for 

the rugby and football teams and 

hired out for local private and 

community events. 

2015 – 

2016  

Edenbridge Town 

Council   

£35,000 £0 £35,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

public toilets 

Edenbridge The current toilets are in need of 

upgrading. The improvements this 

would enable toilet facilities to be 

made available for extended 

hours benefiting residents and 

visitors. Provision for these 

improvements was included in the 

Sainsbury's application which is 

now not going ahead. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£40,000 £0 £40,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Improvements to 

street lighting 

Edenbridge  To maintain current street Lights. 

Approx. 210 lights currently in use 

and provided by the parish 

2015 – 

onward 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£420,000 £0 £420,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Provision of outdoor 

fitness play 

equipment 

Edenbridge  Currently no equipment provided 

within parish. Youth Work 

Consortium Young People's Survey 

Results 2015 identified this as a 

need Edenbridge Town Council 

2015 – 

onward  

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£40,000 £0 £40,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

P
age 275

A
genda Item

 10



 

26 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

consultation with older residents 

and others in 2012 which also 

identified a need for this 

equipment. 

exercise in April 

2015 

8) Communications Infrastructure (beyond the directly secured by agreement between the developer) 

         

9) Green infrastructure other than site-specific improvements or mitigation measures 

New Play Area near 

the Town Centre 

Sevenoaks Town Resident demand for a new play 

area within walking distance of 

the Town Centre 

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

Unknown Up to £100,000 Unknown Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Multi Use Games 

Area (MUGA) 

Sevenoaks Town With the new build at the 

Community Centre, the current 

tennis courts may have to be 

removed and replaced either on 

site or in a different location  

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

Unknown Up to £100,000 Unknown Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

“Free” Recreational 

Facilities 

Sevenoaks Town To provide additional play 

equipment, outdoor gym 

equipment, outdoor table tennis 

and basketball nets in appropriate 

green sites  

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

Unknown Up to 120,000 Unknown Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Multi Play and Sports 

Zone 

Brasted The current playground was 

recently refurbished but there is 

not enough play provision for older 

children (10+ years old), limited 

outdoor sports/gym facilities and 

only the tennis courts are 

complete of the MUGA.  

2015 – 

2018  

Brasted Parish 

Council  

£40,000 Unknown Unknown Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Astroturf Pitch Dunton Green  Lack of all weather facilities within 

the parish and the District in 

general 

2020 – 

2025 

Dunton Green Parish 

Council  

£800,000 - 

£1,000,000 

£0 £800,000 - 

£1,000,000 

Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

P
age 276

A
genda Item

 10



 

27 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Provision of 

floodlighting for 

multi-use games 

area (MUGA) 

Dunton Green  Improves health and safety in 

recreation ground. Dunton Green 

has recently refurbished its 

outside recreational facilities and 

to maximise use of the MUGA 

through autumn/winter, flood 

lighting is required. This would 

ensure that the facilities were 

available to all for a longer period, 

aiding the health and fitness of 

people in the District and Dunton 

Green in particular.  

2015 – 

2020 

Dunton Green Parish 

Council  

£100,000 £0 £100,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Maintenance of 

existing toddlers 

playground and 

equipment 

Otford To provide maintenance of 

existing equipment and remove 

burden from council tax payments 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish Council  £10,000 

 

(£2,000 per 

annum) 

£5,000 

 

(£1,000 per 

annum)  

£5,000 

 

 

Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Installation of a zip-

wire at Telston park 

Otford  To promote youth involvement 2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish Council  £20,000 £0 £20,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Upgrade of Hodsoll 

Street play area 

safety surface 

Ash The current rubber safety mats 

need to be replaced and no longer 

conform to the EU regulations.  It 

would be beneficial to install 

artificial grass along with safety 

matting underneath. 

2015 – 

2017  

Ash-cum-Ridley 

Parish Council 

£4,000 £0 £4,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Increasing provision 

for allotments for 

North & East ward 

Edenbridge  Identified lack of provision as 

identified in the SDC Open Spaces 

review and Recreation ground 

2015 - 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£10,000 £1,000 £9,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

P
age 277

A
genda Item

 10



 

28 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

study (ALLOT 5) Waiting list at 

existing site 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Refurbishment of 

Marsh Green 

playground 

Edenbridge  Equipment dated and does not 

provide stimulating or challenging 

activities for users. 

2015 – 

2018  

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£50,000 £0 £50,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Refurbishment of 

Recreation Ground 

playground 

Edenbridge Equipment dated and does not 

provide stimulating or challenging 

activities for users 

2015 – 

2017 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£80,000 £0 £80,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Refurbishment of 

Spitals Cross 

playground 

Edenbridge Equipment dated and does not 

provide stimulating or challenging 

activities for users 

2015 – 

2016 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£75,000 £0 £75,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Refurbishment of 

Stangrove Road 

playground 

Edenbridge  Equipment dated and does not 

provide stimulating or challenging 

activities for users 

2015 – 

2025 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£80,000 £0 £80,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

Installation of a new 

playground for 

“wheeled sports” (i.e. 

scooters, BMX and 

skaters) 

Edenbridge  Provision of small concrete bowl 

type skate facility for use by 

scooters, BMX and skaters 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£50,000 £0 £50,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

P
age 278

A
genda Item

 10



 

29 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 

Funding 

Committed/ 

Anticipated 

Funding Gap Source 

Playground 

refurbishment with 

BMX and Skate 

Ramps 

Edenbridge  Equipment dated and does not 

provide stimulating or challenging 

activities for users and is not 

appropriate for use by scooters. 

2015 – 

2016 

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

£50,000 £0 £50,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

New play area / adult 

outdoor gym 

Halstead Current play area is badly 

situated. Equipment is poor and 

dated. Adult gym would be a new 

addition. 

2015 – 

2019 

Halstead Parish 

Council  

£200,000 £6,000 £194,000 Town/Parish 

Council consultation 

response from 

Infrastructure Call 

for Evidence 

exercise in April 

2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 279

A
genda Item

 10



 

30 

 

Appendix D: Other proposed schemes 

 

Further work must be carried out before these projects are considered as locally or strategically important. The inclusion of schemes in this list may 

simply indicate that additional information or commitment from another organisation is required. The lack of their inclusion in either the strategic or 

local priority schedules does not preclude the scheme promoter seeking funding (including CIL funding) for these schemes if needs change or if further 

evidence of need or the specific project to be developed becomes available in the future  

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

1) Transport schemes other than site-specific access improvements 

Public Car Park Brasted  Car parking in the village is 

problematic and due to poor 

public transport links, there is a 

high dependence on private 

vehicles.  

Unknown Brasted Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Overflow parking at 

Darenth car park 

Westerham  There is very limited parking 

elsewhere in the Town. Sporting 

activities on the adjacent playing 

field is driving the increased use 

and additional development will 

increase these pressures.  

2015 – 

2017  

Westerham Town 

Council 

Up to 

£40,000 

Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Pedestrian 

Crossing on Old 

London Road, 

Westerham 

Westerham With the development of the 

housing scheme on the Old 

School site accessing the Old 

London Road pedestrian use will 

increase both to he Town and 

other resident facilities. The 

pedestrian walkway on one side 

of the road is inadequate for 

additional pedestrians and a 

crossing would enable safe 

passage across a very busy 

arterial road. 

2015 – 

2017 

Westerham Town 

Council 

£20,000 Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it. In 

addition, this may be subject 

to a legal agreement with the 

developer if the London Road 

site is developed.  

Zebra crossing in 

Leigh village 

Leigh Too many cars and hazard for 

school children and elderly 

residents crossing the road.  

2015 – 

onwards 

Leigh Parish 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Improved kerbing Leigh  Too many cars and delivery 2015 – Leigh Parish £5,000 Unknown Town/Parish Council Requires delivery by another 

P
age 280

A
genda Item

 10



 

31 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

around the green vehicles who drive on the edge 

of the green and damage 

kerbing 

onwards Council  consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of a ticket 

office at Dunton 

Green station 

Dunton Green Dunton Green station is 

unmanned and has an 

inadequate ticket machine. 

Given the increased usage 

which will result from new 

residents based at Ryewood 

Meadows and potential for 

increased demand from Fort 

Halstead. Given Dunton Green’s 

direct routes into London, a 

manned ticket office (if only at 

peak times) or a full ticket 

machine are required. 

Discussions regarding Dunton 

Green being brought into the 

Oyster Area are ongoing with 

further potential increases in 

demand at this station.    

2015 – 

onwards 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

Southeastern Rail 

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Southeastern) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Improvements to 

lighting at zebra 

crossings 

Dunton Green  Approaches to 3 zebra crossings 

in the village are dark and 

pedestrians are not clearly 

visible to motorists. Introduction 

of lights at these crossings will 

ensure the safety of motorists 

and pedestrians alike. London 

Road is a key transport link and 

vehicle speeds are often 

perceived to be excessive, 

making use of the crossings 

more precarious. Increased 

traffic volumes anticipated 

following development 

exacerbate that need for 

crossings to be improved for 

safety.  

2015 – 

2018 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

Kent County 

Council  

Unknown  Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

P
age 281

A
genda Item

 10



 

32 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

Interactive speed 

signs to regulate 

traffic flows/speed 

Dunton Green London Road has a high volume 

of traffic and the speed at which 

that traffic flows needs to be 

regulated. Given the road layout 

it is not easy to have speed 

watch groups, interactive speed 

awareness signs at either end of 

the village would alert motorists 

to their speed and help ensure 

that the 30mph speed limit is 

observed, especially near the 

school. Increased traffic volume 

is anticipated as a result of the 

proposed development at Fort 

Halstead; safety through the 

village is of paramount concern.   

2015 – 

onwards 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

Kent County 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Traffic calming on 

Station Road 

Dunton Green  Traffic calming measures 

introduced to offset increased 

traffic volume impacts from 

Ryewood Meadows are a great 

cause for concern for residents 

of Station Road. Incidents of 

vehicles being unable to pass 

and the negative impact of the 

measures has been 

documented at length to SDC 

and KCC. Measures need to be 

reviewed (many residents calling 

for the “chicanes” to be 

removed and be replaced by 

“sleeping policemen”).  

2015 – 

2020 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

Kent County 

Council / 

Sevenoaks District 

Council 

Unknown Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Speed reducing 

measures along 

the A224 and A25, 

approaching 

Riverhead centre 

Riverhead Increase in number of cars will 

increase road noise generally 

and late night/weekend 

speeding when roads are not so 

busy. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Riverhead Parish 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of a new 

zebra crossing for 

A224, near Tesco 

Riverhead  Residents and local business 

workers will find it increasingly 

difficult to cross the road safely 

2015 – 

onwards 

Riverhead Parish 

Council  

£20,000-

£30,000 

Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

P
age 282

A
genda Item

 10



 

33 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

as the amount of traffic will 

increase. 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Cycle path from 

Polhill-Riverhead-

Sevenoaks 

Riverhead To reduce the number of cars 

and subsequent pollution and to 

protect cyclists against the 

increased number of cars 

2015 – 

onwards 

Riverhead Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Traffic calming 

along Otford High 

Street 

Otford  To reduce the speed of traffic in 

the high street and enable 

pedestrians to have a broader 

route 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of width 

and weight signs 

for Pilgrims Way 

East 

Otford To reduce speed and size of 

traffic in a narrow road with no 

footways 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Introduction of 

broad cobbled area 

between pond and 

shops 

Otford To slow traffic and create 

awareness of pedestrians 

crossing to this central beauty 

spot. 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Improvements to 

roundabout at St. 

Johns Way and 

Commerce Way 

Edenbridge  The roundabout is aesthetically 

out of keeping with the scale 

and design of the surrounding 

road network. Plans have been 

discussed to remove the metal 

work and astro turf the centre. 

This was originally considered 

with the Sainsbury's and Tesco's 

planning applications which are 

no longer going ahead. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Widening rail 

bridge to allow 

great access for 

lorries 

Edenbridge  Lorries unable to access town 

from North, limiting viability of 

Industrial and retail 

opportunities. To sustain and 

encourage local employment 

and business viability. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Network 

Rail 

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Network Rail) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of a safe Edenbridge  To protect residents and 2015 – Edenbridge Town Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council Requires delivery by another 

P
age 283

A
genda Item

 10



 

34 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

walking route from 

Romani Way to 

Hever Road 

children accessing the local 

schools and town centre 

facilities. 

onwards Council / Kent 

County Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of a safe 

walking route from 

Den Cross to Marsh 

Green 

Edenbridge  To protect residents when 

walking into Edenbridge 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of a safe 

walking route from 

St Brelades to 

Railway Bridge 

Edenbridge  To protect vulnerable residents 

accessing the local facilities 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Creation of 

disabled access for 

Edenbridge Town 

Railway Station 

Edenbridge  No disabled access to south 

platform Edenbridge Station 

2015 – 

onwards  

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Southern 

Rail  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Southern Rail) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Creation of 

disabled access for 

Edenbridge Railway 

Station 

Edenbridge  No disabled access to south 

platform Edenbridge Station 

2015 – 

onwards  

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Southern 

Rail  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Southern Rail) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Additional Parking 

at the Stangrove 

Estate 

Edenbridge  Green spaces damaged cars 

which have nowhere else to park 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / West 

Kent Housing 

Association / 

Sevenoaks District 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Implementation of 

the Sevenoaks 

District Cycling 

Strategy 

Sevenoaks 

District 

Creation of  the safe cycling 

routes outlined in the Strategy is 

long overdue. It will encourage 

mmore people to cycle more 

often and help meet SDC goals 

on air aulity, congestion 

reduction, public health and 

reducing obesity, a clearer and 

healthier environment and 

2015 – 

2026 

Sevenoaks Cycling 

Forum / 

Sevenoaks District 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Third Party 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.  

Furthermore, the scheme 

requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council and Sevenoaks 

District Council) that has not 

raised a need for CIL funding 

for this project or a 

P
age 284

A
genda Item

 10



 

35 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

carbon reduction. Priorities 

should be given to Routes 

1,2,4,5 and 6.  

commitment to deliver it.   

2) Flood defence schemes 

Re-instate road and 

drains in Tudor 

Drive and Crescent 

Otford  The roads are set on a steep 

gradient and poor drainage has 

caused undermining and 

subsidence 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council  

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (KCC Highways) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

One-way (weighted) 

sluice by north side 

of bridge over 

Darenth for flood 

defence 

Otford To prevent back-up of flow in 

high water scenarios.  This 

would reduce flooding of the 

adjoining drainage stream which 

provides free outlet to surface 

drainage of Rye Lane. 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / 

Environment 

Agency  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Environment 

Agency) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Individual 

householders flood 

defence scheme 

Edenbridge  To reduce flooding in Edenbridge 2015 – 

onward 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / 

Environment 

Agency  

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Environment 

Agency) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Edenbridge flood 

alleviation scheme 

Edenbridge  To reduce flooding in Edenbridge 2015 – 

onward 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / 

Environment 

Agency  

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Environment 

Agency) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Sewerage and 

surface waters 

drainage to support 

a new toilet block 

on Swanley Park 

Swanley Sewerage and surface waters 

drainage to support a new toilet 

block on Swanley Park 

2015 – 

onwards 

Swanley Town 

Council  

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

While this project could be 

eligible for CIL funding, a fully 

costed scheme needs to be 

given to determine the level 

of funding required.   

3) Water quality schemes 

         

4) Education 

Replacement of 

portacabin 

classroom at the 

pre-school 

Hartley The existing portacabin is in a 

dilapidated condition 

2015 – 

ongoing 

Harley Parish 

Council /  Round 

Ash Pre-School 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

P
age 285

A
genda Item

 10



 

36 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

exercise in April 2015 project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Leigh Primary 

School – Additional 

Classroom 

Leigh  Due to more housing being built 

at Powder Mills, increased 

pressure on school place 

availability.  

2015 – 

2016 

Leigh Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council  

Unknown Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Expansion of 

Dunton Green 

Primary School 

Dunton Green Dunton Green Primary School is 

already oversubscribed. 

Ryewood Meadows is only 25% 

complete with the prospect of 

additional capacity from this 

development and Fort Halstead. 

Current demand is not 

satisfactory and there will be 

further increases in demand as 

developments become 

populated. Dunton Green 

Primary School should expanded 

to ensure that it can meet 

Dunton Green and wider 

demand.  

2015 – 

onwards 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

Kent County 

Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Primary School / 

Grammar School 

Riverhead Primary school should be 

developed at the site of the Fort 

Halstead development so that 

children will have access to a 

local school. Riverhead and 

Dunton Green schools are 

already oversubscribed and the 

situation will only worsen with no 

school planned for Fort 

Halstead. Existing grammar 

schools are already 

oversubscribed. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Riverhead Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown  Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Building of a new 

primary school on 

the edge of the 

village centre with 

Otford  To help alleviate congestion in 

the High Street and in the village 

car park. Provision of a larger 

school to facilitate the growing 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council  

Unknown  Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

P
age 286

A
genda Item

 10



 

37 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

associated staff car 

parking 

school roles. exercise in April 2015 project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

Additional primary 

school places 

Edenbridge  Current Primary School at 

capacity. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Kent County 

Council) that has not raised a 

need for CIL funding for this 

project or a commitment to 

deliver it.   

5) Health and social care facilities 

Medical Facility Dunton Green  Existing medical facilities 

(surgeries in particular) and 

already stretched. Dunton Green 

residents have to travel to 

obtain medical attention. A 

medical facility was proposed for 

the Ryewood Meadows 

development but inexplicably 

there seems to be little progress 

here. Additional development in 

close proximity to Dunton Green 

(Fort Halstead) only increases 

the need for such a facility 

within Dunton Green.  

2015 – 

onwards 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

NHS West Kent 

Clinic 

Commissioning 

Group 

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (NHS England) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Expansion of 

existing doctor’s 

surgery, to include 

additional 

consultancy room, 

minor operations 

theatre and nurses 

station 

Otford  To promote community health.  

Additional infrastructure within 

the community. 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council / Otford 

Surgery 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (NHS England) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Doctors surgery 

expansion 

Edenbridge  Current Surgery working V2 

Doctor short. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / NHS 

West kent Clinical 

Commissioning 

Group 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (NHS England) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

Provision of new 

sporting and 

recreational 

Sevenoaks 

District  

Access and use of recreational, 

sporting and leisure facilities 

including play facilities and 

community centres can reduce 

2015 – 

onwards 

KCC Public Health  Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (Unknown) that 

has not raised a need for CIL 

P
age 287

A
genda Item

 10



 

38 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

facilities, and open 

space 

the risk of and support the 

recovery from mental illness, 

can impact positively on social 

isolation, improve engagement 

in physical activity and reduce 

obesity in adults and children. 

The development of 

infrastructure in line with 

national standards and with key 

target groups in mind has a 

critical role in preventing ill 

health.  

Accommodating this increased 

demand will require investment 

into medical and leisure 

infrastructure including 

children’s centres and 

community services which are 

the sites generally used for 

delivery by these health 

professionals.   Children’s  

Centres  and community centres 

like play facilities provide 

opportunities for children to 

interact, play and socialise  

which are all critical for their 

healthy development. In addition 

to increased physical activity 

which reduces obesity.  Children 

are greatest in number in 

Sevenoaks Town and St Johns 

ward.  

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

funding for this project or a 

commitment to deliver it.   

Extension to 

Kemsing Village 

Surgery to include 

an additional 

consulting room 

and Nurse 

Treatment/ Minor 

Surgery Room 

 

Kemsing The additional rooms will 

improve the current 

infrastructure, resulting in 

promoting and improving health 

care within the local community  

2015 – 

2020 

Kemsing Parish 

Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

Requires delivery by another 

organisation (NHS England) 

that has not raised a need for 

CIL funding for this project or 

a commitment to deliver it.   

6) Police and emergency facilities  

         

7) Community facilities 

P
age 288

A
genda Item

 10



 

39 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

Community 

Conference Centre 

at Bat & Ball 

Sevenoaks Town Intention to sell the existing 

Town Council offices and replace 

with a community/conference 

centre with Town Council offices. 

The eventual regeneration of the 

Bat & Ball area. 

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Replacement of 

Raleys Gym 

Sevenoaks Town Due to poor condition, it is not 

deemed economically viable to 

build a replacement facility, a 

capital investment sum will be 

put towards expanding its 

current programme of facilities.  

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council  

£95,000 Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Replacement of 

Indoor Cricket 

School 

Sevenoaks Town To improve the facility through 

better maintenance and 

providing replacement facilities.  

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

£150,000 Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Café on the Vine  Sevenoaks Town Refurbish the Band Practice 

Room on the Vine to provide a 

café 

Unknown Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Greatness 

Community Facility 

Sevenoaks Town The creation of a new pavilion 

for the Sevenoaks Junior 

Football Club and release the 

current use of the existing 

pavilion to become a conference 

centre with public toilets, café 

and small community meeting 

rooms 

Unknown  Sevenoaks Town 

Council 

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Expansion of the 

Pavilion to include 

a Parish Office and 

increased storage 

Brastead The existing pavilion services 

many community functions. 

Internal refurbishment would 

increase the storage space for 

community activities as well as 

providing a dedicated space for 

the Parish Council.  

 

2015 – 

2017  

Brasted Parish 

Council  

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Redevelopment of Westerham The current facilities however 2015 – Westerham Town Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council A fully costed scheme needs 

P
age 289

A
genda Item

 10



 

40 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

Pavilion and 

enhancement of 

King Georges 

playing field 

are not fit for purpose and with 

the expansion of the Junior 

Football Club there is a need to 

enhance the facilities on site to 

maximise recreational and sport 

space for the local community. 

Greatest demand for a multi 

sports surface which would 

enable a wider variety of sports 

including football, netball, 

tennis, to be accommodated.  In 

consequence, the pavilion would 

need to be altered to allow 

greater use by the community. 

The full results were published 

on both the VisitWesterham and 

Council websites and in the 

Westerham and Brasted 

Gazette.  The multi-use sport 

surface would encourage sport 

participation and the local 

community has evidenced a 

need for it. 

2017  Council consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

to be developed.   

Re-development of 

the cricket pavilion 

Leigh The cricket pavilion desperately 

needs updating and also 

requires installation of a 

disabled access.  

2015 – 

onwards 

Leigh Parish 

Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Maintenance and 

refurbishment of 

street lighting 

Dunton Green Lighting inventory on London 

Road has been neglected and 

the height of columns through 

the village is inappropriate given 

the village setting. Lighting 

columns should be replaced 

with something more in-keeping 

with the village and there should 

be a budget to facilitate regular 

painting/refurbishment. The 

lights detract from village’s 

2015 – 

ongoing 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council / 

Kent County 

Council  

Unknown  Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

P
age 290

A
genda Item

 10



 

41 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

appearance and detract from 

the route into Sevenoaks.  

Improvements to 

underpass lighting 

Dunton Green  The lighting in and at both ends 

of the underpass under London 

Road (next to the primary 

school) are not fit for purpose. 

For at least the last eight years 

the Parish Council has been 

trying to get these 

repaired/upgraded. This is an 

important thoroughfare and 

given the potential increase in 

traffic volumes as a result in 

traffic volumes as a result of the 

Ryewood Meadows and 

proposed Fort Halstead 

development. It becomes 

increasingly important that there 

is a safe pedestrian route 

especially in such close 

proximity to the primary school.  

 

2015 – 

onwards 

Dunton Green 

Parish Council  / 

Kent County 

Council  

Unknown  Unknown  Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Development of 

Palace Tower and 

Palace Field as a 

historical asset 

Otford The need to recognise an 

unrecognised site which was 

once larger than Hampton Court.  

Initial costs only provided to 

cover “condition survey” 

To prevent further erosion and 

decay. To enhance the 

conservation area 

2015 – 

2020 

Otford Parish 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Improvements to 

youth provision 

Edenbridge To develop community cohesion 2015 – 

onwards 

Edenbridge Town 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Community 

Building in Swanley 

Park 

Swanley  To build a new community 

building in Swanley Park 

2015 – 

onwards 

Swanley Town 

Council  

Unknown  Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

P
age 291

A
genda Item

 10



 

42 

 

Scheme Location Need for Scheme Timescale Lead Body Cost 
Funding 

Committed 
Source 

Reason scheme is not 

included in local or strategic 

schedules 

exercise in April 2015 

Replacement of the 

village hall. 

Halsted The current village hall is very 

old. Has had major works 

undertaken but facilities are still 

in adequate. Demand outweighs 

capacity 

2015 – 

onwards 

Halsted Parish 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

8) Communications Infrastructure (beyond the directly secured by agreement between the developer) 

         

9) Green infrastructure other than site-specific improvements or mitigation measures 

Improvements to 

Football Pitch 

Brasted Limited attention to 

maintenance has put the pitch 

in a poor condition. Options to 

improving the football pitch 

include a programme of 

scarification, aeration and 

localised reseeding. 

Alternatively, the pitch can be 

stripped and releveled. 

2015 – 

2017  

Edenbridge Town 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed for both 

options described.   

Replacement  of 

existing playground 

equipment 

Hartley Existing playground equipment 

is coming to the end of its useful 

life. Recently replaced the 

equipment the on another 

playground and have seen an 

increase in useage. There is a 

need in the community for 

additional, updated playgrounds.  

2015 – 

ongoing 

Hartley Parish 

Council 

£80,000 Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

All weather sports 

pitch for Leigh 

Primary Schools 

Leigh  More pupils at Leigh School due 

to new housing provision which 

increase pressure on sports 

facilities 

2015 – 

2016 

Leigh Parish 

Council / Kent 

County Council 

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

Planting trees 

along A224 

between Dunton 

Green and 

Riverhead 

Riverhead Reduce pollution and noise due 

to the increase in traffic 

resulting from the development 

of Fort Halstead. 

2015 – 

onwards 

Riverhead Parish 

Council  

Unknown Unknown Town/Parish Council 

consultation response 

from Infrastructure 

Call for Evidence 

exercise in April 2015 

A fully costed scheme needs 

to be developed.   

 

P
age 292

A
genda Item

 10



 

SEVENOAKS SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY 2015 UPDATE 

Planning Advisory Committee – 13 October 2015 

 

Report of  Chief Planning Officer 

Status: For Consideration 

Key Decision: No 

Executive Summary: The Sevenoaks Settlement Hierarchy was first prepared in 

2007/2008 and was last updated in 2009.  

The Settlement Hierarchy was used by the Core Strategy and then the Allocations and 

Development Management Plan (ADMP) to determine the level of facilities and services 

available across the District and identify which settlements are suitable for new 

sustainable development.  As the Core Strategy and ADMP have now both been adopted 

the Settlement Hierarchy will be updated to act as a monitoring tool to measure the 

change in the level of services and facilities in the District’s settlements.  The results are 

reported in the Authority Monitoring Report (AMR).  

A new Settlement Hierarchy will also be produced to support the Local Plan Review and 

the development of policies.  

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Piper 

Contact Officer(s) Simon Taylor Ext. 7134 

Recommendation to Planning Advisory Committee:   

a) To the note the Settlement Hierarchy 2015 update for the AMR in Appendix A; and  

b) To discuss and consider the recommendations set out in paragraph 15 regarding 
the preparation of a new Settlement Hierarchy to support the emerging Local Plan. 

Reason for recommendation: In order to consider an important element of the evidence 

base for the new Local Plan.   

Introduction and Background 

1 The Settlement Hierarchy was first prepared in 2007/2008 to help determine the 

most appropriate locations for development across the Sevenoaks District. In 

2009, the Hierarchy was updated to support the Spatial Vision and Location 

Policies within the Core Strategy. The Settlement Hierarchy illustrates the level of 

services and facilities available to support development in the District.   

Page 293

Agenda Item 11



 

2 The Council is required to monitor adopted policies. The Settlement Hierarchy is 

used as a performance indicator to test the effectiveness of policies within the 

Core Strategy and the ADMP.  Therefore, the Council is obliged to keep the 

Hierarchy up to date, and publish the findings in the Authority Monitoring Report 

(AMR)   

3 The Council is currently preparing a new Local Plan supported by a revised 

evidence base, which by necessity includes a review of the District housing need 

figures. A new settlement Hierarchy, independent of the one included in the 

Authority Monitoring Report will be produced to support the Local Plan review.   

4 This new hierarchy will illustrate the potential for future development according to 

the levels of the services and facilities that are available in each settlement. 

Where a settlement has a greater service score, it is anticipated that the 

settlement can potentially accommodate a greater level of sustainable 

development. It also highlights those settlements in the District that have a green 

belt boundary and those that are “washed over” by the green belt. There is no 

accounting for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in the Hierarchy.  

5 The Council is currently preparing a new Local Plan in line with a revised evidence 

base, which by necessity includes a review of the District housing need figures. 

The Settlement Hierarchy will be used as an evidence base in the plan-making 

process to determine which settlements within the District are the most 

sustainable in supporting future development.   

National Planning Policy Context  

6 National planning policy states that any development should take place within the 

most sustainable and deliverable locations. The National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) states that the plan-making processes for development should 

“[…]not simply be about scrutiny, but instead be a creative exercise in finding ways 

to enhance and improve the places in which people live their lives” (NPPF para. 

17), and local authorities should plan positively within the most sustainable and 

deliverable locations. This includes specific policies for individual elements of 

development, such as town and local service centres in both urban and rural 

locations. The NPPF stresses that local authorities should promote and retain local 

and community services within villages as these are considered to be important 

community assets (NPPF para. 28). 

Settlement Hierarchy 2015 update for the AMR  

7 The Hierarchy was last reviewed in 2009. The 2015 update follows a similar 

methodology to the 2009 Update.   All Town and Parish Councils were sent a list of 

local services and facilities within their settlements. All Parish and Town Councils 

responded to the consultation, along with submitting details of public transport 

provision in the local area. Where a settlement had a service, it received one point 

accordingly. Where a settlement had two or more of the same services, it received 

an additional point per service (i.e. 3 primary schools would be given three points). 

All settlements were given a service score and ranked accordingly.  

8 The 2015 update uses the same criteria for defining the boundaries of a 

settlement as follows: 

Page 294

Agenda Item 11



 

“Where the settlements have Green Belt boundaries these have been taken as the 

basis for the extent of the settlement. However services/facilities not within the 

Greenbelt boundaries but clearly associated with the settlement, have been 

included in the survey, provided they are within approximately 400m of the centre 

and are easily and safely accessible on foot. In the remaining settlements, where 

possible, the built up area has been taken as the extent of the settlement but 

again facilities clearly associated with the settlement have been included.” 

9 Where a settlement has a Green Belt boundary, the settlement received one 

additional point. In principle, this was considered favourable, as development 

should be focused inside the built up areas and not in the green belt. 

10 A further point was given to settlements that have significant business areas as 

defined in the Sevenoaks Employment Study. 

11 One point was given to each 1000 head population within each settlement.  

Population figures were obtained through 2011 Census data. Where a 

settlement’s population was too small to determine from the Census Output Areas, 

the electoral roll for each settlement was used, adding 25% to the population 

figure to account for those not eligible to vote/not registered to vote. 

12 This process produced a final ranked list of settlements, which can be found in 

Appendix A. This is to be published as part of the next AMR.  

13 As the last review of the Settlement Hierarchy was carried out in 2009, the 

intervening six year period has resulted in some changes to the overall settlement 

classification (Further information on settlement classification can be found in 

Appendix A).  Below is a summary of changes to the Hierarchy since the last 

Update: 

• The total score for Edenbridge has increased to match the same level as 

Swanley (Total Service Score 141). This is due to a number of developments 

being completed since the last update. However, Edenbridge does not 

provide a full range of services (i.e. a secondary school) or greater 

employment opportunities despite having good access to local services and 

facilities for local residents, and transport links (i.e. bus and rail). It is on this 

basis, and the fact that the settlement has a smaller population than 

Swanley, the town is designated as a “Rural Town Centre”.  

• South Darenth has moved up the Hierarchy since the 2009 Update. This is 

due to the completion of the Horton Kirby Paper Mills redevelopment, and an 

increase in local services and facilities. The classification for South Darenth 

is now “Service Village (A)”.  

• Fordcombe has moved down the Hierarchy since the 2009 Update. 

Previously, Fordcombe was designated within the “Small Villages” category. 

However, there appears to be a loss in the number of facilities/services that 

are available to serve the local need. Therefore, the classification for 

Fordcombe has become “Hamlet”. 

 

Page 295

Agenda Item 11



 

A New Settlement Hierarchy for the Emerging Local Plan  

14 A new Settlement Hierarchy will need to be produced to support the emerging 

Local Plan.  The new report will take account of current national guidance and may 

be in a different form to the previous one produced for the Core Strategy.  The 

recently updated services and facilities scores have already highlighted potential 

changes which could be made.    

15 Members may wish to discuss the following options: 

• The inclusion of Westerham in the “Rural Town Centre” category with 

Edenbridge (including Marlpitt Hill) (para. 16);  

• Keeping Otford and New Ash Green designated as “Local Service Centres”  

(para. 17);  

• The consolidation of “Service Villages (A) and Service Villages (B)” into one 

group (para. 18);  

• The consolidation of “Small Villages” and “Hamlets” into one category (para. 

19).  

16 The Settlement Hierarchy update for the AMR outlines three main settlements 

within the District; Sevenoaks, Swanley and Edenbridge. The revised settlement 

scores suggest that Westerham could be included as a main District Settlement, 

under “Rural Town Centre”. This is due to a number of housing sites which have 

been allocated within the ADMP and a large number of local facilities and services 

being identified (total service score of 97). Therefore, it is reasonable to consider 

that Westerham has more in common with Edenbridge than either Otford or New 

Ash Green.  

17 Otford and New Ash Green share similar levels in local facilities and services when 

compared to Westerham, which has a significantly higher services score. However, 

the individual service scores remain significantly higher than those settlements 

highlighted in “Service Villages”. It could be assumed that individuals use services 

and facilities in Otford and New Ash Green as certain facilities cannot be accessed 

within their own settlement (i.e. health services, libraries, other services/shops). In 

the ADMP, current policy affords protection to services within local service centres 

as the facilities provided are significant to the area and surrounding villages 

(ADMP Policy TLC4).  It would be favourable therefore, to keep Otford and New Ash 

Green as “local service centres” as the services provided are significant to the 

area and the surrounding villages who can not access the main District 

settlements on a regular basis.  

18 The Settlement Hierarchy 2015 for the AMR shows that there is currently little 

difference in characteristics between settlements categorised as “Service 

Villages”. It may be more favourable to combine the two groups “Service Villages 

(A) and Service Villages (B)” into one category as these settlements service 

surrounding smaller settlements.  

19 Likewise, there is little difference in the level of services and facilities available in 

settlements classified as “Small Village” or “Hamlet”. As it would be unlikely for 

Page 296

Agenda Item 11



 

these settlements to accommodate large scale developments, due to the number 

of services and facilities that are currently available. Therefore, it is considered 

favourable to combine these two categories together into one classification. 

However, by grouping these settlements together it does not mean that 

development can not occur in these locations indefinitely. Small scale 

developments or rural exception schemes may be permitted, subject to the normal 

development control processes.  

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected  

Members may choose not to consider the 2015 Update for the AMR to the Settlement 

Hierarchy.  However, the Core Strategy and Allocations and Development Management 

Monitoring relies on the completion of an up to date settlement hierarchy. The Council 

have committed to providing up to date monitoring information to be published as part of 

the Authority Monitoring Report.   

Key Implications 

Financial  

There are no financial implications for the Council.  

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement 

There are no legal or risk implications for the Council.  

Equality Assessment 

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to the 

substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users. 

 

Conclusions 

It is important that the Council monitors the adopted policies in the Core Strategy and the 

Allocations and Development Management Plan.  The Settlement Hierarchy update for 

the AMR is an important tool in determining if the policies are effective.   

The Council must also produce a new Local Plan that is consistent with current national 

planning policy. To achieve this, a sound and up-to-date evidence base must be produced 

to support new local planning policies.  A new Settlement Hierarchy should be produced 

using up to date guidance and a fresh approach to ensure it accurately reflects how 

sustainable development should be planned in the future.  

Appendices Appendix A – Sevenoaks District Settlement 

Hierarchy 2015 Update for the AMR 

 

Background Papers: 

 

Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy 2009.  

 

Richard Morris 

Chief Planning Officer 

 

Page 297

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

Appendix A: Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR 2015 

1.  Introduction 

The Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy was first prepared in 2007/2008, with the last 

update in July 2009. The Hierarchy identifies several tiers of settlements based on an audit of 

existing services and facilities. As such, it serves as a useful tool in helping to advise on options 

for new development taking account of the most sustainable locations. Together with other policy 

considerations and evidence, the Hierarchy will therefore help inform the strategic policy options 

for the location and scale of new development within the new Local Plan.  

The purpose of this report is to outline the Settlement Hierarchy for the Sevenoaks District. The 

Hierarchy:  

� Provides a brief overview of the national and local planning policy context;  

� Describes the broad methodology used to develop the Hierarchy; and  

� Outlines and justifies the classification of each of District’s settlements included 

within the Hierarchy.  

2.  Policy Context  

2.1  National Policy Context 

National planning policy states that any development should take place within the most 

sustainable and deliverable locations. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that 

a series of land-planning principles should be used when undertaking plan-making and decision-

taking, in order to maintain sustainable development. Paragraph 17 of the NPPF outlines the 

principles of development stating that “[…] every effort should be made objectively to identify and 

then met the housing business and other development needs of an area and respond positively 

to wider opportunities to grow”, while promoting “[…] mixed use developments, and encourage 

multiple benefits from the use of land in urban and rural areas, recognising that some open land 

can preform many functions (such as wildlife, recreation, flood risk mitigation, carbon storage, or 

food production)”.  

The NPPF additionally states that the plan-making processes for development should “not simply 

be about scrutiny, but instead be a creative exercise in finding ways to enhance and improve the 

places in which people live their lives” (para. 17). Furthermore, Local authorities should define a 

network and hierarchy of centres that is resilient to anticipated future economic changes.  

The NPPF sets out individual planning policies for specific elements of development, in order to 

achieving sustainable development. In regards to the development of town centres, paragraph 

23 states that local planning authorities should “recognise town centres as the heart of their 

communities and pursue policies to support their viability and vitality” with “[…] town centres in 

decline, local planning authorities should plan for positively for their future to encourage 

economic activity”. This includes the development of strong rural economies, which is important 

for a majority of settlements within the Sevenoaks District. Paragraph 28 of the NPPF states that 

Local Authorities should promote and retain the local services and community services within 

village as these are important community assets.  

 

 

Page 299

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

2.2  Local Policy Context 

Sevenoaks District Council is now beginning to prepare a new Local Plan. The Council has 

produced adopted policies through the Sevenoaks District Core Strategy (adopted February 

2011) and the Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) (adopted February 2015) 

to reflect national planning policy and guidance. The over-arching aims of the Core Strategy’s 

Spatial Vision promote sustainable development within the District in the plan period, up to 

2026, including the commitment “to locate development in sustainable locations on previously 

developed land, ensuring that the main focus for major developments is in Sevenoaks, Swanley 

and Edenbridge (ADMP para. 1.5).  

The policies within the ADMP are reflective of the adopted policies within the Core Strategy, while 

maintaining compliance with the NPPF at the national level. ADMP Policy SC1 sets out that all 

development within the District will be in favour of sustainable development whereby “[…] the 

Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development contained within the National Planning Policy Framework”.  

This allows the Sevenoaks District to develop in a positive and sustainable manner. The Council 

is aware of the constraints that affect development within the District and have adopted policies 

that take these into account. This accounts to the protection of community services and amenity, 

within settlements of the District especially rural settlements. The ADMP recognises that local 

shopping provision is important to many settlements within the District and small scale retail 

development should be allowed in scale with the settlement. This can be split into town and local 

centre. A town centre can be defined with uses including: 

� Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres);  

� Leisure, entertainment facilities and the more intensive sport and recreation uses 

(including cinema, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, night-clubs, 

casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowls centres and bingo halls);  

� Offices; and  

� Arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and 

concert halls, hotels and conference facilities) 

For a local centre, it can be defined as locally significantly areas of retail to which specific retail 

policies apply, in accordance with the NPPF. 

Under Core Strategy Policy LO7, the Council seeks to retain local services and facilities, in order 

to manage the sustainability of rural locations and settlements, including the local character and 

the needs for services. This has been extended within the ADMP whereby neighbourhood 

services within urban confines are equally important as those services that can be lost in rural 

settlements (ADMP Policy CF2).  

3. The Survey  

A total of 55 settlements are included in the Hierarchy. For the purposes of this particular study 

the word “settlement” covers all towns, villages and hamlets etc. where there are services or 

community facilities which can contribute to their sustainability.  

Where the settlements have Green Belt boundaries these have been taken as the basis for the 

extent of the settlement. However services/facilities not within the Greenbelt boundaries but 

clearly associated with the settlement, have been included in the survey, provided they are within 

Page 300

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

approximately 400m of the centre and are easily and safely accessible on foot. In the remaining 

settlements, where possible, the built up area has been taken as the extent of the settlement but 

again facilities clearly associated with the settlement have been included.  

Due to geographical proximity and character, Sevenoaks Town, Riverhead, Dunton Green, 

Chipstead and Bessels Green have been grouped together as the Sevenoaks Urban Area, as has 

Edenbridge and Marlpit Hill. This acknowledges not only their close geographical proximity but 

also the fact that they share many services and facilities.  

The Hierarchy is based on the range of criteria set out below (the results for each settlement are 

provided in Table 3): 

 

� Population 

� Range of shops and services 

� Access to education 

� Access to health services 

 

Population 

An approximate population figure for each settlement was derived from the 2011 Census using 

Output Area (OA) data. In most cases, Output Area boundaries do not coincide with defined 

settlement boundaries. If part of the settlement falls within a particular OA, then this was 

included in the total for the settlement. The quoted population in Table 3 will tend to exceed the 

population living within the defined settlement boundary. For some very small settlements it was 

not possible to calculate a settlement’s population due to the geographical limitations with OA 

data. Where this was the case, an estimate for each settlement is given based on the electoral 

role (adding an extra 25% for those not eligible to vote).  

Services & Facilities Audit 

A range of services and facilities were identified as contributing to the sustainability of 

settlements. These were taken as the basis for an audit of each settlement (see Table 1). None 

of the individual services have been prioritised or weighted apart from public transport where, for 

example an all day service scores higher than a peak only service.  

Some services were deemed as making an essential contribution towards the sustainability of a 

settlement especially when grouped together. These were classified as “key sustainability 

services/facilities” (highlighted in bold in Table 1). Those settlements with four or more 

services/facilities are highlighted in Table 3. 

On-site surveys were undertaken to determine what services each of the District’s settlements 

provided. This was based on a points system whereby a single point would be awarded for each 

service/facility present within a settlement (for example, if a settlement contained two primary 

schools, two points would be awarded). The results of each Audit were recorded in an Excel 

spreadsheet and sent to Parish/Town Councils for factual checking and any resulting 

amendments were made.  

Assessed via a Service and Facilities 

Audit 

Page 301

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

A total “Service Score” was then calculated for each settlement which enabled them to be ranked 

accordingly to the range of services and facilities they currently provide. Having calculated the 

service score an additional point was added per 1000 head of population and for the settlement 

having a Greenbelt boundary. The population figures were not rounded up to accommodate this.   

Although not subject to a detailed study, consideration was also given to local employment 

opportunities based on the Employment Land Review 2008. This study identifies individual 

business areas in Sevenoaks Urban Area, Swanley, Edenbridge, South Darenth and Westerham 

of over 10,000m2. An extra point has been added to the scores of these settlements to take 

account of the level of sustainable employment opportunities.  

Table 1: Services and facilities included within the Audit 

Transport Education Employment Health 
Retail Service 

Providers 

Community 

Facilities 

Rail Services 

(3, 2 and 1 

services/hr 

peak and all 

day) 

 

Primary 

School 

 

Business 

Areas 

 

Doctors 

Surgery 

Post Office 

 

Bank/Building 

Society 

Community Hall 

 

Permanent Library 

 

Bus Services 

(3, 2 and 1 

services/hr 

peak and all 

day) 

 

Secondary 

School 

 
 

Dentist 

Superstore (over 

2,500 sqm trading 

floorspace selling 

food and non-food) 

 

Supermarket 

(under 2,500 sqm 

trading floorspace 

selling food and non-

food) 

 

Place of Worship 

 

Recreation Ground 

 

Cricket Ground 

 

Synthetic Pitch 

 

    

 

Small Local 

Store 

 

Other Shops & 

Services (e.g. 

butchers/ 

hairdressers) 

 

Major Indoor Sports 

/ Leisure Facility 

 

Children’s Play Area 

/ Provision for 

Children and Young 

People 

    

 

Pubs / Takeaways / 

Restaurant / Tea 

Rooms 

 

 

“Key sustainability services/facilities” are in bold 

 

Table 2: Transportation service weighting 

 Score 

Frequency of Service Peak Only All Day 

≥ 3 services/hr 3 4 

2 services/hr 2 3 

1 service/hr 1 2 

 

Page 302

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

Settlement Tiers & Classification  

An assessment was made of each settlement. This looked at the total scores and at the 

combination of the services and facilities in each settlement as the presence of a single service 

or facility will not mean the settlement is sustainable. The settlements were then classified as 

one of the following: 

1. Principle Town Centre 5. Service Villages Group A & B 

2. Urban District Centre 6. Small Villages 

3. Rural Services Centre 7. Hamlets 

4. Local Services Centre  

  

Each tier is representative of the role and function performed by a particular settlement together 

with its potential for accommodating future development (in descending order). The classification 

of each of the District’s settlements is detailed in Section 4.  

4. Settlement Classification 

4.1 Principle Town Centre: Sevenoaks Urban Area 

The Sevenoaks Urban Area, comprising of Sevenoaks Town, Riverhead, Dunton Green, Chipstead 

and Bessels Green, has been classified as the District’s Principle Town Centre. It has the largest 

population (28,282) and the largest amount of services and facilities out of the District 

settlements (as reflected by a total service score of 511). As the ADMP states “Sevenoaks has a 

successful town centre, which faces outside competition from larger centres outside of the 

District […] there is likely to be some capacity for additional retail provision in Sevenoaks Town 

during the short and medium term” (ADMP para. 5.10 & 5.11). Sevenoaks is the main transport 

hub in the District with excellent bus and rail connections to London and the surrounding areas. 

There has been a decrease in available employment land (27.2ha) according to the Sevenoaks 

Employment Land Review Update (2010). Nevertheless, the Sevenoaks Urban Area offers the 

greatest potential to accommodate new development in comparison to other settlements in the 

District.  

4.2 Urban District Centre: Swanley 

Swanley has the second largest population in the District with 15,747 residents. It is also one of 

the District’s major employment centres. Swanley has good rail and bus connections to 

surrounding areas and central London, with retail provision focusing towards convenience 

facilities and services. Additionally there is primary and secondary school provision. This is 

reflected in the total service score (141), which represents little change from the last Settlement 

Hierarchy Update. 

4.3 Rural Services Centre: Edenbridge  

Edenbridge is the third largest settlement within the Sevenoaks District, with 8,172 inhabitants. 

There are a good range of services and facilities that are available for residents (including a 

Major Indoor Sports & Leisure Centre), yet lacks in providing a full range of services (i.e. a 

secondary school) or employment opportunities. Nonetheless, the total service score of 141 

reflects a number of developments that have happened since the last Update. Edenbridge has 

been designated as a Rural Service Centre due to a lower population in comparison to Swanley, 

despite matching service scores.  

Page 303

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

4.4 Local Service Centres: Westerham, Otford & New Ash Green  

Local Service Centres are not as large as the three Service Centres described above and do not 

offer a wide range of services. However, they do offer a proportionate range of services, facilities 

and employment opportunities for the daily needs of the local community and surrounding 

settlements. Of these Westerham has the highest total service score (97), yet New Ash Green has 

the highest population of the three settlements (5892). There has been no change in order since 

the previous Update.    

4.5  Service Villages: 

 (A) Hartley, West Kingsdown, Seal, South Darenth, Kemsing and Hextable; and  

(B) Brasted, Crockenhill, Enysford, Halstead, Farningham, Knockholt & Knockholt Pound, 

Sevenoaks Weald, Leigh, Shoreham, Ide Hill, Horton Kirby and Sundridge 

These settlements are smaller than those further up the Hierarchy and offer a limited number of 

services and facilities than those settlements categorised as Local Service Centres. However, the 

majority of these settlements have 4 or more “key sustainability services/facilities”. In addition, 

they have defined Greenbelt boundaries which mean that, within these boundaries, there are 

opportunities for potential small scale or minor development. This is reflective of the total service 

scores for each settlement. Settlements in group A have more facilities and tend to be larger 

than those listed in Group B. There are two changes to the Service Villages classification 

following the 2009 Update: 

� South Darenth has moved up the Hierarchy from Service Villages Group B to Group A. 

This is representative of the development that has occurred in these settlements, 

including the redevelopment of the Paper Mills in South Darenth.  

4.6 Small Villages: Penshurst, Ide Hill, Chiddingstone, Four Elms and Chiddingstone 

Causeway  

These villages generally have smaller populations and significantly smaller number and limited 

range of services and facilities available than in Local Service Centres and Service Villages. Due 

to the limited range of services/facilities, there is little scope to support potential growth in the 

settlements. These settlements are all washed over by the Green Belt which severely restricts 

their potential to accommodate new development. There is one amendment to the classification 

following the 2009 Update: 

� Fordcombe has moved down the Hierarchy as there appears to be increase of services 

and facilities within the Small Villages category.  

4.7 Hamlets: Fawkham, Badgers Mount, Hever, Fordcombe, Crockham Hill, Cowden, 

Underriver, Ash, Hodsoll Street, Toys Hill, Bough Beech, Chiddingstone Hoath, Swanley 

Village, Stone Street, Mark Beech, Marsh Green, Well Hill, Knatts Valley, Chevening, 

Heaverham, Godden Green and Bitchet Green  

These Hamlets have very small populations (fewer than 1,000 inhabitants) and have a very 

limited range of services and facilities (all have service scores of 7 or less). All the settlements in 

this classification are washed over by Green Belt (excluding Badgers Mount). As such, it would be 

unrealistic to expect these settlements to accommodate new development. Since the 2009 

Update, Marsh Green near Edenbridge has been added to the Hierarchy.   

Page 304

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

Table 3: Settlements ranked by Service and Facilities Score 

Settlement 
Population of 

Settlement 1 

Services  

Facility 

Score 

4+ Key 

Sustainability 

Services/Facilities 

Classification 

Sevenoaks Urban Area 

(Sevenoaks Town 

including Riverhead, 

Dunton Green, Chipstead 

& Bessels Green 

28282 511 Y 
Principle Town 

Centre 

Swanley 15747 141 Y 
Urban Town 

Centre 

Edenbridge (including 

Marlpitt Hill) 
8172 141 Y 

Rural Town 

Centre 

Westerham 3303 97 Y 
Local Service 

Centre 
Otford 3465 60 Y 

New Ash Green 5892 55 Y 

Hartley 4660 41 Y 

Service Villages 

(Group A) 

West Kingsdown 4715 33 Y 

Seal 1544 32 Y 

Kemsing 4013 31 Y 

South Darenth  1954  30 Y 

Hextable 4092 29 Y 

Brasted 844 26  

Service Villages 

(Group B) 

Crockenhill 1521 24 Y 

Eynsford 1633 24 Y 

Halstead 1016 22 Y 

Farningham 1158 19  

Knockholt & Knockholt 

Pound 
753 18 Y 

Sevenoaks Weald 805 18 Y 

Leigh 1257 18 Y 

Shoreham 800 17  

Horton Kirby 959 15  

Sundridge 794 15  

Penshurst 708 13  

Small Villages 

Ide Hill 719 13  

Chiddingstone 424 12  

Four Elms 683 12  

Chiddingstone Causeway 411 11  

Fawkham 465 7  

Hamlets 

Hever 370 7  

Fordcombe 298 7  

Crockham Hill 291 7  

Cowden 517 6  

Underriver 359 6  

Ash 273 5  

Page 305

Agenda Item 11



Sevenoaks District Settlement Hierarchy for the AMR: June 2015 

Hodsoll Street 476 5  

Toys Hill 339 5  

Bough Beech 424 5  

Swanley Village 310 5  

Stone Street 188 5  

Badgers Mount  656 4  

Mark Beech 230 4  

Chiddingstone Hoath 54 3  

Marsh Green 424 3  

Well Hill 271 3  

Knatts Valley 467 3  

Chevening 34 2  

Heaverham 205 2  

Godden Green  111 2  

Bitchet Green 83 2  

 

Note1 : Population figures are estimated from the 2011 Census using Output Area boundaries, 

which include areas that extend beyond defined Greenbelt boundaries for settlements. For very 

small settlements, estimates have been made based on the electoral roll. Further information is 

contained in the Population section on page 3.  

Page 306

Agenda Item 11



 

ADOPTION OF OTFORD VILLAGE DESIGN STATEMENT 

Planning Advisory Committee – 13 October 2015 

Report of the: Chief Planning Officer  

Status: For Decision 

Also considered by: Cabinet – 5 November 2015 

Key Decision: No  

This report supports all the Key Aims of the Community Plan 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Piper  

Lead Officer Claire Pamberi, Ext. 7178 

Recommendation to Planning Advisory Committee:  That it be recommended to Cabinet 

that approval is given for the adoption of the Otford Village Design Statement as a 

Supplementary Planning Document. 

Recommendation to Cabinet:  That approval be given for the adoption of the Otford 

Village Design Statement as a Supplementary Planning Document 

Reason for recommendation:  To allow the guidance given in these documents to be 

brought forward by the local community, to be a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications.  

Supplementary Planning Documents 

Background  

1 A Village Design Statement [VDS] is a practical document produced by local 

people, which can form a material consideration when assessing planning 

applications and development in their local area.   

2 Once adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), a VDS can provide a 

clear statement of the character of a village against which planning applications 

can be assessed. It can also provide a guide for development and can also assist 

decision makers in providing guidance about how development should be 

approached and undertaken so as to respect the local identity and also meet the 

concerns of local residents. 

 

 

Page 307

Agenda Item 12



 

Proposed SPD 

3 The proposed SPD looks at different issues affecting the village of Otford, 

including landscape character and open spaces, building design, conservation 

area, housing development, extensions and alterations, property boundaries and 

street furniture, public footpaths and bridleways, the Vestry Estate and 

surrounding land and agriculture and the surrounding natural environment. Under 

each category the local community have laid out some of the issues that the 

village faces and through this discussion have then raised a number of design 

principles at the end of each section that the local community would wish to see 

followed for development in their village.   

4 Local groups have prepared the VDS for Otford. It is now proposed that this 

document be adopted as SPD.   As required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Development) (England) Regulations 2004 (as amended) Consultation 

Statements have been prepared for each document. These are attached in 

Appendix A. 

5 The statements illustrate that the proper procedures have been followed in the 

preparation of this document. 

6 The document clearly reflects the wishes and aims of the local community and 

follows on from the policies laid out in the Development Plan. It is therefore 

recommended that the approval is given for them to be adopted as an SPD. 

Key Implications 

Financial  

Any cost will be met out of the existing budget and DCLG funding for local planning 

authorities to support neighbourhood planning will applied. 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement.  

The SPD and Neighbourhood Plans are prepared under planning legislation. The 

regulations regarding notification of adoption/approval of these documents will be 

followed. 

Equality Assessment   

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to the 

substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.] 

 

 

Appendices Draft Otford Village Design Statement 2 

Appendix A  Consultation Statements 

Richard Morris  

Chief Planning Officer. 

Page 308

Agenda Item 12



1 

 

OTFORD VILLAGE DESIGN 

STATEMENT 2 

 

 

                 

 

2015   

Prepared by the otford community 

Page 309

Agenda Item 12



2 

 

THE OTFORD  

VILLAGE DESIGN STATEMENT 2 
 

 
FOREWORD 

 

The first Otford Village Design Statement, (VDS) prepared in 2007, was accepted as 

Supplementary Planning Guidance by Sevenoaks District Council in 2008. Since then, much 

has undergone change in our parish. It was the declared intention of those who contributed 

to the first VDS that a revised version be updated as circumstances in planning changed.  

 

This new document (VDS2) has subsequently been approved by Sevenoaks District Council 

as a further Supplementary Planning Document, superseding the earlier VDS document of 

2007. The revised edition (VDS 2) seeks to provide a clear expression of the community’s 

wishes in 2015. It has taken several years in its compilation but we believe it encompasses 

the importance of good design within all the elements which make up a village, not just its 

houses. It is our hope that in the coming years VDS2 will continue to provide architects, 

developers and district planners with helpful information when considering applications for 

any buildings or extensions in Otford.  

 

The status of this document ensures that it may be considered as material guidance by 

planners within Sevenoaks District Council, when considering planning applications within 

Otford parish in the future. It will join the Otford Parish Plan as well as the Conservation Area 

Appraisal and Management Plan as providing material guidance on all planning matters 

within the community.  

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has radically changed much planning 

regulation. Mr. Greg Clark, the minister responsible, has written: “it makes clear that all plans 

and all decisions should respect the special character of each area, and in particular, the 

intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.” It is with that statement in mind that the 

Otford VDS 2 has been prepared. This document seeks to point out and emphasise the 

special character of Otford and its buildings, which any future planning proposals should 

respect.   

 

There are still many outside pressures put upon a rural village which is in such close 

proximity to the Sevenoaks urban area. The parish is under threat of concentration and 

enlargement. Developers are continually on the look-out to purchase properties throughout 

the village often with the intention of replacing them with atypically larger buildings or 

cramped, two–for-one developments. 

 

On our borders, large developments like the recently-expanded Sainsbury’s superstore 

dominate our landscape and continual applications for large, new development in this 

important buffer zone area demonstrate how close we are to urban creep. To be able to 

maintain and nurture the integrity of our historic, rural village, we desperately need as much 

legislation and support on our side as possible. It is for that reason that this new Village 

Design Statement 2 is as important today as the first edition was, seven years ago. 

Page 310

Agenda Item 12



3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

THANKS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

The first Village Design Statement was the result of much dedicated work by many 

individuals and groups within the village.  Thanks must go to: 

• The twelve members of the Design Team, who worked for over a year to collate the 
wide range of information and comments used in the preparation of this report and 
convert it all into the final text; 

• The whole community of Otford, who expressed their views, participated in work 
shops and meetings and commented on aspects of the VDS during its preparation; 

• Those outside the Design Team who offered the benefit of their insights, experience 
and specialist knowledge and thus enabled the accuracy, validity and potential for 
impact of the document to be enhanced. 

• Those authorities and associations including the SDC, Kent Downs AONB, Action 
with Communities in Rural Kent and all those who generously gave so much of their 
advice and support to this project. 

• Phil Clucas (MDA) whose design talents led to the final preparation of the finished 
printed document; 

 
The Village Design Statement 2 was prepared to take account of changing requirements 
within the village since 2007 as well as the significant amendments, both national and 
regional, which have been incorporated into present planning regulation.   
 
The proposals contained within the up-dated (VDS 2) version were studied and approved by 
the members of the Parish Council in November 2012. A full public display of its contents 
then took place over two days during February 2013 in the village Memorial Hall.  This event 
was well attended following announcements being made at the Otford Society meetings and 
Parish Council meetings.  Residents were provided with post-it notes and pens to add their 
views on any factors they wished amended or deleted. These were all taken into account in 
the submitted version. The full draft of the proposed document was then put on-line at 
otford.info/vds and further comments invited. Following its submission and consideration by 

Sevenoaks District Council, a number of guidance amendments were recommended. These 
were incorporated in the final, shortened draft, submitted in October 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 311

Agenda Item 12



4 

 

CONTENTS 

 

1: Landscape character and open spaces     page    5 

 

2: Building design within the village envelope      page    8  

 

3: The Otford Conservation Area      page  11 

 

4: Housing developments, extensions and alterations   page  16 

 

5: Property boundaries and street furniture     page  20 

 

6: Public Footpaths and bridleways     page  22 

 

7: The Trading Estate and surrounding land    page  25 

 

8: Agriculture and the Natural Environment    page  29 

 

Appendices:       

 

 Appendix 1: The roads of Otford:  a Gazetteer   page  32 

Appendix 2:  Historical and geographical background  page  34 

Appendix 3:  Maps:       page  36 

• Village Street Map 

• Areas within the Metropolitan Green Belt (MGB); 
Conservation Area; Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB); Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

• Footpaths  

 

 

Designations applying to the area 

The terms “parish, “village” and “village envelope” are used in this document.   

 

The parish of Otford comprises the whole geographical area within the parish boundary (as 

designated by maps drawn up by Sevenoaks District Council.)  It covers the largest area 

since it includes not only the built environment but also many fields, woods, rivers, railways 

and roads.  

 

 Village is used to refer to the main residential area, largely consisting of the Conservation 

Area and including those dwellings and other buildings in or emanating from the original 

historical village centre, based on the east-west axis of High Street and Station Road as far 

as the rail bridge.   

 

Village envelope refers to the habitable area clearly designated by the SDC map and 

covering all the inhabited areas within the parish. 

Page 312

Agenda Item 12



5 

 

1:  LANDSCAPE CHARACTER AND OPEN SPACES 

 

1.1 Otford’s rural setting 

The landscape surrounding Otford plays an integral part in the village. It is the result of many 

centuries of evolution. The pattern of roads, tracks, field boundaries and hedgerows is firmly 

rooted in the past. Our community recognise this and have made clear that they are 

committed to maintaining these patterns of the historic landscape both in the village and 

outside. Much of Otford village and all the surrounding countryside is fortunate to be located 

within an area designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). As such it is 

afforded protection against development which fails to protect or enhance its natural beauty. 

(See Appendix map 3)   

 

1.2 Preserving the countryside to the North of the village 

The North Downs escarpment, below which Otford is sited, has changed little since the last 

Ice Age. Its high position forms an iconic backdrop to the whole village. Any proposals to 

introduce new housing or to extend homes located on the periphery of this important 

landscape feature could potentially have an effect upon the whole community. Thus visible 

prominence should be taken into account in consideration of any proposals or applications 

which can affect an unspoilt view of the Downs. The SDC Core Strategy states: “The 

distinctive features that contribute to the special character of its landscape �will be 

protected and enhanced where possible�The character of the Kent Downs� and their 

settings, will be conserved and enhanced�to ensure that all development conserves and 

enhances the local landscape character.” (Policy LO8) This is a view shared by Otford 

residents. Protecting the biodiversity of the whole downland area is also reflected in the 

designation of the Otford to Shoreham Downs as an area of Special Scientific Interest 

(SSS1). The Otford community have indicated a clear commitment to its protection. 

 

1.3 Green areas within the village 

Otford village contains a number of green areas adjacent to homes. These include the 

central Green and Palace Field as well the Recreation Ground and Allotments, all located 

close to the village centre. Less evident are other green areas like the Chalk Pits, beyond 

the station, Telston Park and Hale Lane Recreation Ground, to the west of Otford, the 

Community Woodland beside Sevenoaks Road and Oxenhill Woods to the south of Tudor 

Drive. Each of these areas is of great importance to the community and is continually 

maintained and in continual use.  

 

1.4 Preserving the countryside to the South of the village 

Most of the countryside surrounding Otford is contained within the Metropolitan Green Belt 

(see appendix). It therefore enjoys national protection from creeping development.  

 

The fields, woods and water meadows located to the south of Otford, stretching to the M26 

and the nearby parish boundary, are valued by all as a green breathing space establishing 

the village as an independent entity separated from the northern urban area of Sevenoaks. 

The major role of this area is to absorb and hold heavy rainfall and reduce the risk of serious 

flooding by the river Darent. They form an important part of our green infrastructure. 

 

Page 313

Agenda Item 12



6 

 

Land lying to the north of the Vestry Estate has been worked farmland for over a century. 

The introduction of the M26 motorway, however, left a narrow unproductive strip running 

along the rising ground of Ladds Hill beside the Old Otford Road. This continues to be 

designated ‘Green Belt’ land.  Residents have indicated its importance to the village as it 

forms an important buffer zone between the green fields and the light-industrial buildings of 

the Vestry Estate. Its role is perceived as protecting our village from creeping development 

from the Sevenoaks urban area. 

 

1.5 Sports and playground areas 

Otford has a varied and active sports community which extensively utilizes the recreation 

grounds and other open-space areas. Junior and senior cricket teams play on the carefully 

maintained cricket square and practice in the custom built nets adjoining their changing 

rooms in the village hall. The football club’s principal pitch is flood-lit and the club utilizes a 

custom-built pavilion. This is owned by the Parish Council but for which the club raised most 

of the money. The junior football teams are based at the pavilion and pitch at Hale Lane 

recreation ground. An alternative recreation area at the Chalk Pits is used occasionally by 

the junior footballers. As well as a public court, the tennis club, which also has a junior 

section, plays on three hard courts. Close-by, the Otford Petanque club has its own terrain 

located on the recreation ground.  

 

There is a much-used junior playground on the village Recreation Ground which is fully 

enclosed. A new toddler’s playground has recently been installed on the Hale Lane 

Recreation Ground. Both are now in continual use. 

 

Residents have indicated that on-road cycling is considered dangerous on local roads which 

have no provision for cyclists. It is hoped though, that funds can be raised for one of the 

Parish Plan’s objectives, to introduce further out-doors fitness equipment for use by senior 

residents.  The SDC Core Strategy also indicates its support ‘where there is clear evidence 

of support from the local community’ (5.6.4)   

 

Design Principles 

1a The community wish to retain the existing pattern of roads, footpaths and field 

 boundaries. (CS SP11/ LO.8 and ENV 13)  

1b All areas within the current designated Metropolitan Green Belt should ideally be kept 

 free of inappropriate new development. However we accept that in the light of  

 Supplementary Local planning policy, applications may be considered under certain 

 circumstances. (ADMP GB1-GB9; CS SP10; RESPD 3.2, GBSPD) 

1c        Proposals for new homes or extensions sited on or near the periphery of the North 

 Downs, should not compromise the uninterrupted views of this Area of Outstanding 

 Natural Beauty. (CS LO8:) 

1d Every effort should be taken to protect the important agricultural land to the south of 

 Otford. The community has indicated that particular care is required to protect the 

 Green Belt ‘buffer zone‘ lying beside the Vestry Estate from intrusive development. 
  (CS LO8; RESPD 3.2)  

1e The community supports the preservation of all remaining areas of permanent 

 pasture, cultivated land and woodland within and adjoining the village envelope and 

 which contribute to the sense of open space within the village.   

Page 314

Agenda Item 12



7 

 

1f The community fully supports all opportunities to extend or promote safe cycle routes 

 within the parish (CS SP2) 

  

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

GBSPD = SDC Development in the Green Belt Supplementary Planning Document.  

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

ADMP = Allocations and Development Management Plan 

Page 315

Agenda Item 12



8 

 

2: BUILDING DESIGN WITHIN THE VILLAGE ENVELOPE 
 

2.1 The general vernacular of village housing  

Otford is a village community. The Government’s National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) states that new buildings “should respond to local character and history, and reflect 

the identity of local surroundings and materials�” This is a view shared by the residents of 

Otford. Thus the general vernacular and colouration of new buildings will benefit by 

integrating easily with neighbouring homes. 

 

Otford buildings, in the main, maintain a very traditional identity. For that reason the use of 

traditional facing materials on new properties appear far more suitable than non-traditional 

ones. These include: facings of traditional brick or tile rather than plasticised wood or 

composite materials; laid bricks rather than pre-fabricated blocks; tiles rather than metallic 

sheet. Materials which reflect the general vernacular help to integrate new design within the 

built community.  

 

The evolved character of the village has relied upon a haphazard variety of individual house 

designs. Today, there is so much opportunity for original design to continue to bring 

individuality to the housing mix. Regrettably some developers seek to economise by using 

repetitious designs. Proposals for new homes which appear to urbanise the village by the 

use of repetitious designs appear inappropriate. These are out-of-place in this village.  Steep 

roofs or shallow pitched roofs are untypical of established local design. They introduce a 

discordant look to the integrity of a village that still seeks to remain a rural community. 

 

The majority of buildings in the village have two storeys. Design proposals which incorporate 

dormer windows facing the street, give the impression of 3-stories. Such houses would 

appear untypical within the Otford community. Otford’s roofs are mostly covered in Kent peg 

or nib tiles with the occasional use of slate.  Many have the traditional Kentish ‘barn hip’ and 

gablet detail at the gable ends.  Brick is the most common building material but there are 

examples of local ragstone and timber framing. 

 

Upper floors often have tile hanging matching the roof tiles, particularly in the case of the 

older timber-framed buildings. The preponderance of local brick and tile imbues the 

settlement with an overall warm colouration. Extensive plaster rendering or painting of the 

facia, therefore appears out of place in Otford.   

 

2.2 Consistency of house size 

Otford is a village of typical family homes. Its houses and gardens reflect this purpose.  

Proposals to introduce properties whose mass far exceeds the normal requirements of a 

home for a single family, simply appear out-of-place and unsuitable within this small 

community. They can create a discordant effect upon the rest of the community. 

 

In recent years, particularly in the north of the village, very large and un-typical homes have 

been permitted to be built with features such as 3-storey Tudorbethan designs. In 

discussions, the community have indicated that such properties do not fit comfortably within 

the design of the wider, essentially rural, village.  They are not typical of the settlement and 

appear to erode the coherence of the overall village design. 

Page 316

Agenda Item 12



9 

 

 

When such out-of-scale buildings include close-boarded fencing and electric gates, the 

effect appears to alienate the residents from the general community. Developers however 

have already begun to point to such properties as ‘acceptable precedents’ which the 

community strongly feel they are clearly not. In discussions, the community considerers that 

the building of further homes on this scale will be contrary to the aims of coherent village 

design. 

 

2.3  Introducing dormer windows and roof-lights/Velux 

Loft extensions have been a popular development in many of Otford’s older properties with 

an additional ‘spare’ room with a small, rear dormer, created within the available loft space. 

There has been concern expressed however, when new development proposals include a 

line of dormer windows or roof-lights facing the street. This is perceived as a clear intention 

to introduce a third floor to the property under the guise of it being ‘spare rooms’. The fact 

that these windows are just below the roof line is not seen as a mitigating factor in a village, 

largely made-up of two-floored houses. The village supports general planning policy that 

dormer windows and roof-lights/Velux windows should not face to the front. (With those 

exceptions allowable under terms of permitted development)  

 

2.4 The perception of height 

Acceptable design within the village is occasionally compromised by the difference in ground 

level between properties.  A significant number of houses within the community are sited on 

rising ground. Inevitably, the perceived effect that one property can have upon another can 

be increased by differences in ground level. This cannot readily be appreciated from a 

proposed ground plan.  It is suggested that architects, when considering extensions in areas 

of rising land, provide information on the effects of their comparative height with near-by 

properties. 

 

2.5 Allowing provision for off-street parking   

The pleasing design of the village relies upon restricting on-road parking to a minimum. 

Many outside factors contribute to parking problems but residential parking should not 

exacerbate the situation further.  

  

Whilst acknowledging the requirement within the NPPF regarding car parking spaces, it is 

strongly recommended that any proposed development should always allow for a minimum 

of two off-road parking spaces per 3-bedroom household. If future extensions increase this 

number, then the community feels that there should be a provision for further off-road 

parking to match. Many residents have expressed a view that only the minimum area of a 

front garden should be used for parking.  

 

 

DESIGN PRINCIPLES 

2a Respect for local building design, materials, and general colouration should be evident in 

any planning proposal. (CS LO7; ADMP EN1 and EN2)  

2b   Whenever possible, natural materials should always be employed on fascias in 

preference to look-alike substitutes. (RESPD 4.48) 

2c Proposals to introduce front-facing dormers or roof-lights/Velux windows giving the 

perception of a third storey are not encouraged. (RESPD 4.34) 

Page 317

Agenda Item 12



10 

 

2d The scale and mass of any proposed new dwelling or extended dwelling should be 

comparable to the majority of existing homes within the adjoining community. (ADMP EN1 

and EN2)   

2e Most houses within the village have individual designs or features. Proposals for urban-

style designs which employ repeat or ‘mirrored’ features are therefore not encouraged. (SP1: 

LO7; CS LO7, ADMP EN1 and EN2) 

2f  It is recommended that any new development or an extension which increases the 

number of bedrooms, should take account of the number of off-street parking spaces it will 

require and where possible include this in its application or provide justification as to why it 

cannot be provided.  

2g Proposals for any developments or extensions sited on rising ground, should carefully 

consider their perceived affect upon near-by properties. (RESPD 4.16)  

2h Wherever possible, only the minimum of the available front garden area should be 

replaced with permeable hard-standing for cars. (RESPD 4.56 and 4.57) 

 

 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

ADMP = Allocations and Development Management Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 318

Agenda Item 12



11 

 

3:  THE OTFORD CONSERVATION AREA 
 

3.1 Protecting our Conservation Area. 

There is a great richness, variety and history contained within the centre of Otford village.  

The character of our Conservation Area can so easily be altered or lost though inappropriate 

action; no matter how apparently small it may appear. The challenge is to manage change in 

ways that maintain and reinforce the area’s special qualities.  It is for that reason that this 

part of the Village Design Statement has been prepared.   

 

3.2 The content and character of the Conservation Area 

The Otford Conservation Area covers some 16 hectares and contains approximately 40 

listed buildings and the Scheduled buildings of the Archbishop’s Palace (which is currently 

on the National Heritage ‘At Risk’ register). A separate area of Special Scientific Interest 

outside the Conservation Area contains the archaeological site of the Progress Roman Villa.  

Sevenoaks District Council produces a Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

(CAAMP) every 5-6 years and this may be used as Material Guidance when assessing the 

appropriateness of applications for building or extensions within the conservation area. The 

most recent review was in 2010. Much of the content of this part of the VDS is drawn from 

that document.  

 

The Otford Conservation Area comprises the entire centre of the village.  It is bordered to the 

west by the river bridge and to the east by the east boundary of Moat Cottage (excluding the 

houses of Colet’s Orchard). To the north it runs from the Oast House, sited in Park Lane, 

down to its southern extremity along the north side of Bubblestone Road. This marks the 

original southern edge of the Archbishop’s palace.  The Conservation Area includes 

residential, retail and public buildings as well as the ancient monument of the Archbishop’s 

Palace and the Norman church of St. Bartholomew – a true cross-section of village property 

and the historic nucleus of the settlement.  The ages of the properties range from modern to 

medieval and earlier. There is plenty of open green space.  It is essentially the unspoilt 

ancient heart of a typical West Kent village. The overall architectural style is an eclectic 

blend of the Kentish vernacular tradition. 

  

(Details of the Otford conservation area are to be found in Appendix 3 (maps)). 

 

3.3 Development issues within the Conservation Area 

In general, building and extensions within the Conservation Area have, in the past, been 

sympathetically carried out. No matter how apparently insignificant or small an addition may 

be, if it is out-of-keeping, it can contribute to the steady erosion of the area as a whole. The 

community supports the view that extensions within the Conservation Area should reflect the 

form and character of the original building. 

 

Views, setting and topography are particularly important. Similarly, original boundaries such 

as walls, fences or hedges should be retained whenever possible. Schemes for their 

replacement will require careful planning consideration. 

 

The street scene, street furniture and signs should be compatible with and enhance the 

appearance of the area. In Otford, this is not always the case. Otford village still retains 

Page 319

Agenda Item 12



12 

 

much standard, old and often unnecessary, highways signage. Despite intensive work by the 

community to highlight this issue, there has been no attempt to install a style of signage 

which might reflecting the special status of the village as occurs in several other historic 

locations. The community has indicated a hope that future signage might be compatible with 

and enhance the appearance of the area. 

 

Conservation plays a key part in promoting prosperity, particularly for our village retailers. A 

coherence of discreet shop signage would benefit the overall perception of the area and help 

increase the footfall of visitors. As shops change, the wishes for larger and brighter shop 

signage has been to the general detriment of the street scene in the village and introduced 

urbanization to the village High Street. A-frame display boards have been part of the street-

scene for generations. When however, a local outlet employs more than one, it can become 

street-clutter. The visual appeal of the Conservation area appears adversely affected by 

advertising and promotions hoardings stuck onto shop-fronts or attached to street furniture. It 

is generally felt that these have an adverse effect upon the quality of this historic location by 

introducing unsightly clutter to a valued heritage site.  

 

3.4 Shared space. The effect of re-design upon the village centre.  

A reduction in both the volume and speed of traffic within the village is a priority for our 

community. Though control of traffic is not a concern of the Design Statement, the 

community’s recommendation for ‘a means to control it’, can have important design 

implications for the centre of the village. One possible approach, proposed by the Kent 

Downs AONB Unit and supported by the SDC Conservation Management report (2010), 

would be to create a ‘shared space’ around the pond at the centre of the village.  This 

method has been used very successfully in many historic English towns in order to slow 

traffic movement, free up pedestrian access and bring an attractive coherence to an area. 

The community has made clear their belief that introducing shared space into the centre of 

the village would benefit the design of the whole central conservation area. Because of the 

cost involved in amending the layout and re-surfacing the whole area, this would, if pursued, 

be a long-term objective for Otford. Whilst addressing the problem of speed, it would not 

have an effect upon the volume of traffic.  It would however, create a more people-friendly 

and usable pedestrian space with easier and safer access to the village pond and the Green.  

 

(For further information on this type of scheme, refer to Ministry of Transport’s 

recommendation document: “Streets for all”) 

 

3.5 The future of the Archbishop’s Palace Tower and Palace Field 

The remains of the Archbishops Palace’ (c. 1518) are an iconic Otford landmark. They form 

an important part of Otford’s identity. There has been a recent proposal that ownership and 

responsibility for the whole site be transferred from Sevenoaks District Council, to the Otford 

community. This proposal has been received with a great deal of local support.  

 

However, the tower structure has already been registered as ‘At Risk’ by English Heritage 

and is in a progressively poor state. If the means can be found to restore the Tower to the 

satisfaction of English Heritage, then there is every hope that the site can form part of an 

active community asset, benefitting all. How the Tower may be enhanced and made of 

greater benefit to the village, will be a decision made with the support of English Heritage, 

the conservation architect and the outcome of much local discussion. (NPPF 6:55) 

Page 320

Agenda Item 12



13 

 

 

3.6 Areas of enhancement within the Conservation Area 

A: St Bartholomew’s Church 

Recently, considerable restoration work was carried out to the tower of St. Bartholomew’s 

Church, replacing an earlier cement render with the original style of lime-plaster which once 

covered it. The beautifully carved church porch has also undergone restoration and this has 

considerably enhanced this beautiful village building. Any future alterations to the interior of 

this medieval building should only be undertaken with considerable care and community 

involvement. 

 

B: The village pond 

The village pond has similarly undergone a major-make-over in recent years .Not only have 

its borders been carefully re-built and made impermeable, but considerable re-design of the 

pond’s water-features have, with the re-introduction of reed-beds and small islands, made 

the look and lay-out of this central village feature much more attractive both to humans and 

bird life. Its grass borders with the road however, endure continual damage from turning 

lorries. 

 

C:1 Information boards (Palace) 

One of the enjoyments of visiting a Conservation Area is to gain a greater understanding of 

its history and role in the development of the community. There are no imaginative publicly-

displayed boards within the whole Conservation Area. We hope, with local support, future 

opportunities will be found to respond to this need.  

 

C: 2  Information boards (Village) 

One or two of the older homes within the village have fascinating histories which, if made 

more generally known, could increase the enjoyment of both visitors and local residents. A 

proposal to introduce ‘historic’ plaques on village houses of particular interest is under 

consideration.  The inspired mosaic which adorns the side of the Luyten’s-designed church-

hall would also benefit from an explanatory text. The objective is not to turn the village into a 

museum exhibit but to bring fresh interest to our rich historical environment. 

 

D: The Heritage Centre and Solar System model 

The fascinating Otford Heritage Centre (OHC) is a welcome asset to our village. Open every 

morning it is also staffed by volunteers over weekends. The OHC is a fund of local 

information, models and exhibits, used by all our local schools and very popular with visitors.  

The extensive Solar System model, located on the recreation ground is also a popular visitor 

attraction. The introduction of timber finger posts within the village centre directing visitors to 

these amenities would be of great help and could help provide coherence to the whole 

Conservation Area. 

  

Page 321

Agenda Item 12



14 

 

E: Archaeological remains 

Within the parish, there is clear archaeological evidence of a Roman farm (Progress villa), 

an extensive villa complex (Church Field), a significant Roman cemetery (Frog Farm), a 

small settlement and several other Roman homes. It would appear that Otford was well 

inhabited during the Roman period. On-going work by local archaeology groups has 

indicated even more important finds from this period. It is therefore of paramount importance 

to Otford residents that no development (or extensions) should take place in what could be 

considered sensitive areas without a thorough archaeological watching brief being 

undertaken. 

  

All of these proposals are not only to the benefit of the residents of Otford but to our many 

visitors, retailers and restaurants.  The National Planning Policy Framework (3.28) states 

that it will:  “support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit 

businesses in rural areas,(including) the provision and expansion of tourist and visitor 

facilities in appropriate locations. “ 

 

Design Principles 

3a Proposal for development of any kind within the Conservation Area should take 

cognisance of the role it plays in determining the essential character of the area. Only 

appropriate materials and designs should be used at all times. (ADMP EN4; RESPD 2.6) 

3b Street furniture and signs should be compatible with and enhance the appearance of 

the area. Wherever possible, cluttered standard traffic signage and un-required street 

furniture would be better removed or replaced. (CAAMP 4.32) 

3c Original boundaries such as walls, fences or hedges should be retained whenever 

possible. (CAAMP 4.33 and 4.36) 

3d New or replacement shop signage should, whenever possible, be discreet in their 

size and colouration in order to maintain the overall cohesion of the conservation 

area (ADMP SP1 and EN1; CAAMP 4.32) 

3e Promotional or advertising material attached to street furniture or period buildings 

within the Conservation Area, including retailers, are considered out-of-place and 

unsuitable. (CAAMP 4.32)  

3f It is a long-term objective, voiced by the community in their Parish Plan, that the 

surface of the central part of the village, street and pavements be adapted to become 

‘shared space’ and permit easier pedestrian routes and safer vehicle movement. 
(CAAMP.12.5: NPPF 3.23) 

3g The introduction of well-designed information boards would be of benefit and to the 

greater enjoyment of the area’s history and heritage.  

3h The introduction of timber finger posts giving directions to local points of interest 

would provide coherence to the Conservation Area. 

3i   Every effort should be made to repair the Palace Tower, already designated as ‘At 

Risk’. All its parts should be protected from further weather deterioration (Listed 

Building & Conservation Act Statement 5: Policy SP1: ADMP EN4) 

3j No development should take place in an area considered by archaeological specialists 

to be of potential archaeological interest without a thorough archaeological watching 

brief being undertaken. (ADMP EN4) 

 

Page 322

Agenda Item 12



15 

 

Abbreviations: 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

ADMP = Allocations and Development Management Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 323

Agenda Item 12



16 

 

4: HOUSING DEVELOPMENT, EXTENSIONS AND 

ALTERATIONS 
 

4.1 It is important to maintain the separateness of the village 

The individuality of Otford as a separate village is clearly recognised by the whole 

community as supported by the VDS research.  Otford should not appear as a suburb of 

Sevenoaks, nor should it become one in fact or in appearance. 

  

For this reason, any development which is proposed outside the existing built area which 

would have the effect of extending the village envelope into the surrounding countryside 

would be considered as having the potential to erode the separateness of the village 

settlement. 

 

4.2 Development needs to be appropriate to a village. 

The SDC Core Strategy 5.1.3 states that: “New development must be accommodated 

without damaging the features that contribute to the quality of the rural environment. 

Therefore it is important that development is designed to respect and improve the character 

and distinctiveness of the area in which it is located.” As the local characteristics of Otford 

are those of a rural village the community supports this statement. 

 

Otford is a village in the countryside, surrounded by fields.  It is not an urban area 

surrounded by houses.  The SDC Core Strategy states that ‘all new housing will be 

developed at a density that �does not compromise the distinctive character of the area in 

which it is situated” (Policy SP7) An increase in a rural village’s housing density such as 

Otford, based upon urban requirements will neither help to sustain nor improve the character 

of this village. The community therefore wishes to ensure their view is understood.  

 

4.3 Integration with the countryside is part of the village heritage 

Throughout its history, most private homes in Otford have been constructed with sufficient 

space provided on either side, through which the surrounding fields and hills may be seen. It 

is one of the reasons visitors and residents alike find Otford so attractive and it is something 

which the community clearly wishes to retain. This is applicable to proposed extensions in 

addition to new developments, particularly if backing on to open countryside.   

 

The community’s view is clearly supported by the SDC’s Residential Extensions 

Supplementary Planning Document (RESPD). For that reason, house extensions in 

particular should, whenever possible, be designed to maintain the existing spacing between 

properties and not reduce the views of the countryside beyond.  By closing a gap, an 

extension can steadily erode one of the special qualities of this village. 

 

4.4 Gardens form an important part of our community 

Judging from the many written comments in the VDS workshop sessions, it is clear that any 

form of new development should be required to incorporate clear plans for soft landscaping, 

including (where appropriate) the use of natural foliage on front, side and rear boundaries to 

provide a more evolved appearance and soften the visual impact of a new development on 

the surrounding area. The effects of introducing an extension can, on occasion, significantly 

reduce the garden and amenity area.  

Page 324

Agenda Item 12



17 

 

The loss of a growing garden is a loss for the wider community as well as the ecology of the 

area. Whenever possible, whether designing a new home or paving an area for parking, a 

space for a natural garden should always be retained in the front of a home.  Our community 

is situated in the country, not the town and the community have clearly indicated that every 

effort should be made to retain a natural growing environment around our homes. Otford 

residents have clearly supported the view that when hard-standing is required, home owners 

should always try and utilise porous materials to permit the rain to enter the ground, rather 

than flow wastefully into local drains and sewers. 

 

4.5 Two-for-one developments  

The re-use of a single residential plot on which to build a number of houses are not 

encouraged in this village. Where it has taken place previously, the results have sometimes 

created untypical congestion within the street scene.  Residents, in their questionnaire 

replies, have been quite clear that such examples should not set a precedent.  Planning 

proposals should be compatible with the established surrounding properties and the 

available plot size. Compressing two-for-one developments into a village community can 

have an adverse effect upon the local area and the village as a whole.  Although all 

development proposals will be judged on their merits, plot size and access are relevant 

factors. Residents have however indicated that it is important; both on environmental 

grounds and to preserve the cohesion of the village, that substantial garden areas remain a 

strong feature of Otford. 

 

4.6 Garage development 

The building of larger (often two-storey) garages can have a significant impact on the space 

surrounding homes. New garages should not be considered an automatic excuse to add 

another spare room to a property. A number of these have been allowed in Otford in recent 

years and in many cases, the effect has been to ‘over-fill’ the frontage facing the road. 

Residents have indicated that generally, within the village environment, garages should be 

only of one storey. New garages should ‘fit unobtrusively with the building’.   SDC’s 

supplementary planning document presents clarity on the matter, in that new garages should 

‘not have an unacceptable impact on the space surrounding buildings’ (RESPD 4.49 and 4.53)  

 

4.7 Planning Loft Extensions and dormers  

Loft extensions should not cause any alteration in the height or the pitch of a roof. An 

important consideration is that they should maintain a common continuity of roof profile when 

seen from the street.  It is desirable also that dormers should always be sited to the rear of 

the building and be of a scale and size that complements the building. What is untypical of 

Otford homes is when a proposed dormer size is either of a disproportionate scale or 

misaligned with the other windows of the house. Front-facing dormers and roof-lights/Velux 

windows are not encouraged as they are felt to be un-typical and out-of-place in the village. 

 

4.8 Extension and alterations  

The majority of older Otford homes have evolved over time. It is the view of residents that all 

forms of extension or alteration to a building, no matter what its age, should always try and 

blend naturally with the existing structure by using similar materials and colouration. 

However extensions which are perceived to give a terracing effect are not encouraged. 

 

 

Page 325

Agenda Item 12



18 

 

4.9 Housing will be sought for older residents wishing to down-size 

The community’s Parish Plan set a long-term objective to create, on the principle of the alms 

house, a series of low-profile properties, sited on common ground, that can be leased by 

older long-term residents of Otford until such time as they shall chose to leave, where-upon 

their capital is returned in full and the property passes to another long-term resident.  

Such a scheme has worked successfully elsewhere (i.e. Rockdale) but would be dependent 

upon suitable land becoming available, the support of the District Council and a developer 

willing to support such communal aims.  

 

It is often mooted at local meetings of residents, that opportunities to create housing for 

older, long-term residents be sought within the parish. This is also reflected in the Otford 

Parish Plan. The community recognises the complexities of achieving such an aim. However 

it continues to seek any opportunity to realise such a wish. Core Strategy policy SP5 

supports the requirement for housing being developed for older residents. One day it is 

hoped that Otford can build its own small ‘retirement hamlet’, designed to fit discreetly within 

the village envelope.  

 

4.10 Otford’s requests for benefits from the Infrastructure Levy 

The government has introduced an Infrastructure Levy on new developments being built in 

the region.  The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) requires developers to pay a standard 

charge per sq.m on all qualifying new development to Sevenoaks District Council. The 

majority of the money raised from this levy can only be spent by the Parish Council on 

infrastructure, its installation or improvement. A small percentage will be allocated to those 

parishes where applicable developments have occurred. In the main, these funds will be 

used in relation to support the developments themselves however parishes have been asked 

to list what other infrastructure projects they may wish to support. Amongst Otford’s requests 

which relate to future design within the village, are: 

• the creation of a retirement homes community for older residents;  

• funding to support the introduction of Shared Space within the village centre to 
control car speed and facilitate greater pedestrian movement;  

• the development of an ‘over-spill’ car park to respond to future needs (NPPF 9:90);  

• the development of Palace Field as a communal and visitor heritage facility;  

• the introduction of an area for outdoor adult exercise equipment.   
 

 

Design Principles 

4a  Proposals for new dwellings should not be located in a way where the village might 

appear to merge with neighbouring villages or with Sevenoaks. (CS LO7 and SP1) 

 4b The appropriateness of new homes should conform to policy EN1 of the Allocations 

and Development Management Plan (2015) and be of a scale, height and mass 

similar to adjoining buildings. (CS LO7; ADMP EN1 and EN2) 

4c The appropriateness of any new development or extension should be judged by its 

prominence and/or intrusion within the landscape. (RESPD 3.6: 3.7: 3.11: 3.12 and 

3.13, AONBP)    

      4d  Maintaining existing spaces between buildings will help integration with the 

 surrounding countryside. This should be encouraged whenever possible. (CS LO.8 

 (RESPD 4.17: 4.18 and 4.19) 

Page 326

Agenda Item 12



19 

 

4e The ratio of building to plot size should always be in harmony with other homes in the 

vicinity, without the effect of crowding. This is particularly applicable to applications 

for front extensions and 2-for-1 developments. (CS LO7)  

4f  Any form of extension should always try to retain a consistency of style with the 

original building. (RESPD 4.48 and 4.23) 

4g   When building an extension, whenever possible, the original boundary materials 

should be retained or be re-instated. Please note the community would wish it to be 

noted that gaining permission for an extension does not imply permission to change 

the original boundary materials. (RESPD 4.62: Summary)  

4h  Proposals for properties to introduce forward-facing dormer windows or roof-

lights/Velux windows which appear to introduce a third storey, are not typical in 

Otford homes and are not encouraged (RESPD 4.31: 4.34 and 4.35) 

4i The height of the roof ridge should be similar to the majority of other properties in the 

surrounding street scene. (RESPD 4.11 and 4.14) 

4j   Garages should generally not exceed one storey in height (RESPD 4.49: 4.50 and 4.51) 

4k In order to promote individuality in new housing, the inclusion of local vernacular 

designs like gablets and hips are welcome as typical of the area. (CS LO7) 

4l Garden size and ratio are an important element of integration with village home 

design and should be considered as part of any proposal (RESPD 6.11 and 6.12) 

4m In response to an initial need, support will be given by the Parish Council to advance 

a proposal for the building of a number of suitably designed, low-profile lease-hold 

homes for older residents within the parish in a suitable location. (CS SP 54 and CS5) 

 

 

 

Abbreviations: 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

AONBMP – Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 

AONB= Roads Handbook 

Page 327

Agenda Item 12



20 

 

5:   PROPERTY BOUNDARIES AND STREET FURNITURE 
 

5.1 Types of local boundary material 

Much of the character of Otford is reflected in the house boundaries bordering public streets.  

Historically, Otford house boundaries have generally been formed from traditional species of 

hedging, or traditional picket fencing. On some residential roads, open-plan gardens with 

trees have been preferred, providing the area with an unenclosed environment.  A large 

proportion of residential roads have grass verges, often carefully maintained by local 

residents although Kent County Council is responsible for maintaining verges which are not 

part of private properties.  Generally, hedges and fences are low, permitting a view of the 

house and the land beyond. Well-maintained hedgerows commonly bound agricultural land 

bordering our roads. 

5.2 Close-board fencing 

Developers of new (mainly large) detached private homes have, in recent years, 

incorporated high close-boarded fencing and gates.  Villagers feel that this has had an 

urbanising effect on the area and gives the properties an isolated and stockaded 

appearance. A large proportion of Otford residents consider this unattractive, untypical and 

unsuitable in our rural village community. A community is defined as a group of people living 

together, not separately. Recent revisions in planning regulations recommend such fences 

and their close-boarded high gates although they are not encouraged in Otford village.  

 

5.3 Verges 

Although not strictly street furniture, trees are a feature of the verges in a number of 

residential roads. They beautify the area and are also of ecological benefit to all. A general 

concern has been expressed that in recent years these roadside trees have not been 

maintained and that many trees have been removed by Kent County Council and not 

replaced.  

 

5.4 Lighting 

The residents of Otford have for many years resisted the installation of street lighting. Many 

properties have their own external lighting such as security or porch lights and these can be 

helpful to visitors. Any new proposals for lighting, in particular on new development, should 

be carefully placed and angled and not so powerful that they are detrimental to neighbouring 

properties. ADMP EN 65 is quite clear on this point. 

 

Though Otford football pitch has high level lighting, it is not considered to set a precedent as 

it is not for residential use and is required for specific purpose. Should any new lighting be 

proposed it should be designed in a way which minimises light spill. 

 

5.6 Planters and street furniture 

There are a number of timber planters located within the village. Maintaining planters and 

protecting their plants from vandalism requires much attention and the volunteers and Parish 

Council who support this work are to be thanked.  

  

  

Page 328

Agenda Item 12



21 

 

There are also a number of well-maintained public bench seats located within the open 

areas of the village. Some smart cast-iron waste-bins are located on the Green and the 

village centre. Well designed and selected elements of street furniture, using natural 

materials are encouraged in Otford as they can help to enhance the character of the village.  

Our listed public telephone box on the Green, already forms part of the village heritage. 

 

Design Principles 

 

5a Any proposal to incorporate high, close-boarded, fencing and gates facing the street 

should be discouraged (RESPD 4.62/Summary) 

5b  Roadside trees are valued and should, wherever possible, be replaced if removed.  

5c For front boundary hedging, the use of traditional tree and shrub species or of 

traditional picket fencing is encouraged. (ADMP EN1 and EN2; RESPD 6.11 and 6.12) 

5d  Planters, window boxes and hanging baskets are encouraged in public areas      

throughout the village. Members of the community should be encouraged to take 

responsibility for their maintenance.  

5e An excess of unsympathetic road and direction signs should be avoided and 

wherever possible redundant signs and posts removed. Signs within the village 

centre should, whenever possible, be of a traditional design in keeping with the 

village character. (CAAMP 4.32.) 

5f  Within the village, an increase in sympathetically designed pedestrian signage should 

be encouraged.  (CAAMP 4.32: ) 

5g  The introduction of appropriate historical information boards would be to the benefit 

of visitors and should be supported 

5h  Where possible, exterior lighting in private homes should be of limited power and 

 designed with care. New development should avoid creating light spillage to the 

 detriment of adjoining properties or road users. (ADMP EN 65) 

 
 

 

Abbreviations: 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

AONB= Roads Handbook 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 329

Agenda Item 12



22 

 

 

 

 

6: PUBLIC FOOTPATHS AND BRIDLEWAYS 
 

6.1 Importance to the community 

Footpaths and bridleways within the parish are the pedestrian arteries of the community, 

prized and used daily by the people of Otford and our many visitors. Most paths have been 

established for many centuries, providing a far safer route than along the busy main roads. 

Unless there are exceptional circumstances, there should be no diversion or obstruction of 

footpaths by encroachment from existing properties or new developments.  The two 

pedestrian railway crossings in the village are essential for ease of movement, maintaining 

the current right-of-way and for connecting the various parts of the village.  

 

6.2 Village Paths 

Typical of these important pedestrian routes, used by a high proportion of residents to and 

from the village centre, is the ancient long distance footpath known as the Greenway (49). 

This runs from the Village Green across the railway and on to the next village of Kemsing. 

Other popular village paths include the path (51) connecting Sevenoaks Road to Pickmoss 

Lane in the village centre, and the path between Bubblestone Road and St Bartholomew’s 

Church (50). Maintenance of these attractive, established village pedestrian routes is 

essential both for practical and environmental reasons. This is particularly important for the 

disabled and elderly who find overhanging branches and encroaching nettles an often 

alarming hazard. 

 

Residents have expressed concern that on occasion, these important pedestrian arteries are 

not adequately maintained. Each summer many village paths become narrowed by swathes 

of leaning stinging nettles and brambles which are a hazard to young people especially and 

particularly to children in push-chairs. It is hoped that a more efficient means of maintaining 

the borders of the paths can be found. An inevitable consequence otherwise is that more 

and more people will take to their cars rather than risk walking along footpaths that are 

becoming unfit for purpose. 

 

6.3 Countryside Paths 

Our footpaths leading out into the countryside and valley are one of the reasons so many 

walkers come to visit Otford (see the footpath map for details.) The prehistoric track way, the 

North Downs Way (International Route E2), which follows the high chalk escarpment of the 

North Downs from Salisbury Plain to Folkstone, crosses the Darent Valley at this point. One 

can follow it from Donnington Manor Hotel, across the fields into Telston Lane (58), through 

the village and then north-eastward up Otford Mount (14) and along Birchin Cross Road. 

Despite attempts to use unsympathetic surfacing of one section, this important ancient track 

way still retains much of its original nature. Protecting its integrity is considered the ongoing 

responsibility of each generation. 

  

Page 330

Agenda Item 12



23 

 

Footpath 66 provides a route to Bat & Ball (Sevenoaks). Leading from St. Bartholomew’s 

Church southward, it runs beside Palace Field down the Old Walk to cross the fields to Long 

Lodge. This is the location, it is believed, of one of Henry VIII’s hunting lodges within what 

was once a deer park. The path, having crossed the railway and motorway, then skirts the 

land-fill site of Greatness Quarry to arrive at Bat & Ball. 

 

Three path routes head northward up the valley toward Shoreham.  Walking up Park Lane 

(aka. Cow Lane) from the village centre, one can bear right to take a scenic path (47) across 

the railway and then up the fields of the steep escarpment (60) to look back across the head 

of the valley to the Vale of Holmesdale and Sevenoaks atop the Lower Greensand Ridge 

beyond.  

 

An alternative route is to stay on Park Lane and take the bridle path (32) which leads 

through the Darent Valley Golf Club to Shoreham village. This bridleway is however in 

serious need of maintenance. The section between Park Lane and the golf links is churned, 

contains deep ruts and turns to deep mud after October. Work is needed urgently on this 

section to level and hardcore it. During winter months it is a dangerous obstacle to walkers 

and our many visitors on this popular walking route. 

 

A second path, the Darent Valley Path (17), follows a lower route across the fields to rejoin 

the former path to Shoreham. The recent introduction of metal self-closing gates has meant 

that older walkers, the disabled and young children are no longer hampered by the old 

fashioned, though attractive, wooden stiles. 

 

Rye Lane follows the line of an ancient winding track from Dunton Green. Where it forms a 

junction with Pilgrims Way West, a footpath (43) continues northward, running parallel with 

the Darent. A rougher walk, but none the less pleasurable, can be enjoyed by taking the path 

as it follows a route across Twitton Brook and into the grounds of Filston Farm and its great 

oast houses. The moated Filston Hall, now a separate private residence, was once a 

medieval hall house, leased in 1529 to Thomas Cromwell. All these countryside paths are 

well used throughout the year and are generally (with a few exceptions) well maintained. 

Occasional information boards on the local history, flora and fauna could, in the future, bring 

added enjoyment to visitors and ramblers. The District Council and KCC support this view :  

“�and will seek improvements in interpretation facilities to promote enjoyment and 

understanding of the countryside” (Core Strategy SP10) 

 

6.4 Private house boundary materials 

Where a house boundary lies along a public footpath, security for the householders is 

naturally very important. However, over recent years, the convenience of using close-

boarded fencing as a barrier has led some paths to look like narrow alleyways rather than 

footpaths. The decision by a householder to use high fencing, whilst understandable, has a 

wholly negative effect upon the path itself and the villagers and visitors who use it.  The path 

becomes perceived as dangerous because it has become enclosed. High fences are also a 

magnet for graffiti and removal is an unwelcome job which falls on the parish office rather 

than the householder, who usually is unaware of the problem. In public meetings, many 

residents have recommended the use of robust open-mesh fencing planted through with 

natural shrubs, hedges and trees, rather than employing panel- or close-boarded fencing. By 

amending the design in this way, the pathway gains natural light and openness, and both 

Page 331

Agenda Item 12



24 

 

householder and public benefit in terms of appearance, security and privacy. Turning 

footpaths into narrow alleyways between high fencing is not safe for the walker or in any way 

community-spirited. 

 

 

Design Principles 

 

6a Footpaths, bridleways, public rights-of-way and railway crossings should be kept 

properly maintained throughout the year. (CS SP2) 

6b  In line with existing legislation, properties adjoining established footpaths should not 

encroach upon them or in any way make them narrower. (CS SP2) 

6c Close-boarded fencing is not encouraged as a boundary material adjoining public 

footpaths. With any new development householders are recommended to soften the 

design of their boundary by use of strong mesh or un-pointed railings with associated 

plant-through natural shrubs.  (CS SP2: RESPD 4.62) 

6d The community have made it clear that they would not like to see trees felled and 

natural shrubs and flora removed from alongside public footpaths, unless to maintain 

the path itself. (CS SP2: RESPD Summary) 

6e Otford residents welcome the creation of new linking footpaths (statutory or 

permissive) and support opportunities for these being explored with landowners. 
(CS SP2) 

      6f  Greater use of interpretation boards particularly on country paths would be of great  

            benefit to walkers and families. (CS SP10) 

     6g All opportunities to support and expand rural tourism within the parish should  

          be encouraged as well as appropriate visitor facilities. (NPPF 3.28) 

 

 

Abbreviations: 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

OPP = Otford Parish Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 332

Agenda Item 12



25 

 

 

 

7: THE TRADING ESTATE AND SURROUNDING LAND 
 

7.1 Location and History 

The Vestry Light Industrial Trading Estate is located near the southern parish boundary, with 

access on the A225, Sevenoaks Road. On the south side, this Estate adjoins the Riverside 

Retail Park, containing a variety of retail outlets and a supermarket, through whose car park 

and following the line of the ancient Gunnilda Brook, the Otford parish boundary lies. 

 

The Vestry Estate is built upon extensive earlier brickwork excavations that were used for 70 

years as a rail-supplied landfill site for Southwark Vestry (Southwark Borough Council). The 

area was designated a trading estate in 1960.  It is separated from the village community by 

the east-west M26 motorway, the Otford cemetery and the public woodland of Palace Park 

Wood. To its west and beyond the A225, lies the expanse of attractive water-meadow land 

that acts as a water-retention area, reducing the likelihood of the river Darent flooding.  

 

7.2 The Vestry Estate  

Given the reclamation area that this once was, the majority of buildings are light-weight pre-

fabricated warehouse structures, not requiring extensive foundations.  Apart from the siting 

of Becket House, the majority of the buildings (warehousing and light industry) are set well 

back from the A225 and, as seen from the main road, do not intrude into the attractive rural 

quality of the local landscape. This is a designated Biodiversity Opportunity Area located 

between the trading estate and the Green Belt. Therefore all new building, or replacement 

buildings, must be sited sensitively.  Proposals to site new warehousing, light industrial 

buildings or office buildings closer to the A225 or the M26 are unlikey to be supported by the 

community because of the intrusion they would have upon the essentially rural nature of the 

area. For similar reasons, it would be beneficial if designs for new buildings maintain a low 

visible profile against the skyline and do not invite attention through use of bright colours or 

extensive use of glass. Careful use of landscaping will support such a recommendation. 

 

7.3 The effects of reflection and use of artificial light. 

The retail and the trading estates to the south of Otford are clearly visible from the many 

footpaths on the surrounding hills above the village.   

 

The effect of the sun’s reflection from buildings whose design employs a lot of glass or bright 

colouring on their fascias can make them highly visible from a long distance away. The effect 

is contrary to the valued tranquillity and muted tones of the meadows and countryside which 

face them.  For that reason, the village community appeal to commercial developers in this 

area of the parish bordering Sevenoaks, to be aware when designing, of the high visibility of 

their designs when seen from afar. 

 

Otford is still an un-lit village. It does not employ street-lighting. That is the community’s 

choice. Thus proposed developments which employ high-mounted lighting visible from the 

village are felt particularly inappropriate in the effect they may have upon residents and will 

be considered un-welcome. 

 

Page 333

Agenda Item 12



26 

 

 

 

7.4  Bartram Farm Estate 

Bartram Farm was built in the early 1900s and held considerable land beyond what are now 

the M26 motorway and the Sevenoaks Road (A225). As happened to many such farmsteads 

with the advent of major road-building schemes, the original estate became untenable. 

Today the Victorian farm building and its ancillary bungalow occupy the centre of a triangular 

site at the entrance to the Vestry Estate in front of Becket House. This is located within the 

Green Belt area. Within its curtilage where once there were farm buildings, there are now a 

wide range of independent small businesses which carry out their trade from separate utility 

buildings. The whole site is located above the adjoining Sevenoaks Road, being on the side 

of Ladds Hill which, when seen from the main road, is effectively screened with shrubs and 

trees. It is located on the Old Otford Road. 

 

A number of proposals have been put forward over recent years for different forms of 

recreational and commercial development of this site. Until recently, all have been refused 

as they represented inappropriate development in the Green Belt and therefore harmful to its 

openness. The form and bulk of many of the proposals detracted from the character of this 

area and its street scene. This area is also surrounded by potential protected species and 

insufficient information was provided to show that the proposal would not be harmful to these 

species or their habitat.   

 

Among the purposes of the Green Belt are the prevention of unrestricted sprawl of large built 

up areas The Green Belt also seeks to prevent neighbouring towns merging one into 

another. It is therefore recognised by both Otford residents and district planners that this 

area of land between the industrial estate and the countryside beyond is an important area 

to protect from inappropriate development.  We would therefore seek to ensure that the aims 

of the Green Belt are maintained to prevent urban sprawl and keep this land permanently 

open. 

7.5 Riverside Retail Park 

The retail park is a group of industrial-scale retail stores, together with a McDonald’s and a 

petrol outlet for Sainsbury’s. The total mass of building that these buildings occupy appears 

out of scale within our rural parish. These tall, retail outlets exist as an outcome of an earlier 

planning system, and our community must continue to live with them within our boundary. 

This document is however not giving implicit or explicit approval of their design or location, 

which run contrary to the requirement for buildings to integrate with the surrounding area. In 

parish design terms, the danger is that such developments can then, despite their 

inappropriate nature, be quoted by other developers as precedents for similar schemes. 

Familiarity may have made them less visually intrusive to residents who pass them every 

day, but they remain out of place in our rural landscape.  As long as the community of Otford 

has a voice about what is sited within its parish, it is unlikely to support any further building 

proposals on this scale. Any opportunities to introduce tree and shrub screening, however 

limited, would be beneficial and help to improve the prospect. 

 

7.6 Sainsbury’s Supermarket 

The recently extended Sainsbury’s building is not located within the parish of Otford. The 

parish boundary follows the ancient Gunnilda brook (aka. Watercress Brook), which runs 

Page 334

Agenda Item 12



27 

 

through the centre of its car park. Every one of our village food retailers has closed since its 

arrival. Our community is therefore directly affected by its presence and would certainly wish 

to be consulted in any planning applications in the future. In terms of maintaining a quality of 

design within this parish, Otford is likely to be concerned with any future alterations or 

changes of this scale, even when the development is not directly within the parish 

boundaries. We appreciate that the supermarket provides employment for a number of 

Otford residents as well as provisions and services, however in parish planning terms, it is 

hoped that the community’s views will be taken into account since the visual impact of a 

building such as this, is not affected by boundary lines.   

 

7.7 Residential homes within the area. 

The small residential enclave of Vestry Cottages is the important historical heart of the 

original estate. The estate is of great value both historically as well as part of Otford’s 

heritage. The upkeep and maintenance of this attractive Victorian line of cottages is 

important to the whole community.  All the Vestry Cottage residents have indicated their 

pride in being part of Otford parish. To the rear of Vestry Cottages is the boundary of the 

Green Belt which continues up to Otford village. The line of the Old Otford Road runs 

northward at this point until it is terminated at the motorway. There are also several detached 

homes located on this spur of road. 

 

 

Design Principles 

7a Proposals for siting of industrial buildings or offices on the Vestry Estate closer to the   

     Sevenoaks Road than at present are unlikely to be welcome.  Any large proposals 

 that could be harmful to the street scene or of an inappropriate size and scale would 

 be considered unacceptable. (CS LO8: RESPD3.2)    

7b Any new proposal to alter or replace buildings within the Vestry Estate or Riverside 

Retail Park should seek to harmonise and integrate them with the rural surroundings. 
(CS LO8: RESPD 3.2:)  

7c Any proposal for the development of the Bartram Farm estate should seek to 

minimize its visual intrusion within this agricultural, Green Belt site and minimise its 

visibility on the hillside. (CS LO8: RESPD3.2)  

7d The community has made clear that increases in the volume of heavy vehicle traffic 

through Otford village are not welcomed.  (There already exists a width restriction of 

7’ 6”between pond and railway bridge). The community would wish that any 

proposed development, whether inside or outside the parish boundary, that will have 

a further impact on the volume of traffic passing through the village, should provide 

an accurate prediction of future traffic flow and volume increase as part of its 

planning submission. (ADMP LO8, SP10, SP11, EN1, GI1 and GI2)  

7e The introduction of trees between the A225 and the Vestry Estate and throughout the 

Estate would help soften the harshness of the industrial buildings and better mirror 

the rural character bordering on the Green Belt would be welcome. Any new 

development in the estate will therefore be encouraged to introduce planting to soften 

the harshness of the industrial buildings. (CS LO8: RESPD 3.2) 

7f  When developing or re-cladding industrial units or new office units, particularly on the 

margins of the estate, proposed designs should seek to maintain a low profile within 

the landscape and owners be requested to use cladding and paint which will merge 

into the natural background.(CS LO8: RESPD3.2) 

Page 335

Agenda Item 12



28 

 

7g Proposals for any large-scale development of land adjoining the residential properties 

close to the Estate should be resisted, acknowledging the role of the area as Green 

Belt and the effects of traffic and noise on local residents. (CS LO8: RESPD  3.12 and 

3.13) 

      7h  Proposals within the Vestry Estate or Retail Park which employ an extensively 

 glazed, or partially glazed frontage or the use of reflective white or light-coloured 

 fascia material, should consider the effects of high visibility within the nearby Area of 

 Outstanding Natural Beauty. (CS LO8: RESPD 3.12: 3.13 and 4.48)  

 

Abbreviations: 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

CAAMP = Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 336

Agenda Item 12



29 

 

8: AGRICULTURE  AND THE NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 
 

8.1 Introduction 

The local landscape that we see today is the result of many centuries of evolution.  The 

pattern of roads, tracks, field boundaries and hedgerows, that gives the modern landscape 

its character, is firmly rooted in Otford’s past. We live in a sought-after scenic valley which 

annually receives an increasing numbers of visitors, many of whom come here to walk and 

explore the surrounding countryside. It is already becoming evident that this increase in 

visitor numbers, while welcome in so many ways, can have an adverse effect upon the 

countryside. Community volunteer groups working with the authorities will need to maintain 

the area and protect it from unintentional harm. There is considerable practical support 

available from a number of agencies to help such initiatives. The Government has made 

clear their overall support through their statements in the National Planning Policy 

Framework.    

 

8.2 Agriculture 

Agriculture has been for millennia an essential and valued part of the life of the village and 

its surroundings.  It is primarily arable in nature, though it also supports dairy herds and 

sheep on the North Downs pastures and sheep along the low-lying southern river plain.  

Well-established fields are mostly bordered by ancient hedging with traditional plant species.  

These hedgerows act as essential wildlife corridors and support the natural and evolved 

nature of the countryside.  Current legislation to protect them is welcomed.  Coppices and 

mature trees add to the quality of the natural environment.  The open, rolling, arable nature 

of the parish with its scattered woodlands ensures its popularity with residents, day-visitors 

and the many visiting walkers and cyclists. There are no natural stone walls as the local 

chalk is not a robust boundary material and flint is rarely used.   

 

There is limited agricultural building, none sited within the public open-space areas.  Careful 

location and screening can help to reduce any negative visual impact that such buildings 

might otherwise have.  Any new structures such as domestic stabling and field shelters 

should be similarly carefully placed.  The recent change of use of the Park Farm agricultural 

buildings as a horse livery stable has introduced many more horses into the local fields. The 

community agrees that any permanent caravan or mobile home sites should not be allowed 

within the parish. 

 

8.3 Natural Woodland 

There are some wooded areas on the upper part of the Downs, but the main area of 

woodland in the Parish is contained within Oxenhill Woods which extends from the eastern 

part of the village. This is a managed wooded area and is considered a unique example in 

the South-East of naturally regenerated woodland.  It is now a prime recreational walking 

site. Sevenoaks District Council, assisted by Otford and Kemsing Parish Councils manages 

this area. Unfortunately vandalism within some of the area has become a recurring problem 

and occasional motor biking causes destruction to the paths. Coppicing and good tree 

management occasionally causes alarm with some local residents who may not appreciate 

the concept of managed, rather than wild, woodland.  More information would help in this 

regard. The other area of managed woodland runs beside the Sevenoaks Road and is called 

Palace Park Wood. Being low-lying it is prone to some surface water retention in the winter 

Page 337

Agenda Item 12



30 

 

months, however it is a popular venue with dog-owners and local walkers, and provides a 

rural backdrop to the Otford burial ground at its Southern quarter. 

 

8.4 An Area of Special Scientific Interest. 

A large part of the south-facing escarpment of the Downs, which lies on Otford’s eastern 

perimeter, between Otford and Shoreham, is registered as a Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI). The flora and fauna which exist on this sunny grassed escarpment are 

varied. Over 130 different varieties of moth were identified in a recent one-night survey. The 

area is also a protected butterfly habitat for similar reasons. A wide range of meadow and 

other flowers grow here, and the escarpment is the location for a wide variety of wild orchids 

native to the down-land. Preserving and protecting this important habitat is of great 

importance, and volunteer groups help to monitor and maintain the area throughout the year. 

The future will present the problems of balancing the enjoyment such an area brings to 

visitors and families whilst its maintenance and protection remain secured.  

 

8.5 The Darent 

In 2013 the Government finally agreed that the benefit to the river outweighed the cost of 

adapting abstraction practices and agreed that there should be a significant reduction in 

abstraction at Eynsford, Lullingstone and Shoreham. It is hoped this will have a positive 

effect upon flow along the whole course of the river.  

 

The Darent has a broad rain catchment area which includes most of the Vale of Holmesdale 

up to Westerham and as far as Dartford. However the chalk bed which provides its clarity is 

also greatly fissured and leakage of water into the aquifer is considerable. Rainfall does 

however have a very immediate effect upon water levels, which can change rapidly. 

 

The flooding risk to Otford village is reduced by the presence of the water-meadows to the 

South which store much of the flow until the river can cope with the drainage, and by the fact 

that the flow is divided within the village into the mill’s leat and the river itself. A new 

association, the Darent Catchment Improvement Group, working with the Environment 

Agency, are now actively seeking ways in which the quantity and quality of the water as well 

as the improvement to fish passage can be improved. Otford is actively participating in this 

endeavour. It is hoped that steadily the river will regain its importance and benefit the lives of 

both visitors and villagers.  

 

8.6 Action 

Biodiversity is a key concept in the maintenance of our rich natural habitat. Not all residents 

can be involved in helping to coppice woodland or making reed bundles to maintain water 

flow in the river. However, all can help by suitable approaches to gardening, for example by 

not using pesticides which kill off the food on which local birds rely; by keeping a pile of 

wood and twigs in a far corner to provide a home for insects as well as wintering hedgehogs; 

by composting vegetable waste; and by using water-butts rather than a hose. The examples 

are numerous and small in themselves, but when carried out “en masse” they can help 

protect the shared environment.   

  

 

  

 

Page 338

Agenda Item 12



31 

 

 

Design Principles 

 

 8a The continuance of farming should be actively encouraged within the parish. (CS SP11) 

8b Traditional hedgerows need to be protected and maintained as a key feature and an 

        important animal habitat within the rural landscape.  (CS SP11) 

8c  Coppices and trees in agricultural areas are greatly valued and should be maintained    

       and retained. TPOs should be sought and applied where possible and appropriate.  

      (CS SP11) 

8d Any new agricultural buildings should be so designed to meet a functional need but    

     should also be sited in a way  to minimise their visual impact within the countryside.  

     (CS SP11) 

8e Areas of special importance for the survival of animal or plant species should be 

afforded protection. (CS SP11) 

8f  The banks of the Darent should be kept clear of excessive overgrowth and the flow 

clear of obstructions. (CS SP11) 

8g Maintenance of Oxenhill Woods should be fully supported by the Parish Council as it is  

     recognised locally as an important area of local woodland and part of it is designated as 

     Ancient Woodland. (CS SP11 and NPPF)  

8h Information boards should be encouraged to be introduced and maintained at suitable 

     sites so that visitors can appreciate the importance and special interest of the area.  

(CAAMP.12.5) 

 

Abbreviations: 

NPPF= National Planning Policy Framework 

CS =  Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy 

RESPD = SDC Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Doc. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339

Agenda Item 12



32 

 

APPENDIX 1 

OTFORD ROADS GAZETEER 

CENTRAL OTFORD   

The heart of the historic village, centred on the Parish Church and Green, with remains of 

the nationally important Archbishops of Canterbury’s Manor house, later Royal Palace to the 

south. 

Station Road  (A225) The eastward  extension of the High Street had two farms,  Hilldrop 

Farm and Moat Farm in the 19c.  In the early 20c a few large detached houses were built 

opposite the station, and a row of Council Houses erected nearer the village. 

Becket’s Place, a speculative development of large houses erected in 2005 on the former 

coal yard adjacent to the Station Yard. 

Colet’s Orchard was developed on the adjoining land as a cul-de-sac of individually 

designed bungalows in the early 1960s at which time Colet’s Well ceded Otford Pond to the 

village. The walled rear garden of Colet’s Well, the principal house overlooking the Green, 

still abuts Station Road, but the grounds extended eastwards to include Friar’s Pool, the 

weather-boarded house on the roadside, which was formerly the laundry. 

Leonard Avenue, originally partly built up with terraced houses c1900.  Several were 

destroyed by bombing in 1940, and semi-detached houses replaced them and also 

completed the development, with the surgery at its northern end dating from c1970. 

The Green, with its ‘listed’ Pond, has been Otford’s focal point for more than a thousand 

years.  The Parish Church, dedicated to St. Bartholomew, whose present fabric partly dates 

from c1050, was probably established many centuries earlier. 

The adjacent, late 18c, Colet’s Well was built on the site of a Tudor mansion of similar name.  

By the church gate is the Chantry, formerly Church Gate Cottages, originally built in the 15C 

as the village Court Hall.   

Other interesting buildings around the Green include Holmesdale and Pond House, an 

unusual pair of 18c semi-detached houses and The Corner House - formerly Mount View, an 

18C rebuild of an earlier, timbered farm house. Its substantial boundary wall from the earlier 

period once also encompassed Bubblestone Farm. 

To the south of the Green are the still impressive remains of Otford Palace,  the Tudor North 

range being the only upstanding ruins of an estate originally conveyed to the Church by a 

King of Kent in 821.  

The north side includes commercial properties, formerly cottages, together with the Crown 

PH (16c), and the Woodman PH, a farmhouse until the 1860s.  The Green and High Street 

comprise the centre of the village Conservation Area. 

      

Page 340

Agenda Item 12



33 

 

The High Street, still the only east-west route through the parish, is the present-day guise of 

the prehistoric track-way linking Dover with central England.  It is also part of the modern 

North Downs way.  The upper part is lined with a variety of smaller cottages now mainly 

commercial. The Bull PH formerly a Tudor dwelling, retains some original features as well as 

a fine weather-boarded barn. 

The School and adjoining Headmaster’s House (now the Parish Office and Heritage Centre) 

were built in 1871.  Opposite is the Church Hall (designed by Sir Edwyn Lutyens), backed by 

the Car Park and Village Memorial Halls.  The lower part of the High Street is filled with 

mainly 19c semi- detached and terraced houses.  The Library (1980) and the Methodist 

Church (1935) are modern buildings in harmony with the street scene. 

 

Pickmoss Lane, formerly Worth Lane, is a row of mainly 19c cottages while Pickmoss, a 

refurbished hall House and attached cottages in the High Street, faces the Horns PH, 

formerly three 16c cottages. 

 

Mill Lane, a charming cul-de-sac of cottages and a converted oast, leads to the site of the 

water mill - replaced after a disastrous fire in 1924, beyond which is Troutbeck, a much 

altered polygonal house dating from 1905.  Opposite Mill Lane is The Grange, 18C, a former 

vicarage on the site of a tannery,. 

 

At the bottom of the High Street is the modern Catholic Church (1985), opposite the fine 

Broughton Manor, late medieval and later, for many years the seat of the Polhill family, the 

local squirearchy.  Next to School House is the imposing Old Parsonage, a 15C house once 

the home of the incumbents of Shoreham with Otford. 

 

Park Lane, to the north, serves Park Farm and two dwellings originally a part of the farm.  

 

Warham Road, a cul-de-sac of mainly semi-detached houses erected in a variety of styles  

in the 1970s, most having open plan front gardens,  

FOOTPATHS 

SR. 17  Darent Valley Path to Shoreham from Mill Lane. 

BR. 32  (bridleway)  Park Lane northwards to Shoreham. 

SR. 729  A new east-west path linking SR. 17 at Lower Barn with SR. 32.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 341

Agenda Item 12



34 

 

APPENDIX 2 

HISTORIC AND GEOGRAPHIC BACKGROUND 

Historical Summary 

Otford has grown up at where the river Darent traverses the escarpment of the chalk North 

Downs at a river crossing of the ancient east-west trackway known today as the Pilgrims 

Way.  The light soils of the valley sides were cultivable by early farmers, and there is 

evidence of late Neolithic/Bronze Age habitation some 4,000 years ago in the Combe, a 

steep-sided re-entrant valley, today dry, overlooked by a round barrow on Otford Mount, 

itself the probable site of an Iron Age hillfort.  Intensive Roman settlement including three 

villa/farmsteads, a ‘township’ (village) and a cemetery are known. 

Reference to a battle here in 775 provides the earliest mention of ‘Otta’s ford’, though pagan 

burials indicate earlier Anglo-Saxon settlement.   In 821 a gift of land by Cenulf, King of Kent, 

to Wulfred, Archbishop of Canterbury, formed the basis of a vast estate centred on Otford 

Palace, which became one of the most prestigious houses in medieval England, visited by 

virtually all the Kings of England. The moated house was rebuilt and greatly expanded in 

Tudor times by Abp. William Warham, the last of the great medieval prelates, and in 1537, at 

the desire of King Henry VIII, was exchanged by Warham’s successor, Thomas Cranmer, for 

lesser crown properties in east Kent.  It thus became a royal palace.  Queen Elizabeth I 

disliked the house and allowed it to fall into ruin by 1600, and shortly afterwards the estate 

was broken up after 800 years.  The Polhill family, with its seat at what is now Broughton 

Manor, was the principal landowner until the 19C.  From 1882 Otford station provided a 

direct link with London, and the beginnings of commuting, and an incentive for expansion of 

the village and diversification of employment, hitherto predominantly  agricultural and 

extractive (brick-making and chalk-quarrying). The 20C saw an expansion of the population 

from under 1000 to 3200, and the construction of business parks at the southern edge of the 

parish, though Otford’s incorporation within the officially-designated Metropolitan Green Belt, 

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Special Landscape Areas, and Sites of Special 

Scientific Interest, has curbed indiscriminate large-scale housing development. 

Geographical Summary 

Otford is located at the point where the eastward flowing river Darent leaves the Gault clay 

of the Holmesdale Vale and turns north, cutting through the chalk hills of the North Downs, 

one of only five rivers to do so between the English Channel and Salisbury Plain.  

Holmesdale Vale is a low-lying valley with water meadows, in contrast to the steep-sided 

valley carved through the Downs.  On each side of the river the land rises some 500ft (170 

metres) above the valley floor.  Springs at the junction of the chalk and underlying Gault 

provide rivulet tributaries of the Darent, with water of purity sufficient to support a fish farm 

and watercress beds. 

 

Distant buildings in the landscape 

In addition to Twitton, a settlement of ancient origin remote from the village, there is only one 

significant group of farm buildings away from the centre, that at Long Lodge, formerly a 

lodge in the archbishop’s deer-park. Today it comprises a single house and an imposing 

group of oasts, converted into a dwelling. The remaining farms are essentially a part of the 

village, whilst one large inappropriate milking parlour, which was inserted into Green Belt 

land in the centre of the valley, was ultimately re-located at the heart of the farm it served.  A 

Page 342

Agenda Item 12



35 

 

late-Victorian hunting lodge on the scarp slope of the Downs was converted in the earlier 

twentieth century into a preparatory school, and extensions to meet educational needs have 

been very sympathetically designed and implemented. 

 

Past, present and future 

The centre of the village comprises the church and a good representative group of 

vernacular architecture of various ages surrounding the Green with its ‘listed’ pond.  An 

extension to the Green leads to the imposing remains of the Tudor wing of the 

archiepiscopal, later royal, Otford Palace, which stands in Palace Field, a public open space 

within the village.  In recent years the Parish Council has been instrumental in obtaining two 

significant blocks of land south and east of the village, Palace Park Wood and Oxenhill 

Meadow and Shaw, extending to some 72 acres (30 hectares) for community access and 

recreation, and creating a permanent green wedge between both the M26 motorway and the 

neighbouring village of Kemsing, a partner in the latter scheme.  The village, besides being a 

part of the Metropolitan Green Belt, has been designated as AONB, SLA and SSSI.   

Whilst there are no nature reserves within the parish, two long distance footpaths, the 

national North Downs Way and the regional Darent Valley Path cross at Otford.  A network 

of footpaths and bridleways provide access to the surrounding countryside, with its rich flora 

and fauna and a variety of rural views. 

 

With the proposals for extensive new housing schemes being planned along the Thames 

Gateway, the Darent Valley naturally provides an attractive area for relaxation and tourism. 

The valley is also the first area of genuinely open country to the south east of London and in 

consequence already attracts large numbers of visitors from the conurbation.  Tourism, with 

both its benefits and disadvantages, will therefore become a staple part of the human 

environment in which all the valley communities will need to operate in the future. 

Sevenoaks District Council is helping to promote tourism in the valley with an emphasis on 

walking and access by public transport. The effect, however, will likely be felt in every village 

and therefore planning for a significant influx of visitors should form part of Otford’s forward 

planning.  The character of the village and its surroundings must be safeguarded if planned 

tourism is not to adversely affect the quality of the village or its heritage. 

 

 

Page 343

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of Issues Raised and Responses to the Otford VDS2 

Name of 

Respondent 

Organisation Summary of Comment Response Amendment 

Response: 

#368198 

* Most disappointed that the only reference to cycling 

comes under the leisure and recreation category 

section 1.5. It does deserve consideration also as 

transport especially as a proposal for safe cycle 

facilities between Otford and Sevenoaks from part 

of the Districts Cycle Strategy. 

Whilst it is recognised that cycling is 

mainly referred to in the landscape 

character and open spaces section, 

it does highlight the fact that the 

local community considers that on-

road cycling is dangerous and also 

states that the Parish Council 

supports all opportunities to extend 

or promote safe cycle routes within 

the Parish. 

 

It is therefore the officer’s view that 

the VDS meets the aims of the 

respondent. It should also be noted 

that the VDS can only control issues 

with the Parish and this proposal 

would partly cover issues outside the 

area covered by the VDS. In addition 

there is not a separate section in the 

VDS for transport to discuss this 

issue as requested. The Parish did 

not consider that it was necessary to 

have a separate transport section.  

None 

Carla 

Jackson 

Natural 

England 

Otford Village Design Statement - Sevenoaks District 

Council. 

 

1. Thank you for your consultation on the above 

dated 27 November 2014, which was received by 

Natural England on 27 November 2014. Natural 

England is a non-departmental public body. Our 

statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 

 

 

 

1. These are standard comments. 

The Parish Council have also taken 

into account Catherine Tonge’s 

comments below which are more 

specific comments.  

 

 

 

1. None. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 345

A
genda Item

 12



environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed 

for the benefit of present and future generations, 

thereby contributing to sustainable development. 

Natural England welcomes design guidelines that 

respect, and where possible, enhance the character 

and local distinctiveness of the surrounding natural 

and built environment; use natural resources more 

sustainably; and bring benefits for the local 

community, for example through green space 

provision and access to and contact with nature. 

The following is offered as general advice which we 

would expect to have been considered in the 

preparation of a Town or Village Design Statement; 

 

Landscape 

2. To preserve the wider landscape character of 

area, the Town or Village Design Statement should 

recognise and give appropriate consideration to the 

impact of the design statement on protected 

landscapes such as National Parks and Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), if the town or 

village is within or adjacent to one. 

 

Landscape Character Assessments (LCA) provide a 

context for looking at possible changes and for 

seeking to ensure that the countryside character is 

protected and enhanced. Local area LCAs and those 

for protected landscapes (where applicable), should 

be cross-referenced as they are a useful tool to 

ensure that the Village Design Statement makes a 

positive contribution in terms of design, form and 

location, to the character and functions of the 

landscape, and avoids any unacceptable impacts. 

Following the principles of LCA at a local scale helps 

to capture the significant features, style and 

patterns of settlement and setting within the 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. The VDS recognises the 

importance of the protected AONB 

landscape and states that the 

existing pattern and features of the 

landscape will be maintained. It also 

makes clear the community supports 

the need to conserve and enhance 

the AONB. The Parish Council also 

consider that they have identified the 

parts of the Landscape Character 

they wish to protect and enhance 

and therefore there is no need to use 

the LCA tool. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. VDS now identifies 

the land covered by 

AONB. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 346

A
genda Item

 12



landscape and key views in and around the village. 

National Park and AONB Management Plans can 

also provide useful information for design 

statements within or adjoining protected 

landscapes. 

 

Natural England is revising the suite of 159 National 

Character Area (NCA) profiles to make 

environmental evidence and information easily 

available to a wider audience. NCA profiles are 

guidance documents which include a description of 

the key ecosystem services provided in each 

character area and how these benefit people, 

wildlife and the economy. They identify potential 

opportunities for positive environmental change and 

provide the best available information and evidence 

as a context for local decision making and action. 

 

The revised and current NCA profiles are available 

on the NCA pages of our website for you to refer to. 

The complete series of revised profiles will be 

published by April 2014. 

 

Green Infrastructure and Sustainable Design 

3. Green infrastructure is a term used to refer to the 

living network of green spaces, water and other 

environmental features in both urban and rural 

areas. It is often used in an urban context to cover 

the benefits including space for recreation, access 

to nature, flood storage and urban cooling to 

support climate change mitigation, food production, 

wildlife habitats and health & well-being 

improvements provided by trees, rights of way, 

parks, gardens, road verges, allotments, cemeteries, 

woodlands, rivers and wetlands. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. The VDS identifies green areas 

within the village that are important 

and also in particular seeks to 

protect and identify important public 

rights of way. Within the design 

principles there are clear aims to 

protect land that contributes to the 

open space and public footpaths. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 347

A
genda Item

 12



Green infrastructure is also relevant in a rural 

context, where it might additionally refer to the use 

of farmland, woodland, wetlands or other natural 

features to provide services such as flood 

protection, carbon storage or water purification. 

Green infrastructure maintains critical ecological 

links between town and country. The Design 

Statement could usefully promote high quality and 

multifunctional green infrastructure. Green 

Infrastructure by Design provides an introduction to 

delivering green infrastructure at the micro and 

neighbourhood scale through features such as 

street trees, green facades and green roofs, where 

consistent with the local character. These features 

can be extremely important in increasing ecological 

connectivity between green spaces, particularly 

when footpaths and green corridors are not feasible. 

 

Biodiversity 

4. The Design Statement should have recognised 

and referenced designated wildlife sites1 and other 

biodiversity assets in the immediate area, such as 

protected species, ecological networks, habitats and 

green spaces. Design guidelines should respect, and 

where possible, enhance the town or village’s local 

and neighbouring biodiversity resources. The Town 

and Country Planning Association has produced a 

practical and design orientated Biodiversity by 

Design guide to achieving high levels of biodiversity 

in developments, which may be of use. When 

preparing the Design Statement, your local Wildlife 

Trust and local environmental record centre should 

have been consulted, and local and national 

Biodiversity Action Plans should be referenced 

where relevant. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. The Parish Council have spoken to 

the relevant bodes. The report will be 

amended to show more reference to 

biodiversity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. In paragraph 1.2 the 

protection of the 

biodiversity in the down 

land area is now 

mentioned as well as 

the SSSI. 

 

The Biodiversity 

Opportunity Area next 

to the Vestry Trading 

Estate is now 

recognised in 

paragraph 7.2. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 348

A
genda Item

 12



Community Engagement 

5. As an organisation, we are committed to involving 

the community in our work, ensuring that local 

people and the organisations that support them are 

consulted at the earliest possible stage. We are 

keen to see this principle adopted as part of the 

village design statement formulation process so that 

local people have a chance to contribute to the 

development of the statements from the outset. We 

really value your feedback to help us improve the 

service we offer. We have attached a feedback form 

to this letter and welcome any comments you might 

have about our service. 

 

5. Noted 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Noted 

Jennifer 

Wilson 

Environment 

Agency 

Otford Village Design Statement 

 

Thank you for consulting us on the above. Overall we 

have no major concerns with the details within this 

document. We would however, recommend a minor 

change to the following text for clarification 

purposes. 

 

8.5 The Darent 

In 2013 the Government finally agreed that the 

benefit to the river outweighed the cost of adapting 

abstraction practices and agreed that there should 

be a significant reduction in abstraction at Eynsford, 

Lullingstone and Shoreham. It is hoped this will have 

a positive effect upon flow along the whole course of 

the river. 

Change proposed regarding the 

Darent was agreed. 

Amendment was 

included in paragraph 

8.5. 

Barbara 

Barnes 

Highways 

Agency 

The Highways Agency (HA) is an executive agency of 

the Department for Transport (DfT). We are 

responsible for operating, maintaining and 

improving England's strategic road network (SRN) on 

behalf of the Secretary of State for Transport. The 

HA will be concerned with proposals that have the 

potential to impact the safe and efficient operation 

No changes required. No amendments made. 

P
age 349

A
genda Item

 12



of the SRN and in this case the M25. The Highways 

Agency offers no comment with regard to the Otford 

Village Statement. 

Catherine 

Tonge 

Natural 

England 

Thank you for giving Natural England the opportunity 

to comment on Otford’s Village Design statement. 

My brief comments are as follows: 

 

1. We welcome the commitment to protecting 

Biodiversity and landscape character, particularly 

the recognition of the importance of green spaces 

(such as gardens) within the village boundary and 

use of hedgerows as wildlife corridors. Specific 

reference to the Otford to Shoreham Downs SSSI by 

name may help clarify the location to the reader. 

 

2. We note that Kent Downs AONB has been among 

early contributors to this document and support 

their input. The NPPF states that “Great weight 

should be given to conserving landscape and scenic 

beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest 

status of protection in relation to landscape and 

scenic beauty” (NPPF para 115). Therefore, as much 

of Otford Village falls within the AONB, it may be 

worth briefly defining this boundary somewhere in 

the main document (even if just referencing the map 

in Appendix 3) and making loose reference to the 

AONB Management Plan. 

 

Due to the current pressure of consultations on 

land-use plans, I have not been able to spend the 

time I would have wished reviewing and commenting 

on your Neighbourhood Plan. Nevertheless, I hope 

you find these comments helpful. 

 

 

 

1. Agreed that the location should be 

clarified. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Agreed the AONB Map should be 

referenced.  

 

 

 

1. The following was 

added: 

“Protecting the 

biodiversity of the 

whole downland area is 

also reflected in the 

designation of the 

Otford to Shoreham 

Downs as an area of 

Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI). The 

Otford Community have 

indicated a clear 

commitment to its 

protection”. 

 

2. AONB boundary map 

is now referenced and 

mention is now made 

to the AONB 

Management Plan. 

 

P
age 350

A
genda Item

 12



Sevenoaks District Council 

 

Otford Village Design Statement 

 

Consultation Statement 

 

Introduction 

In accordance with the relevant Planning Regulations, before a Local Authority adopts a 

supplementary planning document;   

“It must prepare a statement setting out the persons the local planning authority 

consulted when preparing the SPD, a summary of the main issues raised by those 

persons, and how these issues have been addressed in the SPD…” 

This paper fulfils this requirement and sets out the public participation in the preparation 

of the document (Regulation 17 (1) (b)) and then the statutory public consultation 

undertaken on the draft Supplementary Planning Document (Regulation 18).  

Once adopted, Otford Village Design Statement 2 SPD will form part of the Sevenoaks 

District Local Plan.  It will not form part of the formal development plan for the area but 

will be a material consideration in the determination of planning applications.   

 
Approach to consultation 

Sevenoaks District Council considers that when preparing SPDs it is appropriate to 

inform, consult and seek the participation of organisations and/or individuals in order to 

ensure that the documents more closely reflect local needs and priorities. 

The Council undertook an 8 week formal consultation on the Otford Village Design 

Statement 2 between 27th November 2014 and 22nd January 2015.   

As part of this consultation, the Council: 

• Published the draft Otford Village Design Statement 2 on the Sevenoaks District 

Council website and through the Council’s consultation system; 

• Made the draft SPD available for inspection at the Council’s offices and libraries 

in the Council’s administrative area during normal office hours; 

• Invited persons and organisations on the Council’s LDF mailing list and those 

registered on the Council’s consultation database, to make representations 

during the consultation period.  

 

  

Page 351

Agenda Item 12



Public Participation in the Preparation of the VDS by the Parish Council 

Following on from the first Village Design Statement, the following has taken place in 

preparing the Otford Village Design Statement 2; 

• Twelve members of the Design Team worked for over a year to collate the wide 

range of information and comments used in the preparation of this report and 

converted it into the final text; 

• The whole community of Otford expressed their views, participated in work shops 

and meetings and commented on aspects of the VDS during its preparation; 

• The Design Team offered the benefit of their insights, experience and specialist 

knowledge and thus enabled the accuracy, validity and potential for impact of the 

document to be enhanced. 

• Authorities and associations including the SDC, Kent Downs AONB and Action with 

Communities in Rural Kent gave advice and support to this project. 

 

The proposals contained within the up-dated (VDS 2) version were studied and approved 

by the members of the Parish Council in November 2012. A full public display of its 

contents then took place over two days during February 2013 in the Village Memorial 

Hall.  This event was well attended following announcements being made at the Otford 

Society meetings and Parish Council meetings.  Residents were provided with post-it 

notes and pens to add their views on any factors they wished amended or deleted. These 

were all taken into account in the submitted version.  

 

Sustainability Appraisal 

 

A Sustainability Appraisal for the Village Design Statement has not been undertaken as 

Sec.180 (5)(d) Planning Act 2008 removed the compulsory requirement for a 

Sustainability Appraisal for a Supplementary Planning Document.  

Comments 

Comments were received from: 

Natural England (Carla Jackson) 

Environmental Agency (Jennifer Wilson) 

Highways Agency (Barbara Barnes) 

Natural England (Catherine Tonge) 

One interested party 

 

One of the responses raised an issue and the others made points designed to strengthen 

some of the document or suggested amendments to clarify the text. 

 

Summary of Issues Raised and Responses  

 

See table following. 

Page 352

Agenda Item 12



  

Planning Advisory Committee Work Plan 2015/16 (as at 29/09/2015) 

13 October 2015 2 February 2016 19 April 2016 Summer 2016 

Budget: Review of Service 

Dashboards and Service Change 

Impact Assessments (SCIAs) 

Sevenoaks Infrastructure Plan 

Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA) 

Otford Village Design Statement 

Local Plan Update 

Street Naming & Property 

Numbering Policy 

Settlement Hierarchy 

 

Viability 

S215 notices – review 

Strategic Housing Land 

Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 

Local Plan Update 

 

Service Performance 

Housing Needs joint working 

group report 

Local Plan Update 

Local Plan Update 

 

 

• Gypsy and Traveller Plan  
• Development Plan Document  
• Squaring the Housing Circle working group from the previous municipal year show the presentation given to the previous Housing & 

Community Safety Advisory Committee 

P
age 353

A
genda Item

 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Actions from Previous Meetings
	5 Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit Committee
	6 Budget 2016/17: Review of Service Dashboards and service Change Impact assessments (SCIAs)
	06 PAC - Budget - App A - Service Dashboard (A3 for printing)
	06 PAC - Budget - App B - 201516 Budget by service
	06 ALL ACs - Budget - App C - Old growth savings
	06 ALL ACs - Budget - App D - New growth savings
	06 PAC - Budget - App E - SCIAs
	06 ALL ACs - Budget - App F - 10 year budget
	06 ALL ACs - Budget - App G - Budget timetable

	7 Street Naming & Property Numbering Policy
	07 SNN Policy 2015 Final

	8 Local Plan Work Programme
	9 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
	09 SHMA Appendix A

	10 Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Plan
	10 Infrastructure Plan Appendix A

	11 Sevenoaks Settlement Hierarchy 2015 - Update
	11 Settlement Hierarchy Appendix A

	12 Otford Village Design Statement
	12 Otford VDS Final 0.1
	12 Otford VDS2 Appendix A1 Summary of Questionnaire responses
	12 Otford VDS2 Appendix A2 Consultation statement Final

	13 Work Plan



